GAB

Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction

Special Rep Ĭ O Drought 202



The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Secretariat of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country or territory or of its authorities or concerning the delimitations of its frontiers or boundaries. The designations of country groups in the text and the tables are intended solely for statistical or analytical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgment about the stage reached by a particular country or area in the development process. Mention of the names of firms and commercial products does not imply the endorsement of the United Nations.

Some rights reserved. This work is made available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC IGO);

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc/3.0/igo/legalcode

Under the terms of this licence, this work may be copied, redistributed and adapted for non-commercial purposes, provided that the work is appropriately cited. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that UNDRR endorses any specific organization, products or services.

The use of the UNDRR logo is not permitted. If a translation of this work is created, it must include the following disclaimer along with the required citation below: "This translation was not created by the United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR). UNDRR is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation."

UNDRR information products are available for non-commercial use. Requests for commercial use, rights and licensing should be submitted via: <u>https://www.undrr.org/contact-us</u>

This publication may be freely quoted but acknowledgement of the source is requested. Citation: United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (2021). GAR Special Report on Drought 2021. Geneva.

ISBN: 9789212320274 © 2021 UNITED NATIONS OFFICE FOR DISASTER RISK REDUCTION For additional information, please contact: United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR) 9-11 Rue de Varembé, 1202 Geneva, Switzerland, Tel: +41 22 917 89 08

Title page photograph source: Ramin Khatibi on Unsplash.



United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction

Special Report on Drought 2021



Contents

| Foreword | | vii | |
|---------------------------------------|---|------|--|
| Acknowledgements Executive summary | | viii | |
| | | x | |
| 1. | Modernizing current understanding of drought | 22 | |
| 1.1 | Introduction | 22 | |
| 1.2 | The physical and social context of drought | 24 | |
| 1.2.1 | Defining drought | 24 | |
| 1.2.2 | Drought indicators | 28 | |
| 1.2.3 | Climate variability, climate change and global trends in drought hazard | 29 | |
| 1.2.4 | Special cases of droughts | 35 | |
| 1.2.5 | Confounding factors of drought: compound hazards | 37 | |
| 1.2.6 | Human-environment interactions in drought propagation | 38 | |
| 1.3 | Drought impacts | 42 | |
| 1.3.1 | Direct versus indirect impacts | 42 | |
| 1.3.2 | Cascading effects and feedback loops | 47 | |
| 1.3.3 | Society and the environment | 48 | |
| 1.3.4 | Human health | 51 | |
| 1.3.5 | Cities and urban environments | 54 | |
| 1.3.6 | Livelihood stability, food prices and volatility risk | 56 | |

| 1.4 | Drought risk assessment | 58 |
|-------|--|----|
| 1.4.1 | Conceptualizing drought risk | 58 |
| 1.4.2 | Assessing drought risk | 62 |
| 1.5 | Drought risk reduction and risk management | 72 |
| 1.5.1 | Drought risk reduction policies | 72 |
| 1.5.2 | Drought risk management – from policies to plans to action | 74 |

| 2. | Droughts: the lived experience | 79 |
|-------|---|-----|
| 2.1 | Case studies of this GAR Special Report on Drought 2021 | 80 |
| 2.1.1 | Case studies | 83 |
| 2.2 | Case study drought impacts | 102 |
| 2.2.1 | Hydrological cycles | 103 |
| 2.2.2 | Ecosystems | 107 |
| 2.2.3 | Societies | 109 |
| 2.3 | Drought risk reduction and management | 116 |
| 2.3.1 | Risk reduction policies | 116 |
| 2.3.2 | Risk management in practice | 119 |
| 2.4 | Gaps, challenges and lessons identified | 121 |

| 3. | Droughts: from risk to resilience | |
|-----|---|-----|
| 3.1 | Introduction | 124 |
| 3.2 | Characterizing systemic risks and challenges for governance | 125 |

| 3.2.1 | Drought in the context of systemic risks | 126 |
|-------|--|-----|
| 3.2.2 | Challenges today and tomorrow | 127 |
| 3.3 | Knowing and doing better | 129 |
| 3.3.1 | Transitions to sustainability | 129 |
| 3.3.2 | Doing more with what is already known | 132 |
| 3.3.3 | Advancing system transitions for drought-related resilience | 134 |
| 3.3.4 | Developing a shared vision: visualizing systemic risks | 139 |
| 3.3.5 | The role and use of scenarios | 142 |
| 3.3.6 | Storytelling, serious gaming and scenathons | 143 |
| 3.4 | Adaptive drought risk management and governance | 145 |
| 3.4.1 | Characterizing adaptive risk management and governance | 145 |
| 3.4.2 | Enabling capabilities for developing and sustaining multi-scalar drought-related resilience and governance | |
| | • | 148 |
| 3.4.3 | Financing, coherence and information services | 156 |
| 3.4.4 | Towards a drought-resilient world: pathways for action | 161 |

| 4. | Conclusions | 167 |
|-------|---------------------------------|-----|
| 4.1 | The state of current knowledge | 167 |
| 4.2 | The lived experience | 168 |
| 4.3 | From drought risk to resilience | 170 |
| 4.3.1 | 1 Systemic risk management | 170 |
| 4.3.2 | 2 Adaptive governance | 171 |
| 4.4 | The call to action | 172 |

References

clxxv

clxxvi

Foreword

The GAR Special Report on Drought 2021 comes at a pivotal moment as the world reflects on how it should deal with the threats various risks pose to sustainable development. As the Covid-19 pandemic has made tangible for so many, hazardous events that may have been thought of as being confined to a sector, or spatially and temporally limited, can quickly transform into crises with long-lasting, globally catastrophic social, ecological and economic consequences.

As with Covid-19, droughts affect all societies and economies – urban and rural – regardless of stages of development. Drought negatively affects the achievement of significant global agreements, underlining the imperative that risk reduction should be at the heart of accelerating action towards the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030, the Paris Agreement, the Convention on Biological Diversity, the Convention to Combat Desertification, the New Urban Agenda and others.

The cost of drought to society and ecosystems is often substantially underestimated. It is borne disproportionately by the poor. As cultural historians warn, drought has been the single longest-term physical trigger of political change in 5,000 years of recorded human history. With its severe, wide-ranging and cascading impacts, the causal drivers of drought are rooted in the complex interactions of socioecological and technological systems. It is therefore imperative that addressing drought is included in national and international dialogues around poverty alleviation and sustainable development, including discussions on political insecurity and instability, which drought provokes and exacerbates.

This report explores the current understanding of drought risk, its drivers and the ways in which people, economies and ecosystems are exposed and vulnerable. It highlights that climate change is increasing the frequency, severity and duration of droughts in many regions across the world. It calls attention to the level of unreadiness across the world to respond effectively to the significant risks posed by drought.

Drawing on case studies from around the world, the report provides recommendations on how we can do better in reducing drought risks, thereby mitigating the devastating impacts on communities and economies. Failure to reduce the risk of and manage droughts differently in the future will result in dangerous consequences for lives, livelihoods, economies and ecosystems. The solutions and pathways towards more adaptive governance systems outlined in the report provide a foundation for building resilience across society, economies and the environment. These are needed urgently now more than ever.

水鳥真美

Mami Mizutori
Special Representative of the United Nations Secretary-General for Disaster Risk Reduction

Acknowledgements

Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction (GAR) Advisory Board

Chair

Mami Mizutori, Special Representative of the Secretary-General for Disaster Risk Reduction

Members

Kelvin Berryman, Government of New Zealand / Aotearoa; Melody Brown Burkins, Dartmouth College; Gilberto Camara, Group on Earth Observations Secretariat; Kirsten Dunlop, Climate-KIC; Wadid Erian, Cairo University; Paolo Garonna. Association of Italian Insurers and Libera Università Internazionale degli Studi Sociali "Guido Carli"; Haruo Hayashi, Kyoto University; Peter Head, Ecological Sequestration Trust; Ronald Jackson, United Nations Development Programme; Molly Jahn, University of Wisconsin-Madison; Patrick Kangwa, Government of the Republic of Zambia; Kamal Kishore, Government of the Republic of India; Allan Lavell, Latin American Social Science Faculty; Shuaib Lwasa, Makerere University; Malini Mehra, GLOBE International; Aromar Revi, Indian Institute for Human Settlements; Juan Pablo Sarmiento, Florida International University; Youba Sokona, The South Centre and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; Renato Solidum, Government of the Republic of the Philippines; Alex Wittenberg, Marsh McLennan; and Saini Yang, Beijing Normal University

Coordinating lead authors

Wadid Erian, Cairo University; Roger Pulwarty, National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration; and Jürgen V. Vogt, European Commission, Joint Research Centre

Contributors

Lead authors

Khaled AbuZeid, Centre for Environment & Development for the Arab Region and Europe; Federico Bert, Asociación Argentina de Consorcios Regionales de Experimentación Agrícola; Michael Brüntrup, German Development Institute; Hesham El-Askary, Chapman University; María de Estrada, Oficina de Emergencias Agropecuarias, Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería v Pesca, Argentina; Franziska Gaupp, International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis and Food Systems Economics Commission; Michael Grundy, University of Sydney; Trevor Hadwen, Canada's National Agroclimate Information Service; Michael Hagenlocher, United Nations University; Gerald Kairu, Integrated Drought Management Programme; Nicolina Lamhauge, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development; Wenzhao Li, University of Texas; Roche Mahon, Caribbean Institute for Meteorology and Hydrology; Rodrigo Maia, Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto; Eduardo Sávio P.R. Martins, Foundation Cearense for Meteorology and Water Management; Isabel Meza, United Nations University; María de los Milagros Skansi, Servicio Meteorológico Nacional, Argentina; Andreja Moderc, Slovenian Environment Agency; Gustavo Naumann, European Commission. Joint Research Centre: Ricardo Negri, Instituto Tecnológico de Buenos Aires; Samuel T. Partey, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; Guillermo Podestá, University of Miami; Mariano Quesada, Oficina de Emergencias Agropecuarias, Ministerio de Agricultura, Ganadería y Pesca, Argentina; Natella Rakhmatova, Research Hydrometeorological Institute; J. Elizabeth Riley, Caribbean Disaster Emergency Management Agency; Roberto Rudari, CIMA Research Foundation; Jothiganesh Shanmugasundaram, Regional Multi-hazard Earlywarning System for Africa and Asia; Dirceu Silveira Reis Junior, Faculdade de Tecnologia, Universidade de Brasília; Chandni Singh, Indian Institute for Human Settlements; Pablo Spennemann, Servicio Meteorológico Nacional and Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas, Argentina; Govindarajalu Srinivasan, Regional Multi-hazard Early-warning System for Africa and Asia; Robert Stefanski, World Meteorological Organization, Integrated Drought Management Programme and Global Water Partnership; Andreja Sušnik, Slovenian Environment Agency; Mark Svoboda, National Drought Mitigation Center; Adrian Trotman, Caribbean Institute for Meteorology and Hydrology; Daniel Tsegai, United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification Secretariat; Olcay Ünver, Arizona State University; Cedric Van Meerbeeck, Caribbean Institute for Meteorology and Hydrology; and Marthe Wens, Institute for Environmental Studies, Vrije University Amsterdam

Contributing authors

Sayora Abdullaeva, Center of Hydrometeorological Service of the Republic of Uzbekistan; Anshul Agarwal, Regional Multi-hazard Early-warning System for Africa and Asia; Danroy Ballantyne, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Central Water and Sewerage Authority; Dmitry Belikov, Chiba University; Olga Belorussova, Center of Hydrometeorological Service of the Republic Uzbekistan; Graham Bonnet, Commonwealth of and Industrial Research Organisation; Scientific Glenroy Brown, Meteorological Service of Jamaica; Tia Browne, Barbados Meteorological Services; Carmelo Cammalleri, European Commission, Joint Research Centre; Sjaak Conijn, Wageningen Plan Research, Wageningen University and Research; Katrin Ehlert, World Meteorological Organization and Integrated Drought Management Programme; Lucy Fagan, Public Health England; Gulchekhra Khasankhanova, Institute Uzgipromeliovodkhoz; Ayşegül Kibaroğlu, MEF University, Istanbul; Richard Klein, Stockholm Environment Institute; Yuliya Kovalevskaya, Center of Hydrometeorological Service of the Republic of Uzbekistan; Anne Van Loon, Institute for Environmental Studies, Vrije University Amsterdam: Marco Massabò. CIMA Research Foundation; Antonio Miguel Saraiva, Syngenta Group; Hans de Moel, Institute for Environmental Studies, Vrije University Amsterdam; Virginia Murray, Public Health England; Ramakrishna Nemani, National Aeronautics and Space Administration; Bakhriddin Nishonov, Center of Hydrometeorological Service of the Republic of Uzbekistan; Hamza Özgüler; Damodar Sivananda Pai, India Meteorological Department; Victoriano Pascual, Belize Ministry of Agriculture, Food Security & Enterprise; Valeriya Rakhmatova, Center of Hydrometeorological Service of the Republic of Uzbekistan; Jayakumar Ramasamy, Senior Programme Specialist, United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; Kanduri Jayaram Ramesh; Vialey Richards, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines Central Water and Sewerage Authority; Lauro Rossi, CIMA Research Foundation; Andrey Savitskiy, Tashkent Institute of Irrigation and Agricultural Mechanization; Grace Schaan, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Government of Canada; Lyudmila Shardakova, Research Hydrometeorological Institute; Jonathan Spinoni, European Commission, Joint Research Centre; Roger Stone, University of Southern Queensland;

Shontelle Stoute, Caribbean Institute for Meteorology and Hydrology; Arjunapermal Subbiah, Regional Multihazard Early-warning System for Africa and Asia; Raisa Taryannikova, Center of Hydrometeorological Service of the Republic of Uzbekistan; Dursun Yıldız; Shanea Young, National Meteorological Service of Belize; and Robert B. Zougmore, Africa Program Leader of the CCAFS, International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics

Reviewers

Paolo Garonna, Association of Italian Insurers and Libera Università Internazionale degli Studi Sociali "Guido Carli"; Peter Head, Ecological Sequestration Trust; Molly Jahn, University of Wisconsin-Madison; Allan Lavell, Latin American Social Science Faculty; Rodrigo Maia, Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto; Alisher Mirzabaev, University of Bonn; Guillermo Podestá, University of Miami; Aromar Revi, Indian Institute for Human Settlements; Juan Pablo Sarmiento, Florida International University; Youba Sokona, The South Centre and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change; and Daniel Tsegai, United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification Secretariat

Design and production

Coordinating editor: Marc Gordon, United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR); Substance editor: Michael J. Grundy, University of Sydney; Technical editor: Peter Gilruth; Copy editor: Caren Brown; References and sources: Poorna Mazumdar; UNDRR Secretariat review: Adam Fysh, Loretta Hieber-Girardet, Jenty Kirsch-Wood, Ricardo Mena, Sébastien Penzini and Iria Touzon Calle; Maps and cartography: United Nations Geospatial Information Section; Design, graphics and layout: Aurélien Brouir; Printing: Gonnet S.A.

Financial resources

UNDRR expresses its deep appreciation to all the donors that have supported its work, allowing production of this GAR Special Report on Drought 2021.

Executive summary

The risks that drought poses to communities, ecosystems and economies are much larger and more profound than can be measured. The impacts are borne disproportionately by the most vulnerable people. Drought impacts are extensive across societies - they interconnect across large areas, cascade through socioecological and technical systems at different scales, and linger through time. A lack of awareness of such characteristics, including the consistent underestimation of the cost of drought impacts, can lead to ineffective response and systemic failure. As understanding of the globally networked aspects of drought and other complex risks improves, the changes required to reduce risk and improve the experience of drought become possible. This Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction (GAR) Special Report on Drought 2021 aims to take a clear step forward in building that awareness.

While drought has always been a threat, climate change projections suggest many areas will experience droughts that are more frequent and more severe. This makes key issues such as how well society is coping with drought and the availability of governance, tools and approaches to reduce the cost of drought all the more pressing. This report aims to answer such questions by providing an in-depth exploration of the nature of drought risk, gathering experiences from responses and providing insights into new approaches to reduce and manage risk. Drought risk is complex and has broad systemic impacts on societies, economies and the environment – all of which underpin future sustainable development. As outlined in the 2019 GAR, traditional and existing approaches are consistently overwhelmed by the systemic nature of drought risk, and so there is a need for new ways to tackle drought based on a systems and learning approach.

Addressing the full complexity of drought and reducing risk will require partnerships, greater public awareness and support, and participation and action at all levels. A transformation in the way the risk posed by drought is managed is essential to reduce this existential threat to many parts of the world.

This report is structured to build broad awareness of the nature of drought and the experience across the world of living with drought. It also builds the case for a new approach to drought risk management.

The new approach is based on effective models of governance where communities actively learn and adapt, while seeking to prevent and mitigate drought risk, and adapt and respond to drought. These processes build capacity across social, financial, institutional and scientific communities to recognize the complex nature of drought risk, devise risk reduction approaches and build the capacity to adapt as drought risk changes. This report also identifies enabling conditions that can transform drought management at local, national and global levels.

Current understanding of drought

Chapter 1 presents the developing understanding of drought and also the drought risk equation: Risk = f (Hazard, Exposure, Vulnerability). The breadth and complexity of drought impacts are described within the context of growing risks posed by human agency in a changing climate.

Droughts are recurrent events that affect large areas around the world each year. Their lengths are highly variable, from a few weeks to several years. They are challenging to characterize and manage due to their slow onsets (in most cases) and indeterminate ends.

The damage and costs resulting from a drought are usually seriously underestimated due to widespread and cascading impacts, often not explicitly attributed to the drought.

Droughts have always been part of human experience. Long and devastating droughts may have contributed to the demise of ancient cultures – reconstructive climatology indicates long dry periods during prehistory. Major droughts over the past century or so highlight the significant costs incurred by human society and the natural environment. The rapid evolution of human-induced climate change is likely to aggravate the risk of drought in many regions of the world.

Defining and measuring drought

Drought is challenging to define clearly. Abnormally dry weather or an exceptional lack of water compared with normal conditions constitute the hazard posed by drought. Drought is not aridity or water scarcity. Drought risk and the considerable threat posed to people, societies and environments arise from the potential for dry weather to cause harm, the exposure of communities or environments, the vulnerability of those exposed to harm, and the capacity of society and ecosystems to undertake prospective, corrective or compensatory actions to reduce that risk.

Drought conditions arise from changes in atmospheric conditions. The El Niño Southern Oscillation, the Pacific Decadal Oscillation and the Interdecadal Pacific Oscillation are key indicators of low-frequency changes in persistent atmospheric circulation patterns associated with drought conditions over large areas of the world. Understanding the mechanisms of such climate features is key to improving capabilities for a timely seasonal prediction of drought events.

The drought hazard is more than a local shortfall in precipitation. It is a failure of whatever system drives the hydrological balance. This can include reduced rainfall over a certain period, inadequate timing or ineffectiveness of precipitation, and/or a negative water balance due to an increased atmospheric water demand following high temperatures or strong winds. Causes or exacerbating factors of drought include a lack of snow- or glacier-melt (following low winter precipitation) or increased temperatures.

The drought hazard and human activities (e.g. land and water management) are strongly intertwined, such that these activities can exacerbate the hazard and increase the risk of severe socioeconomic and ecological impacts.

Human actions interact with drought hazards to either exacerbate or limit the degree of risk and the severity of impacts. While land management and water management can mitigate drought impacts to a certain extent, they can also increase exposure and vulnerability and therefore increase future risks. Increased demand for water and extraction from natural and human-made reservoirs can increase vulnerability; some forms of conservative land-use practices can reduce soil moisture loss. A combination of drought and overabstraction from reservoirs and groundwater, for example, leads to decreasing buffers and reduced resilience to future drought. Droughts are monitored based on hydrometeorological and land-surface indicators. They are usually termed meteorological, soil moisture (i.e. agricultural and/or ecological) or hydrological droughts; however, these are all progressive manifestations (or stages) of the same drought propagating through the hydrological cycle.

The onset of drought is usually slow, and so is difficult to measure until a certain threshold is reached. In addition, the end can be staggered. Nonetheless, defining discrete drought events is important for quantifying loss and damage from extreme events and for policy implementation. Droughts are monitored and quantified by sector-specific drought indicators, typically derived from hydroclimatic variables such as precipitation, climatic water balance, soil moisture, stream-flow and groundwater levels. Drought severity is communicated with indices assessed using meteorological, climatological and hydrological inputs including drought indicators. Important characteristics of droughts are frequency, severity (magnitude), intensity, duration, onset, cessation, end, peak month and area affected.

Droughts defined using these approaches range from flash droughts (with very fast onsets and which often end within a few days or weeks) to multi-decadal events. The notable damaging droughts of the last century have been multi-year events. Climate change may bring an increase in such long and severe events. In cold climates, different processes play a role in the development of droughts, where snow and glacier droughts are strongly influenced by climate change.

The hazard posed by drought can be compounded by exacerbating effects such as the co-occurrence of droughts and heatwaves, antecedent soil moisture deficits and the feedback and connections among droughts, heatwaves, wildfires and even floods.

Drought trends

There is some confidence that climate change has already led to more-intense and longer meteorological droughts in some regions of the world. notably southern Europe and West Africa. Projections indicate droughts that are more frequent and more severe (even more severe than the worst droughts in the period 1981-2010) over wide parts of the world, in particular most of Africa, central and South America. central Asia. southern Australia. southern Europe, Mexico and the United States of America. The extent and severity of these projected droughts largely depend on the magnitude of the temperature rise. Other regions become wetter with less-frequent, less-intense or shorter meteorological droughts. The increase in drought hazard is larger when precipitation and temperature trends are combined.

Drought impacts

Drought impacts are intensifying as the world moves towards being 2°C warmer. When not adequately managed, drought is one of the drivers of desertification and land degradation, increasing fragility of ecosystems and social instability, especially in rural communities.

Drought has a range of direct and indirect impacts. These can accumulate beyond the areas of drought, linger well after the drought ends and harm sectors in addition to agriculture (which is often the only sector economically assessed). Only some of these impacts are tangible (measurable and quantifiable); many are intangible and hidden.

The direct and indirect impacts of drought across society, economy and ecosystems are often difficult to quantify.

Direct impacts of drought occur through interaction among specific water deficiencies and environmental, social or economic components based on the dependence of livelihoods and economic sectors on water. Such impacts include agricultural production, public water supply, energy production, waterborne transportation, tourism, human health, biodiversity and natural ecosystems. Droughts may affect men and women differently, and their impacts often amplify existing structural inequalities across social groups, ages or other demographic categories.

Agriculture is harmed directly during drought because plant productivity is affected during all phases of growth. If this impact is sufficiently extensive in the world's "breadbaskets", drought can, and has, led to food prices rising globally and a range of significant cascading indirect impacts.

Such indirect impacts are the result of complex impact pathways. They cascade quickly through the economic system, affecting regions far from where the drought originated, and can linger long after the drought has ended. Thus, drought may result in temporary or permanent unemployment, business interruption, disrupted international trade, loss of income, disease due to poor water and air quality, food insecurity, malnutrition, starvation and widespread famine. In turn, this can trigger internal and cross-border migration, social unrest and even conflict in extreme cases.

Health impacts related to water and air quality and heatwaves can trigger physical harm to the wellbeing, and even death, of exposed and vulnerable people, especially the elderly. Impacts can also be felt through increased distress, leading to mental health issues, and shifting patterns of disease vectors, leading to disease outbreaks.

Ecosystems have complex relationships with the supply of water. Drought may cause reduced plant productivity, increased dehydration stress to wildlife, conversion of vegetation type or shifts in species range. There may be increases in disease in wild animals, and increased stress on endangered species or even extinction. Maintaining natural capital is crucial for resilience during drought cycles and to prevent land degradation and desertification. Vulnerability to land degradation increases due to drought (and the impact of subsequent floods and wildfires), and reduced resilience to future droughts arises from that degradation.

Large cities located in semi-arid to arid regions, and which rely mainly on reservoirs or groundwater for public water supply, are vulnerable to a sequence of dry years when water stocks are not sufficiently replenished. Furthermore, the guality of the water available to these cities (and all other users of water) can decline due to salinity, stratification, algal bloom and reduced dissolved oxygen. At least 79 megacities have suffered extensively across the world. Large urban centres (e.g. Brisbane in Australia, Cape Town in South Africa and São Paulo in Brazil) have come close to losing drinking water supplies and have had to mandate a high level of water efficiency and water diversions. Water scarcity has affected numerous other urban centres. and some small towns depend upon the trucking of water, among other emergency measures, to maintain water supply and survive.

Drought can impose choices, for instance among continued energy, water for food production or water for urban supply. This is because water is needed in power generation as a coolant or directly (as with hydropower).

Vulnerabilities of the food, water and energy nexus are exposed by drought, and can spill over into a social vulnerability, stability and conflict nexus.

Most drought impacts are indirect. They cascade through economies and communities and continue over time, dwarfing direct losses. They are not well documented or assessed.

Global estimates of costs offer only partial accounts and are deep underestimates; case studies suggest multiplicative impacts many times these costs. Estimates of some of the direct costs include annual losses due to drought in the United States of America at approximately \$6.4 billion per annum, and some €9.0 billion in the European Union. As a result of the Australian Millennium Drought, total factor agricultural productivity in Australia fell by 18% in the period 2002–2010. The effect of severe droughts on India's gross domestic product (GDP) is estimated at 2–5%.

The case studies summarized in Chapter 2 report crop failures, livestock deaths, mass migrations, hunger and health effects, impacts on food supply and markets, and conflict and various forms of severe social disruption in severe cases. There is clear disproportionate vulnerability of poor and marginalized populations (in many case studies and especially in Africa), where the cost of drought is measured in terms of lives, livelihoods and impoverishment.

The better management of drought risk requires focusing on the identification and measurement of the full costs of drought.

Drought risks

Drought risks are complex, systemic and increasing. Such systemic risks are emergent and not obvious in prospect. Some elements can be modelled and quantified, some modelled and not quantified, and some remain unknown until experienced. Shocks in one or several parts of a system can ripple widely.

A drought becomes hazardous when water demands are no longer met. A drought becomes a risk when the drought hazard affects exposed and vulnerable societies and ecosystems with inadequate capacity to cope with the lack of water. Failure to manage this risk can result in dangerous consequences for lives, livelihoods, the economy and ecosystems. The size of the risk and thus the impacts of the realization of drought risk are dependent on the levels of exposure and vulnerability. Assessment of the drought hazard needs to be situation sensitive and to combine indicators; it is not necessary for all the characteristics of the drought hazard to be extreme for their composite impact to be extreme. People and communities, livelihoods and ecosystems, as well as their services, infrastructure and basic services and other tangible assets, can be directly exposed to drought. Indirectly exposed elements include trade and financial systems that are affected by drought via teleconnection. Exposure is not static, so assessment of exposure requires composite and layered indicators.

Vulnerability is the predisposition to be harmed by drought because of the sensitivity of the elements of a system exposed to drought, coupled with a lack of coping and adaptive capacities.

Vulnerability assessment requires a socioecological systems perspective that can consider the susceptibility of ecosystems and deficits in coping capacities of the communities depending on them.

Improvements are needed in risk assessment and sustainable development approaches to identify dynamics and leverage points for understanding the underlying drivers of drought risk, for reducing impact, and to anticipate, adapt and move towards resilient sectors and societies.

The lived experience of drought

Chapter 2 presents the lived experience of coping with and responding to drought from case studies around the world. Seventeen case studies have been developed that characterize a cross section of recent experiences of drought. The case studies are available in full in the digital edition of this report and can be accessed online at: <u>https://www.undrr.</u> org/publication/gar-special-report-drought-2021

The case studies have emerged from damaging droughts that have challenged existing drought policies and responses, and led to new plans and strategies. Notable droughts covered in the case studies are: the long cycle of droughts on the African continent and in the countries surrounding the Mediterranean Sea; the Australian Millennium Drought and the subsequent 2016–2020 drought; the Brazil multi-year drought of 2012–2018; the East Africa droughts of 2010–2011 and 2019; and recent experience of drought in North America.

The lived experience explores the impact of cycles of drought, the uncertainty of drought initiation, the importance of drought length and severity in terms of impacts, and the lack of clarity around when a drought ends.

Key questions remain around characterizing and predicting drought events, understanding the nature of vulnerability and resilience, and what constitutes an effective response to the risk of drought.

The costs of drought grow with increasing population, ineffective government policies and programmes, environmental degradation and fragmented authority in natural resources management. Impacts have grown due to the increasing frequency and severity of droughts, and are compounded with the increasing complexity and interconnectivity of economic, social and ecological systems, often incurring far-reaching social and environmental damage.

The broad range of direct and indirect impacts of drought test nations' wider economic and institutional systems and are especially complex when many nations share water resources or other impacts of drought. The impacts are most substantial in those countries with high reliance on rural economies and with large vulnerable populations. Cascading impacts noted in the case studies range from food price increases due to crop failures, through various forms of community health issues, to devastating conflict, either arising from drought impacts or exacerbated by them. These reports and issues inform the discussions of the systemic nature of risk in Chapter 3.

Drought effects are often felt initially at the landholder, farmer or grazier level. However, with time, the impacts propagate across communities, the economy and then beyond administrative or national borders. Vulnerability to the effects of drought is also unequal and follows a similar stratified pattern of severity. Across the African case studies, a hierarchy of vulnerability is clear (e.g. transhumance pastoralists, rain-fed crop farmers, irrigation farmers and then the broader elements of the community and economy). While vulnerability has many dimensions across the case studies, there are large numbers of people in fragile communities dependent on highly drought-sensitive activities like agriculture and livestock management, and which are further exacerbated by gender inequalities.

Adaptation to drought

Local adaptations to drought are widely reported – essentially examples of adaptation from the ground up – sometimes supported by explicit government programmes. Examples include adapting crop variety or species choice, the mix of enterprises, planting dates, planting densities, irrigation strategies, agro-pastoralism, livestock species changes and delivery mechanisms. In Africa, adaptation strategies based on traditional knowledge (e.g. West African water harvesting) are increasing in importance, as are community networks (in Australia for example). Land regeneration, green belts and reforestation are key adaptive and mitigation actions in some case studies, and are especially important in the Aral Sea area.

Many of these local adaptations are not sufficiently connected to knowledge of the likelihood or current status of drought. While many case studies emphasize the need for empowered farmers and communities and an emphasis on preparedness tied into adequate early warning and monitoring, success is dependent on the effectiveness of policy support.

Policy support may include drought funds, rebates, tax measures and the like, which are now more common in many countries. However, the use of risk transfer and related financial instruments is rare due to a lack of knowledge or research into financial risk products, poor choice within expensive financial products and a small supplier pool and thus limited competition. Government-supported insurance schemes are in place in some countries (e.g. the Islamic Republic of Iran), while government farm subsidies feature in vastly different ways across countries.

Drought risk management and governance

Drought spurs policy action, and cycles of policy development, review and restructure have emerged through the case studies. There are many national action plans, strategies, directives and similar initiatives, as well as new interministerial / departmental committees. These cycles reflect action when drought is severe and inaction when drought is no longer evident. Policy disconnects are common within and among governments. These challenge the general agreement that a move to prospective drought risk management is needed. While good examples exist in some parts of the world, many mechanisms and approaches have been overwhelmed by the length and complexity of severe droughts, and measures are currently in a reactive phase only.

Almost all case studies identify the need for national drought policies to support drought risk reduction and avoid prevailing reactive models – shifting from dealing with drought impacts, to getting ahead of the curve to address underlying risk drivers to prevent and manage drought risk.

International transboundary issues have additional complexities for governance. The case studies note that increasing pressures due to population and industrial development, unclear and poorly defined roles and responsibilities across institutions, increasing urgency of drought impacts during an event and knowledge gaps, challenge policy development and policy delivery. Conflict resolution and avoidance is a clear need, as water is becoming increasingly scarce and demand is growing.

In progressing beyond a reactive approach, some countries have adopted a three-pillar method to assess and respond to drought risk that includes: (a) monitoring and early warning systems, (b) vulnerability and impact assessment and (c) mitigation and response. Many countries are now connecting meteorological services to early warning, seasonal weather forecasts and status reports, with a focus on likely impacts on geographies and communities and livelihood / economic systems to improve targeting and support. There are opportunities to tie into and build monitoring systems that connect community "reporters" with remote-sensing technology and modelling (e.g. Drought Watch Danube Basin and DustWatch Australia), so that a resilient monitoring system takes shape.

Although the three-pillar approach is not prospective risk management, it is a step in the right direction towards prevention.

The case studies show that countries' capacities to respond to drought-related impacts vary. They highlight how limited knowledge of possible impacts, poor assessments of vulnerabilities and costs, little coordination at national and regional levels, and lack of awareness on policy options are key impediments to effective drought management.

The change needed

The key aim of the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030 (Sendai Framework) is to prevent new and reduce existing disaster risk. Prospective and proactive drought risk management is required to reduce and, where possible, avoid future risks and to increase resilience to the changing drought hazard. Early warning systems need to be re-imagined based on progress in understanding the physical processes underlying drought propagation and impacts, as well as the human role in exacerbating and mitigating drought. While some promising approaches do exist, these have not yet been replicated at scale. The capacity to explore plausible trends in drought risk needs to be expanded to support decision-making in the short to medium term, for example from a few weeks, to multiple seasons and decadal considerations. Scenarios of hazard and risk using integrated assessment tools can build on climate change and related socioeconomic pathways, along with context-specific models and gaming approaches. These approaches are essential but insufficient to prevent future risk.

Chapter 3 demonstrates how systemic risk management is fundamental to move from drought risk to resilience. It describes the transformation needed in governance to match the diversity of actors and viewpoints with the widely varying nature of drought. It develops the enablers, partnerships, capacities and strategies of a systemic approach to manage risk across scales and as scales and systems interact. While this report is neither a prescription nor does it claim solutions, it develops options to be explored and ways to navigate and negotiate through this complex, damaging risk.

Enabling proactive and prospective responses to drought risk

The analysis of drought and the experiences explored in the case studies illustrate there are connected concerns requiring a transformation in approaches to managing drought risk.

Successful integrated management requires a governance shift from reaction and bailout to risk reduction and resilience, in part based on improved knowledge of the climate mechanisms controlling the onset and termination of drought periods, other factors affecting drought initiation and cessation, and level of vulnerability of exposed communities, industries and ecosystems.

This report argues for a more systemic approach to drought risk underpinned by nimble and adaptive risk governance, built around strengthened observation, learning where intervention is feasible and effective, all within adaptive and prospective drought risk management policies, plans and actions. This requires new forms of governance that are designed for the systemic nature of the risk and can respond to the extraordinary complexity of the drought experience. Effective governance of drought-related systemic risks must be adaptive and multi-scale, in the context of anticipated risks and opportunities, for managing through a rapidly changing environment (i.e. across the full risk to resilience continuum).

Transforming drought governance

Components of a systemic approach to drought risk include:

- Systemic innovation strategies founded on notions of complexity, ambiguity and diversity to manage present risks and adapt as new risks emerge
- A commitment to iterative analytical deliberation, monitoring, nesting of approaches, institutional variety and evaluation, where deviation from the target should not be seen as failure but rather as an opportunity to learn and adjust
- Substantially greater diversity of actors and viewpoints; more perspectives and visions may offer a broader portfolio of opportunities and solutions for problems
- System management that aims at the capacity of systems being able to adapt to and shape change, which is crucial to the resilience of socioecological and technological systems

Governance of such a systemic approach needs to include the actions, processes, traditions and institutions – formal and informal – by which collective decisions are reached and implemented. Managing the complexity of drought risk requires a transformation across the dimensions of risk management. Effective governance will deliver adaptive management that is aware of complexity, ambiguity and diversity.

Transitions to new forms of governance can be enabled by enhancing the capabilities of public, private, civil society and financial institutions to accelerate national and local policy planning and implementation, along with accelerated and appropriate technological innovations. Transitions in governance can require incremental adjustments and rapid, sometimes disruptive, transformative changes. Managing the impact of those changes is part of appropriate policy action at all levels of governance. Promoting top-down and bottom-up processes of governance requires new mechanisms to promote dialogue among different levels and increased flows of information and resources. Enabling conditions are needed to: allow new effective multi-stakeholder partnerships where iterative learning with those most affected by drought is central, and which embrace systemic change; promote collaboration, shared responsibility and confidence; and support coordination, leadership and participatory learning.

Because much of the complexity in drought risk arises from the degree of exposure of vulnerable people, industries and ecosystems, this exposure and vulnerability needs to be reduced by transitioning systems at multiple scales.

Having initiated action in response to a complex threat like drought, it is not possible to assume those actions will always remain pertinent. Hence, iterative learning is required. Early warning is crucial to managing drought risk, and some impact can be mitigated. But the opaque, complex and coupled relationships that confound management of financial systems, for example, are matched or surpassed by the complexities of drought exposure and vulnerability.

Towards adaptive governance of drought

A robust evidence and capability base is needed that provides: risk identification and mapping; participatory valuation and management of ecosystem services; mainstreaming of ecosystem approaches in drought risk management and reduction; social protection; social accountability; and aligned goals and investment for financing drought-related systemic risk reduction.

Existing strategies can be directed to address systemic risks. Early warning can be a proactive social process whereby networks of organizations conduct collaborative situational assessments. Indicators help to identify when and where local capabilities, human agency and policy interventions are most needed. Historical and institutional analyses help to identify the processes and entry points if vulnerability is to be reduced.

Adaptive governance aims to deal with uncertainties and surprises that are inherent in transforming complex social, technological and ecological systems. It relies on iterative learning, planning, policymaking, implementation and evaluation over time.

Adaptive governance of drought risk must cope with uncertainty, thresholds and surprises. It depends on innovation, reliable and accessible data, knowledge and decision-making tools – if these are people centred and used with vulnerable sectors and social groups to mitigate loss and damage through the introduction of their own local knowledge and experience. Moreover, taking local knowledge and practices into account promotes mutual trust and a community's sense of ownership and self-confidence.

Innovation requires transformative coalitions and partnerships. Research and the private sector are crucial, but "open innovation" policies can target users, civil society, communities and other actors. More support for social and grass-roots innovation can enable deeper and more transformative pathways. Innovation can be inspired through the effective use of scenarios and "serious" gaming – it does not predict future outcomes but guides choice between options by making likely trade-offs and synergies transparent.

Future scenarios of drought risk need to consider the effects of adaptive or nonadaptive human behaviour and potential adaptation measures on future drought hazard, exposure and systems' vulnerabilities. Such transformative partnerships and a new paradigm for governance can then focus on tasks to improve adaptive management and governance of drought-related systemic risks (identified and described in detail in this report) and deliver them effectively. These include:

- Investing in drought risk identification, monitoring and mapping
- Employing horizontal partnership development to share visions, an architecture for participation and mainstreaming of resilience-based approaches in drought risk management and reduction
- Offering social protection through for example, resilience bonds and conditional cash transfer and temporary employment schemes, microinsurance and loans
- Ensuring social accountability through increased public information and transparency
- Aligning goals and investment for financing drought-related systemic risk reduction to promote coherence in financing

Effective governance requires a process of systematic coordination at global to national scales, and national to local scales and back up the chain: (a) vertically at local, subnational, national, regional and global levels of government and (b) horizontally across sectors through collaboration across governments and intergovernmental organizations, the private sector, civil society organizations and citizens.

Centralized and decentralized approaches can complement each other, especially when the actor network is broadened beyond a senderreceiver model of information communication.

At national level, effective governance requires:

 Policies and directives for drought risk reduction and climate change adaptation and mitigation that are integrated with local development plans

- Information and incentives for government agencies to share the responsibility for sustainability across portfolios
- Re-enforcement, amplification and extension of existing regulatory measures and incentives, such as the promotion of water-saving practices, enforcement of sustainable land and water management, and environmental protection
- Building on international policy momentum to bring domestic attention and resources to the reduction of climate-related disaster risks, and specifically risk-prevention measures and the creation of centres of excellence where drought-related technical resources and capacities can be pooled

These changes require high levels of public awareness and support.

At the global level, support for national and local risk reduction requires an effective framework to:

- Understand and engage countries and communities
- Develop international collaboration and dialogue on drivers of globally networked risks
- Develop thematic working groups including industry and civil society actors focused on feasibility, capacity and accountability

Convergence among and integration of strategies within international mechanisms – including disaster risk reduction (DRR) (through the Sendai Framework), climate change adaptation and mitigation (Paris Agreement), reversing declining trends in biodiversity (Convention on Biological Diversity), combating drought and desertification (Convention to Combat Desertification) and sustainable development (Transforming our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development) – provide this essential framework.

This report frames the prospective, corrective and compensatory dimensions of drought risk reduction as including the spectrum of activities described by the Paris Agreement as climate change adaptation and mitigation. While increased coherence across these agreements brings gains in efficiency and effectiveness, it is not without costs. It can result in trade-offs between investing in DRR and climate change adaptation, mitigation and DRR and making progress on individual policy processes. The integration of both policy agendas can occur on a continuum, from strategic to operational and technical, where policy coherence is not viewed as an outcome but rather a process of coordination. With their mix of slow and fast onsets, fluctuating intensities and duration, even within the same event, droughts provide a useful analogue and practical experience for a much wider suite of complex and growing risks, including climate change.

Two critical recommendations are made to achieve a shared vision and acceptable actionoriented development of drought resilience:

- Develop a national drought resilience partnership that works to ensure a seamless link between national and local levels with public, private and civil society partners.
- Support the establishment of a global mechanism for drought management focused on systemic risks.

As no two droughts are the same, no simple formula to manage them is sufficient. The continuum and feedback among varieties of drought events and drivers, impacts, warnings and ongoing responses represent immense complexity. Risk assessment and management strategies have to change so resilience is built into the capacity to adapt to complex risk and learn from experiences.

The call to action

Chapter 4 concludes the report with a call to action that applies to all stakeholders:

- Avoid growing human, ecological and financial costs by investing in risk preventative action through systemic drought management and adaptive governance.
- Take action now to better understand the causes of vulnerability that are a function of human agency, before inevitable drought hazards emerge (and intensify under climate change). Draw on the long history of research and practices within the DRR community together with knowledge enshrined in traditional and indigenous wisdom. With what we know, we must do better, and with what we learn, we must improve.
- Build enabling conditions for the transition to drought-related, systemic risk governance. These include drought resilience partnerships at the national and local levels, building on approaches such as the 10-step drought planning approach or the three-pillar approach developed through the Integrated Drought Management Programme while avoiding overly prescriptive planning that does not prioritize and allow iterative learning and innovation. Prospective drought risk management requires plans designed to be flexible with inbuilt capacity to learn to change.
- Move towards a new global mechanism to effectively address the complex systemic nature of drought across international, national and local levels. Vertical and horizontal governance and associated partnerships – based on shared values, roles and responsibilities – can then accelerate transitions towards systemsbased and prospective approaches to drought risk management and reduction, and mobilize financial resources directed to grow systemic drought resilience. Inherent in these initiatives are improved international dialogue and collaboration around globally networked risks and more effective partnerships among public sectors, private sectors and civil society.

- Better knowledge of the complex nature of drought shared more broadly and with enabled, nimble and adaptive governance will lead to reduced drought risk to people and ecosystems. Systemic action to reduce and prevent drought risks provides an effective pathway for reducing a much wider suite of complex and proliferating risks, including the growing and real threat of climate change.
- Immediate action is required.

1. Modernizing current understanding of drought

1.1 Introduction

Droughts are among the most complex and severe climate-related hazards encountered, with wide-ranging and cascading impacts across societies, ecosystems and economies. They are recurrent, can last from a few weeks to several years, and affect large areas and populations around the world. Droughts have occurred throughout history, due to natural climate variability.

Before the start of instrumental records in the late nineteenth century, historical archives with written records of past weather and climate conditions, as well as paleoclimatic data (e.g. tree-rings, ice cores or lake sediments), provide proxy data that helps infer variations in climate conditions. Based on such data, long and devastating droughts supposedly contributed to the demise of a number of ancient cultures. Examples are the Mayan civilization in central America during the eighth and ninth centuries or the Akkadian empire in Mesopotamia around 2200 B.C.E. In more recent history, repeated severe European droughts during the last thousand years, the well-known Dust Bowl in the central United States of America in the 1930s, the Sahel drought in the 1970s and 1980s, and the recent Australian Millennium Drought highlight the risks human societies face from this natural hazard (Kerr, 1998; Glaser, 2001; Sheffield and Wood, 2011; Cook et al., 2015a). While the risk of severe droughts will continue due to climate variability, the rapid evolution of human-induced climate change is likely to aggravate this risk in many regions of the world. Drought impacts are far-reaching. They may affect agricultural production, water supply, energy production, waterborne transportation, tourism, human health, biodiversity and natural ecosystems. Related indirect and cascading impacts can affect employment rates, food prices, food security and international trade. In turn, these can lead to increased poverty, migration, social unrest and even conflict in extreme cases. Such impacts are often less directly linked to drought and can linger long after the actual event.

That water is a basic commodity for every individual, combined with an increased frequency and severity of droughts due to climate change, make droughts a major concern for communities and individuals alike (Prudhomme et al., 2014; IPCC, 2018; Lu et al., 2019; Spinoni et al., 2020). Droughts also pose a major challenge to achieving the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in many parts of the world, as a result of direct and indirect impacts.

While droughts result in severe economic losses, environmental damage and human suffering, they are often less visible than other natural hazards such as floods or storms. The latter cause immediate damage linked to the hazardous event and are quantifiable in economic terms (UNISDR, 2011). However, the damage and costs resulting from droughts are often seriously underestimated due to their spatial and temporal characteristics and indirect nature.

A key challenge is to develop and implement adequate risk management strategies, enabling societies to adapt to the evolving drought risk in the context of global change, and which consider changes in climate, land and water management, exposure and vulnerabilities (Wilhite et al., 2014; WMO and GWP, 2014). Building an integrated understanding of drought is essential to its management. This needs to consider the physical processes and drivers behind droughts, their propagation through the hydrological cycle, and also the related societal and environmental vulnerabilities of different actors, sectors and systems as well as wide-ranging direct and cascading impacts. Such strategies need to address systemic risks resulting from compound events (e.g. co-occurring droughts and heatwaves, droughts and subsequent flooding, droughts and forest fires) and/or wide-ranging cascading impacts (e.g. droughts followed by food insecurity, migration and conflict) that can lead to systemic failures of entire societies.

Chapter 1 of this report first provides the physical and social context of drought. It discusses the related risk concept as a basis for the case studies in Chapter 2 and for the pathways towards resilience in Chapter 3. The report concludes with Chapter 4, which captures the main findings, recommendations and the call to action. Starting from the definition of a drought event and the variables to characterize drought, section 1.2 provides insight into the related climatological aspects (climate variability, past trends and future projections), special cases, possible confounding factors and the role of society. Section 1.3 gives an overview of the variety of drought impacts and discusses their tangible or intangible nature. Section 1.4 analyses the main components of drought risk (hazard, exposure and vulnerability), their drivers, spatial patterns, dynamics and importance, and discusses the current and future drought risk in the context of global change. Section 1.5 provides an introduction to the various aspects of risk management and risk reduction that aim to increase resilience to drought, which are further developed and discussed in Chapter 3.

This report employs the terminology adopted by the United Nations General Assembly in its *Report of the Open-Ended Intergovernmental Expert Working Group on Indicators and Terminology Relating to Disaster Risk Reduction* (United Nations, General Assembly, 2016), the 2009 UNISDR Terminology *on Disaster Risk Reduction* (UNISDR, 2009) or the online glossary of the Integrated Drought Management Programme (IDMP, n.d.).

The physical and social context of drought

KEY MESSAGES

- Droughts are a recurring feature of all climates.
- Droughts are to be distinguished from aridity, a seasonally or fully dry climate, and from water scarcity, when the climatologically available water resources are insufficient to satisfy long-term average water requirements, leading to a structural imbalance.
- Droughts are slow-onset events that can last from weeks to years. They are often defined as meteorological, soil moisture (i.e. agricultural and ecological) or hydrological droughts. In reality, these are progressive manifestations of the same drought propagating through the hydrological cycle.
- Recently, the concept of flash droughts has emerged, describing quick-onset, severe events of water stress due to high temperatures and a high evaporative demand.
- The risks resulting from droughts can be severely aggravated by compound events (e.g. droughts and heatwaves).
- Human activities resulting in water scarcity and feedback loops in the climate system play a key role in drought intensification and propagation.
- Typical mitigation responses are building more infrastructure or reducing exposure and vulnerability. However, more infrastructure can increase vulnerability by increasing demand or dependence on reservoir storage.

1.2.1

Defining drought

Droughts are a recurring feature of all climates and are generally defined with respect to the longterm average climate of a given region (e.g. Heim Jr, 2002; Dai, 2013). Given the complex nature of droughts, their definition varies across climatic regions and has traditionally varied across affected sectors and scientific disciplines. It is therefore difficult to compare drought characteristics across time and space.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) defines drought as "a period of abnormally dry weather long enough to cause a serious hydrological imbalance" (IPCC, 2012). It results from a shortfall of precipitation over a certain period, from the inadequate timing or the ineffectiveness of the precipitation, and/or from a negative water balance due to an increased atmospheric water demand following high temperatures or strong winds. Furthermore, a lack of snow- or glacier-melt following a drop in winter precipitation can cause or exacerbate drought.

Droughts originate from extremes of the climate system like persistent anticyclonic conditions or the advection of hot and dry air masses. Van Loon et al. (2016) argued that droughts result from a complex interaction of natural and anthropogenic processes due to the strong influence of human activities on the water balance. High demand for water resources, for example, can exacerbate the severity of a drought. Mitigation responses like increased groundwater pumping for irrigation may alleviate water stress during an ongoing drought but can increase vulnerability for subsequent droughts. A generic definition of drought was therefore proposed as "an exceptional lack of water compared with normal conditions" (Van Loon et al., 2016). Note the stress here is on "exceptional", which distinguishes drought (a time-limited event) from water scarcity, a long-term structural imbalance between water availability and demand (i.e. an unsustainable overuse of water resources) and from aridity, a seasonally or fully dry climate (e.g. Tallaksen and van Lanen, 2004; van Lanen et al., 2017). Box 1.1 shows a further elaboration of the distinction between drought and water scarcity.

Droughts typically last from months to a few years, and may be exacerbated by antecedent dry conditions in soil moisture as well as by low reservoir and aquifer levels. As special cases, extreme and long-lasting "megadroughts" can persist for decades, while so-called "flash droughts" are short periods (usually less than 3 months) of high temperatures and/or strong winds, resulting in increased evapotranspiration and a fast depletion of soil moisture that can lead to major impacts, especially in the agricultural sector (Mo and Lettenmaier, 2016). In addition, perceptions of what is to be called a drought and of its impacts vary to a large extent. A drought does not result in a sudden impact, unlike a flood or a storm. It is rather a slow-onset phenomenon that establishes itself over a long time period. Drought impacts are less obvious and spread over larger areas than damage resulting from other natural hazards (Wilhite et al., 2014). These spatial and temporal aspects and the complex interactions between environment and society make the cost of drought difficult to evaluate (Vogt and Somma, 2000).

Questions even arise with respect to the start and end of a drought event. Droughts are usually monitored based on a series of hydrometeorological and land-surface indicators (Figure 1.1). Droughts are often defined as being meteorological, soil moisture (i.e. agricultural and/or ecological) or hydrological droughts. However, these are progressive manifestations (or stages) of the same drought. A drought will likely have more-severe impacts as the propagation in the hydrological cycle advances. Exceptions



Figure 1.1. Schematic representation of drought propagation through the hydrological cycle, related drought stages and key indicators

Note: fAPAR: fraction of absorbed photosynthetically active radiation; SPEI: standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index; SPI: standardized precipitation index.

Sources: Adapted from the National Drought Mitigation Centre, United States of America; Wilhite et al. (2014)

from this rule are flash droughts, which result in a rapid desiccation of the upper soil layer, and snowand ice-related droughts, which originate from cold anomalies and a related late snow/ice melt (Staudinger et al., 2014; Van Loon et al., 2015).

A drought event is detected when one or several indicators fall below a given threshold for a defined period (e.g. 1 or 2 months). The threshold is often defined as a negative deviation in units of standard deviation from the long-term average or as a percentile (Figure 1.2). This threshold is variable during the year and depends on the indicator(s) monitored. The use of several indicators allows for consideration of drought propagation through the hydrological cycle and for monitoring impacts in different economic sectors and on the environment.

However, the detection of the end of a drought event is a more complex issue. Often, the return of indicators above the threshold or above the long-term average is used to determine the end of a drought, as that indicates the replenishment of water resources. However, different indicators may return to normal in a staggered process following gradual normalization in the different hydrological compartments. Therefore, the declaration of the end of a drought event may depend on the sector and related hydrometeorological indicators. To completely end a drought event, all indicators should return to normal, indicating a complete restoration of normal conditions. The duration of a termination (or recession) period from the peak severity to the crossing of the threshold (or long-term average) has been proposed as a more complete characterization of the restoration process from a drought (e.g. Parry et al., 2016; Margariti et al., 2019).

Drought impacts may linger for a significant time period, even after the hydrometeorological indicators return to normal. Defining discrete drought events is important for quantifying loss and damage from extreme climatic events and for policy implementation, especially with regards to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015–2030 (the Sendai Framework; United Nations, General Assembly, 2015a), and the Transforming our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (2030 Agenda; United Nations, General Assembly, 2015b) (WMO and GWP, 2016).

Figure 1.2. Schematic representation of selected key drought parameters



Not all droughts result in disasters. A drought becomes hazardous when water demands are no longer met and becomes a risk when there is a diminishing capacity to cope with the lack of water. This risk can result in dangerous consequences for people's livelihoods, the economy, ecosystems' health, and even the lives of humans and animals (see section 1.3). The loss of livelihoods has a strong impact on poverty, especially in less developed countries, and can lead to migration and aid dependency. The risk of long-term land degradation increases if droughts persist for long periods or occur frequently. In the worst cases, droughts can lead to a complete loss of ecosystem services when tipping points are passed (Vogt et al., 2011; Spinoni et al., 2015).

The risk of significant impacts from a drought is a function of the onset, duration and severity of the hazard itself. It also depends, to a large degree, on the spatial and temporal rate of exposure of affected actors, assets, economic sectors, and systems and their vulnerability. This vulnerability depends on susceptibility to impacts, a lack of coping capacity and the ability to adapt to changing conditions in the long term. The concept may be expressed by the risk equation:

Risk = f (Hazard, Exposure, Vulnerability),

where

Vulnerability = *f* (Susceptibility to impacts, Lack of coping capacity, Lack of adaptive capacity).

Section 1.4 provides a detailed discussion of the different components of the risk equation and their relationships, as well as the concepts and methodologies for assessment of the resulting risk, including a framework for understanding the relationships among various factors. These include drivers and impacts of drought that relate to areas remote from the drought-affected area but linked through global networks of production chains and trade, or teleconnections.

Box 1.1. Drought and water scarcity

Drought is different from water scarcity, where climatologically available water resources are insufficient to satisfy longterm average water requirements due to a structural imbalance (e.g. van Lanen et al., 2017). Both phenomena influence each other.

On the one hand, an increase in drought frequency or severity, or both, can threaten already water-scarce regions and create new or expand existing regions suffering from water scarcity. To reduce the threat, regional development planning should allow for timely adaptation to a changing climate. On the other hand, water scarcity significantly increases drought risk, as water-scarce regions lack adequate buffers to cope with droughts. Repeated, prolonged or severe droughts can severely damage the economy, society and natural ecosystems in such regions, with the risk of leading to land degradation and desertification (Cherlet et al., 2018).

Increased political engagement is required to address pressures on water resources such as population increase, irrigation, inadequate land and water management, and water availability under a changing climate.

1.2.2 Drought indicators

Droughts are monitored and quantified by sector-specific drought indicators, typically derived from hydroclimatic variables such as precipitation, climatic water balance, soil moisture, stream-flow and groundwater levels. Related impacts such as reductions in greenness and vigour of vegetation are relevant indices. Indices are representations of drought severity, assessed using meteorological, climatological and hydrological inputs, including the indicators listed above. They aim to measure the state of droughts for a given period. Indices can also be considered as indicators. For this report, the term "indicators" will be used with the understanding that indices are included in this definition. The World Meteorological Organization (WMO) and the Global Water Partnership (GWP) have published an overview of widely used drought indicators and indices (WMO and GWP, 2016).

| Variable | Description | Relevance |
|-------------------------|--|---|
| Frequency | Number of drought events per defined time interval | More-frequent droughts can cause long-term impacts on ecosystems |
| Severity (magnitude) | Related to the water deficit; computed as the sum of the differences, in absolute values, between the drought indicator (DI) values and the threshold used to define the level of dryness: $Si=\Sigma Dli < threshold$ | Water deficit in relation to that needed for specific uses (e.g. irrigation, domestic water consumption or energy production) |
| Intensity | Severity divided by duration of the event | Characterizes the overall potential for impacts |
| Duration | Number of days, months or time steps of the event | Longer droughts propagate further through the hydrological cycle with a higher potential for cascading and secondary effects |
| Onset | First day, month or time step for which the indicator is below a given indicator and time-dependent threshold | Relevant if a drought starts in sensitive periods with greater water demand like seeding, flowering and ripening periods; relevant for drought management and declaration of drought emergencies |
| Cessation | Meteorological indices have returned to normal (i.e. within normal variability), soil moisture is restoring, pasture growth re-establishes, forest growth re-establishes, reservoirs and lakes refill | Relevant for management |
| End | Agricultural and natural ecosystem productivity returns to average pre-drought condition; lake and reservoir levels return to average pre-drought conditions; socioeconomic conditions return or stabilize to normal conditions | Relevant for management |
| Peak month | Day or month with the lowest value of the drought indicator | Period with the potentially strongest impact |
| Area affected | Area or percentage of a region (or country) with values of the drought indicator below a certain threshold | The wider the area, the more those assets that are exposed are affected |

Table 1.1. Main variables for characterizing drought events

Source: Vogt et al. (2018)

Drought indicators are most commonly presented in the form of standardized variables used to analyse droughts in different domains of the water cycle. Drought indicators are designed either for drought monitoring and awareness-raising or for water management (Beguería et al., 2014). However, they are also useful for drought forecasting (Dutra et al., 2014; Sheffield et al., 2014), climate change studies (Trenberth et al., 2014; Dai et al., 2018) and as input for drought risk assessments (Svoboda et al., 2015).

Different drought stages require different indicators for their characterization (Figure 1.1). The standardized precipitation index (SPI; McKee et al., 1993) and the standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010) are often used for meteorological drought analysis. Soil moisture indicators such as the soil moisture-based drought severity index (Cammalleri et al., 2016) or the Palmer drought severity index (Palmer, 1965) characterize drought impacts in terms of plant water stress. Hydrological indicators, such as flow percentiles or the standardized run-off index (Shukla and Wood, 2008), are used to quantify the volume of water deficit in rivers and reservoirs (Hisdal et al., 2004; Cammalleri et al., 2017) or to monitor whether a required ecological flow or a minimum flow regime is maintained. Remote-sensing-based indicators such as the normalized difference vegetation index or the fraction of absorbed photosynthetically active radiation are used to monitor drought stress on the vegetation canopy. In early warning and impact mitigation, the use of composite indicators reflecting regional climate conditions is recommended to adequately describe the progression of drought stages (WMO and GWP, 2016).

Combined indicators that blend several physical indicators into a single indicator have also been developed. The European Drought Observatory, run by the European Commission's Joint Research Centre (JRC), uses the combined drought indicator (Sepulcre-Canto et al., 2012) to monitor drought impacts on agricultural and natural ecosystems, while the JRC Global Drought Observatory (GDO) uses the risk of drought impact (RDrI) indicator to monitor risk in different sectors across the world. The RDrI indicator includes an evaluation of exposure and vulnerability for calculating risk (Naumann et al., 2014; Carrão et al., 2016).

To obtain an overview of the potential impacts of droughts, a set of characteristics is needed to represent different aspects of the water deficit. Key characteristics include frequency, severity or magnitude, intensity and duration (Table 1.1 and Figure 1.2).

Frequency describes the number of events per time interval, severity describes the accumulated deficit over the entire duration of an event and intensity describes the average degree of precipitation, soil moisture or water storage deficit during a drought. As depicted in Table 1.1, the duration and area affected are linked to the propagation in time and space of the water deficit. Longer and morewidespread events might trigger cascading effects, the magnitudes of which are directly related to the water deficit. The timing of the onset, cessation and end of a drought are particularly relevant during the growing season. Yet, the impacts as measured by reference indicators may be felt long after the drought has ended. Other similar characterizations have been developed for the various stages of the drought life cycle (WMO and GWP, forthcoming).

In summary, drought monitoring, assessment and forecasting for different economic or environment sectors requires diverse sets of indicators, depending on the sector and goal of the analysis.

1.2.3

Climate variability, climate change and global trends in drought hazard

Droughts are caused by changes in persistent atmospheric circulation patterns usually connected to slowly varying atmospheric boundary conditions (e.g. changes in sea-surface temperature, sea-ice cover or land-atmosphere interactions). The El Niño Southern Oscillation (ENSO) is one of the main sources of episodic droughts globally, together with other low-frequency sources (Davey et al., 2014; Trenberth et al., 2014). Natural cycles of oceanatmosphere interactions lead to recurring swings between anomalously warm (El Niño) and cold (La Niña) sea-surface temperatures in the equatorial Pacific. During an ENSO event, drought can occur nearly anywhere in the world, although researchers have found the strongest connections between ENSO and intense drought in Australia, Brazil, India, Indonesia, the Philippines, various parts of the United States of America, parts of eastern and southern Africa and central America, and the western Pacific basin islands (including Hawaii).

Droughts occur in each of the above regions at different seasons during a warm or cold event and to varying degrees of magnitude. Multi-year and decadal trend assessments are unreliable without base periods long enough to capture natural variability. Major uncertainties surround the degree to which ENSO, the Pacific Decadal Oscillation and the Interdecadal Pacific Oscillation are and will be affected by climate change and their effects on long-term evapotranspiration (Wood et al., 2015). Understanding the mechanisms behind lowfrequency climate features like ENSO will be key to improving capabilities for a timely seasonal prediction of drought events.

In addition to natural variability, meteorological droughts are influenced by human-induced climate change. The IPCC special report on extreme events summarized with medium confidence that climate change has already led to more-intense and longer meteorological droughts in some regions of the world, notably southern Europe and West Africa (IPCC, 2012). The IPCC also predicts intensified meteorological droughts in the twenty-first century, again in southern Europe, but also in Mexico, north-eastern Brazil, central North America, southern Africa, central America and central Europe. This is due to reduced precipitation, increased evapotranspiration or a combination of both.

Other regions, especially at higher latitudes, have or will become wetter with less-frequent, lessintense or shorter meteorological droughts. Even in areas projected to become wetter on average, precipitation can be distributed unevenly – more water on average does not mean more water when it is needed. Climate change impacts in wetter regions can lead to more-severe soil moisture and/ or hydrological droughts due to drier dry seasons or shorter, more-intense rainfall events. Such intense rainfall events can lead to flash floods or rapid surface run-off and less soil infiltration – meaning that even if more rain were to fall, it would not be necessarily retained or usable.

Recent studies have confirmed this regional difference in the climate change signal for meteorological droughts and the related uncertainties (e.g. Ficklin et al., 2016; Berg and Sheffield, 2018; Cook et al., 2018). On a global or continental scale, higher temperatures and related increases in evapotranspiration are the main driver of changes in meteorological and soil moisture droughts (Manning et al., 2019). The related reduction in snow accumulation is an additional driver for hydrological droughts (Hayhoe et al., 2007; Livneh and Badger, 2020).

On the global scale, recent climate change, characterized by global warming and climate extremes that are more frequent and more severe (IPCC, 2014a), has caused only a limited increase in the frequency of and area affected by meteorological drought events (Seneviratne, 2012; Sheffield et al., 2012; Dai and Zhao, 2017; Spinoni et al., 2019). However, this increase is more pronounced in the regions listed below and becomes larger when temperature is considered (Trenberth et al., 2014). In recent decades, several drought hotspots (areas particularly often or severely affected) have been identified as:

- The Mediterranean region (Hoerling et al., 2012)
- Southern Australia (Van Dijk et al., 2013)
- Sub-Saharan Africa (Greve et al., 2014)
- Southern South America (Penalba et al., 2014)
- Some areas in China (Xu et al., 2015)
- South-western United States of America (Diffenbaugh et al., 2015)
- North-eastern Brazil (Marengo et al., 2017)

Future drought hazard is predicted to show a globally steeper increase in the twenty-first century than in the recent past (Cook et al., 2014; Zhao and Dai, 2015). As the world will continuously get warmer, the role of temperature will become pivotal for drought projections (Ahmadalipour et al., 2017), especially over regions where future drought tendencies are variable in space, for example in Europe (Spinoni et al., 2018) and the United States of America (Jeong et al., 2014).

Carrão et al. (2018) mapped climate change effects on global patterns of drought hazard for the mid century (2021–2050) and late century (2071–2099) under three climate change trajectories, referred to as representative concentration pathways (RCPs)¹ (RCP2.6, RCP4.5 and RCP8.5). While model results do not show robust or significant changes in the near future, the drought hazard increases in all three RCPs towards the end of the twenty-first century, notably for the RCP with strong radiative forcing (RCP8.5).

Spinoni et al. (2020, forthcoming) analysed predicted changes in drought frequency and severity through to 2100 using SPI and SPEI, based on a combination of different circulation models from the Coordinated Regional Climate Downscaling Experiment data sets and input from RCP4.5 and RCP8.5 (van Vuuren et al., 2011). They showed that in the twenty-first century, and compared to the reference period 1981–2010, global drought hazard is likely to increase with increasing global warming level (GWL), confirming the trends identified by Carrão et al. (2018).

Projections indicate droughts that are more frequent and more severe (even more severe than the worst droughts in the period 1981–2010) over wide parts of the world, in particular Mexico, the United States of America, southern Australia, and most of Africa, central Asia, southern Europe, most of central and South America (Figures 1.3 and 1.4). Conversely, drought is projected to decrease at high latitudes (approximately > 60°) in both hemispheres, where precipitation increase will minimize the effects of rising temperatures. Cook et al. (2015a), Carrão et al. (2018) and Ahmadalipour et al. (2019) have reported similar tendencies.

The meteorological drought hazard projections shown in Figure 1.3 and Figure 1.4 refer to GWLs (Dosio and Fischer, 2018). The projections indicate the global temperature increase from pre-industrial values (1881-1910). GWLs are reached during slightly varying time windows, depending on the climate simulation. For the lower GWLs (1.5°C and 2°C), which are explicitly included as targets in the Paris Agreement (e.g. Rogelj et al., 2016), the time windows are centred approximately in the years 2025 and 2040 (median values from all combinations of global circulation models and regional circulation models). For the higher GWLs (3°C and 4°C), which correspond to high-emission scenarios with inadequate mitigation strategies, time windows are centred in the years 2060 and 2085, respectively (see Table 1.2).

Table 1.2. GWLs (according to Spinoni et al., 2020) and corresponding 30-year time windows

| GWL (°C) | Central year of reaching GWL (me- dian value from all simulations) | Corresponding 30-year time window |
|----------|---|---|
| 1.5 | 2025 | 2011-2040 |
| 2.0 | 2040 | 2026-2055 |
| 3.0 | 2060 | 2046-2075 |
| 4.0 | 2085 | 2071-2100 |

Source: Vogt et al. (2018)

¹ RCPs are time-dependent greenhouse gas (GHG) concentration trajectories. They describe different climate futures, which depend on the volume of GHGs emitted in the course of the twenty-first century. RCP2.6 is a strict mitigation pathway, likely to keep global temperature rise below 2°C by 2100. RCP4.5 is an intermediate scenario where emissions peak around 2040 and then decline. In RCP8.5, emissions continue to rise throughout the twenty-first century.

Figure 1.3. Change in meteorological drought frequency (events/decade) from recent past (1981–2010) to 2100 for four projected warming levels of global surface air temperature (left) and number of drought events with stronger severity than ever recorded in the recent past (1981–2010) (right)



The boundaries and names shown and the designations used on this map do not imply official endorsement or acceptance by the United Nations. Dotted line represents approximately the Line of Control in Jammu and Kashmir agreed upon by India and Pakistan. The final status of Jammu and Kashmir has not yet been agreed upon by the parties. Final boundary between the Republic of Soutan and the Republic of South Sudan has not yet been determined.

Note: Where less than two thirds of the simulations agree on the change, the areas are masked in grey; in the left panels dashed lines represent areas where the ensemble median of the change is smaller than the inter-model variability. Warming levels (1.5, 2.0, 3.0, 4.0°C): increase in global surface air temperature from the pre-industrial era (1881 to 1910). For corresponding time windows see text and Table 1.2.

Figure 1.4. Percentage of areas with positive (red), null or uncertain (grey) or negative (blue) change in average severity of meteorological drought events from 1981 to 2010 for four warming levels of global surface air temperature; warming levels: increase in global surface air temperature from the pre-industrial era (1881 to 1910) to 2010



Note: rob (robust): a change significant in sign and in magnitude, sign (significant): a change significant in sign, = or unc (equal or uncertain).

Table 1.3 presents past trends (Spinoni et al., 2019; JRC GDO, 2018) and future projections (Spinoni et al., 2020, forthcoming) of meteorological drought hazard. It shows that most of the global regions that experienced the highest hazard (assessed considering frequency and severity) in the last few years are also likely to face the highest hazard in the twenty-first century.

For soil moisture drought, Lu et al. (2019) simulated future drought hazard based on Coupled Model Intercomparison Project Phase 5 multi-model ensembles for four RCPs for the period 2071–2100 with similar spatial patterns as in Table 1.3. Their analysis shows statistically significant, large-scale drying for all scenarios for all world regions, most notably for scenarios with strong radiative forcing in central America, Europe and the Mediterranean, South Africa and tropical South America (Lu et al., 2019). A similar trend has emerged for hydrological drought. Prudhomme et al. (2014) showed a likely increase in the global severity of hydrological drought by the end of the twenty-first century, with regional hotspots including central and western Europe and South America, in which the frequency of hydrological drought increases by more than 20%.

Droughts that are more frequent and more severe will have consequences in many sectors (Blauhut et al., 2015), but the severity will depend on the development strategies followed. Relying less on the use of fossil fuels and more on sustainable land management is fundamental to future sustainable development. Therefore, it is fundamental to account for socioeconomic scenarios (O'Neill et al., 2014, 2017) to quantify future exposure and vulnerability to drought hazard (see also section 1.4.2 for a more detailed discussion on future drought risk).

Table 1.3. GWLs (according to Spinoni et al., 2020) and corresponding 30-year time windows

| Macroregion | Hazard (2000–2019) | Projected hazard (GWL 3°C and 4°C) |
|------------------------------------|--------------------|------------------------------------|
| Alaska | Severe | Very low |
| North-eastern Canada | Moderate | Low |
| Greenland and Iceland | Very low | Very low |
| Central North America | Low | Severe |
| Eastern North America | Low | Moderate |
| North-western North America | Severe | Severe |
| South-western North America | Severe | Very severe |
| Central America | Severe | Severe |
| Caribbean islands | Very Low | Moderate |
| Amazonia | Severe | Moderate |
| Central South America | Moderate | Moderate |
| North-western South America | Moderate | Moderate |
| South-western South America | Severe | Very severe |
| Southern South America | Very severe | Very severe |
| South-eastern South America | Low | Severe |
| North-eastern Brazil | Very severe | Moderate |
| Central Europe | Severe | Moderate |
| Northern Europe | Very low | Low |
| Mediterranean region | Very severe | Very severe |
| Central Africa | Low | Severe |
| Central eastern Africa | Moderate | Moderate |
| North-eastern Africa | Severe | Severe |
| South-eastern Africa | Very severe | Severe |
| South-western Africa | Very severe | Very severe |
| Western Africa | Very low | Severe |
| Central Asia | Severe | Very severe |
| Eastern Asia | Very severe | Severe |
| North-eastern Asia | Low | Very low |
| North-western Asia | Low | Low |
| Southern Asia | Severe | Moderate |
| South-eastern Asia | Low | Low |
| Western Asia | Very severe | Severe |
| Tibetan Plateau | Low | Severe |
| Northern Australia and Oceania | Severe | Moderate |
| Southern Australia and New Zealand | Very severe | Very severe |

Note: Macroregions follow the updated IPCC Working Group I reference regions (v4; Iturbide et al., 2020).
1.2.4

Special cases of droughts

Droughts are commonly considered slow-onset hazards, of medium to long duration, and associated with warmer climates, but there are droughts that challenge these assumptions. This section thus introduces three special cases of drought.

Flash droughts

Droughts are usually slow-developing and longlasting climate-driven hazards, whose onsets are difficult to detect (Mishra and Singh, 2010). On the contrary, flash droughts rapidly evolve, often with strong impacts. Therefore, investigating flash droughts, which have a fast onset and often end within a few days or weeks (Mo and Lettenmaier, 2016), is not easy. As the largest impacts of drought events are generally associated with longlasting events (Wilhite et al., 2007), recent studies on flash droughts tend to define such events by their rapid intensification, rather than their short duration (Otkin et al., 2018).

Flash droughts are generally driven by precipitation deficits, extremely high temperatures and a rapid increase in evaporative demand (Wang and Yuan, 2018). Therefore, they are usually considered summer events (Otkin et al., 2018). However, these variables often need to be assessed independently (Koster et al., 2019) and are not enough to describe flash droughts, so additional variables such as soil moisture (Otkin et al., 2016) and vapour pressure (Ford and Laboisier, 2017) are frequently used. The complexity of flash droughts and their seasonality and subseasonality makes their forecasting challenging (Pendergrass et al., 2020), but the ability to predict them is of great importance in early warning systems (Mo and Lettenmaier, 2020).

Global trends in the occurrence of flash droughts have been mixed in recent decades. Wang et al. (2016), Zhang et al. (2017) and Li et al. (2020) reported rapid intensification rates over different areas in China; Noguera et al. (2020) reported mixed trends over Spain; and Mo and Lettenmaier (2015) reported a decline in the United States of America. The anthropogenic influence is debated, with few studies pointing to its decisive role in recent and potentially future increases in flash droughts, for example in China (Yuan et al., 2019) and southern Africa (Yuan et al., 2018). However, it is difficult to obtain robust and reliable projections of flash droughts (Cook et al., 2018) due to the uncertainties of climate projections at daily and weekly scales (Murphy et al., 2004).

Megadroughts

Megadroughts are defined as multi-decadal events (Dai, 2011), referring to long and abnormally dry periods, more severe than multi-year droughts registered since the 1880s with the onset of regular meteorological measurement (Williams et al., 2020). They are often observed in the last glacial period (the Pleistocene) (Fawcett et al., 2011) and the postglacial period (the Holocene) (Forman et al., 2001), including the last millennium (Stahle et al., 2012). Scientific literature has reported such megadroughts for all continents, for example in Europe (Helama et al., 2009; Cook et al., 2016a) and North America (Acuña-Soto et al., 2002; Stahle et al., 2007; Seager et al., 2008) during the Middle Ages, in Asia and Oceania in the last millennium (Cook et al., 2010; Sinha et al., 2011; Vance et al., 2015) and in Africa from the Holocene to the last millennium (Davis and Thompson, 2006; Scholz et al., 2007; Mulitza et al., 2008).

Historical megadroughts modified the structure of entire ecosystems (Hanson et al., 2009) or even led to their destruction (Cohen et al., 2007). Such epochal events can be forced by multiple – even concurrent – drivers: land surface or aerosol dust (Cook et al., 2013), long-term aridity changes and feedbacks (Cook et al., 2004), monsoon failures (Meehl and Hu, 2006), oceanic and radiative forcing (Steiger et al., 2019) or long-term climate anomalies due to ENSO, the Pacific Decadal Oscillation or the Atlantic Multi-decadal Oscillation (Cobb et al., 2003; Stahle, 2020). Megadroughts and related impacts that occurred in the distant past should be carefully contextualized when compared to recent multi-year droughts (Cook et al., 2015b, 2016b), which in specific cases can be as severe or even worse than their historical precedents. An example is the drought in the 2010s in south-western United States of America, reported to be similar to the devastating megadrought in that area during the sixteenth century (Stahle, 2020). The severity of this recent drought can partly be attributed to human-induced climate change, while increases in exposure and vulnerability contributed to the increasing consequences (Diffenbaugh et al., 2015; Williams et al., 2020). This is also true for many other drought events in the recent past (AghaKouchak et al., 2015; Boisier et al., 2016; Samaniego et al., 2018).

Megadroughts are often reconstructed from various sources, generally paleoclimatic data such as treerings (Meko et al., 2007; Woodhouse et al., 2010). It is therefore difficult to provide statistics on their trends. Multi-year droughts within the last century show an overall slight tendency towards recent higher frequencies (Sheffield et al., 2012). However, events from the 1950s showed similar characteristics as those from the last two decades (Spinoni et al., 2019).

Remarkable multi-year droughts in the twentieth century include:

- The drought leading to famine in China in the early 1920s (Liang et al., 2006)
- The Dust Bowl in the United States of America in the 1930s (Schubert et al., 2004)
- Droughts in Mexico and the United States of America in the 1950s (Woodhouse and Overpeck, 1998)
- The Sahel drought in the 1970s and 1980s (Hulme, 2001)

The following events have been identified in the twenty-first century:

- The Australian Millennium Drought from 1996 to 2010 (Van Dijk et al., 2013), and the more recent drought from 2017 to 2020 (Nguyen et al., 2019)
- The droughts in California in the early 2010s (Seager et al., 2015)
- The drought in South Africa in the late 2010s (Masante et al., 2018)
- The megadrought in Chile from 2010 to 2018 (Garreaud et al., 2020)

Obtaining reliable projections of megadroughts is challenging because climate models estimate the future evolution of mega-events using atmospheric variability, sea-surface temperatures and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions to simulate drivers that cannot be projected (Bolles et al., 2017). For multiyear events, a general tendency towards an increase in long and severe events has been reported by Spinoni et al. (2020), notwithstanding uncertainties inherent in all climate change projections (Orlowsky and Seneviratne, 2013).

Cold region droughts

Different processes play a role in the development of droughts in cold climates compared to droughts in warmer climates. For example, temperature is a highly significant variable because it determines whether precipitation falls as rain or snow and whether water is available for use or locked up in frozen form.

In regions with seasonal snow cover, the amount of snow accumulation is crucial. A below-normal snow accumulation (or "snow drought"; Dierauer et al., 2019; Huning and AghaKouchak, 2020) depresses the tourism sector (Thomas et al., 2013), constrains downstream water use and weakens ecosystems dependent on snow-melt. The drivers of snow drought can be below-normal precipitation and/or above-zero temperatures during the winter season (Van Loon et al., 2015). Also, the timing of snow-melt is important. An earlier onset of the snow season can result in reduced winter low flows, whereas a delayed melt season can decrease hydropower production, which depends on a spring snow-melt peak (Van Loon et al., 2015). Drinking water supply and agriculture can also be affected if snow-melt is lower or later than normal.

In cold and semi-arid regions, like in the high mountainous areas of Asia, soil moisture can become critically low when periods of high climatic deficit (low precipitation and high evapotranspiration) are combined with or followed by periods of extremely low temperatures. In Mongolia for example, these events (called *dzud* locally) can cause massive losses of livestock (Middleton et al., 2015; Rao et al., 2015).

In regions where glaciers and ice sheets are present, river flow and groundwater are almost completely fed by glacier meltwater; thus, temperature plays a centrally important role (Van Tiel et al., 2018). Below-normal temperatures can lead to a decrease in glacier-melt and therefore to anomalies in river flow downstream, possibly resulting in low reservoir inflow (Van Loon et al., 2015). Interestingly, because glaciers have an opposite response to warm and dry periods than non-glacierized areas, increased glacier-melt in these periods can potentially compensate for a lower rainfall input in larger river basins. However, this process seems to be more complex than initially thought due to multiple additional factors that influence the relationship between glacier melt and river flow (Van Tiel et al., 2020a).

Climate change strongly influences snow and glacier droughts. Increased temperatures and changes in precipitation patterns affect snow accumulation and timing of melt (e.g. Diffenbaugh et al., 2013; Fontrodona Bach et al., 2018). Over recent decades, snow droughts have become longer and more intense in Europe, eastern Russia and the western United States of America (Huning and AghaKouchak, 2020). However, in the Hindu Kush Himalayan region and South America, snow droughts have become less intense (Huning and AghaKouchak, 2020). In many regions around the world, including central Europe, winter run-off has increased and late spring run-off decreased due to early snow-melt (Blahušiaková et al., 2020).

The methodology of analysing droughts in cold regions should be considered carefully. First, drought indices need to account for snow accumulation and/or melt, for example by using the standardized snow-melt and rain index (Staudinger et al., 2014) or the standardized snow-water equivalent index (Huning and AghaKouchak, 2020). Second, there are major challenges in modelling snow accumulation and melt (Van Loon et al., 2012) and glacier processes (Van Tiel et al., 2020b), which inherently increase the level of uncertainty in modelling results. Third, it is important to be aware that changes in the flow regime and related impacts can be accounted for in different ways, which can have a significant influence on results (Van Tiel et al., 2018).

1.2.5

Confounding factors of drought: compound hazards

A further complication arises when different hazards occur simultaneously. A recent review by Zscheischler et al. (2020) proposed a classification of compound weather and climate events into four typologies: (1) preconditioned (a precondition aggravates the impacts), (2) multivariate (multiple drivers and/or hazards lead to an impact), (3) temporally compound (a succession of hazards leads to an impact) and (4) spatially compound (hazards in multiple connected locations cause an aggregated impact). While the boundaries between these types are blurred, the proposed classification should help differentiate and model the impacts of compound events across disciplines.

An example is the co-occurrence of droughts and heatwaves (type 2 in the above classification), where soil moisture deficits can significantly enhance heatwaves due to reduced evapotranspiration. In turn, heatwaves can reinforce droughts through feedback loops that are likely to intensify under climate change (Rasmijn et al., 2018). These feedback loops can severely aggravate the impacts of the heatwave and the drought. For example, the high evaporative demand of the atmosphere can lead to a rapid drying of the upper soil layer and the occurrence of a flash drought (Wang and Yuan, 2018; see section 1.2.4), with severe impacts on crops and natural vegetation.

Similarly, higher temperatures have significant impacts on human heat stress and related fatalities. An example is the 2003 drought and heatwave that affected large parts of central and northern Europe (Fink et al., 2004), with widespread impacts in various economic sectors and on the population. In addition to the heat, a drought-related increase in atmospheric dust load can trigger respiratory problems. When combined with increased heat stress, this can multiply the negative effects on human health (see section 1.3.4).

When droughts are followed by heavy rains (type 3), severe flooding can occur due to the reduced infiltration capacity of the crusted soil (e.g. Wang et al., 2017).

Wildfires can also be linked to prolonged drought when the accumulation of dry fuel in the soil litter layer facilitates ignition and the rapid spread of wildfires (type 1), often with catastrophic impacts. Strong and persistent winds are another aggravating hazard. Examples are the wildfires in Russia in 2011 and 2019 (Rudnitzky et al., 2019), the devastating fires during the 2011–2015 California drought (He et al., 2017a), the exceptional extent of forest fires seen in Scandinavia in 2019 (e.g. San-Miguel-Ayanz et al., 2019) and Australia 2019–2020 (e.g. Boer et al., 2020) or the 2020 fires in the western United States of America. Sutanto et al. (2020a) have recently reviewed the feedback and connections among droughts, heatwaves and wildfires.

Simultaneous crop failures across major crop production areas are an example of spatially compound hazards (type 4). The major failure of global maize production in 1983 is a compelling example of the influence of an El Niño event and the related droughts and heatwaves in different parts of the world, notably South Africa, North America and north-eastern Brazil (Anderson et al., 2019; Zscheischler et al., 2020).

Hillier et al. (2020) highlighted that spatial and temporal dependencies among different hazards can either aggravate or reduce the combined risk and related impacts as compared to independent analysis of the simultaneous occurrence of hazards.

1.2.6

Human-environment interactions in drought propagation

The examples given above show that drought hazard, human activities, drought management and drought impacts are strongly intertwined, and that droughts cannot be perceived as purely natural hazards. For example, water shortage occurs when water demand is higher than water availability - a situation that can develop when there is a lack of water (drought) or when there is a high demand (e.g. during a heatwave). In addition, one of the aims of water management historically has been to alleviate drought by focusing on storing water to overcome dry periods and supplying it to dry areas. However, there are also unintended consequences of human activities on drought, for example, the effects of land-use change and overabstraction of water. Socioeconomic systems are affected by drought and are also drivers of drought. Section 1.3 below discusses these impacts. Understanding and raising awareness on the role of society as a driver of drought and the complex interactions between society and drought is crucial for reducing drought impacts.

Meteorological droughts are projected to increase globally, mainly driven by higher temperatures due to climate change (see section 1.2.3). Soil moisture droughts and hydrological droughts, which may occur following meteorological droughts, are influenced by increasingly direct human interferences. For example, soil moisture is strongly influenced by different landuse practices. Increased tile drainage and tillage may worsen soil moisture droughts, although water conservation measures (e.g. mulching) and irrigation can mitigate effects. Irrigation is often used to cope with temporary water shortage, but it also affects surface water or groundwater storage from which the water is abstracted, which can potentially further aggravate hydrological drought.

Hydrological droughts are strongly affected by direct and indirect human influences, which can be long or short term. Human interactions may be designed with the purpose of drought management, but can either unintentionally alleviate or aggravate drought impacts. For example, reservoirs have a long-term, direct influence on drought. They are often built for overcoming dry periods or years, altering water balance and stream-flow seasonality of river basins for long periods of time. They can either aggravate or alleviate hydrological drought, depending on their purpose and the assessment methodology used. Reservoir management can provide short-term relief to mitigate hydrological drought downstream, but may also have drought intensifying effects and negative effects on river ecology (e.g. He et al., 2017b; Rangecroft et al., 2019).

Land-use change is an important long-term process that influences droughts indirectly by changing the water balance at the land surface, influencing evapotranspiration, infiltration and surface run-off fluxes. Hence, land-use change can affect local climate and change drought frequency and severity. For example, in the Amazon, large-scale conversion of rainforests to agricultural lands potentially leads to changes in regional precipitation patterns, leading to more-severe drought (Davidson et al., 2012). The impact of land-use change on hydrological drought via changes in infiltration and surface run-off is uncertain and relates strongly to local conditions. In addition, contrasting results between modelling and observation-based studies are reported. On the one hand, modelling studies show the increase in impermeable surface results in less infiltration and more surface run-off, leading to a more variable hydrological regime with lower low flows and more stream-flow droughts (e.g. Hurkmans et al., 2009). On the other hand, observation-based studies show higher low flows and less stream-flow droughts, possibly related to increased input into the hydrological system from urban areas, for example when treated sewage is released into urban rivers, or when leakage from water supply or sewage pipes recharges groundwater (e.g. Eng et al., 2013).

Water abstraction for irrigation or drinking water supply aggravates hydrological droughts (e.g. Van Loon et al., 2019), with impacts on ecosystems. Water can be abstracted from surface water, which has a direct influence on stream-flow drought, or from groundwater, which indirectly influences stream-flow via a reduction in groundwater discharge. As is the case for reservoir management, abstraction is not constant over time; it changes over the years, with the seasons and on shorter timescales, depending on the weather and socioeconomic variables. As droughts tend to be long, there is ample time for response during an event. Water demand often increases during drought, especially if it is combined with a heatwave and more water is needed for domestic and agricultural water supply. In addition, water-use restrictions or alternative water resources are often implemented during a drought. For example, Cape Town "day zero"² was averted by a combination of severe water restrictions and repurposing of agricultural water to domestic water use, with more water remaining in reservoirs.

The science-policy interface of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification (UNCCD) conducted a detailed assessment of the connections between sustainable land management and drought issues. This assessment reviewed 14 categories of sustainable land management measures in four land-use types (agriculture, grazing, forests and woodlands, and mixed land use), and the existing initiatives on land degradation neutrality. The outcomes of this assessment gave rise to a proposal for a new concept of droughtsmart sustainable land management and practical guidance for its scaling up (Reichhuber et al., 2019).

² Day zero is the day when municipal water supplies would largely be switched off and residents would have to queue for their daily ration of water at a limited number of distribution points.

The influence of human activities on drought may be felt at a later time than the event or even in a different location. Increased abstraction can influence downstream water users or affect the starting point for the next drought event. Furthermore, accelerated abstraction can decrease coping capacities and resilience if surface and groundwater reservoirs are not replenished in time. For example, in California, increased groundwater abstraction substantially lowered groundwater levels, which dried wells and triggered land subsidence (He et al., 2017b). Similar trends were reported in north-western India, where a combination of drought and groundwater overabstraction led to decreasing trends in groundwater levels and reduced resilience to future droughts (Pathak and Dodamani, 2019). Box 1.2 provides further insight into the relationship between drought and the management of groundwater reserves. Virtual water transfers are extreme cases of the temporal and spatial dependence of water management and drought impacts. Water is embedded in agricultural products that travel with global trade flows and is removed from the local hydrology. Remote coupling between local groundwater abstraction and global consumers can influence drought (Marston and Konar, 2017).

The influence of human activities varies in different parts of the world. The response to water shortage in most of the Global North is building more infrastructure, which strongly influences the soil moisture and hydrological drought hazards. A more common coping strategy to drought in most of the Global South is adaptation, for example, by planting different crops or migration to wetter or more jobsecure regions. These strategies reduce drought risk by minimizing exposure and vulnerability. However the relationships among drought risk management strategies and vulnerability and exposure are complex. Increased infrastructure can increase vulnerability, for example, by increasing demand or dependence on reservoir storage (Di Baldassarre et al., 2018) or by decreasing resilience due to virtual water transfers (D'Odorico et al., 2010). Such feedback loops are often not considered when designing drought risk management measures.

Box 1.2. Groundwater as a drought buffer under threat

Groundwater is an important source of fresh water for domestic water supply and agricultural irrigation. Groundwater accounts for about 38% to 50% of global irrigation water demand, and partly satisfies the domestic needs of one third to one half of the world's population (Famiglietti, 2014; Rodell et al., 2018). Groundwater also serves as an important buffer for satisfying human and agricultural needs during drought. However, intensive pumping has led to a significant lowering of groundwater levels in several, often semi-arid to arid, regions of the world that are already water scarce and rely heavily on groundwater resources for their economic activities and public water supply. Examples of such regions include parts of Australia, the California Central Valley, northeastern China, north-western and north-eastern India, the Middle East and the Tibetan Plateau (Chen et al., 2016; Rodell et al., 2018).

This depletion of groundwater resources, combined with moderate to severe droughts, poses significant risks to water and food security. Moreover, its unsustainable nature can lead to wide-ranging impacts including conflict over water resources (Robins and Fergusson, 2014). Environmental consequences include seawater intrusion, land-surface subsidence, stream-flow depletion, deterioration of water quality, loss of springs and wetlands, and ecological destruction (Famiglietti, 2014).

Rodell et al. (2018) studied changes and trends in total water storage as detected from Gravity Recover and Climate Experiment satellite measurements. They identified natural variability, climate change and human pressures as the key drivers with a clear human footprint in several regions around the world. Key drivers for the human pressures are population growth, rising quality of life, increasing demand for food and energy, inappropriate water legislation and lack of aquifer management across international boundaries (Famiglietti, 2014; Rodell et al., 2018).

In a changing climate, the situation is likely to deteriorate in many already water-stressed regions of the world. Water resource managers must reduce water demand by using more-efficient irrigation methods, cultivating drought-resistant crop varieties, ensuring adequate water pricing and encouraging domestic water savings. Success in introducing such changes requires raising public awareness, promoting water-saving practices, and developing policies to promote and enforce adequate land and water management.

Drought impacts

KEY MESSAGES

- Droughts affect large areas and populations, with widespread impacts on society, economy, the environment and hence sustainable development. These impacts can be direct and indirect in nature, and are often difficult to quantify in economic terms.
- Drought impacts result from the complex interaction of drought hazards, exposure and vulnerability.
- The risks resulting from droughts can be severely aggravated by cascading impacts, which may also affect societies and economies far from the drought event.
- Far-reaching and long-lasting cascading impacts with a related increased probability for the co-occurrence of other risks are important factors for building up systemic risks.
- Reducing the impacts of drought will contribute to the achievement of SDGs, in particular poverty reduction, zero hunger, good health and well-being, gender equality, clean water and sanitation, and sustainable cities and communities.
- Estimates of economic damage should be interpreted with care – there is a significant gap between reported and real, direct and indirect impacts, and systematic quantification is extremely challenging.

Drought affects almost all dimensions of the environment and society, and directly influences achievement of SDGs. Drought conditions frequently remain unnoticed until water shortages become severe, and adverse impacts on the environment and society become evident. Drought impacts may be influenced by adaptive buffers (e.g. water storage or purchase of livestock feed) or can continue long after precipitation returns to normal (e.g. owing to groundwater or reservoir deficits). As elaborated in Box 1.3, the slow development and long duration of drought, among other characteristics, may combine with impacts beyond commonly noticed agricultural losses and complicate quantification and attribution of drought impacts.

1.3.1 Direct versus indirect impacts

Drought impacts can be classified as direct or indirect (Vogt et al., 2018). Direct impacts occur through interactions among specific water deficiencies and environmental, social or economic components. Indirect or secondary impacts are those that are not a direct result of the water deficit and are often produced at a distance from the drought-affected region or as a result of a complex impact pathway.

Examples of direct impacts include limited public water supplies, crop loss, reduced forest production, limited commercial shipping capacities, drying up of wetlands, damage to buildings due to terrain subsidence and reduced energy production. However, drought impacts are often indirect because of the dependence of livelihoods and economic sectors on water. These indirect effects can cascade quickly through the economic system, affecting regions far from where the drought originated and lingering long after the drought ended.

Indirect impacts relate to secondary consequences on natural and economic resources that might also be directly affected. They affect ecosystems and biodiversity, human health, food prices and poverty. In extreme cases, drought may result in temporary or permanent unemployment, business interruption, loss of income, rising school dropout rates, and transmission of diseases due to poor water and air quality. Droughts can lead to food insecurity, malnutrition and, in extreme cases, starvation and widespread famine, resulting in internal and cross-border migration. The latter can increase the risk of social conflict in the host region or country (e.g. Adaawen et al., 2019). Table 1.4 shows the different sectors that are commonly affected by droughts.

Drought-related damage may further be classified as tangible (market related) or intangible (nonmarket related). While direct impacts are mostly tangible and can be evaluated in economic terms, many indirect impacts are intangible and not easy or even unsuitable for economic valuation. Examples are the loss of biodiversity because of the reduction or drying out of wetlands, increasing poverty among the affected population, ecosystem degradation and the loss of ecosystem services.

Figure 1.5 illustrates possible direct and indirect social, economic and environmental impacts, including migration, which is further developed in Box 1.4. Indirect exposure refers to losses due to disruption of local and global supply chains of production activities.

Drought is one of the most damaging and costly climate-related disasters in many parts of the world. The estimate of direct annual losses due to drought in the United States of America is approximately \$6.4 billion; this figure includes only those events with losses greater than \$1 billion in the period 1980-2019 (NOAA-NCEI, 2021). In the European Union, annual losses were estimated recently to be around €9 billion (Cammalleri et al., 2020; Naumann et al., 2021). In Europe, economic losses were worsened by recent prolonged heat and dryness, resulting in unprecedented drought impacts for farmers, private households and wildlife. During the 2018 and 2019 summers, raging wildfires in southern and northern Europe, severe restrictions for shipping on major rivers, severe restrictions on irrigation and reduced power supplies have raised concerns about a possible increase in the severity and frequency of droughts due to climate change. For a scenario of 4°C of global warming in 2100, direct annual drought losses in Europe are projected to increase to more than €65 billion per year (Naumann et al., 2021), if apparent increases in severity and frequency of drought continue in the absence of climate action.

The severe drought in California during 2006 caused direct losses of up to \$4.4 billion. Reported losses were estimated to be \$3.6 billion during the 2013-2015 drought in the midwest of the United States of America. The 2013-2015 drought that affected central eastern Brazil (Minas Gerais, Rio de Janeiro and São Paulo) caused reported losses of about \$5 billion. In Argentina during the 2008-2009, 2011-2012 and 2017-2018 agricultural seasons, the country suffered sharp declines in soybean and maize production with total accumulated direct losses estimated to be at least \$12 billion. The 2010-2011 drought in the Horn of Africa was estimated to have caused up to 250,000 deaths and to have left over 13 million people dependent on humanitarian aid, according to the United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs (OCHA, 2011). In response, some \$1.3 billion was spent on drought-relief measures.

Drought impacts are often excluded from loss estimates because they are difficult to quantify. Reports have stressed that direct impacts of a single drought could cost several billion dollars, and indirect impacts would add costs to the overall direct impacts. For example, for the Ebro River Basin in Spain, Gil et al. (2013) found indirect impacts were greater than direct impacts in absolute terms. However, indirect impacts can be compensated for at the macro level by market fluctuations or trends. Indirect impacts are more related to the direct impacts of drought than to the driving water deficit, as they result from transmission processes across sectors. Nevertheless, such figures should be interpreted with care since they represent just a small fraction of total losses (e.g. Poledna et al., 2018).

Box 1.3. Assessing the economic impacts of drought: a cautionary note

The characteristics of droughts are significantly different from those of other natural hazards such as floods or storms. This makes their impacts harder to assess. Such characteristics include: (a) spatio-temporal variation – droughts can occur over multiple timescales from a few months to decades and from small watersheds to entire continental regions; (b) multidimensionality – drought impacts are cross-sectoral and cascading; and (c) indirectness – drought impacts are usually of limited immediate visibility.

The task of comprehensively and accurately determining the cost of a drought is highly challenging due to: the difficulty of determining the onset and end of a drought; the complex, slow and creeping nature of its impacts; the site dependence of the impacts; and the diffuse nature of associated damage. While the social and economic impacts of droughts are recognized to disproportionally affect poor, rural households (UNISDR, 2011), such impacts remain poorly understood and are difficult to quantify.

The extent of drought impacts in urban environments has only recently been recognized (Singh et al., 2021). This is despite the far-reaching social and economic impacts of droughts, which can include reduced hydropower generation, food insecurity and famine, poverty, negative short- and long-term health effects, gender disparities, emerging civil unrest, conflict and migration (Benson and Clay, 1998; Logar and van den Bergh, 2011).

Existing damage and loss estimates are thus likely to be conservative, as they often fail to take all impacts into account (Logar and van den Bergh, 2011; UNISDR, 2011). It is often difficult to distinguish whether the costs of a drought stem from drought severity (i.e. the extent and intensity of the precipitation deficit) or inadequate land and water management (e.g. water-intense agriculture, overextraction of groundwater or landscape degradation). Even when data is available, major barriers for accurate cost assessment are the multiple levels of advanced sector-specific expertise and the interdisciplinary character of the knowledge required (Damania, 2020). The magnitude of impacts depends on several issues such as the mobility of factors of production across sectors, the availability of food imports, the relative size of the droughtaffected sector and the relative price of factors of production (Hertel and Liu, 2019).

A significant and persistent knowledge gap concerns the distribution of relative drought costs – and, to a lesser extent, benefits – among different economic sectors and social actors. Mathematical modelling approaches, such as computable general equilibrium models, have been applied to assess the economic gains from large infrastructure investments, such as dams, or significant policy shifts, such as reallocation of water to higher-valued uses (Damania, 2020). However, the results are conditional upon the variety of assumptions essential for computational feasibility.

While the evidence cited above is informative and can provide a level of guidance, an accurate assessment of even a single sector that is usually assumed to be well understood, such as agriculture, provides little evidence of impacts on aggregate measures of economic activity. For example, reduced crop, rangeland and forest productivity, and associated lower income for farmers and agricultural businesses, can lead to: increased unemployment; food and timber price change; trade balance deficits through decreased exports and/ or increased imports; reduced national, regional or local government tax revenues; increased pressure on financial institutions (credit risks); losses of farmers through bankruptcy due to foreclosures; and losses of industries related to the agricultural sector, for example, producers and distributors of fertilizers and machinery (Logar and van den Bergh, 2013; Damania, 2020).

Environment (e.g. forests, wildfires, wetlands, biodiversity)

Drought affects the environment in many ways. Plants and animals depend on water; under drought conditions, their food supply can shrink and their habitat can be damaged. Sometimes, the damage is only temporary and their habitat and food supply return to normal when the drought is over. But other times, drought impacts on the environment can endure or may lead to permanent land and ecosystem degradation or desertification.

Agriculture (including crop and livestock production) and forestry

Agriculture can be adversely affected if a drought damages crops and other related losses. Farmers may spend more money due to increasing irrigation costs, drilling new wells or feeding and providing water to their animals. Industries linked with farming activities, such as companies that produce tractors and food, may lose business. Forestry is affected by reduced fibre production and increased vulnerability to pests and insect attacks (e.g. bark beetle).

Public water supply

Drought conditions decrease water supply and increase demand for various uses (e.g. industrial, agriculture, residential, sanitation and wastewater management). Co-occurrence with heatwaves can aggravate impacts due to increased demand. Reductions in the available quantity of water can have secondary effects on water quality due to reduced dilution of pollutants.

Power generation: hydro, thermal and nuclear

Hydroelectricity production depends on river flow or water stored in upstream reservoirs. Consequently, the production level can be lower during a drought. Peak demands for electricity then need to be satisfied by other means available (e.g. gas turbines). The amount of losses depends on hydroelectricity infrastructure and drought severity. Reduced availability of cooling water can force the reduction of power generation and even shutdown of thermal or nuclear power plants during droughts.

Buildings and infrastructure

Soils swell and shrink with moisture changes, depending on their composition. Serious damage to buildings and infrastructure can occur if soil shrinkage is pronounced under drought conditions. For instance, in France, soil subsidence has caused as much damage as floods in recent years. The effects of drought can be aggravated due to aquifer overexploitation.

Tourism and recreation

Droughts can bring critical losses, as many activities in the tourism sector are water related. Droughts might affect summer and winter activities.

Commercial shipping

During low-flow conditions, barges and ships may have difficulty in navigating streams, rivers and canals, which affects businesses that depend on water transportation for receiving or delivering goods and materials. People may pay higher prices for food or fuel as a result.

Industry

A water deficit induced by droughts affects production, sales and business in a variety of sectors such as agriculture, energy production and water-intensive industries.

Social impacts

Welfare changes experienced by humans should be included in relief packages to mitigate socioeconomic impacts of drought. The social impacts of drought can affect people's health and safety, lead to a poverty trap, cause conflict between people when water restrictions are required and may result in changes in lifestyle.

Source: Adapted from Vogt et al. (2018)

Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of direct and indirect drought impacts and their interrelations



Note: Direct exposure refers to a system, sector or community in a drought-affected area; indirect exposure refers to an element of a system that is affected by a drought occurring elsewhere.

Box 1.4. Drought and migration

Migration is a possible response to disasters or changes in climatic and landscape conditions. However, the interrelations among prolonged drought, soil degradation, desertification and migration are complex and not well documented (Adaawen and Schraven, 2019; Adaawen et al., 2019; IOM and UNCCD, 2019). While available data on human migration due to land degradation and drought is rather sparse, numerous studies point out it is hard to directly attribute mass migration to crop failure or water deficits resulting from persistent droughts (Obokata et al., 2014). Instead, forced migration is especially widespread in regions characterized by political instability, such as in the Horn of Africa. In such a situation, drought may be a catalyst to trigger migration, the root cause of which is the socio-economic and/or political situation (Adaawen et al., 2019).

Migration is not an option open to all, and some populations are considered trapped (IOM and UNCCD, 2019). Migration requires human and financial assets that are not often available to all. Furthermore, some socioeconomic and political barriers can impede migration. Many smallholder households and pastoralists are consigned to living in a state of immobility due to the lack of resources required for migration. As a response to compensate for losses after prolonged droughts, some affected families adopt circular migration, commonly within their home country or in a neighbouring country. In that sense, individual family members migrate for a limited period, to earn money in informal sectors in cities or in commercial agriculture. For example, one of the first studies on drought and migration conducted in Mali showed it is often circular and short distance movements that increase at times of drought (Findley, 1994).

1.3.2

Cascading effects and feedback loops

Complex interactions among different economic sectors make it difficult to monitor the overall impacts of droughts. Certain demographic, socioeconomic or ecological factors worsen the intrinsic vulnerability to drought-related impacts. Therefore, losses from drought are likely to be underestimated and inaccurate. Indirect losses from impacts such as farm foreclosures are not counted, and even direct losses such as the damage to annual crops are difficult to attribute because of fluctuations in commodity markets.

Reports of drought impacts are available from multiple sources, for example: media outlets, farming associations, (re-)insurance companies, governmental reports and scientific literature. There are several different platforms that collect information on drought losses, including: the European Drought Impact Inventory (EDII), the Drought Impact Reporter and the Billion-Dollar Weather and Climate Disasters platform in the United States of America. Other global-level platforms such as the Emergency Events Database (EM-DAT) or DesInventar collect impacts of various environmental hazards including droughts. Each of these platforms provide valuable, publicly available information; however, drought losses remain particularly underreported (Svoboda et al., 2002; Gall et al., 2009).

It is extremely difficult to retrieve spatially and monetarily accurate loss estimates for the economic systems affected. This is due in part to the fact that only part of drought loss and damage is insured or of direct and tangible nature. Thus, such economic damage should be interpreted with care as there is still a significant gap between reported and real impacts that hinders systematic quantification.

Indirect impacts and interconnections among different economic sectors and ecosystems are particularly difficult to quantify as they include, for example, ecosystem degradation or the costs of



Figure 1.6. Schematic representation of potential interconnections among different sectors affected by droughts

Note: Each sector is represented by a fragment on the outer part of the circular layout. Arcs are drawn between each sector with the size of the arc being proportional to the importance of the trade-off.

mitigation and long-term adaptation measures. Figure 1.6 presents a schematic representation of possible interconnections among different sectors affected by a drought shock. It demonstrates the inherent complexity of the interactions and feedback loops among socioecological and technological systems. For instance, water deficits causing crop losses will subsequently prevent farmers from investing in new machinery, resulting in losses to the farm equipment dealer and producers in the business chain. Farmers may also experience shortages of inputs needed for their production process and may be forced to find alternative suppliers, thus increasing production costs. Consequently, governments are often ultimately the de facto risk bearer in larger droughts and are called upon to provide aid to the different sectors. As droughts often affect large areas, sometimes over several years, these cascading impacts can affect large parts of society and economic sectors distant from the drought event. Detailed analysis of compound and cascading drought impacts are available, for example for the 2018–2019 drought in Germany (de Brito, 2021). Section 1.3.4 covers the direct and indirect impacts on human health and well-being, including consequences for mental health.

Drought impacts on global food supply are usually managed through substitution. Under normal circumstances, the global food system can compensate for losses from a particular drought through grain storage and trade. For instance, precipitation-based risks for soybean losses in India and the main croplands in South America are negatively correlated, which means soybean losses in India can mostly be compensated for by imports from South America (Gaupp et al., 2020). However, simultaneous events affecting connected breadbaskets like Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Europe and the United States of America could lead to food price crisis and potentially trigger other systemic risks. In view of climate variability at the global scale, there is increased probability of multiple global breadbasket failures (Gaupp et al., 2020). The pressure on food systems will be high, with projections of a likely increase of water stress over most of the breadbaskets (Naumann et al., 2018). In particular, projected wheat, maize and soybean yields in the global breadbaskets will see a significant decrease within the 1.5°C and 2°C IPCC global warming scenarios of the IPCC (Gaupp et al., 2019).

1.3.3 Society and the environment

Agricultural production and food security

Agriculture is one of the sectors most affected by drought. Significant losses affect the local economy and also global commodity markets and food prices, which could lead to food insecurity in vulnerable countries (Maxwell and Fitzpatrick, 2012). Drought-related reductions in food production in major agricultural countries can strongly influence global food trade and pricing, with repercussions especially on poorer populations in areas distant from the drought. Such imbalances highlight global risks related to drought. In the worst case, synchronous failures in several core food producing areas can lead to severe repercussions with systemic risks and social unrest (e.g. Gaupp et al., 2020). Hence, the imperative to address systemic risks in national drought risk management plans so as to better cope with external pressures.

The Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) reviewed 78 post-disaster needs assessments undertaken in the aftermath of medium- to large-scale disasters, to identify economic trends of disasters on crops, livestock, fisheries and forestry (FAO, 2015). The study covered 48 developing countries in Africa, Asia and Latin America over the period 2003–2013. FAO found agriculture absorbed approximately 84% of the economic losses due to climate-related disasters in these countries. Crop production was the most affected subsector, accounting for 42% of all agricultural losses, followed by livestock production with 36%. Almost 86% of reported loss and damage was due to drought events.

Environmental conditions affect plant productivity during all phases of growth. Such conditions include

water availability, solar radiation, temperature and soil properties like acidity. Studies show biomass production of a barley crop decreased due to droughts of various timing and duration (Jamieson et al., 1995; Stallmann et al., 2020). More directly, moisture stress in all growth stages reduces grain yield significantly. Severe droughts are correlated with significant reduction in yields of the main cereals and other crops in most drought-prone regions.

Climate change is likely to increase the frequency and severity of agricultural droughts in many areas of the world, where water stress will be further exacerbated due to strain from overexploitation and land degradation (IPCC, 2014b). A decrease in soil moisture and increase in atmospheric evaporative demand will likely increase the risk of agricultural drought in drylands and threaten extensive pastoralism, leading to an increased risk of food insecurity.

Pests

Drought stress can promote outbreaks of planteating fungi and insects. Agriculture and forestry can be seriously damaged as droughts favour the proliferation of pests through different mechanisms:

- Droughts provide a more favourable thermal environment for growth of phytophagous insects
- Drought-stressed plants are behaviourally more attractive or acceptable for insects
- Drought-stressed plants are physiologically more suitable for insects
- Droughts favour mutualistic microorganisms but not natural enemies of phytophagous insects

Droughts alter the nutritional quality of tissues consumed by herbivores, which affects herbivore performance. However, drought impacts on tree resistance to pest insects vary, depending on the feeding guild of insect herbivores (Gely et al., 2020). Generally, primary pests feeding on tree trunks are adversely affected by drought, whereas bark beetles, leaf chewers, leaf miners, gall makers and sap feeders benefit from drier conditions (Jactel et al., 2019).

During drought conditions, less complex vegetation (e.g. urban forests versus natural forests) may reduce biological control of pests, as plant stress creates a favourable environment for pests. Higher temperatures can directly increase pest fitness and abundance. This is particularly true in urban forests where increased temperatures from urban heat islands and reduced water availability favour herbivorous arthropod pests more than in rural areas (Dale and Frank, 2017).

Public water resources and water quality

Water supply systems are operated by guidelines based on historical inflow, storage capacity and quality criteria, to meet target water demand. Most operations are adequate under normal weather patterns, but are unlikely to be sufficient during extreme circumstances such as prolonged droughts and sudden increases in water demand. Rapid changes in spatial and temporal water consumption patterns, as recently seen during the Covid-19 pandemic, may put additional stress to water supply systems that can exacerbate drought impact (Cooley et al., 2020).

During extreme drought conditions, normal operating procedures may result in single periods of severe shortage of supply or sequences of consecutive shortage of supplies, either of which may induce additional impacts. Improved policies for managing water supply systems that include drought planning and operation should be introduced and regularly updated, to avoid these water shortages (Dilling et al., 2019).

A case of severe limitation in public water supply was experienced in the metropolitan area of São Paulo, which had to impose restrictions on public water supply due to the 2014–2015 drought in south-eastern Brazil (see section 1.3.5). This and other similar cases point to the exposure of large cities around the world located in semi-arid to arid regions and which rely mainly on reservoirs or groundwater for public water supply. Such cities, which normally experience high water demand, are vulnerable to a sequence of dry years when water stocks are not sufficiently replenished.

Changes in water quality might also be associated with reduced river flows and reservoir levels. Such a reduction can lead to increased water salinity due to decreased dilution. Air temperature increases during dry periods, and can lead to abnormally high water temperatures and stratification. This effect can also be exacerbated due to longer hydraulic residence times and low water levels.

Such changes affect water availability for domestic use and ecosystem maintenance. Increased water temperatures can favour the production of algae, promote toxic cyanobacterial blooms and lower dissolved oxygen concentrations (Mosley, 2015). In contrast, nutrients and turbidity often decrease during droughts due to lack of catchment run-off and increased sedimentation.

Energy production at the water-energy nexus

Thermal electricity generation from fossil fuels (coal, gas and petroleum) and non-fossil-fuel sources like nuclear power plants requires water for cooling. Simultaneously, water extraction, treatment and distribution consume energy. This interdependency is called the water-energy nexus and is part of planning for water security.

Power generation may depend on water availability directly (e.g. hydropower) or indirectly (e.g. cooling systems for power generators). Hydropower uses water directly and is a function of the hydraulic head (height difference between the input and output of water) and volumetric flow rate. Consequently, insufficient water levels lead to a reduction or even a cessation in energy production. As most power plants access nearby shallow waters, they are further affected by high water temperatures caused by hydrological droughts and high air temperatures. In such situations, discharging relatively warm cooling water to rivers might be restricted due to negative effects on river ecology and fish habitats. Examples are the significant reduction in hydropower production in south-eastern Brazil in 2014–2015, or the reduction in thermal and nuclear power production in Europe in 2003 (Fink et al., 2004; Van Vliet et al., 2016). The latter was due to the lack of cooling water and the need for ensuring a minimum ecological flow in the rivers while not surpassing maximum allowed water temperatures. Thermal power plants can be made more resilient by improving their cooling technology.

Adopting an economy with net-zero GHG emissions is a potential solution for water depletion resulting from pressure on the water-energy nexus. Under this scenario, water consumption and withdrawal by thermal power plants may be reduced by more than 95% by 2050 (Lohrmann et al., 2019). The water that is freed could be used by aquatic ecosystems or allocated to other purposes such as food production.

Ecosystems

Droughts can affect ecosystems and, in turn, their services. Impacts have a wide spectrum of severity, from small-scale, temporary responses to widespread and persistent ecosystem transformations (Crausbay et al., 2017; Figure 1.7). Examples of impacts on ecosystems are reduced plant productivity, increased dehydration stress in wildlife, vegetation type conversion or species range shifts, increased disease in wild animals and increased stress on endangered species or even extinction.

Drought can also have a major impact on wetlands. Reduced precipitation and increased evapotranspiration lead to reduced interception, less infiltration and percolation. Together with a reduction in water tables, these changes in the water cycle will reduce the valuable ecosystem services performed by wetlands such as water purification.

Prolonged droughts in coniferous forests can cause direct physiological damage and increase the susceptibility of pines to fungal diseases. Droughts can cause widespread tree mortality due to failure of the plant hydraulic system (Choat et al., 2018). Apart from alterations to the critical ecological role of trees, tree mortality (particularly large trees) causes a net loss of carbon dioxide into the atmosphere and reduces the capacity of forests to mitigate climate change.

Drought management and policy often do not consider effects on ecosystems nor how an ecosystem under drought stress may diminish services provided to human society. Integrating human and natural water requirements into drought planning processes is based on the understanding that an investment in water for nature may finally be an investment in water for society. Mutually beneficial solutions require proactive measures tailored to reduce drought risk over short and long timehorizons. Ecological drought vulnerability may be successfully reduced through proactive natural resource management strategies that work with and support natural processes, rather than employing engineering solutions that may degrade natural systems in the long term (Crausbay et al., 2017).

1.3.4 Human health

The health of human populations is sensitive to shifts in weather patterns and other aspects of climate change, including droughts. While accurately quantifying direct, let alone indirect, affectation and mortality is extremely challenging, for the period 1900–2019, an estimated 2.7 billion people worldwide were directly affected by droughts, leading to an estimated 11.7 million deaths (CRED, 2019).

Accounting for approximately 58% of the total deaths caused by extreme weather events in the period 1900–2008, drought is by far the biggest cause of mortality in this category (Goklany, 2009; based on EM-DAT data). The peak, in absolute numbers and in death rates (deaths per million population per year), was reached in the 1920s with a declining trend since. This is attributable to a rapid increase in food production and improved emergency response (Goklany, 2009). Similar downward trends are noted for all other weather-related disasters except heatwaves, which show



Figure 1.7. Conceptual diagram of ecological drought

Source: Crausbay et al. (2017). © American Meteorological Society. Used with permission.

an increasing trend in mortality, particularly when combined with droughts in some regions (Smith, 2021). However, it should be noted that EM-DAT records deaths only directly attributable to drought (i.e. starvation), while all indirect health effects, for example due to water and air quality, are not included (McCann et al., 2011).

Drought is an example of a complex event that can be a current hazard while also directly and indirectly influencing future vulnerability. Droughts can cause impacts directly, resulting in water shortages and heatwaves, which can trigger physical harm and death to elderly and vulnerable populations. Impacts can also be felt indirectly through crop failures or shifting patterns of disease vectors, which can lead to malnutrition, famine or disease outbreaks (IPCC, 2014a). The most vulnerable populations may also find themselves even more at risk due to socioeconomic factors such as poverty, which may force people to live on lands with poor soil fertility or in ecosystems that are already drought prone (Van Lanen et al., 2017). They may even be forced to migrate in extreme cases (IPCC, 2014a; van Lanen et al., 2017). Trapped populations unable to migrate may be at even greater risk (Government Office for Science, 2011).

The broad health impacts of drought can be organized into five main categories (WHO, 2012):

- Malnutrition (including micronutrient malnutrition and anti-nutrient consumption)
- Waterborne diseases (including algal bloom, cholera and *Escherichia coli*)
- Vector-borne diseases (including dengue, malaria and West Nile virus)
- Airborne diseases (including coccidioidomycosis, Covid-19 and silo gas exposure under reduced water availability for sanitation)
- Mental health (including distress and other emotional consequences)

Table 1.5 summarizes evidence on the direct and indirect effects of drought on these areas of health.

Multiple reviews on health risks associated with droughts indicate drought effects occur primarily through indirect pathways (Stanke et al., 2013; Sena et al., 2014; Yusa et al., 2015; Ebi and Bowen, 2016) – meaning they are linked to other circumstances, for example, loss of livelihoods.

Berry et al. (2018) reported there is a growing apprehension about the effects of current and future climate change on human health, particularly mental health, in some of the world's most vulnerable regions. Mental health issues have been observed in some rural populations subjected to drought, often in the form of anxieties, which may lead to suicide in extreme cases (van Lanen et al., 2017). Since drought-affected communities may be forced to migrate as their best survival option, members may experience high rates of psychiatric morbidity and mental health problems. Furthermore, as the risk of violence is high, the drought can exacerbate mental health decline (Berry et al., 2018).

Berry et al. (2018) considered that a systems approach can help insert this emerging threat into existing research and policy agendas. They reviewed the work of Vins et al. (2015) that identified several different pathways linking drought to mental health and further developed a causal process diagram for the mental health impacts of droughts (Amelung et al., 2016; Figure 1.8).Figure 1.8 shows associations among drought, disproportionately vulnerable persons³ and compromised mental health are real. Understanding these associations could promote mental well-being and minimize harm.

Droughts can also exacerbate chronic illnesses and leave individuals less able to cope with and recover from their condition, which may have a potentially significant impact on individual and community vulnerability and resilience to further shocks.

³ These may include, for instance, migrants, women, youth, minorities, or persons with a specific ethnic status, poor family or social support and a history of mental illness.

However, attribution of some of the more indirect associations can be challenging because of the slow-moving, longer durational nature of droughts. For example, wildfires are more common during droughts, but injuries or deaths are typically linked only to the wildfire and not to the drought as the root cause of the wildfire (Stanke et al., 2013).

Unfortunately, there is little documented evidence on the economic impacts that droughts can have on health systems overall. Research looking at health coverage in Viet Nam found drought-related health shocks caused financial burden for many households, with health expenditures increasing by 9–17% of total consumption (Lohmann and Lechtenfeld, 2015).

Surprisingly, there is a paucity of data on the adverse health impacts of droughts, including complex and long-lasting issues such as famines (Taye et al., 2010). There is a need to better identify and quantify the impacts of droughts on health systems, which could be made possible through surveillance

Table 1.5. Direct and indirect consequences of drought on human health

| Category | Description |
|--------------------------|---|
| Malnutrition | Malnutrition can occur through a reduction in the quantity and stability of food, leading to increased morbidity and mortality (Stanke et al., 2013; Friel et al., 2014; Sena et al., 2014). Water shortages may result in reduced food production (crop failure and livestock loss), leading to malnutrition and health risks, such as starvation, low birth weight (WHO, 2012) and stunting (Cooper et al., 2019). Vulnerable groups, such as pregnant women, children aged < 5 years and people living in shelters, are mostly affected (Gitau et al., 2005; Singh et al., 2006; Black et al., 2008). |
| Waterborne diseases | Drought-induced stress in livestock and livestock use of human water resources may lead to high concentrations of pathogens and increase the risk of human exposure and infection, particularly after heavy rain following a drought (Effler et al., 2001). Poor hygiene and poor water quality for human consumption may result in the transmission of diarrhoeal diseases (Burr et al., 1978; WHO, 1985; Smoyer-Tomic et al., 2004; Sena et al., 2014). |
| Vector-borne diseases | In addition to increases from more precipitation, mosquito densities may also increase dramatically following a drought (habitat rewetting) because of the reduced number of competitors and aquatic predators (Chase and Knight, 2003). Drought may boost the density of birds and mosquitoes around any water sources remaining and thus may accelerate the transmission of pathogens such as West Nile virus within these populations, thereby increasing the risk of West Nile virus outbreaks in humans (Shaman et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2010). Mosquitoes may adapt to drought in urban environments and exploit artificial aquatic habitats (e.g. water containers), thus elevating the risk of infection in humans of diseases such as chikungunya and dengue (Brown et al., 2014). |
| Airborne diseases | Drought-related processes can result in atmospheric dust loadings and dispersion of associated microorganisms at various scales, which may have significant implications for human health. Models for premature mortality due to fine dust exposure project an increase of between 24% and 130% depending on the scenario (Achakulwisut et al., 2018). Dust-storms and winds can also facilitate the transport of microorganisms favouring meningococcal meningitis seasonality, which can have serious consequences for public health, although the mechanisms are not clear (Griffin, 2007; Agier et al., 2013; WHO, 2015). An association between respiratory and cardiovascular diseases has been shown in several regions, but little attention has been paid to West Africa, where desert winds and storms may cause more diseases (De Longueville et al., 2013; García-Pando et al., 2014). In addition, Covid-19 can spread more easily in conditions of reduced water availability by preventing the population from meeting water, sanitation and hygiene needs (e.g. Bellizzi et al., 2020). |
| Mental health | Fear and anxiety among rural populations are the most often reported mental health symptoms in response to drought, although suicidal thoughts have been recorded as more critical symptoms (Carnie et al., 2011; Polain et al., 2011; Hanigan et al., 2012). Droughts are also linked to higher emotional distress in rural communities, especially for farmers (Austin et al., 2018). |

systems. There are few studies that assess and compare the performance of different drought indicators to quantify potential health impacts. Therefore, it is still necessary to better understand which drought characteristics are the best predictors of health effects (Balbus, 2017). To do so, different forms of drought, levels of exposure and periods of time in which these effects are manifested should be considered (Belesova et al., 2019; Salvador et al., 2020).

1.3.5

Cities and urban environments

As major centres of population and infrastructure, cities are particularly vulnerable to extreme climate events and other effects of climate change. Water shortages during drought events affect domestic water supplies by decreasing the availability of fresh water. As dense urban areas are often significantly warmer than the surrounding countryside, compound drought and heatwave events can exacerbate the impacts in these areas due to increased demand.

Figure 1.8. Causal process diagram for the mental health effects of drought based on a systematic review



Note: Numbers in brackets indicate the quantity of papers meeting the search criteria located for each factor. The shaded area shows how the systems diagram can be used to isolate meaningful subsystems for research and analysis, such as drought-related socioeconomic factors and pathways that ultimately affect mental health.

Source: Berry et al. (2018), adapted from Amelung et al. (2016). Reprinted by permission from Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH: Springer Nature, *Nature Climate Change*, Berry et al. (2018), The case for systems thinking about climate change and mental health, © 2018.

Globally, a quarter of all cities are already water stressed and exposed to perennial water shortages (McDonald et al., 2014). Exacerbated by climate and land-use changes, river basins with important reserves of fresh water, such as those that serve Melbourne (2000–2010), Barcelona (2008), Los Angeles (2012–2016), Perth (2014), São Paulo (2014–2015), Cape Town (2015–2018) or Chennai (2018), have experienced major water shortages due to droughts over the last few years (LaVanchy et al., 2019; Zhang et al., 2019). In Cape Town in 2018, the city's water supply was close to being shut off as its freshwater reservoirs hovered at about 13% of full capacity (NASA, 2020) following a sequence of several dry years (Simpkins, 2018; Ziervogel, 2019). The complete cessation of municipal water supply was avoided only by reallocation of water from agriculture and severe restrictions on the use of tap water for several months. Effective water rationing and collective water savings efforts fostered by the local government as well as some precipitation events, meant the so-called "day zero" was avoided.

| | Melbourne (2000–2010) | Los Angeles (2012–2016) | São Paulo (2014-2015) | Cape Town (2015–2018) |
|--------------------|--|--|---|--|
| Water supply | Melbourne water consisted of 10 storage reservoirs | Complex and highly decentralized with over 400 utilities | Cantareira reservoir system | Six reservoirs of around 900 million m ³ total capacity |
| Impacts | Poor rainfall during the cool season and rainfall declines during the warm season, water storage fell to below 30% | Record high temperature, reduced water stored in the Sierra Nevada snowpack; below-normal reservoir level; agricultural sector (especially rangeland grazing) in the first 2 years; then urban life | Two dry rainy seasons, lowest 3% capacity of reservoir, daily life and violent incidents | Three consecutive years (2015–2017) of below-average precipitation; below 20% of reservoir capacity; local daily life and tourist industry |
| Actions taken | Intervention that prompted an almost 50% reduction in water demand per capita | Declared drought emergency; urban water- use report; 20% voluntary conservation; mandate 25% water conservation; extend mandatory conservation regulations | Initial actions to prevent social disorder were implemented, official water countdown | Enforced suburban restrictions of 50 l per person per day; 25 l a day when "day zero" approached |
| Lessons learned | Prioritize conservation efforts; use electronic billboard messaging to encourage water saving; purchase water rights for the environment; tax water authorities and use the money to promote sustainable water management and address adverse water- related environmental impacts | Coordinate water shortage contingency planning and implementation; foster water system flexibility and integration; improve water suppliers' fiscal resilience; address water shortages in vulnerable communities and ecosystems; balance long-term water-use efficiency and drought resilience | Avoid pollution in reservoirs and rivers; detect urban droughts in real time; conduct long-term planning that integrates climate change and variability across all sectors of urban development | Reduce water consumption; increase water storage; improve the management of existing resources |

Table 1.6. Examples of impacts, actions taken and lessons learned from four recent urban droughts across the world

Had day zero been triggered, it would have been the first instance of a major city running completely out of water in modern times.

Table 1.6 provides further details on impacts, actions and lessons learned from recent urban droughts.

The main challenge cities face is the balancing of urban demand and water sourcing, which is particularly relevant today in regions where freshwater access is restricted by geographic and climatic conditions. As droughts and heatwaves are projected to likely increase in many areas of the world (see section 1.2.3), water shortages will become more common. Together with the increasing levels of urbanization, many megacities in semi-arid and arid environments will be particularly threatened. Section 2.2.3 gives detailed information on the role of cities in a climate-resilient future.

Bottom-up initiatives like the Mayors Adapt, the Global Covenant of Mayors or ICLEI – Local Governments for Sustainability are cities' response to foster sustainable urban development. Those initiatives aim to support local activities by fostering greater engagement and networking among cities, as well as raising public awareness about mitigation and adaptation of the measures needed to cope with climate change.

1.3.6

Livelihood stability, food prices and volatility risk

The negative impacts of drought on food security, water availability or human health have further consequences on the stability of livelihoods. Drought can push people into humanitarian crises in which households experience gaps in consumption and access to food, especially in low-income countries. Such situations lead to additional burdens, particularly on women, who, in many cases, are responsible for the household, including the collection of drinking water. This is further elaborated in Box 1.5. Droughts are considered root causes of global food price fluctuations as they lead to crop failure and reduced global food supply. The co-occurrence of multiple breadbasket failures poses a risk to global food price stability (McKinsey Global Institute, 2020). Even small fluctuations in food prices can lead to food insecurity and malnutrition in low-income countries. For example, between 2006 and 2008, the food price crisis was a major factor in the increase of the global number of hungry people to more than 1 billion (FAO, 2011).

Food price volatility is a global concern for consumers and producers (Kalkuhl et al., 2016). Even in high-income countries, price volatility is ranked as one of the most important risks by farmers. In a survey of 500 farmers in Austria, heat and drought were identified as the most important threats, followed by commodity price volatility and volatility of farm input prices (Hanger-Kopp and Palka, 2020). Additionally, farmers face political and institutional risks from inadequate policy as well as financial risk from expensive loans to finance their operations.

The Group of Twenty (G20) developed an action plan to reduce food price volatility for all countries, because of food price shocks in the early 2000s. This included the establishment of the Agricultural Market Information System – hosted by FAO – so as to increase market information and transparency (G20, 2011). It builds data-collection capacity in participating countries, promotes international policy coordination and creates alerts of food price surges to strengthen global early warning capacity.

Further policy measures against the impacts of drought include disaster response and also investments in infrastructure or technology to prevent or mitigate future drought risks and to maintain livelihoods. There are several ex ante policy measures to increase resilience: providing information to improve drought risk management, improving planning for a more-effective drought response, investing in disaster risk reduction (DRR) and providing an overall risk-minimizing environment (OECD, 2020a). More recently, ex ante cash transfers have begun to be used as a measure to stabilize livelihoods and prevent food price crises. In forecast-based financing mechanisms, people in drought-prone regions are paid a predetermined amount of money if drought forecasting models pass a certain warning threshold. These ex ante cash transfers are designed to prevent populations from becoming undernourished and have been shown to be more costeffective than ex post disaster relief, for example in reducing stressors resulting from food price volatility (Nobre et al., 2019).

Ex post policy measures preventing the loss of livelihoods include early disaster response. The United States Agency for International Development estimated that an early response to drought in Ethiopia, Kenya and Somalia would have saved \$1.6 billion in humanitarian response and nearly \$2.5 billion in avoided losses over a period of 15 years (USAID, 2018). In the Horn of Africa, monitoring systems indicated a severe drought in 2017. Due to early action from the Special Fund for Emergency and Rehabilitation Activities, livestock feed and other assistance were provided that reduced livestock mortality and improved household welfare (FAO, 2018).

Box 1.5. Drought impacts and gender imbalance

Drought can have differential economic, social and environmental effects on women in developing countries. Unequal power relations, gender inequalities and discrimination mean women and girls are often hit hard during a crisis and are often required to take on significant extra work to recover from drought in such countries.

Women are especially vulnerable because their social roles, responsibilities, limitations and capacities are different from those of men (UNCCD, 2019). Women often face discrimination, resulting in unequal pay, fewer educational opportunities, and exclusion from political, community and household decision-making processes. Recurrent drought can put additional pressure on single-parent households, or those caring for elderly or ill family members.

Studies have shown women are at greater risk of sexual violence during drought in refugee camps, as they have to walk further or walk during the night to collect water. For instance, reported cases of sexual violence quadrupled among refugees during the 2011 drought in the Horn of Africa (Reliefweb, 2011). Women and men often deploy different skills and coping mechanisms during droughts (FAO, 2010). As illustrated in a case study in Patía, Colombia, women assume proportionally greater additional responsibilities to cope with drought than men, with no discernible reduction in daily pre-drought activities and tasks to which men make little or no contribution. Pre-drought, men's labour participation is focused on pasture management, livestock care, production of meat, and buying and selling of animals; women work more on milk production, cleaning of equipment and utensils, milking and processing activities. This is partly due to the ease of combining these activities with household responsibilities. Such competing claims on women's time can result in a significant deterioration in women's well-being (Arora et al., 2017).

Policy development must address the direct and indirect contributions of women and men to crop and livestock production. Policies need to value women's labour both in the home and outside of it. Gender-responsive approaches in drought preparedness, policymaking and programming are essential to effective drought risk management initiatives (UNCCD, 2019).

1.4

Drought risk assessment

KEY MESSAGES

- Drought risk depends on the drought hazard and on the interactions between socioeconomic and ecosystem vulnerability of exposed systems.
- A better understanding of the drivers, spatial patterns and dynamics of drought risk is key for building resilience to droughts. Risk assessments should go beyond mapping current patterns of vulnerability drivers and systematically explore root causes, as they can be influenced by adequate management and policy.
- To understand current drought risk, it is important to consider current susceptibilities and lack of coping capacities.
- Future scenarios of drought risk need to consider the effects of adaptive or non-adaptive human behaviour and potential adaptation measures on future drought hazard, exposure and systems' vulnerabilities.

This section introduces a novel conceptual framework for characterizing systemic drought risk (see Box 1.6), followed by an introduction to approaches and recent advances in assessing present-day and future drought risk in all dimensions of drought hazards, exposure and systems' vulnerabilities.

1.4.1

Conceptualizing drought risk

Droughts and their adverse impacts are putting livelihoods at risk and are hampering the achievement of SDGs - notably SDG1 (no poverty), SDG2 (zero hunger), SDG3 (good health and well-being) and SDG15 (life on land). While there is ambiguity regarding drought trends in the past century (Sheffield et al., 2012; Trenberth et al., 2014), and despite the uncertainty in climate projections, it is likely that the frequency, severity and duration of droughts will increase in many regions across the world due to climate change (IPCC; 2018; UNDRR, 2019). At the same time, exposure of people, assets and ecosystems has increased in the past decades faster than vulnerability has decreased, thus generating new risks and leading to a steady rise in overall drought-related losses and damage (UNDRR, 2019).

Identifying pathways towards more resilient societies and sustainable development is hence high on the global political agenda. Cross-sectoral, crossscale and impact-specific assessments of who and what are at risk to what (e.g. soil moisture for agriculture or stream-flow drought for energy), as well as where and why, will be key for the development of baselines that can inform prospective and proactive risk management (IPCC, 2014c), as well as targeted response.

A proactive approach to drought risk management includes appropriate measures being designed in advance, with related planning tools and stakeholder participation. The proactive approach is based on short-term and long-term measures and includes monitoring systems for a timely warning of drought conditions, identification of the most vulnerable part of the population and tailored measures to mitigate drought risk and improve preparedness. The proactive approach entails the planning of necessary measures to prevent or minimize drought impacts in advance. This approach is reflected in the three pillars of integrated drought management (see section 1.5.2). It is no surprise that the need to understand, assess and monitor the drivers, complexities and spatio-temporal dynamics of present-day and future drought risk has been underscored by several recent international agreements and initiatives, including the Sendai Framework, the UNCCD 2018/19 Drought Initiative and the 2019 United Nations Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction (GAR; UNDRR, 2019).

Tremendous progress has been made over the past few decades in understanding the physical processes underlying drought propagation (Hao and Singh, 2015), as well as the human role in enhancing and mitigating droughts (Van Loon et al., 2016). Countries have implemented drought monitoring and early warning systems based on their ability to monitor and predict drought events (Pulwarty and Sivakumar, 2014).

At the same time, conceptual approaches to understanding risk associated with climate change and natural hazards have undergone paradigm shifts. Early conceptualizations focused primarily on understanding and assessing key characteristics of the hazard, such as frequency, intensity, duration or extent. The choice and frequent use of the term "natural disasters" reflects the thinking of that time when disasters were understood as being random, exceptional events, or purely natural phenomena (Hewitt, 1983; Burton, 2005).

Emphasizing the role of agency (the action people take to reduce their vulnerability) and structure (the social, economic or political structures that place people in vulnerable conditions), criticism emerged in the 1970s of these hazard-oriented explanations of risk, and called for the consideration of vulnerability as a key driver of risk (O'Keefe et al., 1976; Hewitt, 1983; Blaikie et al., 1994; Lewis, 1999). More holistic risk concepts have been advanced that integrate social, economic, political, environmental, physical and governance-related drivers of climate and disaster risk by considering hazard, exposure and vulnerability (Turner et al., 2003; Birkmann et al., 2013; IPCC, 2014c; UNDRR, 2019). As a result, new conceptual foundations and frameworks on how to define disaster and drought risk coexist, and are used to inform drought risk assessments (Hagenlocher et al., 2019; Blauhut, 2020). Previously, while vulnerability and risk were conceptualized differently by DRR and climate change adaptation communities, efforts of the past decade, such as the IPCC special report on extreme events or the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, have made a contribution to reconciling contrasting definitions (IPCC, 2012, 2014; Giupponi and Biscaro, 2015).

It is widely acknowledged today that risk (i.e. the potential for adverse consequences) is more than just the likelihood and severity of hazardous events and potential impacts. Recent severe droughts have shown that the risk of negative impacts associated with drought is not linked only to the severity, frequency, onset and duration of drought events. Rather, drought risk is complex, multifaceted and dynamic (Brüntrup and Tsegai, 2017; Van Lanen et al., 2017), resulting from the complex and nonlinear interactions of drought events with exposure of humans, infrastructure and ecosystems, to systems' vulnerabilities across multiple scales, sectors and systems (IPCC, 2014c; UNDRR, 2019).

Figure 1.9 shows that the risk of direct drought impacts for one system results from the complex, non-linear, cross-scale interaction of compounding drought hazards, exposure and systems' vulnerabilities. Failures in one or multiple parts of the system can also trigger cascading impacts on other sectors or systems, in the same region or far from the area affected by droughts. Mitigating anthropogenic climate change can help to reduce drought hazards. Furthermore, integrated water resources management (IWRM), risk reduction (including risk transfer, e.g. through insurance solutions) and adaptation, aiming to reduce current and future exposure and vulnerabilities, are instrumental to reduce the risk of direct and cascading drought impacts. Residual risk is the risk that remains unmanaged after considering the effects of risk reduction, risk management and adaptation.

Persistent anomalies in large-scale atmospheric circulation patterns can lead to meteorological

droughts, and in turn to reduced water storage in the form of snow and in soils (soil moisture drought), as well as to reduced stream-flow, declining groundwater tables and decreased storage in lakes and reservoirs (hydrological drought) (Van Loon et al., 2016; Manning et al., 2018). This is especially true when combined with an elevated atmospheric evaporative demand exacerbated by global warming (Dai, 2011; Trenberth et al., 2014) and compound effects of precipitation deficiencies with hot temperature extremes (Hao et al., 2018; Sharma and Mujumdar, 2017), unsustainable water abstraction (Mehran et al., 2017; Di Baldassarre et al., 2018; Veldkamp et al., 2017; Ashraf et al., 2019) and anthropogenic modifications of catchment properties altering hydrological processes (e.g. soil compaction, degradation of ecosystems and their services, and urbanization).

The presence of people, livelihoods, species, ecosystems and their services, infrastructure, basic services and other tangible assets in places and settings that could be adversely affected by droughts determines exposure. Like the other two risk components (drought hazards and system vulnerabilities), exposure is not static, but subject to constant spatio-temporal dynamics (UNDRR, 2019). Some of the key factors contributing to these dynamics include population growth, tourism, mobility and changes in agricultural land and ecosystems resulting from human influences (e.g. increasing demand for land for housing and food production), political priorities and economic development.

Analysing the root causes of system vulnerabilities is necessary to understand why households, communities, regions, systems or sectors facing the same drought event may experience fundamentally different impacts (Blaikie et al., 1994; Wens et al., 2019). System vulnerability also exhibits a dynamic and non-linear nature (Wisner et al., 2004; Birkmann et al., 2013; IPCC, 2014c; Jurgilevich et al., 2017; Ford et al., 2018), for example driven by changes in social, economic, physical or natural capital and their complex interrelations across spatial and temporal scales. Particularly





Box 1.6. Systemic risks

Systemic risks are defined as interdependent failures in different parts of a system that might lead to cascading events or even to breakdown of the entire system. Failure can arise through one or several external shocks, but can also be embedded in the system itself and have cumulative risk potential when some characteristics of a system change (Helbing, 2013; UNDRR, 2019). Droughts contain a range of systemic risk characteristics that need to be acknowledged in drought risk analysis and management. These include:

- Interconnected, complex, causal structures: Droughts and heat-related extremes such as heatwaves are among the most-severe impacts of climate hazards, potentially resulting in agricultural production losses, human health stresses or damage to infrastructure. In particular, the non-linear interplay among various climate extremes such as hot and dry conditions and system vulnerabilities pose a risk.
- Compound events: A combination of interacting physical processes such as climate drivers or hazards across multiple spatial and temporal scales (Zscheischler et al., 2018, 2020), which may include (a) preconditions that aggravate impact, (b) compounding impacts as a result of multiple drivers and/or hazards, (c) impacts resulting from a succession of hazards or (d) aggregated impacts provoked by hazards in multiple connected locations.
- Non-linear dynamics and tipping points: Tipping points occur in non-linear dynamic systems when an incremental change in a specific variable leads to a sudden, often catastrophic, shift into a new equilibrium state. Droughts can have highly non-linear effects on other systems such as the food system. Although droughts might gradually develop over many months, they might also act as a sudden, dramatic trigger to famine and consequent food riots when a social tipping point is crossed.
- Globally networked risks: The globalized world consists of highly interdependent social, environmental and technical systems. The economic system is characterized by an increasing number of trade connections and trade volume. While global economic integration can strengthen resilience to smaller shocks like drought-induced crop losses in one region through trade adjustments, large or multiple shocks can propagate through global networks and lead to ripple effects such as price spikes around the world.
- Cascading events and feedback loops: Droughts can act as trigger events for cascading events and feedback loops that further exacerbate the initial hazard (Zuccaro et al., 2018). In particular, the interdependence among hazards such as heatwaves and prolonged droughts can generate different event chains that, exacerbated by system vulnerabilities, can cause damage to different exposed elements such as agricultural production, critical infrastructure or service networks (for more details, see section 1.3.2).

in settings where livelihoods rely on ecosystems and their services, a social-ecological systems perspective is imperative to understanding system vulnerabilities; a perspective that considers the susceptibility of ecosystems and their relationship to the susceptibility and lack of coping capacities of the communities that depend on them (Sebesvari et al., 2016; IPCC, 2019).

1.4.2

Assessing drought risk

Drought risk assessments should have a systems perspective of the spatial and temporal scales on which the drought-prone sectors, systems or user groups at risk operate (risk of who and to what) (World Bank, 2019). This systemic approach is not fixed on a single discipline or sector, rather it needs to be based on a transdisciplinary and holistic approach involving networking and partnership across different scientific disciplines, policymakers, practitioners and citizens. The assessment should be tailored to specific user needs so drought risk management, adaptation policies and plans can be developed to reduce risk and impacts (Vogt et al., 2018; UNDRR, 2019; World Bank, 2019). Therefore, it should be co-designed in close collaboration with local stakeholders and citizens.

The interdependence of different risk variables – hazard, exposure and vulnerability – must be represented to avoid underestimating the compounding effect that can occur if risk is measured based on a single variable or risk component (Zscheischler and Seneviratne, 2017; He et al., 2020). The root causes, spatial patterns and dynamics of exposure and vulnerability need to be considered alongside climate variability in an integrated and consistent manner (Hagenlocher et al., 2019; Spinoni et al., 2019; He et al., 2020; Meza et al., 2020).

Composite-indicator approaches are commonly used for drought risk assessments. They are valuable for aggregating multiple underlying factors and identifying generic leverage points for reducing impacts from the local to the global scale (Beccari, 2017; de Sherbinin et al., 2017, 2019; UNDRR, 2019). However, when assessing drought risk with indexbased approaches, composite indicators are often static in time and space, and do not fully capture the inherent system dynamics (e.g. non-linear relationships, feedback loops, and cross-scale and cause–effect interactions).

Considerable efforts have been made in recent decades to improve drought risk monitoring, modelling and assessment across scales and sectors, ranging from global (e.g. Dilley, 2005; Carrão et al., 2016; He et al., 2020; Meza et al., 2020), to transboundary (e.g. Mohammed and Scholz, 2017; Sušnik et al., 2018), to national (e.g. Frischen et al., 2020) to local (e.g. Chou et al., 2019) level risk assessments. These improvements help to identify dynamics and leverage points to anticipate, adapt, reduce impact and move towards resilient sectors and societies.

Current drought risk

Drought hazard

Drought hazard assessment should evaluate the evolution of spatio-temporal drought patterns, including drought climatology, monitoring, seasonal forecasting and future projections (see section 1.2.1). Hao et al. (2018) assessed the interdependence and non-linear interactions between drought and other climate extremes such as heatwaves. These extremes can contribute to and amplify impacts on society and ecosystems (e.g. agricultural production, changes in vegetation growth, energy security, human health and migration).

As discussed in section 1.2.2, different drought types require different indicators for their characterization. One of the main difficulties of using indices is setting the context, benchmarks and threshold below which the dynamic nature of droughts and their interrelated characteristics are defined (He et al., 2020; Wilhite, 2000). This process requires the gathering of historical climate/hazard trend data along with a broad range of indicators selected according to the impact to be assessed (UNDP, 2011). Combining indicators will provide further insight into the range of potential levels of drought severity and the frequency and occurrence of drought hazards (World Bank, 2019). Several combined indicators that integrate physical indicators into one index have been developed, for example, to monitor drought impacts on agricultural and natural ecosystems (Sepulcre-Canto et al., 2012) or to measure drought hazard for agricultural systems (Meza et al., 2020; section 1.2.2).

Another relevant consideration is the seasonality of drought. While seasonal droughts are frequent and predictable, megadroughts and flash droughts (lasting less than 3 months) are aberrant and unpredictable (Bond et al., 2008; UNDRR, 2019; section 1.2.4). The case studies summarized in Chapter 2 highlight the relevance of the seasonality of drought on assessments. Understanding and monitoring each hazard component in the different sectors is crucial, as it is not necessary for all the characteristics of the drought hazard to be extreme for their composite impact to be extreme.

Exposure

Exposure is generally defined as the elements of a system located in areas that could be adversely affected by the drought hazard (IPCC, 2014c). It comprises all assets, sectors, infrastructure, species or ecosystems and people located in a droughtprone area (Vogt et al., 2018). In addition to directly exposed elements, there are indirectly exposed elements such as trade and financial systems that are affected by the drought elsewhere via teleconnection (Figure 1.5). Sections 1.2.5 and 1.3 describe examples of sectors that are susceptible to drought impacts and therefore relevant to exposure, and Chapter 2 provides examples of how exposure assessment is operationalized at a local scale. Exposure is not static as it is subject to constant spatio-temporal dynamics including political priorities and economic development (UNDRR, 2019).

Understanding the characteristics of exposed elements is important, as they influence the magnitude of the potential drought impact (World Bank, 2019). For instance, the larger the share of agricultural land exposed in a given country, the larger the potential impact of drought on crops, leading to a potential cascading effect on food availability. Approaches can be different depending on the sector and temporal and spatial scales at which RDrI is assessed. Vogt et al. (2018) provide a good example with emphasis on agriculture and primary sector impacts. Table 1.7 considers the exposure layers and their relevance to specific sectors seeking to assess exposure to drought. Their model was computed and validated based on spatially explicit geographic layers. This comprehensive approach considers the spatial distribution of several physical elements or proxy indicators (Carrão et al., 2016). Furthermore, using this methodology ensures dominance in one indicator cannot be compensated for by inferiority in another (UNDRR, 2019).

Vulnerability

A better understanding of the vulnerabilities of people, livelihoods, sectors or systems towards drought is essential in designing targeted drought risk reduction and adaptation strategies and measures (Vogt et al., 2018). Building on the IPCC definition, the United Nations defines vulnerability as the conditions determined by physical, social, economic and environmental factors or processes that increase the susceptibility of an individual, a community, assets or systems to the impacts of hazards (here: drought) (IPCC, 2014c; United Nations, General Assembly, 2016). IPCC and the United Nations identify (the lack of) coping and adaptive capacities as central to determining vulnerability.

Vulnerability to droughts is difficult to quantitively measure due to its multidimensional nature, and is often best assessed by considering relevant drivers of vulnerability. Context-specific vulnerability drivers need to be considered – such as social (e.g. demographic characteristics), economic (e.g. gross domestic product (GDP) per capita), physical/infrastructural (e.g. hydropower), governance and environmental (e.g. land and soil degradation) factors – and employed subject to the target of the drought risk assessment. Different vulnerability drivers might be relevant when assessing drought risks for public water supply or for agricultural livelihoods, for example. These factors are dynamic and change over time and space. To capture this complexity, assessments should allow interactions between one or multiple drought hazards and the multiple associated vulnerabilities of different exposed elements to emerge. This approach is often described as being multi-risk (Garcia-Aristizabal et al., 2015) or multi-vulnerability (Gallina et al., 2016). As the socioecological system develops, the sectors or users that are affected may also change (Wilhite et al., 2014; Hagenlocher et al., 2018; World Bank, 2019). Therefore, droughts in the same region will have different impacts on the exposed elements, even if hazard characteristics are identical because the drought event is coupled with a socioecological system that is complex and dynamic.

The magnitude of drought impact depends on the vulnerability of the exposed assets, sectors and systems (World Bank, 2019). Some sectors are more vulnerable than others to drought. Agriculture, energy production and industry, drinking water/ domestic water supply, navigation and ecosystems are among the most susceptible, due to their heavy dependency on water (World Bank, 2019).

As different sectors are affected in distinct ways, different indicators and variables need to be used to characterize and assess their vulnerability according to the geographical and socioecological context (Peduzzi et al., 2009; World Bank, 2019).

| Exposure layers | Description | Sectors | |
|--|---|---|--|
| Gridded population data | Used to account for the spatial distribution of population exposed to droughts | Agriculture, energy, industry, water supply, navigation, ecosystems, tourism, forestry, aquaculture and fisheries, and financial | |
| Land use | Used to represent the proportion of land area used as cropland, settlements, pastures and managed woods | Agriculture, energy (biomass), water supply, ecosystems, forestry, aqua- culture and fisheries, and financial | |
| Agricultural crop type | Used to identify crop types more sensitive to droughts | Agriculture | |
| Gridded livestock of the world | Used to model livestock densities of the world | Agriculture, water supply, ecosystems and financial | |
| Highly valued and/ or protected nature areas | Used to spatially localize and identify the size/density of protected areas and species as well the highly valued and rare ecosystems | Ecosystems, tourism, forestry and financial | |
| Baseline water stress | Used to represent the relative water demand (ratio of local water withdrawal/ available water supply) | Agriculture, energy, industry, water supply, navigation, ecosystems, tourism, forestry, aquaculture and fisheries, and financial | |
| Location and density of industrial activities | Used to identify the capacity and type of industries | Energy, industry, water supply and financial | |
| Hydropower capacity production | Used to represent the location and capacity (water, energy production) of reservoirs used for hydropower generation | Agriculture, energy, industry, water supply, ecosystems, tourism and financial | |
| River network and navigation activities | Spatial information used to identify the main navigation transportation routes or most important harbours and the shipping density and specific shipping characteristics | Navigation and shipping, energy, industry and financial | |

Table 1.7. Exposure layers, description and relevance to sectors assessing drought exposure

Source: Vogt et al. (2018)

Due to its complexity, the most common method to assess drought vulnerability uses composite indicators or index-based approaches (Beccari, 2017; de Sherbinin et al., 2019; Hagenlocher et al., 2019). A handbook on constructing composite indicators was published in 2008 (OECD, 2008), the indicators of which have been implemented and adapted to different drought assessments at global and local levels (Naumann et al., 2014; Carrão et al., 2016; Núñez et al., 2017; Meza et al., 2020).

However, vulnerability cannot be fully assessed by quantifiable variables only. There are other root causes of vulnerability that cannot be "quantified" with a simple indicator, such as beliefs, awareness, social capital or accepted risk thresholds. In addition, due to the static nature of index-based approaches, they do not capture inherent complexities and dynamics of drought vulnerability completely.

The selection of relevant vulnerability indicators depends on the impact, sector, scale and unit of analysis. There are different approaches to identifying the most-relevant indicators; the most common are expert judgment, literature review or a mixture of both. One of the most sensitive steps in index construction is the weighting scheme. A wide variety of approaches have been developed to identify and incorporate the relevance and contribution of factors and indicators to vulnerability and risk in the context of droughts (OECD, 2008).

These approaches can be classified as based on statistical models (e.g. regression analysis, principal component analysis or factor analysis) or expert or participatory community consultation (e.g. ranking, budget allocation, analytic hierarchy processes and Delphi methods).

Meza et al. (2019) performed a global expert survey with the aim to identify the most-relevant drought vulnerability indicators for global-scale drought risk assessments for water supply and the agricultural sector. They found the relevance of indicators varies strongly according to the sector, as different drivers are relevant for different impacts. Furthermore, this relevance, even within the same sector, might vary for different contexts and scales. Figure 1.10 shows the most-relevant indicators and their weights according to experts.

The foregoing analysis on vulnerability and risk drivers can be refined at higher spatial resolution, allowing for an improved assessment of the spatial distribution of the drought risk within a given area of interest (e.g. farm, province, river basin, country, region or continent). An example is the vulnerability assessment developed for the UNCCD Drought Toolbox, launched at the fourteenth meeting of the Conference of the Parties to UNCCD. In the toolbox, the drought vulnerability assessment relies on the methodology and assessment developed by JRC (Vogt et al., 2018). It is calculated as the propensity of exposed elements to suffer adverse impacts when affected by a drought event, and is derived from a combination of social, economic and infrastructural indicators (Carrão et al., 2016). Figure 1.11 shows the implementation of the vulnerability assessment in the UNCCD Drought Toolbox (UNCCD, 2020). The framework is data driven and thus the main limitation for obtaining reliable estimates is the availability and accuracy of relevant information at different administrative levels.

An uncertainty and sensitivity analysis should be conducted before results are visualized, as the development of composite indices has inherent uncertainties due to the subjective decisions made in the process (e.g. the mechanism to include or exclude an indicator, the normalization approach, the imputation of missing data and the weighting scheme) (OECD, 2008). Uncertainty and sensitivity analysis will provide useful insights into the process of building composite indicators, thereby increasing transparency and giving meaning to the associated policy message.

The examples above highlight the relevance of the vulnerability assessment and identify its key drivers, as vulnerability shapes the risk of current and future droughts for the different sectors. Chapter 2 presents local examples on how vulnerability assessments are performed.

Figure 1.10. Differing relevance of vulnerability indicators to drought impacts on agricultural systems and water supply



Source: Adapted from Meza et al. (2019)





Dotted line represents approximately the Line of Control in Jammu and Kashmir agreed upon by India and Pakistan. The final status of Jammu and Kashmir has not yet been agreed upon by the parties. Final boundary between the Republic of Sudan and the Republic of South Sudan has not yet been determined. A dispute exists between the Governments of Argentina and the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland concerning sovereignty over the Falkland Islands (Malvinas). The boundaries and names shown and the designations used on this map do not imply official endorsement or acceptance by the United Nations.

Source: Adapted from Vogt et al. (2018)

Risk of drought impacts

The risk of drought impacts is the result of the interaction of drought hazards with exposure of human and natural systems and their vulnerabilities, which depend on changing socioeconomic pathways and socioecological conditions (IPCC, 2014c). As discussed in section 1.2.1, this concept is commonly expressed in a mathematical form where Risk = f (Hazard, Exposure, Vulnerability).

Drought risk is characterized by numerous feedback loops among the different risk components. As part of a system, these could be aggravated by previous or parallel events. In cases of severe disruption of the exposed and vulnerable elements (people, assets, sectors and systems), the hazard may materialize as a disaster. Different approaches have been developed to determine the overall drought risk. It may be assessed through a factor approach, based on a conceptual framework of drought risk (Naumann et al., 2014; Carrão et al., 2016), or through a probabilistic approach where risk is commonly understood as the probability of a drought event happening multiplied by its impact (Van Lanen et al., 2017; Rajsekhar and Gorelick, 2017; World Bank, 2019). However, such probabilistic approaches need to be considered with care, especially when assessing risks associated with climate-related hazards such as droughts, where climate change might affect the frequency and severity of droughts, as well as on the occurrence of drought events in places where droughts occur infrequently (Diffenbaugh, 2020).

Estimating the risk of drought impacts requires the development of models that combine drought hazard with relevant indices or metrics of drought exposure and vulnerability (Van Lanen et al., 2017). For instance, Carrão et al. (2016) and Meza et al. (2020) used a factor approach at the global level and developed composite-indicator approaches to determine global drought risk for the agricultural sector. In this approach, the evolution of the hazard is dynamic, while the social, infrastructural, governance and environmental factors underlying exposure and vulnerability assessments are less dynamic (and in most instances are updated irregularly). Blauhut et al. (2015, 2016) assessed drought risk in Europe through a static and probabilistic impact model for diverse sectors such as energy, industry and water quality. Chen and Yang (2011) performed an assessment of impacts on agricultural systems in Hunan Province, China, using a matrix approach that weighted risk factors, and was considered useful in designing effective drought prevention and mitigation measures. Wens et al. (2019) developed an agent-based modelling framework to integrate human behaviour dynamics into drought risk assessment by simulating local-scale dynamics. The framework allows simulation of dynamic drought risk as a result of the evolution of the drought and the dynamic mitigation and adaptation decisions of exposed farmers, water managers, urban populations or administrative and government bodies involved.

Composite indicators, matrix and impact models represent alternative but complementary ways of approaching drought risk assessment at different scales, and for different assets, sectors and systems. Moreover, composite indicators are the most common approach as they can identify generic leverage points for reducing drought impacts at the regional to global scales while allowing for comparability across countries or regions (Van Lanen et al., 2017). For example, the case study of central southern Africa in Chapter 2 presents a probabilistic drought risk assessment for Angola (livestock/livelihoods impacts), the United Republic of Tanzania (crop impacts) and Zambia (hydropower impacts).

More efforts are required to integrate the dynamic nature of drought risk into current assessments so future adaptation strategies can be improved (He et al., 2020). In addition, incorporating the uncertainties and sensitivity of the assessment, which may inevitably involve various trade-offs, is needed. Improvements could be achieved with the availability of more spatially explicit vulnerability information (i.e. at subnational levels) and the availability of standardized drought impact information that can serve as quantitative validation of risk level.

Future drought risk in the context of global change

In the context of global environmental change, societal change, sustainable development and transformation, future risk scenarios are useful tools to illustrate different potential development pathways and associated risk trends. Risk scenarios can also help identify policies and measures to prepare for a range of possible futures (Birkmann et al., 2015). Preventing future risk, a key goal of the Sendai Framework, and enabling risk-informed, climate-resilient development require a solid understanding of which areas might be affected by drought hazards in the future, alongside possible future exposure and vulnerability pathways.

RCPs (Moss et al., 2010) and shared socioeconomic pathways (SSPs; Kriegler et al., 2012; O'Neill et al., 2014) provide a framework for the assessment of future risks and options for their management (van Ruijven et al., 2014). RCPs describe four different twenty-first century pathways of GHG emissions and atmospheric concentrations, including a stringent mitigation scenario (RCP2.6), two intermediate scenarios (RCP4.5 and RCP6.0) and one high-end scenario with high GHG emissions (RCP8.5). SSPs provide narratives describing plausible alternative trends in the evolution of societies and natural systems and their associated challenges for mitigation and adaptation over the twenty-first century (Kriegler et al., 2012). Together, these two challenges span a challenge space of five SSPs: low challenges for mitigation and adaptation (SSP1), moderate challenges for mitigation and adaptation (SSP2), high challenges for mitigation and adaptation (SSP3), high challenges for adaptation, low challenges for mitigation (SSP4), and high challenges for mitigation, low challenges for adaptation (SSP5) (O'Neill et al., 2014).

While RCPs and SSPs were initially developed at the global level, in recent years, an increasing number of studies have been published aimed at extending SSPs to regional (e.g. Williges et al., 2017), national (e.g. Chen et al., 2020a) and subnational (e.g. Absar and Preston, 2015; Frame et al., 2018; Kebede et al.,

2018) scales, strengthening scenario development within drought risk assessment at different administrative scales.

To gain a better understanding of possible future exposure to drought, some recent studies have used SSPs to identify scenarios of future population growth (Jones and O'Neill, 2016; KC and Lutz, 2017) and land use (Popp et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2020b). Integration of future drought hazard scenarios based on RCPs and future exposure scenarios based on SSPs at the global scale is still lacking. However, Smirnov et al. (2016) integrated future drought hazard scenarios using SPEI for four RCPs with one population growth scenario to simulate future exposure of the world's population to drought hazards until the end of the twenty-first century. Their study shows that by 2081-2100, under the high-emissions scenario RCP8.5, the average worldwide monthly population exposed to extreme drought (SPEI < -2) would possibly increase from 85.5 million at present to 472.3 million at the end of the century. Furthermore, according to their simulations, at the end of the century, 129 countries will experience an increase in drought exposure mainly due to climate change alone, 23 countries primarily due to population growth, and 38 countries primarily due to the interaction between climate change and population growth (Smirnov et al., 2016).

Combining the drought hazard projections discussed above with population (Jones and O'Neill, 2020) and land-use projections under five SSPs (Hurtt et al., 2018), Spinoni et al. (forthcoming) found population exposure to meteorological droughts is expected to increase towards the end of the century. This finding is also valid for pastures, forests and croplands (Figure 1.12). However, drought exposure of population and land use is limited with SSP1 (green growth), medium with SSP2 (middle of the road), and large with SSP3 (regional rivalry), SSP4 (deepening inequality) and SSP5 (fossil-fuelled development).

Globally, using temperature and precipitation as drought drivers, Spinoni et al. (forthcoming) report that by the end of this century, more than 2 billion people are projected to be exposed to increased drought frequency and severity with any SSP except SSP1.

At a global scale, more than 60% of forests, croplands and pastures will be exposed to higher drought frequency and severity with less-sustainable SSPs (SSP3, SSP4 and SSP5). As the feedbacks induced by global warming and drought stress are known to affect population (Miyan, 2015), increase forest mortality (Allen et al., 2010) and have devastating impacts on agriculture (Parry et al., 2005; Leng and Hall, 2019), there is urgent need for national (Wilhite et al., 2014) and transnational actions (UNDRR, 2019) to cope with drought, implying strong efforts are required immediately to limit global warming to below 2°C (Lehner et al., 2017).

Future vulnerability is much more difficult to predict and model due to its multidimensional, dynamic and complex nature. SSPs have been used to develop future scenarios of population by age, sex and level of education (KC and Lutz, 2017), urbanization (Jiang and O'Neill, 2017) and GDP (Cuaresma, 2017; Dellink et al., 2017; Leimbach et al., 2017) at the global scale (Riahi et al., 2017), and to project drivers of social vulnerability using extended SSPs at regional level (e.g. Rohat, 2018). However, few studies have developed future vulnerability scenarios to simulate future drought risk (Fraser et al., 2013; Ahmadalipour et al., 2019). This absence is also in line with findings from two reviews of existing climate (Jurgilevich et al., 2017) and drought vulnerability and risk (Hagenlocher et al., 2019) assessments.

Figure 1.12. Percentage of areas (above) and total population and extent of land-use classes (below) subject to an increase in meteorological drought frequency and severity from 1981 to 2100 to the highest warming level allowed by five SSPs (1.5°C with SSP1, 2°C with SSP2, 3°C with SSP4, and 4°C with SSP3 and SSP5)


Fraser et al. (2013) used a global hydrological model to simulate future soil moisture and integrate agricultural, meteorological and socioeconomic data to develop models of adaptive capacity for 2050 and 2080 for wheat and maize. Their study identified five wheat-growing regions (south-eastern United States of America, parts of central Asia, the north-eastern Mediterranean and south-eastern South America) and three maize-growing regions (parts of southern Africa, north-eastern Mediterranean and south-eastern South America) likely to be exposed to worse droughts compared to present-day conditions and having a reduced capacity to adapt. Using an ensemble of 10 regional climate models and a multi-scalar drought index, Ahmadalipour et al. (2019) assessed drought risk scenarios in Africa at the national scale using SPEI for two RCPs (RCP4.5 and RCP8.5), three population scenarios and three vulnerability scenarios for three periods until 2100 (2010-2040, 2040-2070 and 2070-2100). Their analysis shows drought risk is expected to increase across Africa at varied rates for different models and scenarios, with the highest risk in central African countries.

The above assessment reveals two challenges warranting further action and research:

- Existing scenarios tend to focus on longer timescales (e.g. end of century) and show stronger signals when projecting long-term changes rather than expected changes in the short to middle terms. While such long-term scenarios are relevant to demonstrate longterm pathways, they do not coincide with most policy and planning mechanisms of relevant stakeholders, which require robust short-term to midterm scenarios (e.g. projected changes and scenarios until 2030).
- Future scenarios of drought risk need to consider the effects of adaptive or non-adaptive human behaviour and potential adaptation measures on future exposure and system vulnerabilities (Palmer and Smith, 2014; Wens et al., 2019).

1.5

Drought risk reduction and risk management

KEY MESSAGES

- The governance and management of droughts must shift from prevailing reactive crisis management to prospective and proactive drought risk management.
- Policy and planning mechanisms demand robust short-term to midterm scenarios (i.e. 20-30 years), rather than for longer timescales (e.g. end of century).
- Risk reduction requires prospective and proactive drought risk management, including drought monitoring, forecasting, early warning and measures to reduce vulnerability, coupled with adaptation to a changing climate and actions to increase societal and environmental resilience.
- Climate change demands urgent adaptation action to reduce water demand, for example, by more-efficient irrigation methods, cultivating drought-resistant varieties and adequate water pricing.
- Public awareness-raising and development of water-saving practices and policies to promote and enforce sustainable land and water management are needed for successfully introducing required changes.

The governance and management of drought has traditionally been dominated by a reactive crisis management approach (i.e. trying to mitigate the impacts of ongoing droughts). Instead, prospective and proactive drought risk governance and management that aim to prevent or reduce future and existing risks, and to increase resilience to the changing nature of drought, are urgently required.

Nations have defined prospective disaster risk management as distinct from corrective and compensatory (or residual) risk management; it includes activities that address and seek to avoid the development of new or increased risks (United Nations, General Assembly, 2016). Prospective disaster risk management addresses risks that may develop in future if risk reduction policies are not put in place (United Nations, General Assembly, 2016), rather than existent risks that can be managed and reduced now. Activities can include structural or non-structural measures (e.g. better land-use planning) that are established by inter alia a community, local government, national agency to promote sustainable development by avoiding or minimizing the generation of new risks.

The foregoing discussions have demonstrated the complexity of the nature of drought hazard and the multitude of factors that determine the vulnerabilities and risks associated with drought for society and the environment. Policy and management actions commensurate to the scale of the threat are required, to significantly reduce these debilitating risks. These actions should ideally be based on a deep knowledge and understanding of the key drivers, spatial patterns and dynamics of drought hazard, exposure and vulnerability.

1.5.1 Drought risk reduction policies

Drought policies and frameworks promote drought risk avoidance and reduction by developing better awareness and understanding of the drought hazard and the underlying causes of societal and ecosystem vulnerability, and by setting the framework for prospective and proactive planning and action.

Effective drought risk management relies on enabling national (and where relevant regional or global) drought (risk reduction) policies and frameworks to establish clear principles and guidelines to manage drought. As an example, under the 2016 Windhoek Declaration for Enhancing Resilience to Drought in Africa, countries at the African Drought Conference 2016 committed to a drought-resilient and prepared Africa, based on six principles:

- 1. Drought policy and governance for drought risk management
- 2. Drought monitoring and early warning
- 3. Drought vulnerability and impact assessment
- 4. Drought mitigation, preparedness and response
- 5. Knowledge management and drought awareness
- 6. Reducing underlying factors of drought risk⁴

To move from a reactive to a prospective and proactive approach, local or regional environmental conditions must be considered, including legislative and administrative frameworks. An effective drought management plan should provide a dynamic framework for an ongoing set of actions to prepare for and effectively respond to drought, including: periodic reviews of achievements and priorities; readjustment of goals, means and resources; and strengthening institutional arrangements, planning and policymaking mechanisms for drought mitigation (e.g. EC, 2007; Poljanšek et al., 2019).

At the 2013 High-level Meeting on National Drought Policy (HMNDP), the final declaration encouraged governments to develop and implement national drought management policies guided by the following principles (UNCCD, FAO and WMO, 2013):

- Develop proactive drought impact mitigation, preventative and planning measures, risk management, fostering of science, appropriate technology and innovation, public outreach and resource management as key elements of effective national drought policy
- Promote greater collaboration to enhance the

quality of local/national/regional/global observation networks and delivery systems

- Improve public awareness of drought risk and preparedness for drought
- Consider, where possible within the legal framework of each country, economic instruments and financial strategies, including risk reduction, risk sharing and risk transfer tools in drought management plans
- Establish emergency relief plans based on sound management of natural resources and self-help at appropriate governance levels
- Link drought management plans to local/ national development policies

HMNDP policy guidance further recommended the following essential elements of a national drought policy (UNCCD, FAO and WMO, 2013):

- Promote standard approaches to vulnerability and impact assessment
- Implement effective drought monitoring, early warning and information systems
- Enhance preparedness and mitigation actions
- Implement emergency response and relief measures that reinforce national drought management policy goals

Introduced in 2014, the National Drought Management Policy Guidelines of the Integrated Drought Management Programme (IDMP) have provided countries with a template of 10 guiding steps for developing drought policies and management plans (WMO and GWP, 2014; Figure 1.13).

Over time, and as a follow-up of HMNDP, IDMP and its many partners have refined the above concepts into an Integrated Drought Management Framework with three pillars that can lead to proactive national drought management policies and plans (WMO and GWP, forthcoming).

⁴ Principles 2, 3 and 4 correspond to the three critical pillars of integrated drought risk management as described in section 1.5.2. Principles 1, 5 and 6 are cross-cutting principles.

Figure 1.13. Ten steps of the drought policy and preparedness process



Sources: WMO and GWP (2014); IDMP (https://www.droughtmanagement.info/drought-policies-and-plans/)

While such guidelines and frameworks provide countries with useful guidance in seeking to address drought risk more effectively, their use and application should always be determined by the context in which they are employed. Chapter 3 discusses the problems of rigidly following such methods without full consideration of new learning opportunities provided by adaptive governance and also the unique nature of each drought event.

1.5.2

Drought risk management – from policies to plans to action

Drought risk management that includes long-term adaptation to a changing climate and considers possible interdependencies and compound risks is essential if societies are to be better prepared to cope with drought and avoid major impacts. While it is impossible to prevent the occurrence of droughts or eliminate residual risk (reduce risk to zero), the resulting impacts may be mitigated to a certain degree through appropriate surveillance and management strategies such as water supply increase, demand reduction and drought impact minimization. These are measures that should be agreed and laid down in a drought management plan by reducing vulnerability and being prepared to manage residual risk.

Most countries currently employ reactive crisis management in response to droughts. This entails measures and actions initiated after a drought event has started and been detected. However, there is little time to evaluate best options once a drought has started. With stakeholder participation often limited, such emergency actions often result in inefficient solutions. Crisis management places little or no attention on addressing drought risk drivers or impacts caused by future drought events. The IDMP approach offers a common way of structuring an integrated approach to drought management (Pischke and Stefanski, 2018), and includes appropriate measures being designed in advance, including related planning tools and stakeholder participation. It is based on short-term and long-term measures and includes monitoring systems for a timely warning of drought conditions, identification of the most vulnerable part of society, and tailored measures to mitigate drought risk and improve preparedness.

The IDMP approach comprises three pillars of integrated drought management (Figure 1.14):

- 1. Drought monitoring and early warning systems;
- 2. Drought vulnerability and impact assessment;
- 3. Drought preparedness, mitigation and response.

A drought monitoring and early warning system (Pillar 1; see also Box 1.7) is the foundation of proactive drought policies. As they are more than scientific and technical instruments for monitoring and forecasting hazards and issuing alerts, if used effectively, early warning systems can be the basis for reducing vulnerability and improving mitigation and response capacities of people and systems at risk.

Improved early warning systems⁵ support a prospective and proactive social process whereby networks of organizations conduct collaborative analyses and develop indicators that can help to identify when and where policy interventions are most needed, specific to geographic and stakeholder requirements (Pulwarty and Verdin, 2013). As such, early warning systems facilitate formal and informal decision-making in a way that empowers vulnerable sectors and social groups to assess and mitigate potential loss and damage (Pulwarty



Source: Adapted from Pischke and Stefanski (2018)

Figure 1.14. Three pillars of integrated drought management

⁵ For example, the European Commission's drought observatories (European Drought Observatory and GDO), IDMP, the National Integrated Drought Information System, FEWS NET and the UNCCD Drought Initiative.

and Sivakumar, 2014; Seager et al., 2015). Historical and institutional analyses performed in this context help to identify the processes and entry points needed to reduce vulnerability.

Early warning systems must communicate reliable information in a timely manner to water and land managers, policymakers and the public through appropriate communication channels to implement the drought management plan. They can provide scientifically credible, authoritative and accessible knowledge that integrates information about and coming from areas at risk. The governance context in which early warning systems are embedded is critical, in particular with respect to communication and acceptance of the information generated – especially to the end user (Pulwarty and Sivakumar, 2014). A mixture of centralized and decentralized activities, including different communication channels, is required.

Vulnerability and impact assessment (Pillar 2; see also sections 1.3 and 1.4) aims to determine the historical, current and likely future impacts associated with drought. In this context, drought vulnerability and impact assessment aims to improve the understanding of the natural and human processes and drivers associated with drought and its impacts, as well as the interlinkages and feedback loops among processes, drivers and impacts. The outcome of such assessment is a depiction of who and what is at risk and why.

The work related to drought preparedness, mitigation and response (Pillar 3; see also Chapter 3) determines appropriate mitigation and response actions aimed at risk reduction and building resilience, identification of appropriate triggers to phase in and phase out mitigation actions during drought onset and termination, and to identify appropriate institutions to develop and implement mitigation actions.

Prospective risk management goes further than the proactive approaches described above by seeking to prevent the development of new or increased risks before they are realized. If DRR policies are not put in place, prospective risk management activities focus on addressing disaster risks that may develop in the future (United Nations, General Assembly, 2016). Among other goals, such activities promote adaptation planning as part of increasing the resilience of socioecological systems. An example is the development and implementation of improved land-use planning with a focus on long-term sustainability.

Prospective and proactive drought risk management is dependent on active involvement and support from all stakeholders – including national and local governments, appropriate sectoral representatives, citizens and private sector actors. Combining local knowledge and practices with modern approaches promotes mutual trust, acceptability, common understanding, and community sense of ownership and self-confidence (e.g. Giordano et al., 2014; Masinde, 2015).

An integrated approach to drought management that looks at the costs of inaction and the benefits of action and identifies the political window of opportunity is advocated (WMO and GWP, 2017). Examining costs and benefits can also provide an entry point for including financial services, including the (re-)insurance industry, more broadly in integrated drought management. The World Bank and WMO and GWP (as part of IDMP) have jointly developed guidance on this process by proposing a framework to perform economic analyses (Venton et al., 2019).

Chapter 3 discusses these aspects of prospective and proactive risk management in more detail within the development and implementation of appropriate governance arrangements, policies and drought risk management frameworks (as briefly introduced above).

Box 1.7. Monitoring and forecasting drought hazard and risk

Adequate early warning (forecasting) and continuous monitoring during a drought event are central pillars of effective drought risk management (Pischke and Stefanski, 2018). Combined with information on exposure and vulnerability, they assess the evolution of drought risk and possible impacts on different sectors (WMO, 2006; Bailey, 2013; Wood et al., 2015).

Drought early warning systems (DEWSs) have been implemented over a number of decades, across

spatial scales ranging from the local level to the global level, and addressing the variety of users and their needs. DEWSs comprise many components (Figure 1.15) and require cooperation from National Meteorological and Hydrological Services and key users such as water managers and decision makers at different levels. Ideally, all the components are included in the design and implementation of such systems. Near-real-time, historical and forecast data should be at the top of the system.



Figure 1.15. Main components of GDO

The boundaries and names shown and the designations used on this map do not imply official endorsement or acceptance by the United Nations. Dotted line represents approximately the Line of Control in Jammu and Kashmir agreed upon by India and Pakistan. The final status of Jammu and Kashmir has not yet been agreed upon by the parties. Final boundary between the Republic of Sudan and the Republic of South Sudan has not yet been determined.

Note: The main panel shows an example of the global map of the risk of drought impact for agriculture (RDrlagri). The bottom-left panel shows the forecast of subseasonal dry conditions and the bottom-right panel an example of the automatic reporting tool.

Source: GDO (European Commission, JRC)

Drought indicators range from single indices, relevant to water and land managers at local scales, to high-level combined indicators, targeted to raise awareness with policymakers and high-end decision makers or the general public.

DEWSs support water management and watersaving strategies, trigger immediate and long-term mitigation actions, and support adaptation measures to increase medium- and long-term resilience. Information provided must be easily accessible and understandable, enabling timely actions. Where relevant, the information should be combined with traditional knowledge (e.g. Masinde, 2015).

Web-based portals provide an entry point to DEWSs from which drought bulletins and reports, maps and direct communications to stakeholders are delivered to achieve timely and effective action (Bordi and Sutera, 2007; Akwango et al., 2017). DEWSs routinely use statistical approaches (Kim and Valdés, 2003; Mishra et al., 2007) integrated with downscaled weather models (Fleig et al., 2011; Kingston et al., 2013; Lavaysse et al., 2018) and dynamic precipitation and hydrological forecasts (Dutra et al., 2014; Nobre et al., 2019; Sutanto et al., 2020b).

Recent developments such as GDO include sector-specific vulnerabilities for assessing the risk of drought impacts (e.g. RDrlagri; main panel in Figure 1.16) based on the temporal evolution of the drought hazard, and sector-specific exposure and vulnerability. Continuous improvement of these systems requires close interactions with key users (Pulwarty and Verdin, 2013). Therefore, GDO includes a tool to produce ad hoc automatic reports for decision makers (Figure 1.16, bottom-right secondary panel). Detailed analytical reports are sent to customers during severe events.

| HISTORICAL NEAR-REAL-TIME FORECAST | | | eteorological rcing | | | Hydrological and land-surface models | | s | Rem sens | ote sing | 00 | DATA COLLECTION | |
|--|----------------|-------------------|--|--|----------|--------------------------------------|---|--------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------|-----------------------|
| Meteorology Precipitation Temperature Solar radiation Humidity | | | Soil moisture Evapotranspiration Vegetation status | | | | Hydrology River streamflow Reservoirs Groundwater Snow pack | | | | N | | |
| Meteorologi INDEX IND 1 2 | al droi x i | ught NDEX 3 | Ag INDE 1 | gricultura X IND 2 | al droug | ght INDEX 3 | INE | Hydrol DEX 1 | ogical INDEX 2 | drou | ght ^{NDEX} 3 | <u>*</u> و | DROUGHT INDICES |
| COMBINED INDEX | | | COMBINED INDEX | | | | COMBINED INDEX 3 | | | | | * | HIGH-LEVEL INDICES |
| Exposure Vulnerab | | ility | Risk and impacts 1 | | | Risk and Risk and impacts 2 | | | nd :s 3 | , I | RISK ANALYSIS | | |
| Interactive Web portals Dynamic maps Time series | | | | Ad hoc Reports and bulletins Text messages Radio transmission | | | | | r ⊄ € COMI & DIS | MUNICATION SEMINATION | | | |

Figure 1.16. Main components of a DEWS as part of proactive integrated drought risk management

Source: Adapted from Vogt et al. (2018)

2. Droughts: the lived experience

This chapter provides a link between the presentation of drought and related hazards, exposure and vulnerabilities in Chapter 1 and the options and pathways for avoiding risks and building resilience in Chapter 3. Through the lived experience of coping with and responding to drought, this chapter explores the current understanding of drought, supplemented where necessary with accounts of the wide range of impacts, response and adaptation actions. It looks at the extent to which society understands and manages drought, and its systemic characteristics, causes, impacts and lingering effects, including the efficiency of drought planning, responsive actions, support services and the adaptive learning challenge that this presents. This chapter also analyses the key features of hazard, exposure and vulnerability through the lens of climate change and related drivers. The case studies and the challenges described in this chapter explore the historical, current and prospective policies and practices applied in recent droughts.

The case studies (summarized below) present geographical examples, and are supplemented with a desk review of cases from river basins, agricultural food-basket regions, cities and mountain communities. The case studies highlight successes and challenges for a systems approach to managing drought risks. They are taken from the interaction among people, communities and decision makers, and point to the need for a growing public awareness of climate change and its relationship with drought. While public awareness of climate change has grown, the lack of understanding of drought as a serious and systemic risk creates concerns regarding potential impacts.

The case studies are available in full in the digital edition of this report and can be accessed online at: <u>https://www.undrr.org/publication/gar-special-report-drought-2021</u>

2.1

Case studies of this GAR Special Report on Drought 2021

The case studies explored in this chapter show that countries' capacities to respond to drought-related impacts vary. They highlight how limited knowledge on possible impacts, poor assessments of vulnerabilities and costs, little coordination at national and regional levels, and lack of awareness on policy options are key impediments to effective drought management. Figure 2.1 demonstrates the global distribution of the case studies and Table 2.1 summarizes the studies.

Table 2.1. Summary of case studies

| Case study | Context | Description |
|-----------------------------|--|--|
| Argentina | Agriculture in the Pampas region of Argentina; relevant to similar landscapes and communities in neighbouring countries | Lessons learned from significant drought events in 2008–2009 and 2017–2018; complexities arising from food production and processing interdependencies; need for more proactive governance |
| Australia | General background to Australian droughts and progression in drought risk management | Millennium Drought 1997–2009; multiple and multiplicative impacts across all sectors and ecosystems; evolution in policy, governance and financial strategies (including risk transfer) |
| Brazil | North-eastern Brazil in the context of drought in the wider region | Compares governance and experience in the region with wider initiatives and potential solutions; institutional capacity issues; identifies required improvements in governance and preparedness |
| Canada | Flash droughts in the Canadian Prairies | Impact on agriculture and landscapes, particularly during the 2017 drought; cascading impacts including wildfires; clarity needed in roles across government and communities |
| Caribbean | Countries in the archipelago | Response to the impacts of the 2009–2010 drought and the level of preparedness for the 2014–2016 drought; describes successful risk management approaches credited in part to the effective operation of the Caribbean Drought and Precipitation Monitoring Network; novel collaborations needed in the development and integration of drought risk prevention |
| Central southern Africa | Drought risk in Angola, United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia | The 2010–2011 East African drought, a strong La Niña event aggravated by human actions; combined exploration of drought-affected populations in Angola; drought- induced crop yield losses in the United Republic of Tanzania; drought-related hydropower losses in Zambia |
| Danube River Basin (DRB) | 19 European countries sharing DRB | Explores and characterizes drought management in DRB; Danube water supply connections, communities, irrigation, hydropower generation and industry, transportation, tourism and fishing; enhanced drought management model – the DriDanube project |

| Case study | Context | Description | | | |
|-----------------------------|--|---|--|--|--|
| East Africa | Principally in Intergovernmental Authority on Development (IGAD) countries | Comprehensive discussion of recent drought experience across countries of the region; drought resilience management often proves insufficient to protect lives; regional cooperation success stories are emerging | | | |
| Euphrates-Tigris Basin | Drought impacts and risk throughout the Euphrates–Tigris Basin | Describes impacts and responses in areas shared by six countries exposed and highly vulnerable to drought; complexity grows from impacts on agriculture, through the whole economy and environment to turmoil and conflict; need for better coordination across the Euphrates–Tigris Basin but constrained by geopolitical realities | | | |
| Horn of Africa | Drought risk over an area of 5.2 million km²; 230 million people | Drought risk, impacts and increasing vulnerability – emphasis on arid and semi-arid lands (ASALs); drought risk composed of complex and interacting components; need to increase equality in access to drought risk management opportunities | | | |
| Iberian Peninsula | Guadiana River Basin that spans Portugal and Spain | Issues of sharing a river basin crucial to urban and rural water supply and irrigated agriculture; experience of implementing the European Union Water Framework Directive and European Union Drought Policy; different mechanisms for implementation and resultant tensions between countries | | | |
| India | Deccan Plateau region (about 43% of southern and eastern India) | Impacts and risk governance; substantial variance in the quality of drought monitoring; exacerbation of pre-existing vulnerabilities during droughts | | | |
| Mediterranean Basin | Lands typical of the Mediterranean bioclimate | Middle East and North Africa region, which is expected to be more severely affected in future projections; a 10-step drought mitigation approach is recommended, but not yet widely adopted; complexity due to competition for water among agriculture, energy and urban water supplies | | | |
| Nile Basin | Blue Nile region | Diversity leads to substantially varying drought impacts; absence of transboundary drought management policies, plans or agreed legislation; need to strengthen institutional mechanisms for collaboration, data collection, monitoring and data sharing | | | |
| United States of America | Flash droughts across agricultural areas | A shift in urgency for early warning and preparedness; Subseasonal Experiment, a Climate Test Bed project focused on improving subseasonal prediction | | | |
| Uzbekistan | Drought risk management | Natural ecosystems of the country's arid and semi-arid regions; salinization, spread of moving sands, dust-storms and dry winds, exacerbated by lack of water resources; national action plan for drought management to be developed | | | |
| West Africa | Recent drought experience in West African countries | Likely impacts from projected increased dryness; drought cascades to migration, conflict, deaths, hunger and malnutrition, and natural resources depletion | | | |



Argentina

This case study focuses on agriculture in the Pampas region of Argentina (Figure 2.2) and is also relevant to similar landscapes and communities in neighbouring countries.

It draws lessons from significant drought events in 2008–2009 and 2017–2018. Droughts in the region are driven by ENSO variations, with additional influences from humidity transport from the Amazon forest, the displacement of the Inter-Tropical Convergence Zone, the position and strength of the south Atlantic anticyclone, and the Antarctic Oscillation. An increase in annual precipitation that started in the 1970s has apparently reduced the frequency of strong droughts. However, recent droughts have been extremely damaging.

The droughts have devastated crops, dried rivers and springs, caused livestock losses, and affected the society and economy of productive communities and regions. Water deficits translated to economic losses of more than \$4 billion from the 2008–2009 drought and effects continued into 2011–2012 as substantial reductions in corn yields and declines in soybean production were recorded, with a consequent loss in exports and challenges to processing infrastructure. Extensive forest fires followed with more than 500 persons evacuated, 40,000 ha of forest burned and the death of an unknown number of wildlife.

The case study focuses on the agricultural sector in Argentina and the interactions with processing structures and markets. Therefore, exposure includes dryland cropping, beef and dairy cattle, and the limited irrigation areas. Recent droughts have driven increased use of marginal lands, which are then more prone to drought impacts. Government subsidies supporting exposed sectors are limited, and there is a dominance of farm rental. There appears to be limited government awareness of the level of exposure to drought impacts.

Figure 2.2. Pampas region of Argentina



Drought management has therefore been reactive and taken the form of a declaration of agricultural emergency. A fund for prevention and mitigation exists, but it is inadequate (it currently covers 1% of Argentinean agricultural areas). Proactive measures are being developed but are not sufficiently coordinated. A drought information system may emerge from a combination of the Sistema Nacional para la Reducción del Riesgo de Desastres y la Protección Civil (an institutional framework for coordination and planning for a broad spectrum of risks) and the drought information system for southern South America (a regional initiative that operates within the framework of the regional climate centre for southern South America). Improvements in Argentinean drought risk management rely significantly on regional sharing of early warning and drought monitoring information.

A drought monitoring round table is playing a crucial role in coordinating the separate, sometimes overlapping, efforts of governmental and academic institutions involved with drought. However, this information is provided mainly to governmental agencies, and there has not yet been any broad public dissemination. Micro-level actions by individuals, households and firms are perceived as the comprehensive – and possibly, the most effective – set of actions combating drought in the Pampas.

The case study describes the many and varied examples of the complexity that arise in managing drought risk in Argentina, even with the focus limited to agriculture. Argentina is a major global breadbasket. The same ENSO extreme that leads to drought in the Pampas also decreases production in other breadbaskets, producing a correlated risk for global production and world food prices. Argentina has large grain-processing facilities; with drought, their capacity is idle, without imports from other countries, thus adding complexity to the local supply chain.

Australia

This case study gives a general background to Australian droughts and the progression in drought management, with a particular focus on the Millennium Drought that ran from 1997 to 2009 (Figure 2.3).

Australian droughts are frequent. Many are intense and protracted: differences between events are significant, and the nature of the impacts and the societies and economies affected vary greatly. Drought in Australia is associated with multi-year ocean and weather cycles in the Pacific and Indian Oceans. There is growing evidence that climate change will increase the frequency and severity of droughts. Droughts have direct impacts on agricultural production and profitability, urban and regional water supply, irrigation systems, and the state and dynamics of ecosystems. A range of confounding and cascading connections then produce highly complex impacts. Australian landholders are not, in general, subsidized, and so are subject to market forces that reduce options and flexibility in drought preparedness and management. Large cities have increasingly been exposed to drought; and in

Figure 2.3. Australia



recent droughts, small towns have often been at crisis point for water supply. The fragile landscape suffers substantial degradation. After drought, there has been a trend towards damage from wildfire and flooding.

Australia develops drought policy through a federal system with responsibilities shared among state and national agencies. Policy and scientific support are focused on: understanding and managing the coincident effects of climate change; better measuring and communicating the onset, progress and impact of drought; further development of financial and social support for drought preparedness and response; and broadening the tools available to farmers, irrigators and regional managers to identify and respond to drought impacts and short-term opportunities (including through technology and genetic revolutions).

Cascading impacts include land degradation, challenged social support systems, effects on human physical and mental health, dust-storms that damage supply and receiving areas, water quality decline, and challenges to the public and private sectors in developing and delivering effective responses. Initial plans and actions therefore need to be changed as each drought develops. There are currently evolving policy, governance, insurance and financial strategies that prepare for drought risk and then respond to the emerging characteristics of each drought in place or in development. Integrated risk management and risk transfer approaches are needed for resilience but are only partly in place.

Brazil

This case study focuses on drought in north-eastern Brazil (Figure 2.4).

Brazil has records of droughts in 1877–1879, 1888–1889, 1898, 1900, 1903, 1915, 1919–1920, 1931–1932, 1942, 1951, 1953, 1958, 1970, 1979– 1983, 1987, 1992–1993, 1997–1998, 2002–2003, 2010 and the latest one, 2012–2018. ENSO drives drought in Brazil. The frequency, severity and duration of droughts are likely to change in the future, in combination with traditional, and often unsustainable, economic development plans for the region.

Large rural and urban populations in the region are exposed to drought. There are major impacts on production and yields of summer crops (maize and soybean) and on livestock production. As a result of the 2014-2015 drought, São Paulo had less than 4% of its capacity in the main reservoir, and the city of over 21.7 million inhabitants was less than 20 days away from running out of water. The 2012–2018 drought led to devastating widespread impacts on water storage, agriculture, livestock and industry (CGEE, 2017). In 2016, in the state of Ceará, water supply ceased from 39 of 155 monitored reservoirs.

Most of the measures adopted by the government to deal with the occurrence of drought in the region can be characterized as reactive, with an emphasis on infrastructure overshadowing the importance of preparedness. While economic losses due to the reduction in agricultural and livestock production affect the region as a whole, especially the most vulnerable people, there are other compounded social and environmental impacts that are also substantial. These include



Figure 2.4. North-eastern Brazil

an increase in unemployment, a rise in hunger in vulnerable communities, a growth in the number of cases of water-related diseases due to the poor quality of water supplied to the population, migration of the most affected and vulnerable people from rural areas to large urban centres, and the triggering of land degradation (Magalhães, 2017). States have registered several water conflicts. For the most part, these conflicts are local and related to a specific water system or reservoir.

The case study describes inadequate institutional capacity (including a lack of qualified human resources), a myopic view of the problem in the political arena due to short-term perspectives, infrastructure vulnerability and inadequate logistics. Elements needed to improve the policy and governance environment include:

- Improving and developing explicit drought strategies such as drought preparedness policies, national drought management programmes, national action plans and drought mitigation planning
- · Building resilience of production systems against shocks
- Developing comprehensive basin-wide agreements, regional basin water policy frameworks and flexible water allocation strategies
- · Capacity-building and training, and raising political and public awareness
- Making investments in dams, canals, pumping stations and wells, with structures to manage water supply and demand during drought
- · Preparing emergency measures to support those affected by drought

Canada

This case study focuses on flash droughts in the Canadian Prairies and the impact on agriculture and landscapes, in particular, for the 2017 drought. The 2016–2017 winter season in Canada was abnormally dry throughout much of the southern prairies (Figure 2.5).

The value of farm assets in the prairie provinces was estimated at \$280 billion in 2016. Those assets generated gross receipts of \$38.3 billion in 2016 and accounted for close to 4% of Canada's total GDP in 2016. Droughts therefore can have devastating economic and social impacts in the prairie provinces. In 2017, crops were affected by poor germination, stunted growth and early maturation. Drought resulted in poor pasture production and unreliable water supplies.

Federal and provincial governments collaborate on monitoring and developing appropriate responses. Both levels of governments have established or enacted programmes and policies to assist those affected by drought.





These actions include water testing for livestock, opening land for livestock grazing and providing assistance for uninsurable losses from wildfires. Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada provides continuous near-real-time monitoring and assessments of weather and climate conditions that affect the agricultural sector. In addition, the Canadian Drought Monitor follows the drought monitor process first established by the United States of America. There is also a livestock tax deferral provision.

Following drought, there have been abnormally high numbers of wildfires on rangeland in Alberta and Saskatchewan. These fires have destroyed homes, ruined agriculture machinery and infrastructure, damaged crops, reduced feed supplies and resulted in significant livestock loss.

There is an identified need for increased investment in drought monitoring, analysis and planning. Drought response plans need to be improved to help guide decisions and triggers during a drought event. The 2017 drought highlighted the need to improve or update drought plans to ensure the various administrations know their roles and avoid causing unnecessary delays in programmes or actions.

Caribbean

This case study focuses on the response to the impacts of the 2009–2010 drought across countries in the Caribbean archipelago (Figure 2.6) and the level of preparedness for the 2014–2016 drought.

The severe 2009–2010 drought event, one of the worst droughts in the region in almost 50 years, was followed by the 2014–2016 drought and another one in 2019–2020. ENSO was identified as the single most-important factor.

The droughts led to reductions in crop yields, losses of livestock, increases in food prices (with resulting riots in Haiti), increases in plant pests and diseases, low reservoir levels and reduced stream-flows resulting in water shortages and rationing, hotel cancellations in Tobago due to water shortages, significant increases in the number of wildfires and areas burned, and significant numbers of landslides on overexposed slopes when the rains returned.

The health sector was also affected, with poor water storage contributing to gastroenteritis in Barbados (Trotman et al., 2018) and *Aedes aegypti* mosquito (the vector responsible for transmission of chikungunya, dengue and Zika viruses) proliferation in Barbados (Lowe et al., 2018) and Dominica (Government of Dominica, 2016).

Energy data provided by St. Vincent Electricity Services Limited illustrates the impact the decline in rainfall during 2014–2016 had on hydropower generation in Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, which produced 11,858,670, 16,757,832 and 15,932,020 kWh in 2014, 2015 and 2016, respectively, compared to the 9 year (2011–2019) average of 20,982,164 kWh per year.

The case study describes successful risk management approaches credited in part to the effective operation of the Caribbean Drought and Precipitation Monitoring Network – a regional operational





network of National Meteorological and Hydrological Services coordinated by the Caribbean Institute for Meteorology and Hydrology. These are supplemented by a suite of technical drought early warning (monitoring and forecasting) tools and products geared towards multisectoral decision support, using primarily SPI, and more recently SPEI (for monitoring only), and a drought forecast/alerting system that issues threat levels using 6 and 12 month SPI forecasts updated every month.

Strategic drought partnerships have been formed, but only a few Caribbean countries have approved the national multisectoral drought plans/ documents.

The complex interplay among traditional hazards like drought and new transboundary threats such as the Covid-19 pandemic can compound an emerging health crisis. Such impacts are observed in the Caribbean case study (and further discussed in section 1.2.5).

The cascading and compounding multisectoral impacts of drought require novel collaborations in the development and integration of drought risk prevention, preparedness and response. Across scales, this collaboration will include local communities, non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and community-based organizations connected to national and regional governance and science platforms, with an aim to facilitate broad public education and risk awareness.

The region now looks to progress beyond meteorological forecasting of the drought hazard alone to extend into forecasting the cascade of potential climate-sensitive outcomes that may occur due to drought. The Caribbean Climate Impacts Database (an open-source geospatial inventory) provides and mainstreams sector-specific impacts-based forecasting information for drought.

Central southern Africa: Angola, United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia

This case study combines exploration of drought-affected populations in Angola, drought-induced crop yield losses in the United Republic of Tanzania and drought-related hydropower losses in Zambia (Figure 2.7). The focus is on the 2010–2011 East African drought – a strong La Niña event aggravated by human actions.

Agricultural sectors in central southern regions of Africa have a large share of the population and are exposed to drought. The region has a high dependence on hydroelectricity (e.g. hydropower constitutes ~85% of Zambia's overall electricity generation). Drought has moved over 1.2 million people into food and livelihood insecurity due to related losses of main crops.

Climate change projections vary across the region, but suggest possible losses of approximately \$600 million every 20 years. This is equivalent to almost 10% of the total value, with many families losing their livelihoods. Predictions for hydropower losses increase substantially, to about 25% for drought events with a return period of 10 years or more.

In Angola, on average, 1.9 million people per year are currently affected by droughts, with this projected to rise to 7.9 million people per year. More than 40% of livestock, which is a significant livelihood source and accounts for 31.4% of the agricultural GDP nationwide, is currently exposed to droughts, rising to 70% under projected climate conditions.

Across all three countries, drought management has a focus on climate change policies and building resilience, promoting drought-tolerant food

Figure 2.7. Angola, United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia



crops and improving water availability in droughtstricken communities. Angola has coordinated the approach with the United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction (UNDRR), aimed at short-term response measures and medium-term prospective risk-reducing measures for nine sectors that are dependent upon external donor investment. Some national stakeholders suggest drought risk transfer mechanisms should be established, utilizing probabilistic risk assessments, and connected to improved disaster risk sensitive investment and funding in agriculture to foster climate-resilient agricultural practices.

Droughts in the region often escalate family abandonment, domestic violence and diseases (e.g. yellow fever), with impacts on food security at the subnational level. Farm labour opportunities decline, and there are connected impacts on food security. Land degradation and deforestation from increased charcoal production are compounding impacts.

Danube River Basin

This case study includes 19 European countries where the River Danube is crucial for water supply for communities, irrigation, hydropower generation, industry, transportation, tourism and fishing (Figure 2.8).

Significant parts of DRB have been affected by drought in recent years notably in 2003, 2007, 2012, 2015 and 2017. This has affected various waterdependent economic sectors, vegetation and the aquatic environment. Drought frequency is expected to increase and resultant low water levels in the region expected to be more commonplace, especially in summer and particularly in the south-eastern parts of DRB. Drought frequency in the period 2041-2070 is expected to increase by at least one event per decade, especially in the downstream half of DRB. The spatial distribution of drought-affected areas will continue to extend from the south-east to the north-west.

A range of aquatic and associated ecosystems are especially vulnerable to drought,

in addition to water-dependent industries and communities. Species with low reproduction rates and limited mobility seem to be the most affected.

The case study characterizes drought management in the basin as essentially crisis management. Such a reactive approach activates institutions only when drought intensity is already alarming. At the political level, drought is still not considered an issue of high priority. Existing legislation and policies, and stakeholder roles and responsibilities, including those of lead institutions, are either unclear or overlapping or both. Co-responsibility without a functional inter-institutional agreement on data exchange,





shared responsibility and communication flow negates the combined institutional response. While some good practices and agreements can gradually be negotiated, improved and maintained, relevant policies are mostly non-binding.

Quantitative knowledge of the environmental and socioeconomic impacts of drought is often missing in drought planning and management. Post-drought estimation of damage is usually the primary way to quantify impacts, but it misses many costs.

Examples exist in DRB where inadequate drought policies could be improved by amending existing

policies, such as climate change or water management policies, with applicable drought-related components.

Drought impacts in DRB are a result of a complex, often cascading, set of dynamic factors that include snow-melt, drying soils, surface and groundwater reductions, and increased wildfire risk. These result in diverse outcomes including: agricultural decline; less snow negatively affecting winter tourism; poor water quality; soil loss; inflation; market changes; public health issues; waterway freight restrictions; reduced hydropower; and environment water loss.

An enhanced drought management model has been developed in the form of the DriDanube project, which promotes a proactive approach that encompasses monitoring, an impact database and drought management tools. It also promotes cooperation among stakeholders, sectoral experts and decision makers to enhance the capability of society to better cope with droughts in the long term.

East Africa

This case study is a comprehensive discussion of recent drought experience across the countries of the region, principally in IGAD countries and with a focus on ASALs (Figure 2.9).

The region has experienced extreme droughts and increasing risk throughout the twentieth and twenty-first centuries. However, climate projections suggest increased rainfall in the region and fewer dry periods, which is in contrast to recent experience (perhaps a reflection of the spatial and temporal limitations of the models).

Droughts have reduced food security (decreases in food quantity and quality). They have even caused famine, provoked by losses in agricultural and livestock production and in income, and compounded by already low income and lack of income diversification. There are additional impacts on water quantity and quality, and disruption to weak local and national food markets.

While some countries have diverse agroecological conditions, much of the area in the region is ASAL, with consequent high national drought vulnerability. The ASAL areas have large populations of pastoralists practising transhumance and which contribute 6–10% of the GDP of these economies, most of which are low- or low-middle-income countries. Generation of electricity in the region relies heavily on hydropower, which provides 83% of the total electricity generated in Ethiopia, 75% in Uganda, 65% in Sudan and 27% in Kenya, for example (UNEP, 2017).

Figure 2.9. IGAD member states



Early warning systems have been adopted in the whole region, but they require more bottom-up linkages with local communities. They need to be connected with constant monitoring of ever-changing vulnerabilities. While drought resilience management exists at various governance layers, it often proves insufficient to protect lives, thereby highlighting the need to better synchronize and harmonize sectoral drought preparedness and emergency interventions. Drought in the region has deep impacts. When combined with low local coping capacities and state failure, civil war and political interference, the impacts have provoked some of the worst humanitarian disasters of the twenty-first century. There are medium- and long-term cascading impacts, such as loss of scarce assets, stunted human (child) development, conflict and migration. Challenges to hydroelectric generation, and deterioration of sensitive aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems, can have repercussions on development, food security and tourism.

Drought risk management in this region is dependent upon several important components, including regional organizations (e.g. IGAD), large NGOs and international early warning systems (e.g. the Famine Early Warning Systems Network; FEWS NET). There are some regional cooperation success stories, but cooperation is still less than optimal.

Euphrates-Tigris Basin

This case study describes drought impacts and risk through the Euphrates–Tigris Basin (Figure 2.10), and covers land in Iraq, the Islamic Republic of Iran, Jordan, Saudi Arabia, the Syrian Arab Republic and Turkey (approximately 880,000 km²). The climate of the region is arid and semi-arid, and drought is a recurring phenomenon.

Droughts in recent decades have been more severe in length and intensity, and IPCC projections suggest increasing severity superimposed on a drying trend and higher temperatures. Damaging droughts occurred in 1998–2001 and 2006–2010 across the Islamic Republic of Iran and the Syrian Arab Republic.

Rain-fed and irrigated cropping and pastoralism are the first sectors exposed to drought across the region. Vulnerability is highest where rain is essential for agriculture, where pressures exist on water resources, where subsistence farming is a dominant land use, or where safety nets and other forms of public support are lacking.

The region has seen many examples of cascading impacts from this initial expo-

sure. Recurring social and economic losses have led to loss of rural livelihoods, increased pressures on cities through migration, breakdown in food production and supply chains, and consequent social and political unrest. Drought cycles and stretched human capacity have led to increased land degradation and desertification, soil salinity and reduced soil fertility, with resultant broader ecosystem impacts.

Figure 2.10. Euphrates-Tigris Basin



Complexity grows with such a combination of stress and vulnerability. Forced migration due to drought is compounded in the region with other displacement of populations (e.g. from the draining of marshlands in Iraq), resultant pressures on receiving populations and increased demand for limited water and food. Each country in the area has initiated steps to respond to drought risk. For example: a Higher Committee for Drought in Iraq, designed to work across government agencies; a National Strategy and Action Plan on Drought Preparedness, Management, and Mitigation in the Agricultural Sector in the Islamic Republic of Iran; a national drought strategy in the Syrian Arab Republic, with integrated drought monitoring; and a drought management system in Turkey, integrated across government with plans for drought mitigation, alleviation and improved preparedness. However, the case study concludes that to varying degrees, all Euphrates-Tigris Basin countries have weaknesses in the elements of a systemic response to drought risk. Although there has been a series of bilateral agreements over the shared basin dealing with droughts, political turmoil, conflict and instability have constrained effective whole-of-basin agreements.

The case study also concludes there are numerous opportunities for better policies integrating risk reduction in the region.

Horn of Africa

This case study discusses drought risk and impacts across an area of 5.2 million km² in the Horn of Africa (Figure 2.11), in which approximately 230 million people live. It has an emphasis on ASAL.

Droughts have occurred intermittently in the area, with large-scale impacts recorded during 1973–1974, 1984–1985 and 2010–2011 events. Drought frequency and intensity are projected to increase (IPCC, 2012; IGAD, 2013).

This is an area with a high level of exposure to drought and increasing vulnerability, notably in ASALs, with less than 600 mm of rainfall annually and high numbers of pastoralists. Many communities' livelihoods depend on rainfall for farming (animal husbandry, crop farming and cash crops). Drought impacts reinforce impacts from other hazards including floods, pests and diseases that reduce agricultural production and increase human-induced land degradation within a context of weak institutional capacity.

Drought affects agricultural areas with loss of livestock and reduction in livestock production, decreased resistance of livestock to diseases and reduced yields or crop failure. Groundwater and surface water has reduced in quantity and quality. Habitat and species stress under high temperatures leads to low biological productivity and degradation of ecosystems, which reduce buffer functions.

Figure 2.11. Horn of Africa



This leads to loss of important ecosystem services. Tourism declines as wildlife communities reduce, leading to a reduction in an important contributor to national income. Competition for resources and water among communities leads to increased conflict and hostility. Local adaptation approaches to drought risk are in evidence, for example Kikuyu soil and water conservation measures. In support, individual countries are adopting the 10-step process of drought management. Across the region, IGAD has developed a Drought Resilience and Sustainability Initiative framework, with support from IDMP in the Horn of Africa, itself supported by WMO, GWP and UNCCD. In addition, the Drought Resilience and Sustainable Livelihoods Programme, established in 2012, seeks to strengthen resilience by reducing dependency on rainfall. FEWS NET is providing early warning information and useful analysis on food insecurity.

The complex and interacting components of drought risk are evident in this region. Poverty, inconsistent and malfunctioning markets, and human diseases considerably minimize labour availability for food production during droughts. Pastoralists practice transhumance in ASALs where livestock management is extremely vulnerable to drought, potentially intensifying conflict between farmers and pastoralists. The burden of water collection falls disproportionately on women and girls, who in some cases spend as much as 40% of their calorific intake carrying water.

Drought is exacerbated by deforestation and poor agricultural practices, leading to a significant reduction in water retention and loss of soil cover. Widespread poverty constrains many communities' abilities to address water issues, even when significant opportunities such as irrigation, rainwater harvesting, groundwater exploitation or sanitation infrastructure exist. In some countries, electricity generation relies strongly on hydropower and is a competitor for water during drought.

There is an outstanding need for improved connection between policy and science to better respond to drought realities. The case study highlights the need to increase equality in access to drought risk management opportunities, promoting the possibility of resilience by explicitly empowering women, developing equitable credit schemes and equal access to information.

Iberian Peninsula

This case study focuses on the Guadiana River Basin that spans Portugal and Spain (Figure 2.12); an area with annual average precipitation below 600 mm. The basin is crucial to urban and rural water supply and irrigated agriculture, and is subject to intensifying water use.

The longest drought periods across the basin came in 1981–1984 and 1991–1995, with the driest year in 2005 (Maia and Vicente-Serrano, 2017). The most-severe drought period, in terms of duration and intensity, occurred in the Spanish part of the Guadiana River Basin in the years 1991–1995, when the reduction of precipitation led to significant decreases (over 70%) in the mean annual run-off, with reservoir reserves reducing to nearly 10% of the total capacity.

Droughts have had detrimental impacts on agriculture, water resources and ecosystems in the region (Vicente-Serrano, 2006; López-Moreno et al., 2009; Lorenzo-Lacruz et al., 2010). Due to the prioritization of urban water supply during drought, the region has suffered significant reductions of





irrigated agricultural output (e.g. losses of €370 million in 1994–1995). In Portugal, drought has led to urban water supply restrictions, to the search for new sources of water supply (collective hole drilling) and, in some regions, to the continuing supply through water trucking (Vivas, 2011). Drought in the region has caused a degradation of water quality and quantity in rivers, and a deterioration in the conditions required for flora and fauna to flourish. The increased dryness of the vegetation cover has also fostered the occurrence of wildfires (Vivas, 2011; GPP, 2017a, 2017b). Projections suggest that temperature is likely to increase and precipitation decrease.

Both countries are implementing the European Union Water Framework Directive and the European Union Drought Policy. They can access EDII and the European Drought Reference – both housed within the European Drought Centre. EDII allows a search of reported drought impacts and submission of new impact reports for Europe, while the European Drought Reference summarizes historical droughts for Europe and provides a tool to visualize SPI data for any date within the period 1958–2009. Improved transboundary cooperation in drought planning and management has resulted in the development of a sound drought and water scarcity indicator system, and a range of related measures. Drought management measures have contributed to reduced vulnerability and impacts in agriculture and livestock sectors, and improved water management during critical drought periods (Maia and Vicente-Serrano, 2017).

International drought management is challenged in ways common to transboundary risk management (most of the population bordering the Mediterranean lives in transboundary river basins). Portugal depends on the quantity and quality of water flowing from Spain, but the water policies and related institutions of each country have been developed independently.

Despite agreements and improvements, the different mechanisms for implementation can lead to tensions in implementation between the two countries. The case study notes the absence of a common or coordinated framework for drought risk management between Portugal and Spain.

India

This case study focuses on the Deccan Plateau region of India (about 43% of southern and eastern India; Figure 2.13).

Major droughts have occurred across the region and over large areas of India in 1876–1878, 1899– 1900, 1918–1919, 1965–1967, 2000–2003 and 2015–2018. Significant drought conditions occur once in 3 years (Mishra and Singh, 2010). The Deccan region sees the highest frequency (>6%) of severe droughts (SPI of -1.5 to -1.99) in all of India.

Rain-fed agriculture in a low rainfall area is the dominant source of food production, and droughts are ingrained into society and the economy. In 2019, villages in the heart of the Deccan Plateau in Maharashtra and Karnataka were deserted as families left due to the acute water crisis. The village of Hatkarwadi, in the Beed district of Maharashtra state, was effectively abandoned, with only 10–15

Figure 2.13. Deccan Plateau region of India



The boundaries and names shown and the designations used on this map do not imply official endorsement or acceptance by the United Nations.

families remaining out of a population of more than 2,000 (Relph, 2019). Subsistence farmers are often affected first and often most severely, even in seemingly mild droughts.

The impact of severe droughts on India's GDP is estimated to be about 2–5% per annum, despite substantial decreases in the contribution of agriculture to GDP over the period 1951–2003 (Gadgil and Gadgil, 2006). Furthermore, the socioecological damage can also be significant, as was the case in the 2002 drought, which caused large-scale ecological damage, mass migration and death (UNDP, 2002).

Drought-related decisions and policies are made at national and state levels. The Government of India is the main authority at national level to: collate information to monitor drought conditions; issue advisories; and coordinate with other ministries of the central government, state governments and relevant agencies to respond and mitigate drought impacts. "Drought declaration" is the most important step in governmental response to a drought situation and arises from information in the national agricultural drought assessment and monitoring system.

The case study notes substantial variance in the quality of drought monitoring and the methodology and parameters adopted in the declaration of drought among states. Monitoring, early warning and technical improvements to drought management systems – ongoing and planned – need to focus on "practical" tools that can be embedded and sustained in operational systems that capture dynamic vulnerability and strengthen existing systems. In terms of drought preparedness in agriculture, crisis management plans and drought contingency plans are prepared each season, which, to varying extents, connect with coping strategies at farm level (e.g. choice of crop variety).

Cascading impacts of drought continue to evolve as Indian society transforms. For example, in recent major droughts in Tamil Nadu state, a 20% reduction in the primary sector caused an overall 5% drop in industry and a 3% reduction in the service sector (UNDP, 2013). The water demands of rapid urbanization and industrialization in recent years have seen groundwater systems dry up without appropriate aquifer replenishment. Overdependence on groundwater resources and lack of water-retaining structures have significantly increased vulnerability in Indian cities during severe drought events. Under pressure of drought, farmers feel the need to raise and harvest one crop. This leads to repeat plantings and cost spirals.

Pre-existing vulnerabilities are exacerbated during droughts. People manage drought as an integral part of risk, as observed in subsistence agriculture where water conservation and efficiency measures combined with drought-resistant seeds are central to rural livelihoods and food security in many countries. However, institutions treat drought as discrete, episodic and outlier events, choosing to respond only when drought emergencies arise. This leads to perpetuation and aggravation of drought vulnerabilities, agrarian crisis and natural resources degradation.

Mediterranean Basin

The case study includes the lands typical of the Mediterranean bioclimate. It places a particular focus on the Middle East and North Africa region (Figure 2.14), for which projections expect droughts to be increasingly severe.





The region has a long and varied history of drought, with notable events including the Syrian Arab Republic's drought in 2007–2010 and a 15 year drought in the Levant from 1998 to 2012. Recent droughts have been centred in Greece, the Levant and the western Mediterranean. IPCC projects increased risk of desertification and soil degradation, sea-level rise, an increase in the duration and intensity of droughts, changes in species composition, habitat losses, and agricultural and forests production losses. These will result in an increased risk of coastal erosion, infrastructure damage, and threatened water and food security. The Middle East and North Africa region already has one of the lowest water availabilities per capita worldwide.

Across such a large area, there are diverse ranges of exposure and vulnerability to drought. For example, in North African countries, there is high population pressure on land and water resources, urban sprawl, overexploitation of forests and overgrazing.

Droughts can be recurrent across Algeria, southern France, Greece, northern Italy, Spain and Turkey, with impacts that include crop yield and livestock losses, irrigation shortfalls, wildfires, reduced hydroelectricity, unstable house foundations due to shrinkage and swelling of clay soils, and drinking water shortages (requiring water imports in some cases). In Spain, the 1991-1995 megadrought caused a significant reduction in agricultural output in 1994-1995, with losses of €370 million, as irrigation water was diverted to urban use. The 2005-2009 drought reduced agricultural output because of restrictions placed on water extraction from overexploited aguifers and reservoirs, and reduced hydroelectric energy output. In Portugal, economic growth in 1994-1995 was negative or null for 6 months.

At the European Union level, the Water Framework Directive is available, but the development of drought management plans by member states is not compulsory. A range of other frameworks either directly address drought or are inclusive of drought issues, for example the Mediterranean Drought Preparedness and Mitigation Planning. Implementation of strategies for IWRM in water-deficient regions is needed. The 10-step drought mitigation approach is recommended, but not yet widely adopted. The situation in the region is made more complex due to competition for water among agriculture, energy and urban water supplies, with prioritization granted to urban water supply. Compounding impacts include the degradation of water quality and quantity in rivers, reduction of flora and fauna, and more wildfires due to the increased dryness of the vegetation cover. Food cooperation during drought events is emerging as a key issue among the southern and eastern Mediterranean countries.

Nile Basin

This case study concentrates on the Blue Nile (Figure 2.15) – a climatologically diverse region with rapid population growth and historically at risk from climate-induced agricultural shocks.

Heat and drought years have become more common over the past four decades; a projected increased frequency of hot and dry years (by a factor of 1.5–3) will increase the likelihood of multiyear hot and dry spells, during which impacts on agriculture may increase.

The region is experiencing rapid population growth. Many people depend on rain-fed and irrigated crops for livelihoods; 250 million people rely on the Nile for water. Despite the large number engaged in subsistence agriculture and thus vulnerable to drought, the diversity of the region leads to substantially varying drought impacts. These include famine in Ethiopia, reduced hydropower generation, and risks of food shortages and socioeconomic impacts in Egypt and Sudan.

Despite attempts, the three countries sharing the Blue Nile have not yet developed transboundary drought management policies, plans or agreed legislation. However, water demand has increased, and diversions upstream (e.g. the Grand Ethiopian Renaissance Dam) have exacerbated the potential impacts of drought risks for downstream countries. The region has a history of geopolitical instability and migration, conflict and humanitarian disaster.

The case study notes the need for strengthening institutional mechanisms for collaboration, data collection, monitoring and data sharing.

Figure 2.15. Nile River Basin



United States of America

This case study has a focus on flash droughts across agricultural areas of the United States of America (Figure 2.16), in part because they have meant a shift in urgency of early warning and preparedness.

The country has experienced costly and extensive droughts in the past, for example the Dust Bowl drought of the 1930s. The Northern Plains have been in an active drought cycle over the past two decades. The short-lived flash drought of 2012 was widespread and costly. Moderate to exceptional drought conditions (D1-D4 according to the United States Drought Monitor) affected over 65% of continental United States of America at its peak. This was followed by a similar event in 2017. The country suffered harvest failure for corn, sorghum and soybean crops, among others, incurring \$34.5 billion in losses (NCEI, 2021). The 2017 Northern Plains flash drought resulted in an economic impact of approximately \$2.6 billion (NCEI, 2021), and the associated summer heatwave also caused 123 direct deaths. The case study does not exhaustively follow through cascading impacts but observes that drought was followed by wildfires that burned just under 2 million ha across the United States of America and neighbouring Canada (Jencso et al., 2019).

Early warning is provided by the United States Drought Monitor, which reports impacts through the Drought Impact Reporter – an online, comprehensive database and user interface dedicated to operationally monitoring and archiving impacts of all types of drought. The Drought Impact Reporter is freely available and accessible to the public.

Coordination among local, state, tribal and federal levels has grown, and connects systems such as Condition Monitoring Observer Reports on Drought, U.S. Agricultural Commodities in Drought and several new satellite-based products (e.g. evaporative stress index, evaporative demand drought index, QuickDRI and next-generation soil moisture models of the North American Land Data Assimilation System). The early warning system will benefit from recent increased investment for better forecasting and monitoring of flash droughts and the Subseasonal Experiment – a Climate Test Bed project focused on improving subseasonal prediction.

Figure 2.16. United States of America



Uzbekistan

This case study describes drought in Uzbekistan (Figure 2.17). It focuses on the natural ecosystems of the country's arid and semi-arid regions prone to salinization and threatened by the spread of moving sands, dust-storms and dry winds, and exacerbated by the lack of water resources. The country is united by common sources of water supply – the Amudarya and Syrdarya Rivers.

The most prolonged droughts occurred in 2000–2001, 2014–2015 and 2017–2018, with more than half of the territory of the country being affected by desertification and drought. With drought, reductions of 2–5% in stream-flow in the Syrdarya River Basin and of 10–15% in the Amudarya River Basin were recorded, as well as an increase in the inter-annual variability of flow in the rivers. In extremely warm and dry years, the run-off in the basins of the Syrdarya and Amudarya Rivers may decrease by 25–50%. The expected reduction in river run-off will lead to an acute water deficit, especially in dry years.

The Aral Sea was the fourth-largest lake in the world until the 1960s. There are now only two fragments of the sea left – in the north and west, with a remaining water volume of about 10% compared to 1960. The contrac-

tion of the Aral Sea is a disaster that concerns all countries of the drainage basin – the Islamic Republic of Iran, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan. It is the result of many years of human activity, including water diversion for agriculture, and is an ecological and socioeconomic problem for communities living along its former banks.

Uzbekistan has experienced increasing occurrence of severe droughts – with more predicted – entailing negative impacts on all types of water bodies, so disrupting their natural functions, as well as the health and well-being of the population and economy. The agriculture sector is especially vulnerable. The 2000–2001 drought was a catalyst for desertification and environmental degradation. Hydrological and socioeconomic effects of drought were felt until the end of 2003, while precipitation and agricultural production returned to normal in most areas in 2002. The buffering from mountain



Figure 2.17. Uzbekistan

glaciers is also under threat; from 1957 to 2010 the rate of reduction in the area of glaciation varied from 0.1% to 1.65% per year.

Drought suppresses crops, and provokes crop shortages and loss over large areas of the country. In response, extraordinary measures were introduced in 2000–2001, including the banning of the cultivation of water-intensive rice in some areas. Losses of grain crops during the years of severe drought in 2000–2001 accounted for a loss of 14–17%, and for other crops, on average from 45% to 75% in the lower reaches of Amudarya River. Orchards and vineyards are particularly susceptible to reduced yields when water is scarce.

In the cattle breeding sector, drought affects pasture productivity, fodder stocks, grazing conditions and animal health. During the 2000–2001 and 2011 severe droughts, overgrazed pastures around rural settlements and villages were completely deprived of water supply. As a result, the harvesting of forage grasses was reduced by more than half. In some of the affected areas of Karakalpakstan, drought forced farmers to sell a significant portion of their herds or agricultural equipment.

Drought disrupts the aquatic biota of lake systems and wetlands, and reduces the productivity of terrestrial ecosystems. This is visible in lakes and wetlands in the lower reaches of the Amudarya River and the Aral Sea region, which in turn makes the delta *tugai* forests vulnerable.

Rural populations are particularly vulnerable to the lack of water in years of drought. Combined with high temperatures, this leads to the death of plants, a decrease in yield, the drying up of small reservoirs, fish die-off and problems with grazing, with a consequent drop in income. Populations are prone to exacerbation of cardiovascular diseases and acute intestinal diseases.

During the severe drought of 2000–2001, approximately 600,000 people in the most affected regions of Uzbekistan required food, drinking water and assistance in the supply of agricultural resources, at a cost of \$19 million (OCHA, 2001). Unemployment of farmers in 2001 was rife, with about 79,000 in Karakalpakstan and 21,000 in Khorezm affected, prompting a marked increase in those migrating beyond the borders of Uzbekistan to seek better living conditions.

In 2015, the Government of Uzbekistan committed to implementation of the 2030 Agenda, and the Paris Agreement prioritizing mitigation and adaptation to climate change, with a special focus on the Aral Sea region, conservation and careful use of water, land and energy resources, as well as biodiversity conservation (SDG13, SDG14 and SDG15). Uzbekistan also adopted a national action plan for implementation of the Sendai Framework. Implementation will shift the emphasis from reactive crisis response to proactive measures building drought preparedness. A DEWS, developed by Uzhydromet, assesses, monitors, warns, alerts and supports decisionmaking in the event of low water levels and drought in the basins of the Amudarya and Syrdarya Rivers. It informs the adoption of action plans to mitigate the consequences of drought and supports authorities in adjusting strategies for managing available water resources.

A road map has been developed for 2019–2023 to combat desertification and drought in the country, together with a national action plan that includes a programme of replanting and reforestation. A national action plan for drought management is to be developed in the near future, supported by analysis of drought impacts recorded in the national disaster loss database that is currently under development.

West Africa

This case study focuses on recent drought experience in West African countries (Figure 2.18), and examines projections for increased dryness.

A number of droughts are listed, particularly the 1970s and 1980s Sahelian droughts and the damaging drought of 2003–2004. Drought frequency and intensity is projected to increase, further threatening the dominant agriculture sector.

There are a wide range of drought impacts and associated costs, including wheat yield loss and decline in area planted, more general agricultural production losses, grain quality decline, rising food prices, and increased hunger and malnutrition. Conflicts are prevalent between nomadic herders and sedentary farmers, connected to the massive migration of people (e.g. outmigration reached 40% in some villages of Burkina Faso during the 1973 drought).

Exposure and vulnerability to drought in West Africa arises from chronic food insecurity, inadequate water security, and poor and inadequate infrastructure in all key sectors. When extreme, food shortages can prompt calls for food aid and international assistance.

Policy initiatives on drought are rare and are usually built into agricultural and economic development policies. Several climate-smart solutions, including climate information services, improved soil and water conservation practices, and rainwater harvesting, have been developed for farmers to adapt to and mitigate drought-related risks on natural resources, food, water and livelihoods. Regional and national strategies have been adopted as a response to the UNFCCC call for action, including national communications and a national adaptation programme of action.

The drought risk in the region is pervasive. Drought can lead to multiple stressors such as rising agriculture input prices, increased incidence of pest and diseases or declining infrastructure, which then disrupt agriculture production and weaken livelihoods. Such stress on the agriculture and food system has at times led, through cascading

Figure 2.18. West Africa



connections, to migration, conflict, deaths, hunger, malnutrition and natural resources depletion.

There are prospects for an increased focus on adaptation through a poverty alleviation lens and drought control. The West African drought monitoring centre now provides downscaled seasonal forecast information through mobile phone technology and rural radio broadcasts to farmers in some areas. 2.2

Case study drought impacts

Drought displays widely different effects across the regions and countries of all case studies. Impacts vary across scale: effects are initially felt at the landholder, farmer or livestock manager level, but with time, the impacts are broader across communities, the economy and even beyond borders.

Drought vulnerability is also unequal and follows a similar pattern of severity. For example, across the African case studies, there emerges a hierarchy of vulnerability, in which are found pastoralists, rainfed crop farmers, irrigation farmers and broader parts of the community and economy. The case studies describe crop failure, livestock death, mass migration, hunger and health effects, and impacts on food supply and markets. Conflict and various forms of severe social disruption may also occur in situations with compounding political and ethnic factors. The studies illustrate the disproportionate vulnerability of the poor and marginalized, where the cost of drought is measured in terms of lives, livelihoods, malnutrition and impoverishment.

While those closest to agriculture are affected first, the case studies also detail challenges to urban water supplies. Many large urban centres are affected by water scarcity, while some small towns depend upon the trucking of water, among other emergency measures, to maintain water supply and survive. Related issues of water quality and the need for effective wastewater management and recycling have been identified.

More generally, drought challenges the resilience of water infrastructure. Ageing water infrastructure is common across the developed and the developing worlds. The case studies note some large reservoirs are less effective than expected as drought cycles intensify. Irrigation becomes more important to the survival of agriculture, but in severe drought, the dependence of large food systems can be threatened by a loss of water security (e.g. the Murray–Darling Basin in Australia). Interestingly, some case studies (e.g. Australia, the Mediterranean Basin and southern Africa), note the gradual development of a culture of water efficiency in urban, rural and farming communities as water scarcity worsens.

Most case studies in some way note the importance of natural capital for resilience during drought cycles. Many countries report that vulnerability to land degradation increases with drought and that reduced resilience for future droughts arises from that degradation, and increased use of buffers such as groundwater and forested lands. Cascading impacts include forest loss, soil erosion and degradation, sandstorms and dust-storms (SDSs), floods and wildfires. Some case studies observe there have been investments in reforestation, land fallow and conservation, but the protection of natural capital is missing in most policies. There is a common expectation that implementation of SDGs would reduce vulnerabilities in many countries.

A historical and continuing reliance on hydroelectricity has meant this sector is especially vulnerable to water scarcity and drought. However, this is a protected user in many countries, which limits access for less-valuable users and increases vulnerability within lower-priority sectors.

While the case studies cover significant elements of the global experience with drought (the full case studies are available online), the coverage of exposure, vulnerability and geographies is incomplete. The following sections explore these elements in more detail.

2.2.1 Hydrological cycles

Mountain glaciers and snow-fields

Mountain glaciers occur on all continents except Australia. The world's glaciers have an estimated total area of about 525,000 km², excluding the large Greenland and Antarctica ice sheets and the surrounding smaller ice caps (Raup et al., 2007; Kargel et al., 2014). High mountain areas – including all glacier regions in the world except those in Antarctica, Greenland, the Canadian and Russian Arctic, and Svalbard – include ~170,000 glaciers covering an area of ~250,000 km² (RGI Consortium, 2017).

Over half of the world's population lives in watersheds of major rivers originating in mountains with glaciers and snow, which thus shape cultures, food production, livelihoods and biodiversity.

Glaciers and their role in drought mitigation are under threat from climate change. The rate of ice loss has increased substantially in many regions since the beginning of the 1980s (Kaser et al., 2006; Lemke et al., 2007). The snowpack acts as a natural reservoir by providing water throughout the drier summer months. A reduction in snowpack storage or a shift in the snow-melt release can be a challenge for drought planning.

Examples of severe events include:

- Snowpack loss from the Sierra Nevada mountains from 2013 to 2015
- A series of droughts over the last century in the high mountainous areas of Asia that constitute the most damaging natural hazard in the region, with more than 6 million deaths and an estimated 1.1 billion people affected (National Research Council, 2012)
- Cyclical patterns of drought in the high mountains of Europe, which have a return period of approximately 30 years, thus affecting high

mountain populations and causing winter droughts downstream

Populations in mountain regions of the world are familiar with environmental change, and many have developed strategies for dealing with a dynamic context. Considerable adaptive capacities are in evidence, for example, increasing food and water storage to better prepare for floods and droughts (Dekens and Eriksson, 2009). However, accelerating climate change will exceed the adaptive capacities of many. Improved land management and enhanced storage methods, embedded in traditional knowledge, may provide solutions such as (Shrestha, 2009):

- Increased water and irrigation efficiency (Schild and Vaidya, 2009) based on comprehensive water risk assessments to document water availability, deficits in time and space, and availability scenarios relative to climate change and drought predictions
- Water harvesting and watershed management based on traditional knowledge and improved local governance
- Investments in efficient, environmentally friendly small-scale irrigation systems, designed to match water supply to crop demand
- Probabilistic forecasting of soil moisture to inform local managers and decision makers about available options

Transboundary river basins

Some transboundary issues are discussed in the case studies, but given their ubiquity and the complexity of drought and its impacts, Table 2.2 further explores the drought risk and impacts experienced by countries sharing significant rivers.

Table 2.2. Examples of drought stress in transboundary river basins

| Amudarya River Basin | | | | |
|----------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Countries | Afghanistan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan | | | |
| Exposure | Extensive irrigation networks, diversions and reservoirs | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Precipitation of 200 mm/year; natural water flow is generated mainly by snow- and glacier-melt; in low-water years, the region operates in a water-deficit regime, vulnerable to future potential decrease in water availability; drought alters the relative run-off contributions from snow- and glacier-melt and rain; currently, 78% is from snow-melt and 14–16% from glacier-melt; the glacial area shrunk by 13.1% from 1957 to the 1980s | | | |
| Hazard trends | Recurring droughts and floods; severe drought (2000–2001): significant crop losses, shortages of drinking water, flood in 2005 damaged settlements and irrigation infrastructure; climate change could substantially affect the water resources of the Amudarya if precipitation decreases; glacier-melt's contribution to run-off is expected to be reduced by 6% before 2030, and by 15% before 2050–2075 | | | |
| Source | Agaltseva (2005) | | | |
| Danube River Basi | n | | | |
| Countries | 19 European countries | | | |
| Exposure | Water supply for communities, irrigation, hydropower generation and industry, transportation, tourism and fishing | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Significant parts of DRB have been affected by drought in recent years (e.g. 2003, 2007, 2012, 2015, 2017), thus affecting various water-dependent economic sectors, vegetation and the aquatic environment; drought frequency and low water levels in the region are expected to increase, especially in summer and in the south-eastern parts of DRB; drought frequency in the near future (2041–2070) is expected to increase by at least one event per decade, especially over the downstream half of DRB, where an even more severe drought is expected; the spatial distribution of drought-affected areas will continue to extend from the south-east to north-west | | | |
| Hazard trends | Stressed aquatic and associated ecosystems | | | |
| Source | DRB case study | | | |
| Euphrates-Tigris | Basin | | | |
| Countries | Iraq, Syrian Arab Republic and Turkey | | | |
| Exposure | Agriculture dependent on surface water and groundwater | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Agriculture on the Syrian Arab Republic side of the Khabur Basin is becoming increasingly uncertain in nearly half of the production area, affecting farmer livelihoods | | | |
| Hazard trends | Projected significant declines in stream-flow and discharge in the Euphrates–Tigris Basin in Iraq, and increases in water and basin soil salinity | | | |
| Source | Smith et al. (2000); Cullen et al. (2002); Evans (2009); Kitoh et al. (2008); World Bank (2012) | | | |
| Guadiana River Ba | sin | | | |
| Countries | Portugal and Spain | | | |
| Exposure | Urban and rural water supply; irrigated agriculture | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Dependence of Portugal on quantity and quality of water flowing from Spain; most of the population around the Mediterranean lives in transboundary river basins | | | |
| Source | Maia and Vicente-Serrano (2017); Iberian Peninsula case study | | | |

| Jordan River Basin | | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Countries | Israel, Jordan and the Palestinian territories | | | | |
| Exposure | People, livelihoods and ecosystems | | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Palestinian populations rely almost entirely on transboundary water in one of the world's most water-scarce areas; current water-use rules lock in unequal access to shared aquifers, and drought brings in added tensions | | | | |
| Hazard trends | Due to drought, Israel reduced the quantity of water piped to Jordan by 60% in 1999, triggering the type of dispute likely to recur in the future | | | | |
| Source | World Bank (2018) | | | | |
| Khabur River Basir | 1 | | | | |
| Countries | Syrian Arab Republic and Turkey | | | | |
| Exposure | Agriculture dependent on surface water and groundwater | | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Agriculture in the Khabur River Basin on the Syrian Arab Republic side is becoming uncertain in nearly half of the production area, affecting farmer livelihoods | | | | |
| Hazard trends | Increased drought and expansion in agriculture investment has exhausted groundwater, causing reduction in river flow and groundwater levels; in the absence of a diversified economy, people are forced to migrate | | | | |
| Source | Erian et al. (2013) | | | | |
| Lower Mekong Bas | sin | | | | |
| Countries | Cambodia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Thailand and Viet Nam | | | | |
| Exposure | Intense land use (rice, aquaculture, vegetables); irrigation in north-eastern Thailand and the Mekong Delta; large rural and urban populations | | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Rural economy based on rain-fed agriculture | | | | |
| Hazard trends | Reduced hazard as average monthly precipitation may increase in most months | | | | |
| Sources | Shimizu et al. (2006); Adamson and Bird (2010); Thilakarathne and Sridha (2017) | | | | |
| Mexico-United States of America river basins | | | | | |
| Countries | Mexico and United States of America | | | | |
| Exposure | Population growth, rapid industrialization and urbanization | | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | More intensive patterns of water consumption and use and high demand of water for agriculture; the 1944 treaty on the utilization of waters of the Colorado and Tijuana Rivers and of the Rio Grande does not explicitly address groundwater use, which is increasing with growing urban centres along the Rio Grande (Rio Bravo), where the river becomes the international boundary | | | | |
| Hazard trends | Increasing drought risks | | | | |
| Source | Mumme et al. (2018) | | | | |

| Nile Basin | | | | |
|--------------------|--|--|--|--|
| Countries | Many inhabitants of the region are engaged in subsistence agriculture | | | |
| Exposure | Some 250 million people rely on the River Nile for water; population growth; dependence on rain- fed and irrigated crops for livelihoods | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Climatologically diverse, rapid population growth; historically at risk for climate-induced agricultural shocks; history of geopolitical instability and migration, conflict and humanitarian disaster; increasing frequency of hot and dry years (by a factor of 1.5–3) will increase the likelihood of multi-year hot and dry spells, during which impacts on agriculture may increase | | | |
| Hazard trends | Climate extremes in the region (sweltering and dry years) are coupled with periodic water and food insecurity; heat and drought years have become more common over the past four decades; in the upper Nile Basin (including western Ethiopia, South Sudan and Uganda), threats to water security and drought triggered conflict potentially to grow; nearly all recent regional crop failures have occurred in hot and dry conditions and under low run-off | | | |
| Sources | Lobell et al. (2011); Rowell et al. (2015); Burrows and Kinney (2016); Lesk et al. (2016); Kent et al. (2017); Matiu et al. (2017); Zscheischler et al. (2018); Coffel et al. (2019); Nile Basin case study | | | |
| Orange-Senqu Rive | er Basin | | | |
| Countries | Botswana, Lesotho, Namibia and South Africa | | | |
| Exposure | Crop and livestock water requirements; water availability for urban areas, industrial centres and electricity production | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Small-scale farmers with limited technical and financial resources; subsequent floods could increase soil erosion, causing agricultural land loss and dam siltation | | | |
| Hazard trends | The Orange-Senqu system is projected to have less rainfall in most midstream and downstream areas and more in the Lesotho Highlands | | | |
| Sources | Knoesen et al. (2009); ORASECOM (2011); Schulze (2015) | | | |
| Orontes River Basi | n | | | |
| Countries | Lebanon, the Syrian Arab Republic and Turkey | | | |
| Exposure | Shared water resources | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Intensive use of groundwater by agriculture in the last decade has depleted the aquifers' water storage, lowered the groundwater table and reduced the spring yield | | | |
| Hazard trends | Water quality is good in the headwaters but deteriorates in the middle section of the river due to inputs from agricultural, urban and industrial activities | | | |
| Source | UNESCO-IHE (2002) | | | |
| Paraná-La Plata Ba | asin | | | |
| Countries | Argentina (northern), Plurinational State of Bolivia (south-eastern), Brazil (southern and central), Paraguay and Uruguay | | | |
| Exposure | Large rural and urban populations | | | |
| Vulnerabilities | Major impacts on production and yields of summer crops (maize and soybean) and on livestock production; crop losses | | | |
| Hazard trends | The Paraguay River, the Paraná River and the Uruguay River, extending over 3.1 million km ² , have drought and flood conditions closely connected to El Niño and La Niña events; during the La Plata drought of 2008–2009 and the El Niño flooding of 2009–2010, hydrological anomalies were in the southern, central and eastern parts of the basin | | | |
| Sources | Diaz et al. (1998); Codromaz de Rojas (2000); Chen et al. (2010); Abelen et al. (2015); Argentina case study | |
|---------------------|--|--|
| Senegal River Basin | | |
| Countries | Guinea, Mali, Mauritania and Senegal | |
| Exposure | High population growth, declining economy, unstable food security and numerous mass migration, mainly to Dakar | |
| Vulnerabilities | People leave the valley with consequent starvation and conflict; the utility of the important Manantali Dam is threatened | |
| Hazard trends | High frequency of dry climatic periods over a long period of time; Senegal River stream-flow reductions at Bakel from 1904 to 1990 | |
| Sources | Bass et al. (1996); Rasmussen et al. (1999); UNDP (2006) | |
| Syrdarya Basin | | |
| Countries | Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Tajikistan, Turkmenistan and Uzbekistan | |
| Exposure | Uzbekistan's primary surface water source; large Toktogul reservoir on the Syrdarya River producing hydropower and irrigation water | |
| Vulnerabilities | Energy production requires water release in winter, leading to a flood peak and less supply for summer irrigation, especially in drought years | |
| Hazard trends | There is a need for better agreement around country cooperative arrangements | |
| Comments | Focus has been on creating water-use agreements at the local level and basin management levels at the international level | |
| Sources | Teasley et al. (2011); Wegerich et al. (2015); Uzbekistan case study | |

2.2.2

Ecosystems

Ecosystems and biodiversity

Environmental degradation, deforestation and overexploitation of natural resources all result in increased vulnerability of ecosystems to drought. Drought then places pressure on fragile ecosystems, with increased risk of depletion of soil, vegetation and water resources (IPCC, 2001; Archaux and Wolters, 2006).

Vegetation sensitivity results in rapid land-cover changes and increased vulnerability to land degradation. When the drought ends, vegetation recovery may follow, but such recovery may take longer than a non-drought situation. With growing population pressure, the opportunity for biodiversity loss is high, especially in species-poor ecosystems (Hooper et al., 2005). The case studies document specific threats to aquatic ecosystems, the ecosystems connected to river and stream corridors. There is observed loss of key species and vegetation communities throughout terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems.

There is an associated loss of regulating function. Beyond the range of ecosystem services lost to human communities, the buffering function of key ecosystems is lost. Forests in particular are vulnerable to the direct impact of water depletion and the further threat of wildfire.

Such biological losses may intensify societal vulnerability, especially in regions where economies are highly dependent on natural resources (Chape et al., 2008).

Land degradation, desertification and soil loss

Land degradation is a critical driver of agricultural drought risk. Soil water deficiency can increase land degradation through loss of vegetation cover. Areas experiencing land degradation and drought are more at risk of desertification, which represents an often-irreversible loss of natural capital (WMO, 2005; Erian et al., 2012).

The percentage of the Earth's land area afflicted by serious drought more than doubled from the 1970s to the early 2000s. The world's drylands continue to be vulnerable and threatened by desertification, land degradation and drought. Land degradation is a global phenomenon, with 78% of total degraded land located in terrestrial ecosystems other than drylands (United Nations, General Assembly, 2011).

Land degradation also occurs with an increase in soil salinity in arid and semi-arid regions, for example when the source of irrigation water from groundwater or reused water has a high saline concentration.

An FAO study estimates that drought accounts for over 34% of crop and livestock production loss in least developed countries and lower-middle-income countries, costing the sector \$37 billion overall for the period 2008–2018, with corollary increases in poverty and hunger (FAO, 2021a).

SDSs are widespread natural phenomena in many parts of the world. They occur when unchecked, intense or turbulent winds act on exposed loose dry soil surfaces (UNEP, WMO and UNCCD, 2016). A non-linear relationship of increasing dust-storms with aridity in Australia shows drought influences spatial and temporal occurrence (McTainsh et al., 1989).

The areas most affected by SDSs are located in a broad "dust belt" that extends from the west coast of North Africa, over the Middle East, central and south Asia, to China (Prospero et al., 2002). As a result of more-extreme drought conditions in the SDS sources of Afghanistan, the Islamic Republic of Iran and south-eastern Turkey (APDIM ESCAP, forthcoming), SDS risk is expected to increase in south-west Asia, with associated socioeconomic impacts on various sectors such as agriculture, energy, environment, transport and human health.

The African Sahel experienced extended drought conditions from the late 1960s to the early 1970s, and drought conditions have further intensified since. Land was abandoned in many regions, as fields became covered with sand and invasive plants. Out of 3.16 million ha of wheat, 639,720 ha suffered losses of about 10 cm of topsoil, with an estimated reduction in wheat yield of 290,300 tonnes – equivalent to \$58 million, based on 2016 wheat prices (Abraham et al., 2016).

Wildfire

Drought combined with hot and dry summers increases the susceptibility of forests and grasslands to wildfire. Many terrestrial ecosystems are fire climax communities, and need regular fires for seed propagation and germination, weed control and forest renewal. However, wildfire that is more intense or which occurs in other ecosystems may result in loss of ecosystem services, economic downturn, and loss of human health and life.

The number of wildfires has grown by a factor of 4 in the United States of America since the mid-1980s, and this increase is expected to continue. The economic impact of wildfires is significant, for example, damage caused by wildfires in the United States of America reached \$665 million per year between 2000 and 2009 (Esri, 2016).

Wildfire risk is expected to increase as a result of substantial warming and exceptional weather conditions – more-frequent heatwaves, droughts and dry spells – across much of the Mediterranean (Rossi et al., 2020). Length and severity of fire seasons, as well as the size of the area at risk, are expected to increase, with adverse effects on human health, principally through: direct exposure to flames and radiant heat; exposure to materials or substances dispersed through the air; use of land contaminated by chemical substances after a wildfire or other geologically meditated impacts such as exposure to airborne dust; and water contamination (Finlay et al., 2012).

Australia has frequent fires, which are a significant part of many of its terrestrial ecosystems. Dangerous wildfires are less frequent but can be devastating. In February 2020, fires spread rapidly across large areas of the country and were among the most catastrophic on record. About 10.3 million hectares were burned, destroying more than 3,000 homes, and killing at least 28 people and millions of wild animals. Airborne particulate matter from these fires caused health impacts in regions far from the sites of the blazes.

2.2.3 Societies

Socioeconomic impacts

The socioeconomic impacts of drought have grown in recent years, because of the increasing frequency and severity of droughts, and also because of the complexity of economic impacts and far-reaching social and environmental damage. Notwithstanding the inability to accurately quantify direct impacts, let alone indirect impacts, costs have escalated due to increasing population, ineffective government policies and programmes, environmental degradation and fragmented authority in natural resources management. In addition, the negative impacts of weather-related disasters further erode natural capital, reducing overall wealth and competitiveness. Table 2.3 reviews some of the socioeconomic impacts.

Social vulnerability

Case studies show the nature of vulnerability varies substantially among and within countries. Subsistence farmers and many pastoralists in arid areas are vulnerable to the point where livelihoods, and even their very survival, is threatened by drought. Gender inequality and discrimination have been shown to increase during periods of drought stress. For example:

- During droughts, the wage gap between men and women has been shown to increase
- Women with children are less able to shift to non-farm, income-generating activities or to move, due to household care responsibilities (UNDP, 2014)
- Fetching water, fuelwood or fodder becomes more challenging and time-consuming, which increases health and mobility risks, and curtails income-generating activities (UNFPA, 2002; Singh et al., 2013; UNDP, 2014)
- There is a negative impact on girls' school attendance (Jones et al., 2010)
- Food and income insecurity creates increased psychosocial stress and health risks within households (Zimmermann, 2011; UNDP, 2014)

Human health

The connection between drought and health is complex. It depends on the exposure to drought impacts and the increased vulnerability of communities to health threats. The same water deficits may produce different outcomes depending on exposure, and differences in vulnerability. The potential impacts of drought on human health are wide and varied; examples include:

- Food, nutrition and public health: Beyond the direct impact of reduced moisture, crop yield can fall due to insect and disease infestation, leading potentially to food shortages and malnutrition. Livestock may also suffer disease and low production.
- Air quality: The dusty, dry conditions and wildfires that often accompany drought can harm health by increasing airborne particulate matter such as pollen, smoke and fluorocarbons. These substances can irritate the bronchial passages and lungs and worsen

Table 2.3. Review of socioeconomic impacts and related case studies

Africa

Given the breadth and diversity of Africa, socioeconomic impacts are discussed in broad groupings below. Nearly 30% of the African continent has experienced drought since 2000, 15% severely (Erian et al., 2014). General impacts include shortages in food production, increased agricultural uncertainty and instability in affected rural communities bringing political stressors, increased migration and possible conflict.

| Central southern Africa | | |
|--|--|--|
| Countries | Angola, United Republic of Tanzania and Zambia | |
| Background and significant impacts | The 2010–2011 East African drought, attributed to a strong La Niña event and aggravated by human actions, was the worst in 60 years; it provoked food and livelihood insecurity for over 1.2 million people due to drought-related losses of main crops; under current scenarios, a loss may occur every 20 years of approximately \$600 million, equivalent to almost 10% of the total value of crop production | |
| Exposure | The agricultural sectors in central southern regions of Africa account for most of the potentially affected people; there is a high dependence on hydroelectricity as hydropower constitutes ~85% of Zambia's overall electricity generation | |
| Vulnerabilities | Given the large share of the population depending on agriculture for survival, families may lose their livelihoods during droughts; droughts often escalate family abandonment, domestic violence and diseases such as yellow fever, with potential impacts on food security at the subnational level | |
| Hazard trends | Climate projections give varying scenarios of crop failure with some systems more vulnerable to increased temperatures and rainfall decrease; as an example, in Angola, on average 1.9 million (current) people per year are affected by droughts, rising to 7.9 million per annum when future climate and socioeconomic projections are factored in; livestock is a significant livelihood source in Angola and accounts for 31.4% of the agricultural GDP nationwide, and yet each year on average almost 50% of livestock is exposed to droughts – rising to 70% under projected climate conditions; predictions for hydropower losses increase substantially, to about 25% for drought events with a return period of 10 years or more | |
| Comments | Land degradation and deforestation from increased charcoal production are likely confounding impacts | |
| Sources | OCHA (2015); central southern Africa case study | |
| Horn of Africa | | |
| Countries | Djibouti, Eritrea, Ethiopia, Kenya, Somalia, South Sudan, Sudan and Uganda | |
| Background and significant impacts | Regional agricultural sectors (animal husbandry, crop farming and cash crops) operate in an estimated 8% of the region's territory; severe impacts from different hazards (e.g. droughts, dry spells, floods, pests and diseases) reduce agricultural production and increase human-induced land degradation within a context of weak institutional capacity | |
| Exposure | Many livelihoods depend on rainfall for farming or grazing (ICPAC and WFP, 2017); Sudan has the highest number of pastoralists in the Horn of Africa region (over 70%), with similarly high numbers in Somalia (70%), Eritrea (33%), Djibouti (20%) and Ethiopia ($10-12\%$); two thirds of Kenya's livestock population are in ASALs; the burden of water collection falls disproportionately on women (72%) and girls (9%), who, in some cases, spend as much as 40% of their calorific intake carrying water | |
| Vulnerabilities | Poverty, inconsistent and malfunctioning markets, and human diseases considerably minimize labour availability for food production during droughts; pastoralists practice transhumance in ASALs where livestock management is vulnerable to drought; drought is exacerbated by deforestation and poor agricultural practices, leading to a significant reduction in water retention and soil cover loss; widespread poverty constrains many communities' abilities to address water issues even when significant opportunities such as irrigation, rainwater harvesting, groundwater exploitation or sanitation infrastructure exist; in some IGAD countries, electricity generation relies strongly on hydropower | |

| Hazard trends | The Horn of Africa experienced mild to moderate droughts throughout the period 1930–2014, with severe to extreme droughts in 1943, 1984, 1991 and 2009 |
|--|--|
| Sources | Africa Development Fund (2002); IGAD (2007); World Bank (2015); Horn of Africa case study |
| West Africa | |
| Countries | Benin, Burkina Faso, Cabo Verde, Côte d'Ivoire, Gambia, Ghana, Guinea, Guinea-Bissau, Liberia, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Nigeria, Senegal, Sierra Leone and Togo |
| Background and significant impacts | The drought of 2003–2004 led to reduction in the wheat yield of 39% due to smaller areas of planting (12%) and lower yields; reservoir water levels were, on average, 25% lower, with many running dry |
| Exposure | Rural communities dependent on rainfall or irrigation for cropping |
| Vulnerabilities | Production losses, rising food prices, and increased hunger and malnutrition; conflicts are prevalent between nomadic herders and sedentary farmers |
| Hazard trends | Increased variation in temperature and precipitation in the subregion; while the coastal and western Sahel areas such as Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Guinea and Senegal have shown a 0.2–0.5°C temperature rise per decade, the southern Sahara and northern Sahel areas like southern Mauritania, Mali and the Niger and northern Burkina Faso have shown no significant changes; for precipitation, studies have shown a significant increasing trend of about 0.2–1.0 mm/day per decade in parts of the Sahel (e.g. Burkina Faso, Senegal and certain parts of Chad, Mali, southern Mauritania and the Niger) |
| Sources | Theunissen (2004); West Africa case study |
| Australia | |
| Background and significant impacts | Major multi-year droughts reduce agricultural production and profitability, urban and regional water supply, irrigation systems, and ecosystems' states and dynamics; they also hasten land degradation, stretch social support systems, reduce human physical and mental health, and challenge public and private sector capacities to develop and deliver effective responses |
| Exposure | Rain-fed agriculture, irrigation schemes (e.g. the Murray–Darling Basin) and urban water supplies; increased urban and peri-urban populations |
| Vulnerabilities | High levels of water extraction from irrigation schemes based on "normal" years; increased temperatures and moisture deficits in rain-fed agriculture; export market and price signals may drive production increases at times of climate vulnerability |
| Hazard trends | Increasing severity and frequency of multi-year droughts covering significant areas of the continent; declining annual rainfall in southern and south-western Australia; compounding impacts due to land degradation, wildfire hazard and vulnerability to flooding when droughts end; system changes have included a market in irrigation water so prices increase with scarcity; increasing emphasis on financial strategies |
| Sources | |
| | Freund et al. (2017); Nguyen et al. (2019); Australia case study |
| Canada | Freund et al. (2017); Nguyen et al. (2019); Australia case study |
| Canada Background and significant impacts | Freund et al. (2017); Nguyen et al. (2019); Australia case study Droughts are a recurring feature in the Canadian Prairies; the 2016–2017 winter season was abnormally dry throughout much of the southern prairies; at the end of April 2017, the southern prairies continued to be drought free with only a small area classified as abnormally dry; but, by the time soil temperatures had risen enough to begin agricultural seeding, many of the region's soils had dried considerably, leaving producers reliant on insufficient precipitation for germination; precipitation across much of the southern prairies was below 60% of average rainfall, with large regions in southern Saskatchewan below 40% |

| Vulnerabilities | Uneven crop development resulted in crops growing at different stages within the same field, making it hard to time herbicide and fungicide application as well as harvest; warm dry conditions resulted in stunted crops and early maturity in many regions |
|--|---|
| Hazard trends | Increased current and future drought risk |
| Comments | Despite drought conditions, overall crop production fared better than initial expectations, given the severity and extent of drought across the region |
| Source | Canada case study |
| India | |
| Background and significant impacts | Significant drought conditions occur once in 3 years (Mishra and Singh, 2010); the impact of severe droughts on India's GDP is estimated to be about 2–5% per annum, despite substantial decrease in the contribution of agriculture to GDP over the period 1951–2003 (Gadgil and Gadgil, 2006) |
| Exposure | As agriculture-based livelihoods form a considerable proportion of the economy, India is one of the most vulnerable and drought-prone countries |
| Vulnerabilities | Changing drought ecosystems of poor farmers and the trend in agricultural development |
| Hazard trends | Changing morphology of droughts in the Indian context (large-scale slow-onset low- to high-frequency localized impact); flash droughts in Andhra Pradesh |
| Comments | In 2019, villages in Maharashtra and Karnataka's districts in the Deccan Plateau were deserted as families left due to the acute water crisis; specific press reports mentioned the village of Hatkarwadi, in the Beed district of Maharashtra state, which was abandoned with only 10–15 families remaining out of a population of more than 2,000 (Relph, 2019) |
| Source | India case study |
| Mediterranean Bas | sin including the Guadiana River Basin |
| Background and significant impacts | In Spain, the 1991–1995 megadrought caused a significant reduction in agricultural output in 1994–1995, with losses of €370 million, as irrigation water was diverted to urban use; the 2005–2009 drought reduced agricultural output because of restrictions placed on water extraction from overexploited aquifers and dam reservoirs; reduced hydroelectric energy output; in Portugal, economic growth in 1994–1995 was negative or null for 6 months |
| Exposure | Rain-fed and irrigation agriculture, urban water supplies and hydropower dams |
| Vulnerabilities | Competition for water between agriculture and urban water supplies (prioritization granted to urban water supply); livestock water demand |
| Hazard trends | Increased current and future drought risk |
| Comments | Compounding impacts include the degradation of water quality and quantity in rivers, which has resulted in the removal of flora and fauna; increased dryness of vegetation cover has led to wildfires |
| Source | GPP (2017, 2018); CH Guadiana (2018); Iberian Peninsula case study; Mediterranean Basin case study |

chronic respiratory illnesses like asthma. Airborne particulate matter can also increase the risk of acute respiratory infections like bronchitis and bacterial pneumonia. Other drought-related factors affecting air quality include the presence of airborne toxins originating from freshwater blooms of cyanobacteria. When airborne, these toxins are associated with lung irritation and adverse health effects.

- Covid-19 pandemic: More familiar hazards like drought, and new transboundary threats like the Covid-19 pandemic, can interact and compound an emerging health crisis. Such a compounding impact is outlined in detail in the Caribbean case study and applies more widely. Impacts include:
 - Reduced funding for water utilities, following reduced income from travel and tourism and diversion of funds to combat the spread of Covid-19 (GWP-Caribbean, 2020); water rationing and trucking are required under drought conditions.
 - With limited access to safe water, communities are less able to engage in preventative hygiene to combat the Covid-19 pandemic; in some cases, the prioritization of water use for everyday domestic chores over handwashing becomes a life-threatening balancing act.
 - Saint Vincent and the Grenadines experienced one of its worst droughts in over 50 years, as farmers and fishers have had to adapt their daily routine to follow national advisories on Covid-19 health protocols.
 - In Grenada, the Covid-19 state of emergency and its associated restrictions on movement affected farmers who could not visit their farms to tend their crops.
 - In Belize, where farmers had already suffered millions of dollars in losses in 2019 due to drought, the Covid-19 pandemic brought economic activity to a halt, severely impeding farmers' abilities to export livestock across the border to Guatemala (News 5 Belize, 2020).

Energy generation

While few of the case studies focus on energy generation, the complex relationship between energy, water and food production is clear. Water is central to hydropower, and is crucial for cooling in thermoelectric, geothermal and nuclear power plants. For example, from October 2011 to the end of 2015, California experienced a production decrease of around 57,000 GWh of hydroelectricity compared to average water years at a cost to ratepayers of approximately \$2 billion. The combustion of natural gas was used to compensate for the shortfall, which led to a 10% increase in carbon dioxide emissions (Gleick, 2018a). In Australia, during the Millennium Drought, electricity generation at two power plants -Tarong (1,400 MW) and Tarong North (443 MW) that drew water from reservoirs shared with urban areas - was curtailed in 2007 in order to protect municipal water supplies. As a result, production and employment at the coal mine that fed the Tarong plants were cut. Operations at a third power plant - Swanbank B (500 MW) - were also curtailed, and electricity prices soared (Tellinghuisen, 2012).

In many case studies, it is clear that drought can impose choices between continued energy, water for food production or water to meet urban demand. This is because water is needed as a coolant in power generation or directly as with hydropower.

Cities and urban environments

Almost half of the world's people now lives in cities, and the urban population accounts for more than 80% of today's global GDP. This requires considerable investment in water and energy infrastructure. The sustainable growth of cities depends on a reliable water supply, in quality and in quantity, that can cope with drought (Desbureaux and Rodella, 2019).

Direct impacts in cities and urban environments of increasing hydrometeorological hazards include:

 Shortage of water supply for drinking, washing and related hygiene, industry use, civic amenities, sewage and related systems Deterioration of water quality leading to waterborne and food-borne diseases and additional costs in water treatment

Indirect impacts include:

- Insecurity in food supply to cities due to local agricultural impacts and possible reduction in imports
- Rising food prices and increasing poverty levels among urban groups
- Increased and uncontrolled migration to urban areas due to a decline in rural livelihood options with a possible increase in illegal slums with little access to basic amenities
- Increased stress in support and community services in cities

The case studies describe where major water shortages in some large cities are emerging as a result of drought; this issue is becoming increasingly widespread. In the first two decades of the twenty-first century, 79 megacities suffered extensively (UCCRN, 2018; Zhang et al., 2019). Climate change has magnified urban drought in frequency and severity, putting pressure on urban water supply (Zhang et al., 2019). In Australia, at the end of the Millennium Drought, Brisbane had to employ major water-saving measures to find time for new water recycling systems, and small towns had to bring in drinking water.

High-resolution climate model outputs found the 2018 Cape Town "day zero" drought was five to six times more likely than it would have been in the nineteenth century (Pascale et al., 2020). Unless there are significant reductions in projected future GHG emissions, models project that such extreme droughts in the Cape Town region will become more frequent, moving from a rare event today to occurring every few years or almost every year by the end of this century.

Drought and climate insecurity

Droughts accentuate risks where fragility is high, and can lead to violence, instability and conflict. Droughts can stretch societies' adaptive capacities, undermining national and international security. Recent examples where drought and climate insecurity have combined to exacerbate instability include the following.

Chad

This country is deeply susceptible to climate variability and drought. Lake Chad has contracted significantly in recent years. Communities around Lake Chad are subject to: (a) increased livelihood and food insecurity due to an increase in diseases related to changing temperatures and rainfall patterns, (b) decreased coping capacity to deal with unpredictable changes in lake levels and (c) new conflict over the dynamic nature of access to fertile land. Mass displacement and movement have left large population groups vulnerable and without access to land for subsistence agriculture. Hence, they are often dependent on humanitarian aid for survival. Pressure on natural resources has led to increased competition among host communities and displaced populations, with a consequent degradation of natural resources. Conflict and climate risks are high.

Sudan

The 2003 war in Darfur flared up after periods of drought (Suliman, 2005). Each consecutive drought was followed by more violent and extended conflict. In the 1970s and 1980s, prolonged droughts and environmental degradation forced about 4 million Sudanese to migrate to southern agricultural lands (Reuveny, 2007). As resources became scarcer, land became less fertile and demand for farmland continued to increase; tensions between farmers and pastoralists reached new highs. These tensions could not be mitigated through traditional means of community leaders seeking peaceful solutions. Therefore, war broke out, claiming 300,000 lives and displacing over 2 million people.

Iraq

Prolonged heatwaves, erratic precipitation, higher than average temperatures and increased disaster intensity are placing additional stress on Iraq's postwar environment (von Lossow, 2018). Although terrorism and corruption in the country receive international attention, climate-related security risks are growing. Around 2 million Iraqis are currently food insecure. With water depletion, there are security risks that could be worsened by drought and climate change (Hassan and Nordqvist, 2018).

Syrian Arab Republic

There have been six significant droughts in the Syrian Arab Republic in the period 1900 to 2005, in which the average monthly winter precipitation level dropped to around one third of normal. Five of these droughts lasted only one season, but the sixth lasted two (Mohtadi, 2012). There then followed (in the period 2007 to 2010) a multi-season, multivear period of extreme drought that contributed to agricultural failures, economic dislocations and population displacement (Worth, 2010; IPCC, 2012). This period continued, and is now being described as the "worst long-term drought and most severe set of crop failures since agricultural civilizations began in the Fertile Crescent many millennia ago" (Femia and Werrell, 2012). The 2008 harvest loss accelerated migration to urban areas and increased extreme poverty levels in the country (United Nations, 2009; Sowers et al., 2011).

The devastating civil war that began in the Syrian Arab Republic in March 2011 resulted from complex, interrelated factors beyond the ostensible focus on regime change. Triggers included a broad set of religious and sociopolitical factors, erosion of the country's economic health, a wave of political reform through the Middle East and North Africa, and challenges associated with the availability and use of fresh water (Gleick, 2014). Factors related to drought, including agricultural failure and water shortages, contributed to the deterioration of social structures and led to migration of rural communities to cities (FAO, 2012; Femia and Werrell, 2012). These interactions intensified insecurity, leading to instability, heightened fragility and conflict.

West Africa

During the 1970s and 1980s, the Sahelian drought caused massive migration of people – outmigration reached 40% in some villages in Burkina Faso during the 1973 drought (Wouterse, 2006). Drought-induced conflicts can occur between groups of pastoralists and sedentary farmers, as competition for scarce vegetation for animals intensifies. Animals can damage farmlands, leading to farmer-herder disputes and clashes with indigenous populations (Ajaero et al., 2015). Such conflicts have caused six times more deaths than the Boko Haram insurgency (Prager and Samson, 2019). The implementation of climate-smart solutions for pastoralists seems essential for conflict resolution in north-east Nigeria.

The above cases support the linkage of resilience building to broader approaches addressing climate security. Effective solutions to drought, building resilience, can strengthen international cooperation in drought risk management, with the additional dividend of potentially reducing tension within and among communities and countries.

Drought risk reduction and management

The case studies demonstrate the impact of cycles of drought, the uncertainty of drought initiation, the importance of drought length and severity on impacts, and the uncertainty around when droughts resolve. Debilitating impacts on livelihoods and vulnerability of drier periods that fell short of full droughts have been felt in many contexts – notably in Argentina and the United States of America – and the emergence of short-term subseasonal flash droughts with rapid intensification occurring during periods of peak demand is of growing concern (Hoell et al., 2019; Pendergrass et al., 2020).

These are some of the elements that characterize drought and its complexity; they have challenged existing policies and responses, leading to the framing of new plans, toolkits, decision-support platforms and strategies. The case studies reinforce the need for effective drought monitoring, assessment of vulnerability across scales and availability of mitigation measures to limit impacts during droughts.

2.3.1

Risk reduction policies

The likelihood of increased drought severity in parts of Africa, Australia, the Mediterranean Basin, Portugal and Spain is well recognized, as are the social and economic dysfunctions that can result. However, no single case study has indicated a context that identified, much less implemented, the suite of integrated solutions to the complex and wide-reaching aspects of coupled human–ecological–technological systems. The need in many countries for umbrella structures and better coordination across government departments – including weather, water, energy, agriculture and infrastructure – is apparent.

Successful integrated management requires a governance shift from reaction and bailout to risk reduction and resilience. This should be based on improved knowledge of the climate mechanisms controlling the onset and termination of drought periods, other factors affecting drought initiation and cessation, and level of vulnerability of exposed communities, industries and ecosystems.

Most studies describe cycles of policy development, review and restructure (e.g. the transitioning of the Intergovernmental Authority on Drought and Development to IGAD in East Africa), as well as various national action plans, strategies, directives and similar initiatives such as new interministerial / departmental committees. These cycles reflect action when drought is severe and inaction when drought is no longer evident.

The case studies identify many challenges to successful policy development. Policy disconnects are common, wherein drought risk management is often treated independently of policies for agriculture and food, water resource allocation, energy generation, conservation and climate change adaptation, among others (e.g. in the Caribbean). Few polices and plans have been found to be binding across international boundaries, and cycles of social disruption and conflict can fester.

Almost all case studies identify the need for national drought policies to support drought risk reduction and avoid prevailing reactive models. Some more progressive examples exist – in Australia (and its farm management deposits⁶) and East Africa, emergency response is connected to recovery and long-term development within a pre-drought strategy – although many have been challenged by recent significant droughts.

⁶ Income generated in one year can help with favourable tax treatment for withdrawal in a later year. It can also include direct support to farmers, rebates on emergency water infrastructure for watering animals and permanent plants, assistance to local councils and regions to fund structural improvements, and insurance systems to manage losses (Goodwin, 2001).

Adaptation and planning actions are needed that typically include a strategic framework to engage all sectors of the economy, and which is put in place before droughts occur. The framework develops and maintains governance, financing, risk management and preparedness systems to respond to needs as droughts progress, and provide the opportunity for prospective and proactive drought risk management before droughts occur.

The case studies identify a series of strategies in place or planned to identify and manage drought risk, which include, for example:

- Balancing multiple uses of water: This may be done by addressing the trade-offs and conflicts at the nexus among water and food, energy and ecosystems (Vaughan et al., 2016).
- Adaptive and shock-responsive social protection programmes: Social protection in the form of cash or food aid remains essential during intense droughts, as observed in the East Africa case study. Such programmes are entry points for identifying future drought impacts where poverty and lack of non-financial capacities limit local efforts.
- · IWRM: Many elements of IWRM plans have drought risk reduction elements, including policies aimed at increasing exploitable potential through improved water and soil conservation (e.g. in the Mediterranean Basin), replenishment of water tables (e.g. in the Pampas region of Argentina), reutilization of wastewater in agriculture (e.g. in the Mediterranean Basin) and reducing transport losses and increasing efficiency in irrigation (e.g. in West Africa, as well as in Australia and the Mediterranean Basin). The European Union Water Framework Directive is a good example of an integrated approach. The directive is supplemented by implementation of SDGs with yearly reporting as part of accountability checks and water demand integration that analyses the socioeconomic and ecological impacts of water management on natural and artificial water reservoirs in coastal areas around the Mediterranean. Water treatment includes drinking water treatment,

wastewater treatment, reuse of wastewater, reuse of sewage, and treatment and reuse of sludge (Barceló and Petrovic, 2011).

- Improved irrigation techniques: Yields and household income can increase with significant savings in water use possible over conventional irrigation (e.g. drip irrigation in Uzbekistan).
- · Adaptation strategies in smallholder agriculture: These include: (a) diversified production through permanent or temporary agropastoralism, combining crop farming and livestock rearing within the same farm (observed in East Africa); (b) use of improved crop varieties and animal breeds (e.g. in West Africa); and (c) shift from cattle to sheep and goats because small ruminants are less costly, hardier, require less food, reproduce faster and are more resilient to drought than cattle (described in the West Africa case study). Most case studies emphasize the need for empowered farmers and communities and an emphasis on preparedness, benefiting from early warning and monitoring, but dependent on the effectiveness of policy support.
- Ecosystem-based DRR: As observed in the Mediterranean Basin and Uzbekistan case studies, ecosystem-based DRR covers sustainable management, conservation and restoration of ecosystems to reduce disaster risk, with the aim to achieve sustainable and resilient development (Nehren et al., 2014).
- National adaptation plans (NAPs) and nationally determined contributions: Better quantification of climate change risks at local scales has been identified as being necessary to be able to generate more fully integrated risk management approaches.
- Financial instruments: Several instruments, which must match local structures, are identified in the case studies. Beyond insurance and other risk transfer mechanisms that provide immediate relief to individuals and communities during drought, access to credit may be improved and savings supported to provide buffers against drought impacts before, during and after droughts as observed in Australia and East Africa.

· The shift to prospective drought risk management: NAPs that address the key drought risk elements of the Sendai Framework (as described in the East Africa and West Africa case studies) are exemplars of the shift from response measures to proactive and preparedness measures to prospective risk management. Chapter 3 discusses the development of more structured and proactive national drought policies pursuing better-coordinated, prospective disaster risk management across government institutions. The three-pillar framework (after Wilhite et al., 2005) is cited in a number of instances as helpful, and includes: (a) monitoring, early warning and prediction, (b) vulnerability/resilience and impact assessment and (c) mitigation and response planning (Gutiérrez et al., 2014).

Transboundary drought risk policies in practice

Across transnational boundaries and administrative units within countries, the case studies note increasing pressures due to population growth and industrial development, unclear roles and responsibilities across institutions, and knowledge gaps that challenge policy development and implementation.

The complexity with which transboundary strategies must contend is shown in several of the case studies, with considerable differences observed among countries in terms of support and actions, which can trigger society-wide disruptions. There are working examples and historical successes; the European Union water policy framework is an example of a cross-boundary guidance and support mechanism for national cooperation, which has resulted in increased coordination between Portugal and Spain. There are promising developments in most studies, and evidence of new initiatives and plans emerging from the related imperatives of climate change adaptation and SDG implementation (including in DRB, as well as Portugal and Spain).

However, flexible water allocation strategies and water quality standards, including new transboundary agreements, are needed that adapt to altered timing and availability of flows, frequency and intensity of extreme events and effects on water demand (Hamner and Wolf, 1998). An amendment and review process will allow effective response to changes in social, economic, biophysical and climatic conditions, and incorporate new scientific knowledge (Fischhendler, 2004).

A framework for transboundary decision makers requires standard, robust and transparent scientific monitoring and assessment platforms that track basin-wide hydrological and water quality trends. The framework should include baselines to measure ecosystem benefits, which are central to developing management options (Vaughan et al., 2016).

Transboundary agreements are increasingly being developed around institutions that effectively foster cooperation over time, with well-funded, third-party support trusted by all factions (Hinrichsen et al., 1997; UNDP, 2006). Example agreements include:

- The Mackenzie River Basin Transboundary Waters Master Agreement (1997), which was agreed among Alberta, British Columbia, Northwest Territories, Saskatchewan, Yukon Territory and within the Commonwealth of Canada. Bilateral agreements were negotiated in which both sides shared their interests and worked towards an agreement that satisfied common interests and balanced opposing interests.
- Within the Senegal River Basin, Mali, Mauritania and Senegal are cooperating to regulate river flows and generate hydropower through co-owned infrastructure.
- The Rhine River Basin has an agreement between France, Germany, Luxembourg, the Netherlands and Switzerland. The International Commission for the Protection of the Rhine was established in 1950. Initially focused on research and data collection, it evolved to include targets for deep cuts in pollution. In 2001, the 2020 programme for sustainable development of the Rhine was adopted, and the International Commission for the Protection of the Rhine is now an active intergovernmental body to which member states must report their actions.

2.3.2

Risk management in practice

Noting that drought commonly overwhelms traditional approaches, experiences from the Caribbean, DRB, the Horn of Africa and the Mediterranean Basin have identified that the cascading and compounding multisectoral impacts of drought require innovative collaboration in the development and integration of drought risk prevention, preparedness and response. Across scales, this collaboration should include local communities, NGOs, community-based organizations, local and national industries, agribusiness, and advisory firms connected to national and regional governance and science platforms. The aim is to facilitate broad public education and risk awareness to enable early action.

Many studies identify the need to support populations at local, regional, national and transnational scales, thus requiring an effective policy environment. The use of transformative tools in land management (e.g. information technology / digital agriculture) mostly focused on communication is identified as part of empowered local decisionmaking in some countries, especially where it connects to forecasting and monitoring. However, other tools (e.g. genetically modified crop varieties) are, in some case studies, seen as problematic.

Most of the case studies describe a reactive approach to alleviate crisis situations, historically in all cases and continuing in many cases. These responses include financial payments, provision of emergency water supplies, supply of fodder, construction of wells, and allowing access to land and infrastructure. This reactive approach is a result of the perceived costs of upfront proactive planning, an inadequate level of preparedness and a lack of access to information about the current and likely state of drought (Gerber and Mirzabaev, 2017).

The case studies do not provide consistent estimates of drought costs, despite covering almost a century of experience. Indeed, many countries lack systematic quantitative data on environmental and socioeconomic impacts. Nonetheless, there are accounts of large GDP losses to communities in many countries. In many developing countries, much of the impact falls on private actors – for instance, smallholder agriculture is increasingly developing a "cash crop" dimension supported by small local entrepreneurs using leap-frog information technology. Elsewhere, the farmer is actually a small business, and in many cases, the farmer is much larger than that (e.g. Australia). Drought therefore forces some challenging business decisions.

Many countries note large investments to deliver drought plans (e.g. \$A10 billion in the Australian Murray–Darling Basin Plan), or large investments in water infrastructure and irrigation schemes all designed to "drought proof" nations and secure water into the future. However, many case studies demonstrate the trend is away from these investments in favour of investments in preparedness and resilience, but not at the multi-scale coordination and financing levels needed. In addition, emergency funding is short term and costly in most case studies where severe droughts have been experienced.

The case studies recognize the need to strengthen the implementation of SDGs through national and international partnerships, the development of analytical tools to solve global challenges and the promotion of multi-stakeholder partnerships. These include negotiating and implementing agreements across relevant regional institutions responsible for a range of climate services, and the active engagement of NGOs and community-based organizations to ensure drought early warning information systems target the people and communities at risk. The studies identify the importance of cultivating partnerships based on community participation in influencing policy and prioritizing needs, and building a culture of water saving and efficiency.

The Integrated Drought Management Programme

The three-pillar approach to drought risk management developed through IDMP is a notable development. This programme draws on the lessons learned and experience of the National Drought Mitigation Centre, the National Integrated Drought Information System in the United States of America, the Consultative Group on Agricultural Research and UNCCD, among others. The Brazil case study outlines the need for an evolved version of the three-pillar approach to assessing and managing drought risk: monitoring, early warning and prediction; vulnerability, resilience and impact assessment; and mitigation and response planning. Similar needs are identified in most case studies.

Drought monitoring and early warning

The need for frequent early warning before a drought, and monitoring during a drought, is common to all case studies, as is the call for improved seasonal weather and climate information and forecasts developed in ways that build stakeholder capacity. Examples are observed in Argentina, Australia, Brazil, the Caribbean and West Africa, where increasing emphasis is being placed on improving the connection of meteorological services to early warnings, seasonal weather forecasts and status reports. The case studies stress that focus on impact geographies, communities and livelihood systems are imperative to improve targeting and support.

Capacity-building should bring together stakeholders (including research institutions and the media), for example to ensure farmers receive effective advice that enables them to interpret information received and adopt climate-smart agriculture. Case studies identify it is also possible to build monitoring systems that connect community "reporters" with remote-sensing technology and modelling (e.g. Dust Watch Australia and Drought Watch Danube Basin).

Drought bulletins, drought maps, and other media and tools have been developed as communication aids. They produce information before and during droughts for the general public, for specific vulnerable sectors and as part of education systems. The system developed by the Research Institute for Meteorology and Water Recourses of Ceará state, north-east Brazil, is a good example of this. The case studies identify that these need to be connected to monitoring systems at meteorological offices and science agencies.

Adapting to drought

The case studies also detail an abundance of local strategies of adjustments and adaptation from the ground up – sometimes supported by explicit government programmes. These involve adapting crop variety or species choice, the mix of enterprises, planting dates, planting densities, irrigation strategies, agropastoralism, livestock species and supply chains. These are supported by extension programmes in many cases.

Adaptation strategies in Africa based on traditional knowledge, for example water harvesting in West Africa, are increasing in importance as are community networks in Australia. Land regeneration, green belts and reforestation are key adaptive and mitigation actions in cases such as the Aral Sea Basin. There is concern that many of these local adaptations are not sufficiently connected to knowledge of drought likelihood or appropriate tools for risk mitigation.

Drought risk financing instruments

The development of drought funds, rebates, tax measures and the like are now more common across countries, especially in rural areas. However, while improvements in understanding risk have propelled the development of innovative financing and risk transfer products in other sectors and for other risks, as noted in some case studies, drought financing by the private sector has generally been unsatisfactory.

Insurance and related financial instruments at the local level are rarely observed in the case studies. They note a lack of knowledge of financial risk products, financial products that are expensive and a small supplier pool with limited competition. Government-supported insurance schemes are in place in some countries (e.g. the Islamic Republic of Iran). Government farm subsidies play out in different ways across countries, and can produce perverse outcomes for drought management in almost all situations.

Gaps, challenges and lessons identified

Significant progress has been made in recent years in improving the current understanding of drought and its effects on societies, ecosystems and economy. Nevertheless, significant gaps in research, management and policy remain.

Chapter 1 identified gaps concerning data, methodological challenges and weaknesses in policy and management which have been further illustrated in the lived experience of Chapter 2. Chapter 1 described the complex nature of the hazard of drought and the challenge to predict the onset, duration and resolution of each event, despite the growing knowledge of the climate system and an expanded set of observations and models. The case studies in this chapter exemplify the systemic nature of the risk that drought poses by exploring where exposure and vulnerability to drought and the capacity to adapt and respond have led to significant impacts.

The case studies and supplementary examples in this chapter note the impact of cycles of drought, the uncertainty of drought initiation, the importance of drought length and severity on impacts, the uncertainty around when droughts resolve and the emergence of short-term subseasonal flash droughts. Drought has had widely variable effects across regions and countries. Impacts vary across scale – effects are initially felt at the landholder, farmer or livestock manager level, but with time, the impacts are broader across communities, the economy and even beyond national borders.

Beyond the immediate impact of drought on rainfed agriculture, the case studies note the increased insecurity of irrigation systems, the increased tendency for many urban centres to be affected by water scarcity and decreases in water quality, the decline of natural capital (soils, freshwater sources, pests and diseases) and degradation of ecosystems and biodiversity. Land degradation and desertification reduce the resilience to future droughts. Cascading impacts include forest loss, soil erosion and degradation. SDSs. flood vulnerability, and more-frequent wildfires. Energy generation requires water. Consequently, the energy industry shares vulnerability to drought with competing users of water. The interdependencies among water, food and energy are made abundantly clear during drought. In all these impacts, the level of drought vulnerability is unequal; it has a disproportionate impact on the poor and marginalized where the cost of drought is measured in terms of lives, livelihoods and impoverishment. The case studies reinforce the message of the drought risk equation - the risk is greatest where the exposed are vulnerable and have the least capacity to cope.

Where societal fragility is high, the cascading impacts of droughts can lead to violence, instability and conflict. Examples from Chad, Sudan, Iraq, Syrian Arab Republic and West Africa demonstrate how droughts have stretched societies' adaptive capacities and undermined national and international security. Given the potential increase in drought risk imminent with climate change, the global community must pursue drought risk reduction and strengthened resilience and the dividends wrought in terms of reduced tension within and among communities and countries, even mitigating human conflict and forced migration.

Most case studies emphasize the need for empowered farmers and communities and an emphasis on preparedness, while benefiting from early warning and monitoring, but depending on the effectiveness of policy support. The case studies describe an abundance of local strategies and approaches. These involve adapting the crop variety or species choice, mix of enterprises, planting dates, planting densities, irrigation strategies, agropastoralism, livestock species and supply chains. They are supported by extension programmes in many cases. Connections to traditional knowledge are increasingly being sought. Risk transfer and related financial instruments at the local level are rarely observed in the case studies, despite the clear need. They note a lack of knowledge of financial risk products, financial products that are expensive and a small supplier pool with limited competition.

Most case studies describe cycles of policy development, review and restructure that reflect action when drought is severe and inaction when drought is no longer evident. Policy disconnects such as drought and agriculture, water resource allocation, energy generation and conservation constrain action. Polices and plans across international boundaries are rarely binding.

Across transnational boundaries and administrative units within countries, the case studies note increasing pressures due to population growth and industrial development, unclear roles and responsibilities across institutions, and knowledge gaps that challenge policy development and implementation.

Given the complex and systemic nature of drought risk, it is perhaps not surprising that a "solution" has yet to emerge from the case studies. Key questions remain around characterizing and predicting drought events, understanding the nature of vulnerability and resilience, and what constitutes an effective response to the risk of drought.

Each case study demonstrates how societal structures, institutions, policies and actions determine the resilience of a community and its environment to drought risk and that, given sufficient drought severity or an increase in vulnerability, existing arrangements can be overwhelmed. Chapter 3 explores how societies and communities can develop systemic approaches and more-effective systems of governance to increase resilience in the face of growing drought hazard and reduce the risk.

The resolution of knowledge and practice gaps identified in Chapters 1 and 2 is an important component in exploring the enabling conditions required for the shift to a systemic approach to drought risk reduction. The following illustrate gaps identified in data and knowledge and access to existing and developing sources:

It is rare within the case studies that sufficient data on past, present and projected impacts in vulnerable lands, ecosystems and communities is available to prioritize investments in building resilience and reducing exposure to drought. Communities need to be able to characterize and manage the relative importance and vulnerability of sectors affected by drought and access spatial and temporal data on impacts at a scale and resolution suitable for each sector via open, standardized, interoperable platforms.

 Wider and easier access to interlinked meteorological and hydrological drought hazard data, and exposure and vulnerability data, are crucial at sufficient spatial and temporal resolutions to allow risk assessments and to build understanding of the systemic nature of drought risk that applies in each region or country.

 There is a growing range of models, decision tools, monitoring systems and data stores. Guidance and support are needed to choose or access appropriate tools and capabilities to support effective horizontal and vertical communication and decision-making across the hydrological system⁷ and relevant to specific climates and communities. Shared information on what approaches are being employed in development, or have been tested and appear most promising, is needed.

It is clear in many countries that adequate resources for the development and implementation of drought risk management plans are needed. That also requires resources for periodic review of their quality and efficacy and assessment of the relative benefits and costs of actions within the plans, with emphasis on ex ante drought risk prevention and mitigation of underlying risk drivers. Broader acceptance and therefore implementation of drought risk management plans requires improved models of participation in problem identification and design of solution pathways, and drought risk education and public awareness-raising programmes.

⁷ For example, glaciers and snowfields, springs, surface water, coastal systems, groundwater and reservoirs.

Chapter 3 examines these lessons, exploring prospective and proactive governance with in-built and forward-looking learning systems to better adapt to drought. It builds on the modernized understanding of drought risk and the lessons identified from the lived experience to bring out the enabling conditions that will allow new governance systems to emerge and take hold in daily lives and facilitate the broad changes needed to match societal responses to the systemic nature of drought risk.

3. Droughts: from risk to resilience

3.1 Introduction

Drought poses substantial risk to societies and ecosystems around the world. The case studies reviewed in Chapter 2 illustrate the challenge that communities and governments at local to global scales face in recognizing and responding to drought risk. No two droughts are the same; no single formula to manage them is sufficient. The continuum and feedbacks among varieties of drought events and drivers, impacts, warnings and ongoing responses are immensely complex. These include interactions at multiple time and space scales that range from global trade to the everyday insecurities and coping activities experienced by those people most at risk. Risk assessment and management strategies are increasingly challenged by such systemic and evolving impacts of extremes, variability and change across time and space.

In many cases, global integration can strengthen resilience to smaller shocks, for example through trade and other adjustments. However, increasingly integrated network structures can also expand vulnerabilities to existing and emerging systemic risks (UNDRR, 2019). Global networks, cascading climate events, poverty, rapid urbanization, weak governance, the decline of ecosystems and climate change are all driving disaster risk, and in some instances introducing new threats, around the world. A system may be complex because:

- It comprises many parts connected in multiple ways
- Over time, cause and effect are hard to relate, and interventions produce unexpected consequences
- The emergent behaviour of the system is deeply unpredictable, even when the subsystem behaviours are known and predictable
- As a whole, it can carry out a unique function that cannot be performed by the constituent elements alone

Adaptive risk management and governance strategies are required as responses to complex risks such as drought. They are fundamentally different from individual risk management approaches in that they are founded on notions of complexity, ambiguity and diversity.

"Governance" refers here to actions, processes, traditions and institutions (formal and informal) by which collective decisions are reached and implemented. Transitioning to governance mechanisms that facilitate rapid responses to crises is a different challenge – monitoring slower changes and responding with longer-term measures (Kahneman, 2011; IPCC, 2012; Olson, 2016; IRGC, 2018).

Effective governance of drought-related systemic risks must be adaptive and multi-scale, in the context of anticipated risks and opportunities. It must also be prospective in avoiding the emergence of new threats and for managing through a rapidly changing environment across the full risk to resilience continuum.

This chapter outlines the lessons drawn from modernizing the current understanding of drought (Chapter 1) and the case studies from around the world (Chapter 2). It crafts a framework and process for the development and implementation of adaptive management and governance of drought-related systemic risks.

3.2

Characterizing systemic risks and challenges for governance

KEY MESSAGE

 Achieving the outcome and goal of the Sendai Framework will require the global community to better understand the dynamic nature of systemic risks such as droughts, and to support new structures to govern risk in complex, adaptive systems and develop new tools for riskinformed decision-making that allow human societies to live with uncertainty.

The systemic nature of drought risk

Disasters resulting from systemic risks such as drought may not fall into the traditional taxonomy of a sudden event or an event with clear start and end dates. Some feedbacks and potential state shifts can be modelled and quantified; others can be modelled or identified but not quantified; and some are probably still unknown. Indirect issues play a key role, and can be exposed or exacerbated. For example, technologies enhancing farm productivity, such as adding fertilizers, might improve adaptive capacity through higher incomes but at the same time drive emissions and lead to direct farm changes (e.g. soil acidification, and off-site impacts such as groundwater and surface water nutrient overload). In the case of drought, this might depend, for example, on the timing and quantity of precipitation and return flows (Harvey et al., 2014; Thornton et al., 2017).

The globalized economic system and networks of communication and trade have generated highly interdependent social, technical and biological systems. However, increasingly integrated structures also expand vulnerabilities to traditionally recognized and also novel systemic risks (UNDRR, 2019). This has practical implications for financing and implementation of prospective and proactive approaches.

Chapter 1 shows the impacts of cascading and compounding events can be greater than the sum of their parts. To further complicate matters, the spatial or temporal correlation among extreme events – including drought and land-cover degradation – remains poorly understood. There is considerable uncertainty about trigger events, shock propagation and remote, indirect impacts, especially within systemic risks.

Systemic drought risk characteristics include physical feedback loops, such as when spring droughts in Europe are connected to a higher probability of summer heatwaves. They also include non-linear dynamics in the agroclimatic system such as nutrient losses and crop failure after a prolonged heatwave during heat-sensitive plant growth stages, which can further lead to rapid and irreversible changes and impacts (Vogt et al., 2018; UNDRR, 2019; Chapter 1).

Effective governance of drought risks must therefore be able to cope with uncertainty, thresholds and surprises. This includes crossscale trigger events such as (compound) climate hazards, cascading impacts such as crop losses and consequent price spikes, and resultant social vulnerabilities such as reduction in the economic strength of individuals, communities and nations.

Governance of systemic risks

Governance addressing systemic change requires iterative analytical deliberation, monitoring, nesting of approaches, and institutional variety and evaluation. Deviations from targets should not be seen as failures, but rather as opportunities to learn and adjust (Dietz et al., 2003; Lempert et al., 2018). A systems approach benefits from diversity, as more perspectives offer a broader portfolio of solutions. It requires that integrating an understanding of everyday activities and attendant vulnerabilities and capabilities is central. Identifying and acting on risks from so-called small events can reduce risks from larger ones.

Transformations that address future droughtrelated resilience as a systemic problem will require profound shifts in institutions, technologies, consumption patterns and personnel, as well as the ecological, economic and social processes they influence. Not all transformations work to achieve the intended outcomes; in some cases, they can further marginalize already vulnerable groups. Much of the risk governance literature has been limited in its ability to address competing values under which decision-making takes place.

3.2.1 Drought in the context of systemic risks

KEY MESSAGE

 Early warning is crucial in drought contexts, and some emergencies can be mitigated. However, drought management over the long term is confounded by complexities and uncertainties regarding drought exposure, vulnerability and attendant decision-making.

Numerous assessments show drought remains a hidden risk, with non-linear secondary and higherorder impacts (e.g. UNISDR, 2011; IPCC, 2012; UNDRR, 2019; UNESCO, 2019). Micro-level actions and responses involving households, communities and individual businesses are often under-recorded but are the most important elements for drought risk mitigation (UNISDR, 2011; UNDRR, 2019). Systemic drought risk characteristics further influence cascading events such as price volatility, food insecurity and even food-related riots. Drought raises additional questions about the capacity to measure, evaluate and respond to related risks. When does a drought start? Are drought conditions intensifying and/or spreading? When is a location in drought? What is the outlook? When will the drought end? Does the return of some rain signify an end to drought or transitory relief? Are any past droughts indicative of future droughts? How are attention and prospective risk management activity maintained between events?

Drought staging (Chapter 1) is an important characteristic for the present assessment, and can be considered analogous to medical disease staging. As in medical staging, intervention and support is less costly and more effective in early stages, and more costly and less effective in later stages as response capabilities and system buffers are depleted when communities move to relief and welfare.

As discussed in Chapters 1 and 2, the experiences of JRC, IDMP, the National Integrated Drought Information System in the United States of America, FEWS NET and IGAD illustrate that drought early warning can be a proactive social process whereby networks of organizations conduct collaborative situational assessments to guide action. The drought centres align observations, research, forecasts, risk assessment and communication, and embed information in drought response, albeit with varying levels of success (Pulwarty and Verdin, 2013; Vogt et al., 2018; Chapter 2).

Indicators of vulnerability help to identify when and where local capabilities, human agency and policy interventions are most needed. Historical and institutional analyses help to identify the processes and entry points for reducing vulnerability. Taking local knowledge and practices into account promotes mutual trust, a community sense of ownership and self-confidence (Dekens, 2007). As important as indicators and risk management tools are to such systems, it is the governance context that needs further attention. This is particularly so for people-centred strategies at the end-user interface – the so-called "last mile" (Singh, 2006; Birkmann et al., 2013), where increased inclusion and alignment of a mix of centralized and decentralized activities are required.

The term "emergent risk" has most commonly been applied to financial systems, for example when one significant financial institution fails and others collapse because of opaque, complex, coupled relationships that connect them. Governance of systemic risks requires new institutional structures and processes, as recognized after the global financial crisis in 2008. Before the crisis, early warning systems were in place to identify precursor signals and anomalies in the overall performance of the financial system. Yet they failed to detect what are now, in hindsight and ex post analyses, understood to have been clear signals. In addition, and as widely acknowledged, early warning does not necessarily lead to early action (Pulwarty and Sivakumar, 2014). Warnings of such system changes and an improved knowledge of their past behaviour are not sufficient to guide even initial actions. Moreover, having initiated action, it is not possible to assume those actions remain as viable solutions as events evolve.

3.2.2

Challenges today and tomorrow

Risk drivers such as transboundary water tension, land degradation, international trade and climate change are increasingly occurring at larger scales and are affected by non-local and multilayered influences. Promising strategies for addressing these problems include dialogue and partnerships among interested parties and researchers; complex, layered and adaptive institutions incorporating intentional redundancies; investing in a mix of policy and institutional types; and frameworks that facilitate experimentation, learning and change (Dietz et al., 2003). DRR, including drought risk reduction, has a much larger impact on the effectiveness and potential success of long-term adaptation than commonly acknowledged.

Coherence across climate change adaptation, mitigation and DRR approaches is essential to achieving sustainable development (IPCC, 2012). For example, the Paris Agreement encourages countries to formulate and implement NAPs that facilitate the integration of climate change adaptation into relevant development planning and strategies, including on DRR. In addition, Target (e) of the Sendai Framework calls for a substantial increase in the number of countries with national and local DRR strategies that promote policy coherence, including on climate change (United Nations, General Assembly, 2015a).

Chapters 1 and 2 recognize the need for systemic innovation where complexity, ambiguity and diversity characterize risk drivers. However, there are numerous and significant challenges in the case of drought. Drought risk is fundamentally embedded in human security. Progress on linking climate and human security has not been sufficient to respond comprehensively to drought risk. Drought risk results from interacting pressures across the water-food-energy nexus. Beyond the theoretical, there is much accumulated experience of the shortcomings of traditional drought risk management, but limited practical experience in addressing systemic risks. Coherence is needed, but it is still unclear how agreement and alignment on coherent approaches are derived and sustained.

The challenges are numerous, complex and significant as drought impacts filter through water, agriculture, food security, energy, ecosystems and livelihoods. Consistent or comprehensive estimates of drought costs are difficult to estimate due to challenges that include the attribution of impacts across the life cycles of events, and the multiple formal and informal economies through which these events flow. Many countries lack systematic quantitative data on environmental and socioeconomic impacts. Nonetheless, there are accounts of large losses to GDP in many countries and a record of large investments to deliver drought plans.

As the case studies in Chapter 2 illustrate, these system components have often been studied and managed individually, without consideration of trade-offs, cultural similarities, and differences and complementarity for jointly ensuring water, energy and food security. Such approaches have underestimated the complexities involved and the opportunities for more meaningful actions to support sustainability goals.

Different ways of generating knowledge and action have been advocated and also tested in some cases. They often involve participatory and collaborative processes to integrate multiple paths for developing actionable knowledge that can contribute to transformation of society. Examples include co-development across sectors, science-policy interfaces, democratization of expertise, and knowledge brokering and facilitation.

The Sendai Framework, with its outcome seeking the substantial reduction of disaster risk and losses and its goal seeking to prevent new and reduce existing risk, is essential to achieving SDGs (UNDRR, 2019). Progress is being made with regard to implementation of SDGs; however, pathways to propel the transformation required to meet SDGs by 2030 are not yet advancing at the speed nor scale required (Independent Group of Scientists, 2019; United Nations, 2019, 2020).

The strong theoretical rationale for coherence in systemic management is not always reflected in practice, suggesting there are mismatches in processes and institutions that hinder potential coherence between DRR and other approaches. In respect of climate change adaptation and mitigation, these include (OECD, 2020b):

- Fragmented responsibilities: Ministries or agencies overseeing climate change adaptation, mitigation and DRR at the national level do not always have a culture or authority for coordinating their respective policy agendas (Seidler et al., 2018).
- Different funding structures: Funding mechanisms for climate change adaptation, mitigation and DRR are often spread across institutions and levels of government. As a result, funding schemes are often constrained by the limited scope of the issuing organization, leading to further silos. Funding structures can also create perverse incentives, for example resulting in the prioritization of short-term disaster financing needs over long-term risk reduction (OECD, 2018).

- Data availability and use: There has been notable progress in recent years in data availability and climate- and disaster risk-related modelling. Examples include recent developments on continental-scale hazard and risk assessments (IPCC, 2014b, 2014c, 2019).
- Perception of a temporal mismatch: Disasters caused by extreme environmental events are usually distinct in time and space and require a rapid response. In contrast, long-term perspectives are a key element of climate change adaptation and mitigation strategies.

As noted in the IPCC Special Report on Extremes and in multiple GARs, approaches to disaster risk management and reduction are not limited to emergency responses nor are they bound by short time frames of event duration (IPCC, 2012; UNISDR, 2011, 2013, 2015; UNDRR, 2019). Such approaches play distinct roles in constraining the development of future risks and vulnerabilities when well designed or well implemented, and can enable or propagate risks and vulnerabilities when design or implementation is poor.

The negative consequences of the failure to integrate drought-related considerations into climate change adaptation and mitigation and DRR should not be underestimated (IPCC, 2012; Gerber and Mirzabaev, 2017). Nevertheless, an inordinate emphasis on the long-term projections of climate change impacts has the potential for reducing the field of drought risk reduction to a hazard-centric viewpoint rather than equal and longer-standing considerations on the causes of disaster and particularly droughtrelated exposure and vulnerability (e.g. Garcia, 1981; Burton et al., 1978). It is important not to ignore the much longer history of research and practice on addressing root causes of vulnerability in the disaster and drought risk reduction community that is now actively employed by the climate change adaptation and mitigation community (IPCC, 2012, 2014, 2019; Wilhite and Pulwarty, 2017).

3.3 Knowing and doing better

This section characterizes the barriers and outlines the opportunities for countries and communities to respond to the complexity of drought-related risks more effectively.

3.3.1

Transitions to sustainability

For the purposes of this report, "transitions to sustainability" refers to multidimensional and fundamental processes through which established socioecological-technical systems transform or shift to more sustainable modes of production and consumption (Markard et al., 2012; EEA, 2019). Values, intentions, goals, guidance and governance play particular roles in transitions (Smith et al., 2005); what is considered sustainable can be subject to interpretation, and might change over time (Garud et al., 2010). Thus this report emphasizes the continuum from short-term proactive drought preparedness and response through to long-term prospective risk management and risk reduction.

Sustainability transitions involve difficult decisions and trade-offs characterized by high degrees of uncertainty (e.g. price, performance, acceptance, use and environmental outcomes of innovations) and disagreement and conflict among stakeholders about desired futures, pathways and trade-offs (Kern and Rogge, 2016, 2018). While the need for understanding adaptive cycles and broad governance frameworks has long been recognized, implementation is rare outside of a few highly contextual cases (White et al., 2001; Chapter 2).

There is only limited practical experience of steering such processes. Moreover, concerns such as increasing political and private sector resistance and local acceptability may become more pressing as implementation gains momentum. In addressing policy problems of this type, technically rational decision-making approaches may provide partial or misleading guidance because they struggle to integrate many of the fundamental characteristics of transitions (EEA, 2019). Purely risk-based approaches including "predict then act" methods can backfire in deeply uncertain conditions (U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2018), the reasons for which are numerous and may include:

- Uncertainties are underestimated and, in some cases, de-emphasized
- Competing analyses can contribute to gridlock
- Long-term monitoring physical and social is undervalued
- Misplaced belief in the fixed nature and assumptions of a priori knowledge can mask awareness of rapidly changing conditions or surprises

Predetermined path dependencies at multiple levels (including sunk costs of infrastructure, organizational conventions on understanding and practice, traditions of land tenure, paradigms of defining innovation systems as the result of markets alone and professional tradition) all thwart adaptive capacity and reduce the range of choice, and hence innovation. Not all proposed or supported sustainability transitions are successful, and not all successful transitions are steps in the right direction (see Box 3.1 for an example).

Barriers to transitions can include the difficulty of overcoming tradition and culture, antiquated laws and institutions, inertia in complex social systems, the long time required for changes in technology, inadequate financial investment and more.

Constraints on implementation

Public acceptance of the significance of problems and of the proposed approaches is key to successful implementation. Case studies of climate-resilient development pathways at state and community scales show participation, social learning and iterative decision-making are governance features of strategies that deliver mitigation, adaptation and sustainable development in a fair and equitable manner (Lempert et al., 2018). Incremental voluntary changes are amplified through community networking, polycentric governance (Dorsch and Flachsland, 2017), partnerships, and long-term change to governance systems at multiple levels (Stevenson and Dryzek, 2014; Lövbrand et al., 2017; Pichler et al., 2017; Termeer et al., 2017).

The ability to identify explanatory factors affecting the progress of drought policy is constrained by a

Box 3.1. Limits to transitions to sustainability – water privatization

The replacement of public water systems with private systems illustrates an example of a heavily advocated but failed transition. Large-scale water privatization was proposed as an alternative development model to address the lack of success in providing comprehensive, safe, and affordable water and sanitation. Early supporters of privatization argued that greater financial and management efficiencies reduced risks of corruption and access to new sources of capital could help turn around unsuccessful water systems.

However, the concept ultimately failed because of a combination of factors, including an inability to prove sufficient economic and operational improvements over well-implemented public models, massive public opposition on the grounds of a lack of equity and transparency, and a preference for public over private control of water. A diverse mix of public, private, NGO and civil society systems remains the viable approach and a coordination and implementation challenge today (Gleick, 2018; Garrick et al., 2020). lack of data on responses and adaptation actions across nations, regions and sectors. More fundamentally, there is an absence of frameworks for assessing progress. Most hypotheses on what drives sustained adaptation have limited testing, and evaluations of whether and why an adaptation initiative has been effective are lacking. Research in developing countries is scarce on effective multilevel governance including sustained participation by civil society, women and minorities (IPCC, 2019).

Throughout the case studies and the broader drought risk management literature, various elements of the 10-step process for developing national drought polices (Chapter 1) are being undertaken. However, all steps are being met only in a few, if any, cases. To illustrate, findings from the South American case studies include:

- The main governmental reaction to a drought is the declaration of an "agricultural emergency". This declaration postpones state and federal taxes, extends loan repayment due dates and provides immunity against bank foreclosures.
- Multiple drought mitigation actions are instituted by governments (e.g. good agronomic practices to add resilience and enabling adoption of insurance instruments) and by individuals or firms (e.g. modifying land allocation or stocking rates, agronomic management and marketing strategies). Farm-level responses are effective under weak to moderate droughts, but strong events overwhelm buffering capacity, particularly for small farms.
- The limited knowledge of interactions among drought characteristics and the types and magnitudes of likely impacts is a major impediment to proactive drought risk management. It is therefore difficult to know when to issue different levels of warnings or initiate mitigation actions. Information on the agricultural impacts of various climate hazards is not systematically collected or recorded, despite its critical importance.
- Responsibilities for drought response are dispersed among many institutions at multiple jurisdictional levels. There is little coordination

among institutions to define who does what and when, before, during and after a drought.

- There is a strong need for innovative involvement of a diverse set of actors (NGOs, farmers, agronomic advisers and extension agents) to co-design effective drought information systems.
- Governance failures are prevalent, such as lack of capacity or coordination failures across agencies; the influence of interest groups; and how most of the benefits of adaptation are in the form of avoided impacts that are largely invisible and for which policymakers rarely get rewarded.

Implementing recommendations without attending to the associated risks may be a step backwards in the transformation, as stakeholders may be left confused, marginalized and frustrated by the perceived lack of progress. Thus, many recommendations – for moving from the status quo to a prospective drought management framework – risk underestimating the complexity of mitigation and adaptation in a changing drought environment. These risks include:

- Increasing recognition of adaptation buffers arising from ecosystems including watersheds and landscapes, but relatively little commensurate action to support this awareness.
- Limited coordination on implementation across the scales of governance, resulting from unclear responsibilities of actors and conflicting timescales of interventions.
- Limited community acceptance of needed adaptations. Cognitive and cultural biases and deep uncertainty often lead to strong political opposition to any action.
- Market failures due to limited data availability and in some cases misapplication of data and information that further increase long-term risks and vulnerability. Many co-benefits of addressing multiple threats and opportunities have been identified but not realized in practice.
- Inadequate representation of the precarious nature of everyday life for highly vulnerable people in drought-prone regions.

3.3.2

Doing more with what is already known

Opportunities do exist to apply what is already known in the management of drought-related systemic changes. There are options for land and ecosystem transitions, which include conservation agriculture, efficient irrigation, agroforestry, ecosystem restoration and avoided deforestation. Singh et al. (2020) outline feasibility assessments of 23 adaptation options. While these adaptation options are highly situation dependent in terms of value and may involve significant trade-offs, and thus are not necessarily transferrable elsewhere, they offer options for proactive planning by individuals and organizations (IPCC, 2019). Policies concerning their implementation need to match the state of the system, identify complementary factors and develop processes to resolve potential trade-offs.

Adaptation, scaling and implementation

KEY MESSAGE

 In many cases, limitations to scaling, replicating or sustaining "successful" project-based approaches are exposed when overwhelmed by severe sustained drought events or cumulative impacts of sequences of smaller events.

Scaling community-based adaptation may require structural changes. This implies the need for transformational adaptation in some regions. Implementation would involve multilevel governance and institutional capacities by enabling anticipatory and flexible decision-making pathways that access and develop collaborative networks.

Examples of adaptation measures that may be incentivized through financial and economic mechanisms include:

- Improved land and soil management for agriculture, forestry (or agroforestry) and pastoral management and stock scheduling
- Improved water (including soil water) management such as increased economic efficiency of water use (e.g. water pricing, water reuse and water quality protection or enhancement) and interventions such as conjunctive water use and appropriate solar pumping of groundwater
- Crop management, including crop (and variety) selection, irrigation regimes, cultivation practices and crop rotations
- Diversification by communities at risk to alternative or supplementary (part-time and full-time) livelihoods and provision of food relief
- Stabilization of food prices and of prices in markets for key production inputs in times of drought

There are successful schemes that demonstrate the effective use of such measures. These include Ethiopia's Productive Safety Net Programme and the Caribbean experience with index insurance (Bahru et al., 2020; Chapter 2).

The strategic challenge for transitioning governance systems lies in coordinating emerging innovations towards systemic change while simultaneously opening up, or alternatively breaking down, unsustainable regimes and institutions. Overcoming disincentives and inertia to sustaining collaborative action is shaped by culture, trade-offs, values and so forth, and is still where much of the iceberg of knowledge remains submerged.

Coupled with those disincentives is the need to balance efficiency with redundancy (i.e. infrastructure backups and ecosystem buffers), recognize and acknowledge uncertainty and, in some cases, indeterminacy of thresholds, and advance consistent assessment methods.

How learning takes place and how such learning is secured, employed, financed and sustained are questions of enabling capabilities to move beyond "panaceas" (Dietz et al., 2003; Ostrom et al., 2007; Scoones et al., 2020). Individuals and entrepreneurs play key roles in such learning processes by providing community leadership and/or facilitation, building trust, developing visions, and connecting people and nodes in learning networks.

Knowledge is limited about how to facilitate demand-based innovations that are transformative in rural and urban systems. White et al. (2001), Snowden and Boone (2007), Fischhoff (2020) and others outline several barriers to the effective development and application of usable information that are still salient:

- Knowledge continues to be flawed by areas of ignorance
- Knowledge is available but not used effectively or with results contrary to those planned or expected
- Knowledge is used effectively but takes a long time to have effect
- Knowledge is used effectively in some respects but is overwhelmed by the scale and rate of increases in vulnerability and in population, assets, poverty and lack of empowerment elsewhere

Despite the potential for so-called "leap-frog" technologies (e.g. wireless communication) to be applied to poorer areas or countries, their capacity to use advanced technologies such as precision agriculture remains weak and is still focused on supply-side solutions.

Policy support

Policy approaches are more effective when they address contextual and psychosocial factors influencing climate actions, which differ across contexts and individuals (Steg and Vlek, 2009; Stern, 2011; Fischhoff, 2020). There are significant gaps in factors enabling adaptation. Knowledge is still limited on:

 How cognitive and motivational factors promote adaptive behaviour • How potential adaptation actions might affect behaviour to influence vulnerability outcomes

Financial and regulatory preconditions are needed to stimulate actors to embrace the necessary investments.

Most non-governmental actors are in favour of governments setting a framework with rules and norms. However, research shows government action is not usually sufficient (Molenveld et al., 2021). Government is needed to facilitate and secure networks and create the financial and regulatory preconditions to remove barriers to effective adaptation measures including local innovation. Political and financial stakeholders may find actions more cost-effective and socially acceptable if multiple factors affecting behaviour are considered, including aligning these actions with core values.

While policy processes are typically driven by national governments, the bulk of implementation occurs at the sector or local levels. National-level actors must therefore be cognisant of the burden that planning, implementing and monitoring such processes can place on them. Hence, there is a drive to stimulate and support self-organization of local-level partners. There is also a persistent and strong need to acknowledge differing social values and strengthen institutional collaboration, including data collection on drought impact to reduce vulnerability and enhance resilience.

Practical experiences and research literature demonstrate that the outcomes of participatory interventions can be co-opted, or even reinforce the problems they were intended to solve (Ascher, 2017; Turnhout et al., 2019). Caution is required, as it has been observed that partnerships can be formed as a result of a powerful actor mobilizing relationships, largely for their own benefit in terms of enhanced legitimacy, recognition or control (Contu and Girei, 2014).

Many studies show stakeholders failing to address the key issues of representation and power asymmetries: who participates; what values, perspectives and interests do these participants represent; and how can all voices be engaged in a procedurally legitimate way? Thus the importance within learning approaches of leadership, trust, co-design in problem framing and developing visions, and facilitating connection and collaboration. Drought research and management experience in transboundary watersheds (Chapter 2) show that several paradoxes in multi-State water management and governance across borders can militate against the accurate assessment of socioeconomic impacts and the effective use of scientific information for meeting short-term needs and reducing longer-term vulnerabilities.

In developing countries, the need for coherence is not limited to national policies and activities, but also includes coherence of international development and cooperation in support of DRR and climate change adaptation and mitigation. In many developing countries, development partners cooperate with national and subnational authorities and are aligned with country objectives. The issue of drought, and its complex and cascading impacts, offers multiple opportunities for aligning efforts supporting the achievement of the outcomes and goals of the 2030 Agenda, the Convention on Biological Diversity, the Paris Agreement, the Sendai Framework and UNCCD, without the counterproductive recommendation that integration should first occur across all mechanisms and activities.

Increased coherence brings gains in efficiency and effectiveness, as discussed below, but it is not without costs. It can result in trade-offs between investing in climate change adaptation and DRR and making progress on individual policy processes (Daze et al., 2018). The integration of DRR, climate change adaptation and mitigation can occur in a continuum, from strategic to technical to operational (OECD, 2020b), where policy coherence should be a process of systematic alignment coordination (UNFCCC, 2017).

3.3.3

Advancing system transitions for droughtrelated resilience

The transition from risk to resilience implies incremental adjustments and rapid, sometimes disruptive, transformative changes. Such transitions could have consequences for livelihoods that depend on agriculture and natural resources (IPCC, 2019). Much of the complexity in drought risk arises from the degree of exposure of vulnerable people, industries and ecosystems. This exposure and vulnerability can be reduced by transitioning systems at multiple scales – as part of reducing drought risk.

Diverse adaptation options exist that can be seen as pathways for such a transition. For example, in Israel, technological adaptations to a given water endowment include drip irrigation, reverse osmosis desalination and wastewater treatment (Kramer, 2016). The Greater Tel Aviv Wastewater Treatment Plant (Shafdan) treats approximately 400,000 m³ of wastewater per day for 11 cities and towns with more than 2.5 million people. The plant also uses the surrounding sand dunes to perform the final, tertiary phase of treatment.

Additional approaches include mixed crop-livestock production systems, especially if achieved via farmers adopting new behaviours, and reinforcing long-standing water-efficient practices rather than through large-scale infrastructural interventions. An example of the latter strategy is the *johads* of northern India, which are community-owned, traditional rainwater storage wetlands. *Johads* collect and store water throughout the year for direct use by humans and livestock, and recharge groundwater that supplies nearby water wells. *Johads* also provide refuge to wildlife such as resident and migrant birds.

Countries also employ a range of approaches and tools for spatial planning. Some, including Germany and South Africa, have developed comprehensive national planning frameworks that integrate biodiversity. Many countries have biodiversity offsets and "no net loss" policies and programmes in place; these include Brazil, Cameroon, Guinea, Madagascar, Mexico and Mongolia.

Maintaining vegetation cover can promote ecosystem resilience and protect against drought impacts. More than half of the land-derived atmospheric moisture comes from transpiration by plants and particularly forests, although the precise fraction remains contested (Jasechko et al., 2013; Wei et al., 2017). Research has shown local climate and water cycles can be non-linear. On the positive side, rainfall in some landscapes can be stabilized and regained by land-use management and restoration of tree cover. A recent study by the World Resources Institute determined that restoring 3,000 ha of native forest around targeted locations in Rio de Janeiro would avoid costs of \$79 million over 30 years, as well as avoid an estimated 3.6 million tonnes of chemical products and 260 thousand MWh of energy in water treatment over the next 30 years (Feltran-Barbieri et al., 2018).

A better understanding of the increased risk of climate instability and drought on deforestation and land degradation, and the benefits of an integrated and inclusive approach to prospective risk reduction, may help improve the case for a change of direction.

Integrated landscape transitions

The idea of managing resources in an integrated fashion is not new (White, 1977; Lackey, 1998; Saver and Campbell, 2001; Gleick, 2018b). Calls to consider water holistically go back decades, as do recommendations to manage drought with interdisciplinary tools and organizations, and include a wide range of voices in decision-making. Holistic water management has been codified in many settings - including at the 1977 United Nations Water Conference and the 1992 International Conference on Water and the Environment (Gleick, 2018b). While there have been difficulties with defining and implementing IWRM, the approach has been described as "a holistic, ecosystem-based approach which, at both strategic and local levels, is the best management approach to address growing water management challenges" (Gleick, 2018b).

Integrated watershed and land-use planning, including in the transboundary cases cited in Chapter 2, are coordinated through multiple government levels. Effective planning can balance property rights, wildlife and forest conservation, and encroachment of settlements and agricultural areas, and it can reduce conflict (Metternicht, 2018). In successful cases, actions are spatially integrated by exploiting natural variations in climate while incorporating local and regional economies (Harvey et al., 2014), rather than physically separating activities (e.g. agriculture, forestry, grazing).

In an assessment of 166 initiatives in 16 countries, integrated landscape initiatives were found to address the drivers of agriculture, ecosystem conservation, livelihood preservation and institutional coordination. However, such initiatives struggled to move from planning to implementation due to lack of government and financial support and the sidelining of the agenda by powerful stakeholders (IPCC, 2014b, 2014c; Zanzanaini et al., 2017).

Land-use management, land restoration and modification of cropping patterns to retain soil moisture are frequently cited as ways to build resilience against droughts (as discussed in Chapter 2). Landuse planning can also enhance management of areas prone to natural hazards, such as droughts and floods, and help resolve issues of competing land use and conflict (Metternicht, 2018). Gerber and Mirzabaev (2017) summarize several recommended requirements and approaches for improving land use in the context of drought as follows:

- More-secure land tenure and better access to electricity and agricultural extension facilitate drought risk mitigation. This is observed in agricultural households in Bangladesh, with access to land tenure, markets and credit significantly increasing farmers' drought resilience in Morocco.
- Improved access to credit helps households to cope better with drought impacts and manage financial shocks incurred. For example, farming households in Ethiopia need not sell their

productive assets, which in many rural households tend to be livestock, and which may be wiped out during droughts. Developing access to financial services and alternative savings mechanisms can therefore mitigate droughtrelated vulnerability.

- Diversification of livelihoods and divesting of livestock assets – neither of which are trivial actions – are frequently employed to reduce vulnerability and risk to drought. Households in China and Zimbabwe have adopted off-farm activities, and farmers in Burkina Faso elected to divest rather than lose livestock assets.
- A strong asset base and diversified risk management options are key characteristics for facilitating flexibility. For example, in droughtresilient households in Kenya and Uganda, flexibility arises from households having better education and greater knowledge of coping actions against various hazards. This allows them to diversify their income sources.

On one hand, a State-centred model poorly captures local agile responses to emerging complexities. On the other hand, a market approach can fail to incorporate institutions that foster intersectoral cooperation and communication, impose infrastructure costs on future generations, or capture what are in fact public goods through supply, price and access (Blatter and Ingram, 2000; Ascher, 2007). Effective governance of fluid resources is increasingly and necessarily founded on the cooperative interrelationships of diverse institutions (Blatter and Ingram, 2000). Thus, successful public-private efforts must engage NGOs and civil society partners at equal levels. Box 3.2 presents an example of an emerging public-private–NGO collaboration.

Similar public-private-civil society collaborative efforts are being developed and are displaying the ability to learn as new problems and contexts arise. For instance, the Sustainable Modernization of Traditional Agriculture (MasAgro) project of Mexico's Secretariat of Agriculture, Livestock, Rural Development, Fisheries and Food, in close collaboration with the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center, was recognized by the Monterrey Institute of Technology and Higher Education as being one of 10 projects that are transforming Mexico.

The MasAgro programme began with a relatively narrow technology focus, and evolved towards an innovation system approach. The adaptive management of such a process was in response to context-specific challenges and opportunities. In the heterogeneous context of Mexico, this results in diverse ways of operationalization at the hub level, leading to different collaborating partners and technology portfolios (Camacho-Villa et al., 2016). In MasAgro, a hub is seen as a network of value chain actors from a particular agroecological region who work together on sustainable solutions in maizeand wheat-based farming systems.

Barriers to transitions

Society-wide transformation involves sociotechnical transitions and socioecological resilience (Gillard et al., 2016), including acknowledging, agreeing on and removing barriers within social and institutional processes (Pant et al., 2015; Geels et al., 2017; lckowitz et al., 2017). Adopting integrated approaches to land-use planning for reducing drought-related risks entails coherence in policies on: agriculture; forestry; rural, urban and infrastructure development; and alignment for comprehensive spatial planning. These approaches include energy system transitions, land and ecosystem transitions, urban and infrastructure system transitions, industrial systems transitions and overarching adaptation options to support these transitions.

Barriers to land-based mitigation for DRR and climate change adaptation include opposition due to real and perceived trade-offs between land for mitigation and for food security. Approaches require higher land-use intensity compared to other mitigation options, which, in turn, place greater demands on governance. Imbalances can arise due to uncertain land and water rights, and the absence of trusted partnerships and sharing mechanisms, among other factors. A key governance mechanism that has emerged in the past decade in response to such concerns is the use of standards

Box 3.2. Turning degraded pastures into productive land in Brazil: the Syngenta / The Nature Conservancy / Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation case

Several regions of Brazil have experienced droughts in recent years, which have affected water, food and energy security. They have also influenced crop yield productivity, for instance, by reducing soybean and corn output. The Brazilian Panel on Climate Change projects that climate change will have an even greater impact on the country's agriculture in the future. Rainfall patterns could change drastically, increasing by up to 30% in the south and south-east of the country, while decreasing by as much as 40% in the north and north-east. However, the south is also expected to experience more droughts, and irrigation will become necessary to maintain productive yields. Temperature increase is also expected to lead to an increase in fungal diseases and pests.

Launched in 2020, the Reverte programme aims to regenerate 1 million ha of degraded pastureland into productive agricultural land by 2025 in the Cerrado biome in the highlands of central Brazil. The Cerrado biome covers around 200 million ha or approximately 25% of the Brazilian territory, representing the second-largest biome in South America after the Amazon. Comprising forests, savannahs and grasslands, the biome is rich in water resources and is an important natural carbon sink, thus making its conservation critical.

The programme allows farmers and cattle growers to sustainably expand agriculture into lands that are already open without tree cover, but uncultivated due to soil degradation. To ensure agricultural expansion into recovered pastures generates environmental benefits, The Nature Conservancy and Syngenta – supported by the Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation – are taking a holistic approach, working on four fronts:

- Agronomic systems: The programme seeks to encourage the adoption of best agricultural and agronomic practices to recover degraded land in an environmental and science-based way. An important element is thus training farmers on production protocols (e.g. crop rotation, inputs, technology, management practices and crop-livestock-forest integration systems, including soybean, corn and associated crops) to restore degraded pastures, allowing farmers to produce food, fibre and energy sustainably.
- Financial solutions: The lack of financial means is the most significant barrier for farmers to convert degraded land. Substantial investments are needed in the first year (for fertilizers, machinery, insurance and digital agriculture tools), yet it takes about 3–8 years to recoup the investment. Therefore, it is essential to identify financial partners that can provide long-term competitive credits to support farmers in adopting the programme, with conditions suited to their economic realities.
- Public and private sector engagement: All partners in the value chain need to agree on shared objectives and actions to support the conversion of degraded pastures into productive areas that foster economic, social and environmental development.
- Business models: The programme aims to demonstrate the economic viability in terms of increasing land value and improving land productivity – of reclaiming land rather than opening new areas for cultivation. These positive and lasting results should help shift towards innovative agriculture business models that favour regenerative and sustainable agricultural practices, improve livelihoods and mitigate environmental impacts.

and certification systems that include food security, and land and water rights, in addition to the use of indicators related to sustainable use of land and biomass, with an emphasis on participatory approaches. Other governance responses include linking land-based mitigation (e.g. forestry) to secure tenure and support for local livelihoods.

Barriers to land-based mitigation include development pathways that can quickly close windows of opportunity. Other barriers can arise when adaptation in the short term to a climate stress (e.g. increased dependence on groundwater during droughts) ultimately proves unsustainable in the longer term, and becomes a maladaptation, despite the near-term benefits derived for some individuals. Each of these transitions relies on advances made in addressing other complementary transition areas such as biodiversity, water, food and energy.

In many countries and most (agricultural) productive systems, the managers of systems responding to drought are numerous, widely variable in capacity and resources, and somewhat disconnected from the risk management systems. Their interaction with policy / systems / frameworks will be through their bankers or other forms of agribusiness, public or private advisers, NGOs and so on. Systems and behaviour change will be complex and unpredictable – and that needs to be part of the systems analysis.

Removing barriers

Combinations of policies that target multiple barriers and enabling factors simultaneously have long been shown to be effective (Campbell, 1969; Nissinen et al., 2015). At least five factors appear necessary, if not sufficient, for success:

- Developing a shared vision of risks, drivers and opportunities.
- Broadening actor networks and collaborative partnerships and actions at different scales.
 Encouraging distributed decision-making and participation in governance at all scales including policy and social entrepreneurs and shadow

networks of change agents to navigate transformation and take advantage of windows of opportunity.

- Fostering behaviour change and demand-side management, which can significantly reduce pressures on resources and adaptive buffers, substantially limiting the reliance on externally driven interventions.
- Acknowledging that some actors may legitimately have preferences, concerns or outlooks that value dimensions other than least cost or technical efficiency.
- Expanded collaborative use of cultural, economic and environmental incentives for improving partnerships, water-use efficiency and demand management, and for the development of climate services to inform water-related management as new threats arise.

Sufficiency would include a stronger focus on enabling governance and decision-making across all five factors at different levels in a given context.

Crafting, implementing and evolving enabling capabilities for innovation for systemic risk governance involve formal, strategic and systematic coordination across actors (public and private sectors and civil society) and levels of governance beyond ad hoc projects. To do this, the benefits of participation - including co-benefits for other public goods, and the costs of action and inaction must be assessed and articulate, accompanied by a compelling narrative/vision for a better future which put people first. Hall et al. (2003) note economic assessments need to be complemented by an analytical framework that recognizes systems of reflexive, learning interactions and their location in, and relationship with, their institutional context.

3.3.4

Developing a shared vision: visualizing systemic risks

This section describes advances in conceptualizing, understanding and identifying paths and entry points for navigating a complex, changing system with multiple drivers and scales. Much research has shown that such navigation requires forms of visualization and joint articulation (e.g. Essential Two of the Ten Essentials of the UNDRR Making Cities Resilient campaign). A broad competency commonly used in action-oriented domains is that of visioning: using scenarios, foresight exercises and back-casting to identify potential routes from the present to a desired future, and to inspire and motivate action (EEA, 2018).

Emergent risks are typically obvious in retrospect – a result of a series of events that cross human-imposed boundaries, whether institutional, geographical, disciplinary, conceptual or administrative (UNDRR, 2019). There are emerging examples



Note: AMOC: Atlantic meridional overturning circulation.

Source: Gaupp (2020). This figure was published in One Earth, vol. 2, no. 6, Gaupp, F., Extreme events in a globalized food system, pp. 518–521, Copyright Elsevier (2020)

of visualizing complex drivers, characterizing historical experience in current context, and improving the use of scenarios and gaming strategies for drought and wider climate change contexts.

The process of visualizing dependencies and key nodes requires representing critical trends such as population growth, migration and projected economic development, and highlighting their impacts under varying trajectories (WWF, 2019). For example, Figure 3.1 illustrates the complex nature of drivers and conditioning factors surrounding global food security. Factors highlighted include globally networked risks, shared surface water and groundwater resources, external land ownership, rural depopulation and loss of off-farm food production facilities. Characterizing potential future influence of environmental, economic and social drought-sensitive drivers – such as land use and sustainability – is critical for guiding strategic decisions that can help nations adapt to change, anticipate opportunities and cope with surprises. The main benefits of a scenario approach are exploration of the nature of trade-offs that can arise and including them in system management. This provides a useful lens through which to view tracking / monitoring of actual trajectories.

In a globally interconnected world, shocks in one or several parts of the system can lead to ripple effects around the world through trade networks (IPCC, 2012; WEF, 2015; Sovacool, 2016; UNDRR, 2019; WEF, 2020). As illustrated in Chapter 1,

Figure 3.2. Emerging risks experienced in the Caribbean as result of interactions of extreme events, Covid-19, and social, economic and political transformations

Current context

- 90% of Caribbean economies and cities are costal areas
- · Poor (coastal) infrastructure
- Low agricultural production and high imports (G)
- Dependence on foreign tourism and remittances
- · Vulnerability to weather-climate extremes
- · High debt to GDP ratio

Potential multiple systemic failures

- · Pandemics
- Unavailability of services and good for basic needs
- Inaccessibility of disaster sheltering (social distancing measures)
- Overwhelmed disaster response capabilities
- Reduction of financial capabilities to meet basic needs
- · Continuous disruption of basic services

Multiple stressors

- Inter-regional displacement
- · Strong dependence on external markets
- Reduced remittance flows
- Potable water access
- Food insecurity
- · Low demand on tourism services
- Sargassum development
- Impact, relief & recovery cycle/limited proactive investments
- · Low level of insurance
- · Adequacy of medical facilities
- · High mental stress levels

Tipping points/transitions

- Unusually active hurricane season
 (potential for multiple hurricane impacts)
- Supply chain disruption
- Potable water supply for tourism services during the dry season
- Post disaster migration
- Inter-regional displacement
- Further dependence on remittance flows

Source: Adapted from ECLAC/UNDRR (2021)

interrelated hazards such as droughts and heatwaves, or droughts and subsequent wildfires, so-called "compound events", might have disproportionally severe impacts on food production or health (Zscheischler et al., 2018; Gaupp, 2020).

A key recent lesson learned is that unanticipated global factors, in some cases unrelated to the hazard being addressed, can intervene to undermine regional, national and local resources and capacity for disaster risk planning and management. The Covid-19 pandemic is a good example of this, demonstrating the interdependence, complexity and inequality created by the global systems linked in driving the catastrophe (Alcantara-Ayala et al., 2021).

The Caribbean region is one among many that demonstrates how the Covid-19 pandemic has exposed the vulnerability of health, economic, social and financial systems in the region. The economies of the Caribbean islands share a common set of environmental, economic and social vulnerabilities – explained notably by their small size and geographic location – and were already at risk from numerous hazards, notably hurricanes and droughts (see Box 3.3). Coupled with historical and inherent drivers of risk – such as fragile informal networks, inequality, poverty and lack of political representation –the most vulnerable have been disproportionately affected (ECLAC/UNDRR, 2021). Location, age, gender, income group, disability, and access to or benefit from social protection schemes and safety nets greatly affect the choices people have to anticipate, prevent and mitigate risks.

Estimated and observed losses from Covid-19 represent a high proportion of annual capital formation and contribute to sluggish longer-term growth (ECLAC/UNDRR, 2021). Figure 3.2 shows that the drivers of impacts from Covid-19 and cascading effects – including on the capacity to respond to disasters related to the Caribbean – stem from outside the region and through external transmission channels. These include the decline in the economic activity of the region's main trading partners and cascading effects such as the lowering of demands for tourism services due to the synchronized downturn of economies around the world, the decline in remittances, and the interruption of global value and supply chains.

Box 3.3. Compounding hazards and risks in the Caribbean

The 2013–2016 Caribbean multi-year drought was the most-severe and most-extensive period of dry conditions in the Caribbean/central America region since at least before 1950. Food and water shortages were widespread throughout the region. The multi-year drought appears to be related to precipitation deficits driven by El Niño events and also to temperature-driven increases in potential evapotranspiration. Global warming of 2.0°C above pre-industrial levels is estimated to result in further significant changes in regional climate, which moves the region closer to climates it has not experienced to date (IPCC, 2018). The 2013–2016 drought was then followed by one of the most devasting hurricane seasons on record, with 22 Caribbean States affected, 13 by two storms and 5 by three storms, resulting in significant internal displacement. In addition, the region has had to contend with significant increases in migration into the Caribbean islands from Venezuela as result of political upheaval and a major drought that have affected food and financial security.

3.3.5

The role and use of scenarios

While not suggesting a single "ideal" approach for achieving maximum shared gains, scenarios may help to demonstrate the considerations that can inform decisions based on global, regional, national and local priorities. Their main purpose is to generate perspectives regarding future developments through consideration of relevant critical driving forces (Hickman et al., 2012). This is particularly challenging in capacity-constrained, data-sparse and disaster-prone settings, but can allow for identifying and addressing governance deficits by pointing to pathways of investment in institutions, information and infrastructure. Scenarios of plausible futures can be a valuable part of managing complex systems, depending on how the scenarios are constructed and how they are used.

Useful scenarios for this purpose have the following characteristics. They:

- Start from an adequate model of the current and historical situation
- Are constructed to envelope the range of potential drivers of system change
- Describe the essential features of a comprehensive range of plausible futures
- Allow exploration of the drivers of change, the nature of trade-offs and the options for intervention

Importantly, such scenarios are not and should not be interpreted as predictions of the future. Done well, they allow exploration of a set of plausible futures.



Figure 3.3. Overview of the Australian National Outlook Analytical Framework, and project flow

The National Outlook is the most integrated and evidence-based national scenario assessment of these issues yet attempted. The analysis uses nine linked models to explore global and national trends and uncertainties.

Note: ESM: energy sector model; GALLM: global and local learning model; GDM: generalized dissimilarity model; GIAM: global integrated assessment model; GIAM.GTEM: global trade and environment model; LUTO: land-use trade-offs; MEFISTO: material and energy flows integrated with stocks; NIAM.FLOW: national integrated assessment model – surface flows; NIAM.MMRF: national integrated assessment model – Monash multi-regional forecasting model.

Source: CSIRO (2015); reproduced with permission
As an example, in 2015, the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation (CSIRO) in Australia released the Australian National Outlook (CSIRO, 2015; Figure 3.3). The outlook presented a set of plausible scenarios based on a loosely coupled model of the Australian economy and environment in a global setting and a range of policy and society options for improving outcomes for Australia over the next few decades. At that initial stage, the outlook essentially presented scenarios and identified the trade-offs associated with a range of possible trajectories (Hatfield-Dodds et al., 2015; Grundy et al., 2016).

The next stage was published in the second Australian National Outlook (CSIRO, 2019). Here, the scenarios, with some relatively minor improvements in modelling, were used by a group of Australian decision makers to agree on likely and preferred outcomes for the Australian economy, society and environment, and to identify choices to move along preferred trajectories. The group comprised leading Australian and multinational financial, manufacturing and agricultural industries, government representatives, community groups and NGOs. It was led by the National Australia Bank and CSIRO. The characteristics of a desirable and plausible future were agreed, the nature of the choices (or levers) available to decision makers in Australia defined, and a series of necessary "shifts" in industries, cities, energy, land and Australian culture described. Scenarios informed what shifts were needed and the degree of change required. A set of immediate actions was then agreed among the group members.

The nature of the system addressed by the Australian outlooks is complex, and none of the decisionmaking group expected the future to closely reflect the scenario trajectories. The value has been in providing a lens to identify critical entry points for guiding the decisions needed, to understand and test assumptions, and to provide the impetus to follow the impact and iteratively adjust the settings.

3.3.6

Storytelling, serious gaming and scenathons

Due to a lack of historical data and to the potential for surprises, traditional risk assessment methods cannot account for unprecedented events such as projected extreme temperatures under certain climate scenarios. Gaming has been used for decades in military planning and in intelligence services to explore decision-making possibilities in environments with incomplete or imperfect information (Herman et al., 2009). More recently, it has been tested in the drought risk planning arena (Hill et al., 2014).

A value unique to all such games has been the occurrence of previously unknown issues, insights or decisions that arise during a game. Games have qualities that separate them qualitatively from straightforward analysis and permit them to generate insights that could not be acquired through analysis, reflection and discussion alone (Schelling, 1987).

Recent applications of approaches such as storytelling techniques (Hazeleger et al., 2015), "serious games" (Solinska-Nowak et al., 2018) and extended "scenathons" (Thomson, 2018) can help to explore plausible future scenarios.

Storytelling

Storytelling in topics related to climate change refers to the visualization of synthetic climate simulations and their plausible impacts on nature, technology and the society (Lloyd and Shepherd, 2020). Instead of assigning probabilities, storytelling explores plausible future scenarios based on expert knowledge. Understanding the development and evolution of single significant or landmark past drought events, and the conditioning factors that drive extreme impacts, is also needed to avoid relying solely on generalized models that can produce a false sense of security in uncertain and, in some cases, unpredictable situations. Storytelling also offers the opportunity to map and articulate local views and possibilities for helping with cultural continuity and practices associated with landscapes and key species (Hiza-Redsteer et al., 2013; Pulwarty and Verdin, 2013).

Input to these approaches requires fine-grained reliable descriptions, in space and time, of the social-ecological-technological moving parts of a system, together with fine-grained descriptions, also in space and time, of extreme weather events. The "storyline" approach to extreme event attribution and the probabilistic "risk-based" approach have uses in such descriptions. However, co-developed stories or narratives are more readily aligned with the forensic approach to evidence that is prevalent in the ecological literature, cultivating heuristics (expert-based rules of thumb) and detailed methods for analysing causes, mechanisms and potential surprises (Allen et al., 2010; Lloyd and Shepherd, 2020; Pulwarty et al., forthcoming).

Serious gaming

Serious gaming include a wide range of methods, practices and theories such as simulations, virtual reality, experimental learning, case studies or modelling. The adjective "serious" is used to distinquish such games from entertainment vehicles. By combining game elements with systems analysis and simulation techniques, serious games are a useful tool in drought risk management as they provide players with rich social experiences of hypothetical events and make them collectively solve problems (Hill et al., 2014). They help policymakers, local action groups or other stakeholders in drought-related topics to raise awareness, understand hazards, assume different perspectives and explore preventative actions. Serious gaming brings together science-based assessments, local and traditional knowledge, practice and implementation.

Scenathons

A promising advance in these approaches is the use of "scenathons". Scenathons are "scenario marathons" and social learning experiments that help facilitate negotiations among differentially empowered and unequally resourced stakeholder groups. They are designed to simulate negotiations among different parties using model-informed plausible projections of future climate or land-use systems. In one illustration, the Food, Agriculture, Biodiversity, Land-Use, and Energy (FABLE) Consortium was convened as part of the Food and Land-Use Coalition, which aims to understand how countries can transition towards sustainable land-use and food systems. The FABLE consortium applied the scenathon process to allow country teams to align national pathways iteratively and collaboratively with global FABLE targets and to balance trade flows (FABLE, 2019).

Given the above discussion on the challenges to traditional approaches of risk management and of governance, the following section defines and advances the concept of adaptive governance in the context of drought-related systemic risks.

Adaptive drought risk management and governance

Decision-making that takes account of multiple values, uncertainty and sequencing of implementation is maturing. Further innovation and experience are needed to ensure these approaches are inclusive and applicable to a wide range of contexts. This is particularly challenging in capacityconstrained, data-sparse and disaster-prone settings. Institutional reforms are needed to create rules and incentives for fair and efficient allocation across multiple sectors and scales. The balance and sequence of reforms in this iterative process will vary by context. Above all, more inclusive, transparent and flexible governance architectures are needed to spur collective action and to reconcile knowledge, expectation and values, commensurate with the challenge of sustainably managing resources, ecosystems and human well-being.

Given increasing rates of change and the potential for surprises, including the rapid transition from severe sustained drought to desertification, it has become necessary to orient drought-resilient pathways towards enabling faster transitions to sustainability (Kern and Rogge, 2016; Ehnert et al., 2018).

To promote coherence of actions, transitions require coordinated, mutually reinforcing policy action across supra-regional, national, regional and local governance levels, underpinned by enhanced multilevel dialogue and improved flow of information and resources in both directions.

Addressing globally networked risks that can drive issues of equity and environmental degradation requires multilateralism and cooperation. Evolved international cooperation and empowered global institutions are key to effectively dealing with systemic risks. On national and subnational scales, governance should enable coordinated and evidence-based drought response, such as through the national drought policy 10-step programme described in Chapter 1. However as discussed in this report, focusing on the national level alone is inadequate for addressing multidimensional, drought-related systemic risks.

3.4.1

Characterizing adaptive risk management and governance

KEY MESSAGE

 An adaptive approach to risk management and governance that bridges structural and systemic changes and enables capacity, prototyping, learning and action at multiple scales is needed.

Structural and systemic approaches

A key challenge to developing approaches capable of managing the systemic nature of risk is to distinguish between the differing needs for characterizing and governing structural versus systemic risks and their associated assumptions. Scoones et al. (2020) frame structural approaches to reinforce the prevalent economic and political processes and associated interests that serve to perpetuate current conditions. The lack of emphasis on environmental triggers and processes, individual agency and possibilities for incremental change that can address critical nodes in the system may downplay the roles of complexity and serendipity.

Systemic approaches focus on intentional change targeted at the interdependencies of specific institutions, technologies and constellations of actors, to steer complex systems towards normative goals. Approaching risk management from a systemic perspective exposes interdependencies, connectivity across scale and geography, and the potential for non-linear shifts in system dynamics across scales.

These approaches emphasize the role of ecological dynamics in social change and vice versa, and seek fundamental changes in the way production and consumption is governed, organized and practised by societies. Large-scale systemic approaches by themselves have been criticized for an overly managerial approach, and a de-emphasis on individual agency and the possibilities for anticipating windows for incremental change and emergent opportunities. Adaptive risk management and governance of systemic risks require an awareness and understanding of the dynamic and co-evolving nature of drought and society such that when aligned, they help to transition to and increase resilience of structural and systemic factors.

Governance

KEY MESSAGE

 Adaptive governance aims to deal with uncertainties and surprises inherent in transforming complex social, technological and ecological systems. It relies on iterative learning, planning, policymaking implementation and evaluation over time (U.S. Global Change Research Program, 2018; EEA, 2019).

Governance has many connotations. In its broadest and most common form, it denotes the structures and processes for collective decision-making (Nye and Donahue, 2000). It is also described as a different way of governing in which the State is not the only actor (Stoker, 1998). However, as Giddens (1999) noted, strengthening the role of mediation, levelling the playing field and guiding equitable resolutions to conflict remains in the purview of the political – including governmental or parliamentary – processes. Improving governance can

Figure 3.4. Simplified illustration of the differences between designing for efficiency as opposed to resilience at multiple scales of interaction





Source: Adapted from ECLAC/UNDRR (2021)

lead to new and better forms of regulation that go beyond traditional hierarchical state activity, implying "some form of self-regulation by societal actors, private-public cooperation in solving societal problems and engendering new forms of multilevel policy" (Biermann et al., 2009).

While profound changes in capacities and structures are increasingly recommended and required, these are not always readily achieved in practice. The attendant complexities of adaptation are usually underestimated.

Such changes involve paying attention to capacities, learning, evidence-based policymaking, innovation, leadership and behavioural change.

Risk governance

Risk governance has been defined as "the totality of actors, rules, conventions, processes and mechanisms concerned with how relevant risk information is collected, analysed and communicated, and management decisions are taken" (IRGC, 2018). It is usually associated with how to enable societies to benefit from change - so-called "upside risk" or opportunity – while minimizing downside risk or losses (UNDRR, 2019). In contrast, systemic risk is usually seen as downside risk. The realization of systemic risk leads to a breakdown, or at least a major dysfunction, of global systems (e.g. the food system). Assessing, communicating and managing - in short, governing - systemic risk is compounded by the potential for losses to cascade across interconnected socioeconomic systems, to cross political borders, to irreversibly breach system boundaries and to impose intolerable burdens on entire countries. Risk governance is also confounded by almost intractable difficulties in identifying causal agents and assigning liability.

Sustainability in the context of systemic risks involves better understanding of the factors that can leverage fundamental changes in institutions, governance, values and behaviour. This is essential to bringing about positive and equitable transitions while allowing for seemingly redundant or overlapping structures. In this characterization, the redundancy provided by having multiple nodes of support (vertically and horizontally) offers backup, partial rather than complete failure when overwhelmed, and key nodes for interventions to maintain system integrity or to meet new and emergent values.

The Global Risk Assessment Framework (GRAF), initiated by UNDRR, offers a platform for exchange between users of risk knowledge and insight, between producers of risk knowledge and insight, and between users and producers. It was established to support governments, the private sector and financial institutions to achieve the outcomes, goals and targets of the 2030 Agenda, Paris Agreement and the Sendai Framework. GRAF aims to improve the understanding and management of current and future risks. This includes further understanding the need for cross-layering and latticing at all spatial and temporal scales (Figure 3.4).

Transitions require policy action at all levels of governance. Ensuring they reinforce each other requires vertical coordination and mapping of responsibilities, inconsistencies and barriers. Promoting top-down and bottom-up processes of governance requires new mechanisms to promote dialogue among different levels and increased flows of information and resources.

3.4.2

Enabling capabilities for developing and sustaining multi-scalar drought-related resilience and governance

A range of approaches to sustainability transitions have been proposed (Markard et al., 2012; Kern and Rogge, 2018; EEA, 2019; GCA, 2019). Although some have been tried, several key questions remain. As transitions are major shifts with landscape implications critical in the case of drought, they are opposed by existing dominant interests, institutions and organizations that seemingly benefit in the short run from the status quo.

Path dependence at multiple levels is affected by sunk infrastructure costs and entrenched practices such as through professional societies and their conventions, traditions of land tenure, paradigms of systems categorization and economic growth. Hence, path dependence stifles adaptive capacity and innovation. Thus, the strategic challenge for transition governance is to orient emerging innovations towards systemic change while simultaneously opening up (or breaking down) unsustainable regimes and institutions. When capacity is increased in diverse communities, increased learning capability can lower the need to precisely predict thresholds and improve understanding of system dynamics such that tipping points might be better prepared for (even if not predicted).

A new view of data

Reliable and accessible data is needed to inform decision-making and provide windows for investments and actions. Additionally, credible and accessible knowledge and decision-making tools such as DEWSs need to be people centred. Often considered only as technical and scientific instruments, these tools can empower vulnerable sectors and social groups to mitigate loss and damage through the introduction of their own local knowledge and experience (IPCC, 2007, 2019; UNDRR, 2019).

Enabling transformative partnerships

Innovation requires transformative coalitions and partnerships. Research and the private sector are crucial, but "open innovation" policies will, of necessity, target users, civil society, communities and other actors. More support for social and grassroots innovation can enable deeper and more transformative transition pathways.

The broad dimensions of effective governance frameworks include:

- Accountable multilevel governance that includes non-State actors, such as industry, civil society and scientific institutions
- Coordinated sectoral and cross-sectoral policies that enable collaborative multi-stakeholder partnerships
- Strengthened global-to-local financial architecture that enables greater access to finance and technology
- · Climate-related trade barriers
- Improved climate education and greater public awareness
- Accelerated behaviour change, including towards recycling and reducing the water footprint
- Strengthened drought monitoring and evaluation systems
- Reciprocal international agreements sensitive to equity and SDGs

The importance of broadening community participation is well established (Bryan et al., 2014, 2016; Graham et al., 2015; Wangui and Smucker, 2017). Different modes of cross-stakeholder interaction and actor networks strengthen institutional capacity for governing systemic risks. These include the role played by large multinational corporations, small enterprises, civil society and non-State actors. Horizontal collaboration (e.g. transnational city networks) and vertical collaboration within nations can play an enabling role (Ingold and Fischer, 2014; Hsu et al., 2017; Ringel, 2017; EEA, 2019).

Partnerships and governance

Effective governance of complex threats does not occur without effective partnerships – across communities, watersheds and landscapes in the case of drought. Scoones et al. (2020) note that an enabling approach by itself (i.e. without a broader governance framework) may neglect significant structural or political obstacles to social transformation and burden those facing greatest vulnerability with the tasks of transformation. Where they have occurred, enabling initiatives need to be collaboratively mapped and analysed thoroughly in relation to the barriers to and opportunities for how collaborative networks and partnerships have been developed or dissolved.

Active scanning for opportunities and entry points to effective governance is needed for leveraging justice and respect for human rights, and inclusion of indigenous peoples and local communities in problem framing and decision-making vital to all the transitions, particularly those taking place in diverse landscapes.

Numerous and diverse countries, subunits of governments and non-governmental actors, including civil society and private firms, all play independent or quasi-independent roles in governance arrangements (Keohane and Nye, 2000). These agents may create or exacerbate concerns of equity, transparency and power, which affect the opportunities, barriers and choices (e.g. land use, water demand, and energy sources and use) in transition policy. Integrative approaches to land use and climate interactions take different forms and operate with different institutions and governance mechanisms.

Applying levers for transformative change requires a process of systematic coordination at global to national, and national to local scales and back up the chain. Levers can be pursued and operationalized vertically at local, subnational, national, regional and global levels of government, and horizontally across sectors through collaboration across governments and intergovernmental organizations, the private sector, civil society organizations and citizens. Different types of integration with special relevance for the land-climate interface can be characterized as follows:

- Cross-level integration: Local-, national- and international-level efforts must be coordinated with national and regional policies and be capable of drawing direction and financing from global regimes, thus requiring multilevel governance (see Table 3.1).
- Cross-sectoral integration: Rather than approach each application or sector (e.g. energy, agriculture or forestry) separately, there is a conscious effort at co-management and coordination in policies and institutions that rely on the products, services and sustainability of supply chains, such as at the energy-waterfood nexus (Biggs et al., 2015).
- End-use/market integration: Often involves exploiting economies of scale across products, supply chains and infrastructure (Nuhoff-Isakhanyan et al., 2016; Ashkenazy et al., 2018). Examples include: integrated territorial planning addressing specific land-use decisions or local landscape participatory planning with farmer associations, microenterprises and local institutions identifying hotspot areas, identifying land-use pressures and scaling out sustainable land management response options (Liniger et al., 2019).

Major challenges to crafting and implementing effective adaptive governance include identifying and addressing governance gaps, and how governance emerges to deepen the understanding of public-private-civil society partnerships, standards and accountability for the flow of authoritative information, resources and financing (Koliba et al., 2011). Effective adaptative governance requires collaborative coordination of global efforts addressing systemic drought risk drivers and impacts. Such an approach requires a mechanism capable of working across the scales and features in Table 3.1, to layer the complementary benefits of addressing drought and underwrite common goals across currently unaligned components of the targets of the Sendai Framework, the Paris Agreement, the Aichi Biodiversity targets and indeed across all SDGs.

The central goals of the mechanism would be to build literacy about systemic risks, and strengthen dialogue, coherence and synergies among relevant partners and stakeholders engaged in managing globally networked and transboundary risks to reduce their influences as drivers of local imbalances (Wilder et al., 2020). The dimensions of such a global mechanism are outlined further in section 3.4.4.

Leadership, partnerships and trust

Achieving ambitious targets requires leadership, enhanced multilevel governance, vision, widespread participation in transformative change and, most critically, processes for sustaining partnerships.

Different ways of developing knowledge based on co-production, transdisciplinarity, science-policy

| Scale | Opportunities for sustainability transitions |
|----------------|--|
| Global level | Enabling a coordinated response to global collective problems, for instance those arising from distributed impacts on the environmental commons (e.g. multiple and synchronous breadbasket failures) or globalization (of trade, financial flows, food systems, etc.) Addressing equity and redistribution issues (e.g. food production and food systems, drought and food relief, capacity-building) Making impact and efficiency gains by aligning and converging global and regional efforts to |
| | reduce systemic drivers of drought risk and corollary cascading impacts |
| Regional level | Setting visions and targets for leveraging regional strengths and advantages to reinforce national capabilities Developing binding regulations and directives directly applicable to surface water and groundwater |
| | In transboundary States Coordinating reporting responsibilities in Member States to map and follow progress with transitions |
| | Investing in knowledge, infrastructure, skills, innovation deployment, etc., to guide transitions Leveraging data, information and knowledge networks |
| National level | Coordinating funding for sustainability activities – especially ecosystem, groundwater and forested land protection – as buffers for major events |
| | Developing a large toolbox of potential knowledge and communication instruments such as drought early warning across timescales to foster transitions available |
| | Coordinating among sectors and across local-national disconnects through influence over local decision-making, for example, getting subnational regions on board (depending on national governance structures) and minimizing those slow to engage or opting out |
| | • Setting regulatory and market rules for many transition-relevant sectors (e.g. water and agriculture), in line with regional or transnational agreements |
| | Shaping energy transitions and ensuring equity through targeted national infrastructure investments |
| Local level | Providing space for experimentation and close collaboration with a broader network of local stakeholders, private sector and citizens |
| | Building an appetite for novel inclusive partnerships allowing contextual information to inform problem framing and learning approaches to solution exploration |
| | Building local political momentum and acceptance of needed actions |
| | Providing governance of key local systems and issues |
| | Implementing at local levels, for example, spatial planning (affecting habitats, industrial symbiosis, travel), buildings, public spaces, transport and waste |

Table 3.1. Promoting vertical coordination of actions across global, regional, national, and local governance levels

Source: Adapted from EEA (2019)

interfaces, democratization of expertise and knowledge brokering can facilitate participatory and collaborative processes that integrate actionable insights and contribute to effective and legitimate solutions over time. The imperative for adaptive learning in cultivating such novel processes cannot be overstated, not least so as to be able to identify and mitigate the possibility of outcomes being co-opted or amplifying the problems they were intended to solve.

The 2030 Agenda has made explicit the need for engaging and working with all relevant societal sectors in bottom-up and top-down approaches and experience. The United Nations has adopted the following definition of sustainability partnerships:

Multi-stakeholder initiatives voluntarily undertaken by Governments, intergovernmental organizations, major groups and other stakeholders, which efforts are contributing to the implementation of inter-governmentally, agreed development goals and commitments.

(Stibbe et al., 2018)

A multi-stakeholder partnership is defined as:

An ongoing collaborative relationship among organisations from different stakeholder types aligning their interests around a common vision, combining their complementary resources and competencies and sharing risk, to maximise value creation towards the Sustainable Development Goals and deliver benefit to each of the partners.

(Stibbe et al., 2020)

Partnerships require different sectors and actors working together vertically and horizontally in an integrated manner by pooling financial resources, knowledge and expertise (Table 3.2). Cross-sectoral and innovative multi-stakeholder partnerships represent a critical means of implementation for achieving drought risk management and adaptive governance. The key issues of representation and power asymmetries are often overlooked or poorly addressed, including who participates and with what values, which perspectives and interests do these participants represent, and how can all voices be heard and included in a procedurally legitimate way. Thus, the breadth of the actor network extends beyond those affected to the context in which they operate, including financial institutions and issue influencers.

The sustainability of partnerships is fundamentally determined by trust and shaped by the continuation of relationships being trusted among people. Rather than solely relying on external motivators for individual compliance (e.g. retribution and incentives), it is preferable to focus on internal motivators, including trust in others (Ostrom, 1990; Hamm et al., 2013; Stern and Coleman, 2015; Song et al., 2019). Stern and Coleman (2015) characterize four types of trust in collaborative frameworks:

- Rational trust, based on calculation of expected benefits and risks
- Procedural trust, in fairness and integrity of the procedures involved
- Affinitive trust, shaped by emotions, charisma, shared identities or feelings, but not always longer-term interactions
- Dispositional trust, signalling one's predisposition to trust another entity

These four types highlight the need for a multidimensional approach when trying to understand and form trust in collaborative arrangements. Song et al. (2019) conclude that rational trust, which pertains to calculated risks and expectations utility, strongly predicted goal consensus. Procedural trust based on process-based notions – such as integrity, fairness and perception of equity, justice and dignity – can partially compensate for a lack of informal interactions. Song et al. (2019) also found affinitive trust – informal and characteristic-based aspects of longer-term relationships, such as familiarity, respect and shared experiences – was least visible in analyses, but was most significant for influencing decision-making in binational resource management. This result follows from much earlier work on the role of trust and respect in preserving human dignity as keys for effective public policy (Lasswell, 1971; Ascher, 2017). Acknowledging the diversity of trust processes, and the central role of affinitive trust as defined by Stern and Coleman (2015) and Coleman and Stern (2018), is critical to successfully seeking inclusive participation and employing collaborative processes to pursue common goals.

| Processes | Enabling capabilities |
|---|---|
| Collaborative vision building around local and globally driven drought-related risks, and developed through scenarios of potential pathways | Provide a common vision that attracts a diversity of supporters upon which all can agree |
| Facilitating knowledge building and utilization through collaborative problem framing, risk assessments and capabilities development | Build / enhance knowledge of the people and resources, including ideas, viewpoints and solutions |
| Developing and sustaining networks and collaborative learning across the drought- related actor networks and their influencers | Bridge different and similar actors and stakeholders across and within organizational hierarchies and types; this could be divided into three subcategories: |
| | Bonding (link with similar others) |
| | Bridging (bring together similar and/or different groups to create momentum, gain support and react to various challenges) |
| | Linking (communicate and engage with key individuals in different sectors, and link across scales) |
| Pursuing flexibility, openness and humility as a matter of respectful discourse | Numerous studies and implementation experience conclude that flexibility, transparency and respect should be built into the collaborative process |
| | Flexibility is important in the process to accommodate changing timetables, issues, data needs, interests and knowledge; building respect and openness involves accepting the diverse values, interests and knowledge – including local knowledge – of the parties involved |
| Facilitating / developing (social) innovations through an architecture of participation arising from multiple origins and venues – public, private and civil society institutions | Foster knowledge building and innovations by bringing together different kinds of thinking, processes, products and options, and new ways to conduct business |
| Systematically aligning financing targeted at key nodes can limit, slow or prevent system collapse, and allow opportunities presented by system change to be explored | Ensure sufficient (public and private) resources are available, costs are recovered from the users by public and private financial instruments (charges, prices, insurance, etc.) and decision- making and financing are under the same control |

Table 3.2. Processes for sustaining horizontal partnerships and enabling capabilities

Sources: Adapted from Westley et al. (2013), Pulwarty and Maia (2015) and others including GAO (2008); Varady et al. (2013); IPCC (2012); Broto and Bulkeley (2013); Brouwer et al. (2016); Pattberg and Widerberg (2016); Garrick et al. (2018); NASEM (2021)

Ecological adaptive management and DRR collaborative learning networks all require partnerships that are multidimensional, contextual and problem oriented. To adopt a contextual orientation to systematically developing and sustaining partnerships is to identify ways that decisions affect and are affected by elements of social processes – participants, perspectives, situations, values, strategies, outcomes and effects (Lasswell, 1971).

In rapidly changing areas with increasing drought severity and persistence, three key areas that sustain ongoing partnerships between events have emerged (Folke et al., 2005; Brunner, 2010; Westley et al., 2013):

- Preparing and mobilizing for change: Preparing the collaborative network to take advantage of opportunities for change, for example, raising awareness of new challenges.
- Recognizing or creating and engaging windows of opportunity: Understanding the importance of timing when it pertains to connecting with and mobilizing others. Identifying and supporting champions, leaders, and social and policy entrepreneurs at any level who are willing to take risks and convince others to take risks.
- Identifying and communicating opportunities for "small wins": The ability and capacity to identify (often small) projects on which actors involved can agree take a "whole system" perspective and find mutually beneficial leverage points.

Targeting small wins at critical nodes may prevent cascading system collapse or at least allow for "graceful failure" (i.e. with as little negative impact as possible) and serve to build trust in addressing more complicated threats.

Collaborative relationships among the public sector, the private sector and civil society are more productive and sustainable if they provide incentives and value to all stakeholders, rather than the reification of one group or one scale as "the" source of knowledge or innovation over others (Contu and Girei, 2014). Knowledge for drought-resilient solutions is as important as information about risks, vulnerabilities and impacts, and exists in the formal and informal sectors, at local levels and in traditional societies (GCA, 2019).

Scales, decentralization and incentives

KEY MESSAGE

 Centralized and decentralized approaches can complement each other, especially when the actor network is broadened beyond a sender-receiver model of information communication or a provider-client consultancy approach (Figure 3.5).

While practical experience suggests strong coordination is often needed to tackle multidimensional challenges, decentralization (including participatory deliberation techniques) can help to deliver effective policy in complex systems. Standards, evaluation and level playing fields can be coordinated or facilitated at higher levels of governance. However, decentralization without resources and authority strongly limits its effectiveness. Furthermore, ongoing vigilance will always be needed to balance centralized and decentralized authority and functions (UNISDR, 2011; IRGC, 2021). Decentralization by itself is not a panacea.

Mapping and clarifying accountability within the complexity that emerges in cross-sector, crossjurisdictional decision-making arrangements requires consideration of how the accountability and autonomy of one network actor might comingle, compete or complement the accountability structures of other network actors (Koliba et al., 2011). One aspect for knowledge development and practice involves analytical tools to identify and assess how and where failures of accountability and mission specificity lead to failures in performance.

Partnerships crafted using the above guidelines improve the chance that central resources meet local

needs, and that other vulnerabilities are reduced over time. In this framing, early warning systems are embedded in an ongoing technical, social and political process of risk communication as a prospective activity – vertically and horizontally. The science– decision-maker interface shapes the anticipation of, the treatment of and the outcomes produced by these converging forces. This complexity impels a move beyond the traditional expert-to-decisionmaker framing, or even two-way communication, to incorporate indigenous and traditional knowledge, different forms of risk assessment, relational information, systems analyses and systems-based approaches (e.g. portfolio management).

Scaling up such experiences calls for innovative financing arrangements that merge public planning and investment with local priority setting and

decision-making, such as, for example, in postdisaster reconstruction (UNISDR, 2011).

Integration of individuals' framing and local initiatives with top-down adaptation policy is critical (Butler et al., 2015), as failing to do so may lead actors to mistrust authority and can discourage them from taking necessary adaptive actions (Wamsler and Brink, 2014).

Alignment of such levers needs to be supported through: a shared vision across policy planning and goals; systematic coordination across actors, sectors and levels of government; participatory implementation mechanisms; and metrics for monitoring and evaluation.

Efficiency

Figure 3.5. Simplified illustration of the differences between designing for efficiency as opposed to resilience at multiple scales of interaction

Risk governance: broadening the "actor network"

Collaborative process for individual and institutional learning

Requirements for exercising decision-making arrangements **Develop a culture Ensure political** Partners do not just Decentralize of partnerships authority and share data, they also share beyond two-way step by step policy coherence risks and responsibilities communication Distribution of responsibilities within and between emergency actors and development planners

Source: Adapted from ECLAC/UNDRR (2021)

Accountability

Polycentricity – a proposed approach to governance in which multiple governing bodies interact to make and enforce rules within a specific policy arena or location – is often advocated for pursuing the common good, and to achieve collective action in the face of disturbance and change (Ostrom, 2010). However, as also recognized by Ostrom (2007, 2012), such seemingly comprehensive framings are also vulnerable to tensions among actors, power asymmetries, coordination breakdowns and negative institutional interactions. Individual agency plays a role at each stage of the process in ensuring procedures are followed and long-term goals are kept in view.

One of the challenges of sustaining engagement among diverse communities is the rate of staff turnover (rotating positions) and dwindling programme resources within agencies, and the increased use of contractual personnel, who may not have the background nor the social capital to strengthen these processes (Song et al., 2019).

Knowledge and agency for facilitating governance transitions

The traditional focus on physical systems has resulted in existing knowledge tending to focus inordinately on technical solutions (White et al., 1977; IPCC, 2012, 2019). Much less is understood in the context of implementation about non-technological forms of innovation, such as social initiatives and urban experimentation that develop networks and sustain partnerships beyond the cycle of specific events such as single droughts. In the context of structural and systemic risks, Scoones et al. (2020) outline necessary enabling capabilities as follows:

- Fostering human agency, values and capacities necessary to manage uncertainty, act collectively, and identify and enact pathways to desired futures
- Recognizing potential of human agents for collective action
- Explicitly addressing asymmetries in power and circumstances of social injustice

 Enabling community-led environmental action, hackathon spaces for grass-roots innovation and common approaches to sustainable local economies

A growing number of studies identify core mechanisms, challenges and possible governance interventions to manage system disruption and reconfiguration. Think tanks, academic researchers and centres of excellence have critical roles in delivering the above needs in advocating for and engaging the private sector, youth, entrepreneurs, investors and even the general public to become active agents of change.

The accumulation of knowledge about complex and changing systems does not automatically mean an increase in explanatory power and the ability to predict. To minimize such failures of association, continuous decision engagements, joint seminars and one-on-one exchanges that link social and decision processes may guide practical actions if they are joined in a common function or purpose (Lasswell, 1971; Pulwarty et al., 2009).

Keeping a common purpose in sight requires more than policy entrepreneurs; it requires innovators who keep the norms of the process and system complexity in frame at each step. As Hoppe (1999) observes, "norm entrepreneurs" are actors skilled at promoting and structuring the normative foundations for partnerships, building systemic risk literacy and persuading others to join in their efforts – they can play instrumental roles in partnerships in which social learning and shared values are developed. However, there is limited systematic data or comparative studies, and there is a particular need for new knowledge for:

- Anticipating and governing negative consequences of transitions, particularly in terms of sectors and regions that are deeply committed to non-sustainable industrial and land-use practices
- Addressing sources of locked-in practices, perspectives and resistance to change at the system level likely to slow down transition efforts

- Addressing the deeper and longer-term drivers of landscape changes
- Facilitating public-private-civil society partnerships, contributions and equitable solutions

Key individuals play central roles in such learning processes including providing leadership, building trust, developing visions and sense-making (Westley, 2002; Olsson et al., 2004; Huitema and Meijerink, 2009; Gutierrez et al., 2011). As used here sense-making refers to the processes involved in giving meaning to existing and new contexts, experiences and developments. Individuals act as important brokers for connecting people and networks and encourage distributed decision-making and participation in governance at all scales (Bebbington, 1997; Crona, 2006; Ernstson et al., 2010). They serve as critical nodes in learning networks (Manring, 2007; Pulwarty et al., forthcoming).

Empowering marginalized groups in technical and leadership positions is key to applying insights from global to local adaptation, including drought risk planning and management. Two critical levers for equity and effectiveness are (Nakashima et al., 2012; IPCC, 2019):

- Gender-inclusive approaches to land, water and sustainable development. Gender is a leverage point in decisions relating to desertification, land degradation, food security, and enabling land and climate response options (Kaijser and Kronsell, 2014; Moosa and Tuana, 2014; Djoudi et al., 2016; Thompson-Hall et al., 2016; Fletcher, 2018).
- Indigenous knowledge and local knowledge in land-based, risk mitigation and adaptation options. Indigenous knowledge refers to the understandings, skills and philosophies developed by societies with long histories of interaction with their natural surroundings (IPCC, 2012, 2019).

3.4.3

Financing, coherence and information services

KEY MESSAGE

 Resilience should not be considered as a drought- or climate-finance add-on after other financing decisions have been made, but as an investment in the present and in future economic, social and environmental sustainability.

The case studies in Chapter 2 demonstrate the need for improved coherence in financial strategies for managing drought-related systemic risks at the global and national levels. Recognizing the drought risk management issue as part of a complex system opens roles for financing and related services and clears new directions for the way in which they are employed.

In the move to sustainable finance systems, adaptation and drought resilience need to be built into investment and financing planning from the beginning (GCA, 2019).

In addition, the public sector needs to recognize its role as an essential provider and enabler of finance for adaptation actions for the foreseeable future. While some investments in resilience will generate bankable financial cash flows, many will not. Greater public resources will be required, whether for resilient economic systems such as agriculture and infrastructure, or for social safety nets and risk-pooling mechanisms. In parallel, governments must take many other kinds of actions, such as:

- Introducing and layering policy incentives to improve planning and land use
- Strengthening climate services
- Building public sector capacity
- Strengthening the functioning of the financial

sector to better disclose, price and manage risk, to align financing approaches to make drought-resilient investment (including in pursuing development outcomes) and to expand into new risk-pooling markets

The private sector also has a critical role to play. on its own account and also to complement the public sector. Firms in the agriculture, industry and commerce sectors can make their own operations and supply chains more resilient and profitable by investing in adaptation and mitigation. Data and finance companies can provide services to respond to market needs, including but not restricted to supporting enhanced risk assessment and informed decision-making that avoids the creation of new risk, or developing and scaling up insurance products that will provide contingent financing and create incentives for greater resilience. Members of the private sector can step up as active advocates to help shape and amplify the pressure for change. More-ambitious actions by the private sector will require a higher level of collaboration between the public and private sectors than seen today.

The development and enhancement of microfinance institutions to ensure social resilience and smooth transitions in the adaptation to climate change impacts are an important local institutional innovation (Hammill et al., 2008). Financing needs for land and water security investments remain high in many countries, and should be seen as investments rather than expenditures. Much remains to be done in strategic investment planning and pathways, including feasibility studies required for investments, blended finance for land- and waterrelated investments, and improving environmental performance of development finance.

The Addis Ababa Action Agenda encourages mobilization of financial resources from diverse sources and at relevant levels to promote environmentally sustainable development (United Nations, General Assembly, 2015c). Some capital is usefully flowing to the so-called "new economy", emphasizing level playing fields, equity and environmental sustainability, but far more is continuing to support the old economy (Schaer and Kuruppu, 2018). There is a growing amount of attention on the combination of policy instruments that address three domains of action: behavioural changes, economic optimization and long-term strategies (Grubb et al., 2015).

UNCCD has identified key priorities and policy mixes for targeting finance and aligning economic incentives for drought risk reduction in the context of increasing aridity and desertification. These include:

- Encouraging changes in behaviour of individuals, corporations, government or society with, for example, financial incentives to switch to crops that are drought tolerant
- Compensating losses of affected populations so as to avoid a spiralling poverty trap
- Providing a flow of financial capital that can either enable beneficial investments to be made or promote the smooth functioning of commodity markets, especially in economies where financial and credit markets are already constrained without the added stress of droughts

Piloting of different financial instruments, in some cases with support from development partners, can also help governments develop risk financing strategies to respond to the impacts of climate-related disasters. However, for such pilots to succeed, they must include clear exit, replication or scale-up plans to allow relevant stakeholders to build on examples of good practice.

Monitoring and evaluating sustainability and resilience in investments also remain key gaps in learning for implementation. Adaptation measurement is challenged by limited understanding of what indicators to measure and how to attribute altered vulnerability to adaptation actions. Improved guidance on what constitutes sustainable financing will drive investment towards adaptation and away from maladaptive investments. For example, the European Union is working towards this goal through its Action Plan for Financing Sustainable Growth presented in 2018. The role of domestic policy and regulation should not be underestimated in increasing investments in resilience.

National reporting systems provide an important basis for the monitoring and evaluation of climate change adaptation and DRR. The level of detail that can be captured by separate or joint reporting systems for climate change adaptation and DRR varies. In all cases, a persistent challenge is to ensure that the information generated informs subsequent policymaking processes. There are still knowledge gaps about the form, structure and potential of these arrangements.

Drought risk transfer mechanisms

Insurance is a valuable mechanism for those who can afford to pay policy premiums to transfer risks to the financial markets. Through accurate pricing of risk, insurance has the potential to facilitate ex ante risk-reducing behaviour, policy, investment and action. It can also help build resilience through a more-efficient allocation of resources by targeting high-impact, probabilistic events (realized intensive risk) - although it is less well suited to high-frequency, low-impact events (realized extensive risk) - as well as supporting more rapid recovery after climate-related extreme events. However, the development of formal drought insurance mechanisms is hindered in many developing countries by high transaction costs, asymmetric information and adverse selection (OECD, 2016). Public finance can be used to support the establishment of new insurance schemes, help existing initiatives scale up or contribute to an enabling regulatory environment. This can include local initiatives (e.g. index-based insurance) as well as national and regional schemes (e.g. regional risk pooling such as the African Risk Capacity and the Caribbean Catastrophic Risk Insurance Facility). Understanding of the role of public finance (domestic or international) in subsidizing premiums as a form of adaptation is limited. However, public-private partnerships, such as the Insurance Development Forum and the InsuResilience Global Partnership, are improving understanding and collaboration.

It should be stressed that insurance is a complementary tool for prevention, mitigation, preparedness, response and adaptation, spreading the financial risks of probabilistic extreme events. However, it does not address slow-onset change wherein premiums may become unaffordable as risks increase. It is highly likely that increasing risks due to climate change will be factored into premiums by insurance companies, which will lead to pressure to start differential pricing and make it harder to obtain low-cost insurance for more vulnerable individuals, assets and locations. Initiatives must be carefully designed to incentivize upfront adaptation and avoid maladaptation.

Catastrophe and resilience bonds

As the frequency and intensity of drought and other extreme events increase due to climate change, local and national governments are increasingly expected to step up to cover the damage and pay for reconstruction. Often considered as "insurers of last resort", public authorities are increasingly being called upon as the "first resort", and they need to find sustainable business models to fund resilience.

It remains difficult for a public authority to leverage public and private support to pay upfront when the cost is high, the benefits are diffuse and the probability of extreme losses is low. Catastrophe bonds are similar to life insurance policies, which pay out only when the worst disasters strike. The priority has been large public infrastructure projects. For example, in North America, the New York Subway System and Amtrak issued catastrophe bonds after Hurricane Sandy in 2013 (Vaijhala and Rhodes, 2018).

Resilience bonds are similar to progressive health insurance programmes that provide incentives to make healthy choices (e.g. exercising regularly), which reduce long-term risks and the cost of care. These can be used to expand investment in resilience building in communities vulnerable to catastrophic events, for example to leverage new project finance for resilient infrastructure that offers a measurable reduction in risk. Resilience bonds can therefore be designed to fund prospective and corrective risk reduction projects, in addition to reactive disaster recovery actions.

While these financial mechanisms are critical, it should not be concluded that these will cover the extent of financing needed for addressing the full spectrum of drought-related systemic risks. Hence, there is a need for improving on-theground prospective risk reduction and coordination across vertical and horizontal scales, for implementing equity-based approaches that offer practical prospective approaches for addressing drought risks.

Aligning climate change adaptation, mitigation and drought risk management

In developing countries, the need for coherence is not limited to national policies and activities, but also includes coherence of development cooperation in support of climate change adaptation and mitigation, sustainable and resilient urban development and DRR. A number of United Nations agreements and frameworks were thus adopted in 2015 and 2016, including the 2030 Agenda, the New Urban Agenda, the Paris Agreement and the Sendai Framework, each with their own objectives and mandates. However, it is only in combination that they cover the range of potential benefits of sustainable development in the face of systemic drought-related risks.

SDG16 and SDG17 of the 2030 Agenda are noteworthy in that they provide credible and underused pathways to support coherent and effective addressing of drought risk. SDG16 ("Peace, justice and strong institutions") aims to promote peaceful and inclusive societies for sustainable development, provide access to justice for all, and build effective, accountable and inclusive institutions at all levels. SDG17 ("Partnerships for the goals") seeks to strengthen the means of implementation and revitalize the global partnership for sustainable development. Pertaining as they do to strengthening and resourcing governance capable of pursuing risk-informed sustainable development, SDG16 and SDG17 resonate strongly with the elements highlighted under governance of the Ten Essentials of the UNDRR Making Cities Resilient campaign (Figure 3.6). Used judiciously, they can contribute to realization of the commitments of the New Urban Agenda.

In respect of the Paris Agreement, the Warsaw International Mechanism for Loss and Damage associated with Climate Change Impacts identifies eight slow-onset events (sea-level rise, increasing temperatures, ocean acidification, glacial retreat and related impacts, salinization, land and forest degradation,

| Essential 1 Organize for resilience | Essential 2 Identify, understand and use current and future risk scenarios | Essential 3 Strengthen financial capacity for resilience | Essential 4 Pursue resilient urban development and design | Essential 5 Safeguard national buffers |
|--|---|--|---|---|
| Essential 6 Strengthen institutional capacity for resilience | Essential 7 Increase social and cultural resilience | Essential 8 Increase infrastructural resilience | Essential 9 Ensure effective preparedness and disaster response | Essential 10 Expedite recovery and build back better |

Figure 3.6. Ten Essentials of the UNDRR Making Cities Resilient campaign

Governance

Integrated planning and preparation

Response/recovery

Source: Adapted from ECLAC/UNDRR (2021)

loss of biodiversity and desertification) and includes drought as an extreme event (UNFCCC, 2013). IPCC assessments (IPCC, 2012, 2019) and numerous other assessments (e.g. Lempert et al., 2018) further note drought is closely linked to slow-onset, incremental climatic change. This definition of drought, as an extreme event but inextricably linked to and amplified by slow-onset drivers, acknowledges that changes in temperature, precipitation, land degradation and desertification affect the intensity and impacts of droughts and undermine capabilities for effectively adapting to climate change.

As outlined in the section 3.4.2, coherence can be pursued and operationalized horizontally across sectors, vertically at different levels of government (local, subnational, national, regional and global) and through collaboration across stakeholder groups (e.g. governments and intergovernmental organizations, the private sector, civil society organizations and citizens). Such coherence can be grouped into three types:

- Strategic coherence (visions and policy goals): Systematic alignment of visions, goals and priorities on resilience across drought risk reduction and climate change mitigation and adaptation in national development plans and strategies, providing a framework for pursuing operational coherence. With aligned goals and objectives at the strategic level, the basis for coherence in implementation is strong.
- Operational coherence (institutions and services): Policy frameworks and institutional arrangements supportive of the implementation of aligned objectives on drought risk reduction and adaptation, limiting the burden on often-stretched human, technical and financial resources. Linking adaptation and drought risks at the operational level through the development of effective policies and institutional arrangements can also prevent duplication of efforts or conflicting activities.
- Technical coherence (knowledge development and applications): Strengthened technical capacities to assess risks and opportunities, to identify, prioritize and finance resilience measures. For

example, climate change adaptation planning can benefit from tools and information already well established in the DRR community, such as DEWSs and risk assessments, whereas emerging evidence of good practice approaches to climate change adaptation can inform disaster risk management measures, reducing the potential for maladaptation (World Bank, 2013).

Information services in a changing environment

KEY MESSAGE

 Scientific capabilities are often developed to address research questions, but not tailored to an operational setting, and much less for improving knowledge, developing application prototypes and building resilient infrastructure as changes are occurring. Developing science and services of value for societal issues often needs to be multidisciplinary and transdisciplinary, and performed in conjunction with a range of partners.

There is growing awareness among governments, businesses and the general public of risks arising from drought and climate change on timescales from months through to decades. Several cases illustrate changes in the management of drought-related risks may be most readily accomplished when:

- There is an occurrence of a focusing event (climatic, legal or social), creating widespread public awareness and opportunities for action.
- 2. There is engagement of leadership and the public, including "policy entrepreneurs".
- **3.** There is a basis for integrating research and management (Wilhite and Pulwarty, 2017).

Point 3 emphasizes the need for developing the capacity to apply knowledge and to evaluate the consequences of actions among partners, to

ensure the reliability and credibility of the projections of changes in the system outputs and to enable acceptable revisions of management practices in light of new information.

The National Integrated Drought Information System in the United States of America, the European GDO and FEWS NET are examples of end-to-end information systems in which monitoring and forecasting, risk assessment, and engagement of communities and sectors are aligned across the weather–climate continuum. These provide coordination of diverse regional, national and local data and information for supporting alerts, planning and preparedness (Pulwarty and Verdin, 2013; Vogt et al., 2018).

There have been carefully documented successful cases of drought risk interventions to prevent humanitarian crises, including during the severe drought in Ethiopia in 2015–2016, as a result of FEWS NET and efforts on the ground.

Some climatic changes could be unprecedented in their harmful socioeconomic impacts, while others with adequate forewarning and planning could offer benefits (Hewitt et al., 2020; Chapter 1). There is a commensurate and pressing need for decision makers to have access to, and to use, high-quality, available, relevant and credible climate information about the past, present and future to help make better-informed decisions and policies.

WMO refers to the provision and use of such information as climate services (WMO, 2019). Many regions and countries have insufficient capability and capacity to develop and deliver climate services, which undermines confidence in national service providers and sends users in search of alternative and sometimes less-credible services. The ability to build service capacity is often compounded by competition among national bodies for funding. There are also major imbalances regarding access to essential services, and there is no relationship between the level of climate risks that a country faces and the level of per capita spending on developing climate information in that country (Georgeson et al., 2017). The lack of resources, capability and capacity is at odds with the growing demand for climate services, and severely hampers proper co-development and delivery of sustainable climate services that can help society make effective decisions.

Decision makers seek inter alia an understanding of the variability of droughts in the context of climate change, or observational data sets, or modelling capability for predictions and projections, or downstream applications. Chapters 1 and 2 have illustrated the limited ability of scientific entities to address the needs of decision makers, including providing scientific output that is operationally useful.

3.4.4

Towards a drought-resilient world: pathways for action

Human institutions and actions determine the resilience of the environment and of people. Locally evolved institutional arrangements governed by stable communities and buffered from outside forces have managed drought and other environmental hazards for centuries (Dietz et al., 2003). However, these arrangements can often be overwhelmed when rapid change occurs and when external pressures beyond local control are applied.

Climate change is exacerbating existing weather and climate variability. It is likely to increase the number and impact of climate shocks absorbed by rural and urban communities. Systemic droughtrelated risk epitomizes this complexity. The resilience of food systems is integrally determined by the decisions and actions of people at many levels and by complex interactions of society, the environment and the economy. Business as usual will see continuing land and water degradation and vulnerability, combined with heightened risks from climate change, contributing to greater social problems of poverty and migration, and possibly conflict.

Given the increasingly systemic nature of risks, ideal conditions for governance are increasingly rare (Ostrom et al., 2007). Despite advances in hydroclimatology, predicting variability of water demand and supply precisely for specific locations will remain a major challenge, particularly given global climate change. Scientific knowledge of the impacts of systemic risks remains limited and in need of increased attention. This limitation is compounded by inadequate data on drylands, as well as in some newly water-scarce environments and economies in which conditions are uncertain.

Furthermore, eliminating drought risk entirely is neither physically possible nor economically feasible because rapid social and economic transitions are taking place. For example, as presented in Chapters 1 and 2, groundwater is increasingly being used formally and informally to offset meteorological drought, while some drylands are increasingly being used for energy, including wind, solar and geothermal sources. Such changes ultimately alter the risk equation.

Economic growth in developing countries has brought development benefits, but is often coupled with degradation of natural resources and negative environmental impacts.

As shareholders of multilateral and bilateral development banks and development finance institutions, donor governments hold specific roles in improving the environmental performance of development finance in water-related investments. They need to coordinate efforts across ministries and institutions to promote the integration of environmental considerations into financing at the project and policy levels.

The enabling environments created from informational bases, engagement strategies, policy frameworks and institutional arrangements need improvement, even when increased funds are available. This observation is an expression of contextual orientation and the pragmatist maxim, which together link decision processes and social processes (Lasswell, 1971; Dunn, 2018).

UNDRR can help bring together systemic perspectives and expertise to improve analysis and prospective drought risk management across social, ecological, cultural and economic impacts under threat from drought and related risks. In addition, UNDRR can work across SDGs, the goals of the Paris Agreement, the Convention on Biological Diversity and UNCCD to support the enabling conditions for the transition to drought/systemic risk governance, overcoming traditional barriers to acquiring learning, innovations and effective action during extended or intensifying drought events. Components across the frameworks include:

- Improving social protection at local levels (FAO, 2021b)
- Nature-based solutions that sustain ecosystem services
- Financial services to support risk reduction and risk-informed investment
- Early warning information systems across multiple timescales
- Collaborative framing networks that engage public, private and civil society networks

Addressing the above issues confirms several principles for public administrators to craft effective multi-stakeholder partnerships and governance where iterative learning is central (e.g. Brouwer et al., 2016). These include:

- Embracing systemic change
- Engaging in participatory learning such that multi-stakeholder partnerships enable actors, influencers and local communities to learn together by sharing knowledge and collective experience

With these in mind, the following section offers a series of recommendations for advancing governance across the continuum from drought risk to resilience. Improving adaptive risk management and governance of systemic drought risks

KEY MESSAGES

Two critical recommendations are made to achieve a shared vision and acceptable action-oriented drought-resilient development:

- Develop a national drought resilience partnership that works to ensure a seamless link between national and local levels with public, private and civil society partners.
- Support the establishment of a global mechanism for drought management focused on systemic risks.

Coordination and implementation of prospective risk management and adaptive governance approaches that address systemic drought risks require aligning responsibility and finance mechanisms layered across the global to national and national to local scales, and back up the chain.

The Addis Ababa Action Agenda calls for reforms to the international sustainable development architecture, including that international mechanisms and institutions need to keep pace with the increased complexity of the world and respond to the imperatives of sustainable development (United Nations, General Assembly, 2016). The Addis Ababa Action Agenda builds on the Monterrey Consensus of the International Conference on Financing for Development. The conference marked the first exchange of perspectives from four key groups: governments, civil society, the business community and institutional stakeholders on global economic issues. It highlighted the urgent need to enhance coherence and consistency, including implementation of governance mechanisms at different scales to ensure a more inclusive and representative international architecture.

The coherence of and consistency in governance mechanisms across scales called for by the Addis Ababa Action Agenda, the 2030 Agenda and the Sendai Framework are yet to be realized, in part due to inaction or an absence of political will. Actions often fall short because of genuine differences among the national interests of different States, difficulties in States systematically aligning common interests and approaches acknowledging that national policy decisions can have systemic, far-ranging effects beyond national borders (United Nations, General Assembly, 2016).

However, States construct international regimes on the basis of their interests, which in turn reflect the interests of the major constituencies that exert influence over State leaders (Keohane, 1989). As illustrated in this chapter, alignment is needed from a global mechanism to national scales and between national and local scales and back up the chain.

Facilitating pathways to drought-related systemic risk governance

The following constitutes a basic set of key actions to develop the necessary evidence base and actions to inform and support improved adaptive management and governance of drought-related systemic risks among international agencies, regional entities, national resource managers and communities:

- Invest in drought risk identification and mapping:
 - Develop a national drought risk inventory to systematically monitor losses and assess risks across scales
 - Map vertical and horizontal decision-making arrangements and key stakeholders, including the public and private sectors, civil society and the science and technology community, as a step towards their taking part in drought risk management, design, planning and implementation
 - Map financial instruments and financial leveraging opportunities and their relevance to key national and local drought risks
 - Use costs of action and of inaction estimates to the extent possible on drought-related

risks, so as to target those elements of risk that can be most efficiently reduced before compounded impacts occur and where management can produce positive economic and social co-benefits

- Employ horizontal partnership development to co-develop shared visions for a participation architecture and mainstreaming of resilience-based approaches in drought risk management and reduction including:
 - Systematic coordination across actors, sectors and levels of governance going beyond ad hoc projects, for example into portfolio management approaches
 - Harmonized implementation strategies, including blended finance
 - Adoption of a suite of success metrics
- Offer social protection, considering the social protection floors and poverty line including:
 - Conducting impacts-based drought risk assessments focused on vulnerable communities in national and sector development planning and investment
 - Smoothing consumption across drought cycles by promoting resilient livelihoods and protection of financial and non-financial assets
 - Enhancing access to credit and financial protection, for example, conditional cash transfer and temporary employment schemes, catastrophe and resilience bonds, microinsurance and loans
- Ensure social accountability through increased public information and transparency by:
 - Placing policy responsibility for drought risk reduction, including for emergent risks driven by climate change, in a single unit with political and investment authority
 - Developing decentralized, layered functions, and including local initiatives based

on partnerships among government, private sector and civil society (use the principle of subsidiarity and appropriate levels of devolution, including budgets and to civil society)

- Align goals and investment for financing drought-related systemic risk reduction to promote coherence in financing through the implementation of international mechanisms such as the 2030 Agenda, the Paris Agreement and the Sendai Framework by:
 - Developing a culture of public administration supportive of systemic risk management of complex risks
 - Piloting and incorporating innovative financial strategies to upgrade settlements, and promote benefits of technology and efficiency of water, energy and land use
 - Working with international partners, development agencies and relevant international mechanisms to develop a global mechanism for drought management

Table 3.3 provides a preliminary list of actions and actors supporting the implementation of the recommendations presented above.

Increasingly globally networked risks, local imbalances, the resulting contagion of cascading risks and ensuing actions are overwhelming traditional approaches to drought risk management. Systemic innovation strategies for equitably addressing such multi-scaled risks are fundamentally different from regular innovation strategies, in that they are founded on notions of complexity, ambiguity and diversity to manage present risks and adapt and thrive as new risks emerge.

Instead of targeting only one outcome (e.g. a high crop yield), systems-based management aims at the capacity of systems and people to be able to imagine, adapt and co-produce a sustainable and equitable future.

Transitions to systems-based management are themselves an important component of the

resilience of socioecological and increasingly technological systems (Berkes et al., 2003). System transitions can be enabled by enhancing the capabilities of public, private and financial institutions to accelerate national and local policy planning and implementation, along with accelerated and appropriate technological innovations.

However, decisions are often not based on weighing costs and benefits alone, but on heuristics, culture and values (Aarts and Dijksterhuis, 2000; Kloeckner et al., 2003; Ascher, 2007) within organizations, institutions (Hall et al., 2003; Munck et al., 2014; Dooley, 2017), and communities.

An immediate and critical need is to craft new narratives of measures of human well-being and interaction with natural systems, within and among countries in increasingly drought-prone, drought-emergent and water-scarce seasons and regions.

Droughts provide a useful analogue and practical experience for a much wider suite of complex and growing risks – including those posed by climate change – even with their mix of slow and fast onsets, fluctuating intensities and duration, and even within the same event. The uncertain nature of projected impacts and the need for a flexible approach highlight the importance of: continuous learning; leadership and engagement of key government bodies; broad private and civil society stakeholder participation and coordination; clear allocation of roles, responsibilities and resources; and monitoring, evaluation and continuous learning.

A significant challenge in the development of pathways for living sustainably with nature and with increasingly complex drought-related risks will be in guiding evolution of financial and economic systems towards a globally sustainable economy. This will involve steering away from the current limited paradigm of economic growth and drawing upon diverse value bases and sources, including indigenous and local knowledge (Nakashima et al., 2012; Smith and Sharp, 2012; Stiglitz et al., 2019). Such narratives would show the limits of current systems and business-as-usual actions in reducing risks into the future, and articulate shared values and opportunities for realizing the benefits and dividends of adaptive governance of systemic risks for global, national and local communities.

Table 3.3. Building enabling conditions for the shift to drought-related systemic risk governance

| Drought resilience partnership: national and local | Global mechanism for drought management: international and national |
|---|---|
| • Ensure ministries and agencies at the national level have information and incentives to inte- grate DRR and climate change adaptation and mitigation across their portfolios, and report back on progress nationally | Understand and engage countries and commu- nities through shared capabilities, levers for transformation and technical support; monitor, assess and forecast drought-related systemic risks |
| Use ministries and agencies with a presence at the local level and responsible for implementa- tion to ensure national directives on DRR and climate change adaptation and mitigation are integrated with local development plans | Develop international collaboration and dialogue on drivers of globally networked risks and verti- cal coordination across regions, nations and communities |
| Reinforce the mandate of relevant ministries and agencies to enforce existing regulatory measures and provide incentives in support | Develop thematic working groups, including industry and civil society actors, for facilitating coordination focused on feasibility, capacity and accountability (Figure 3.5) |
| of climate change adaptation and DRR, such as land-use management and environmental protection | Create centres of excellence at intermediate levels so drought-related technical resources and capacities can be pooled |
| Bring domestic attention and resources to the reduction of drought risks, take risk-prevention measures and take advantage of windows of opportunity | Use the opportunity of external systemic risk drivers such as Covid-19 to prioritize resilience building and build back smarter and greener across global mechanisms; such efforts can |
| Create centres of excellence at regional levels so drought-related technical resources and | include increased investment in climate-smart technologies that are scale appropriate |
| capacities can be used to assist in decision support, and maintain interest between events | Develop processes for sustaining early warning across timescales and geographies, and develop |

collaborative partnerships that put people first

• Develop processes for sustaining early warning across timescales and develop collaborative partnerships that put people first

4. Conclusions

4.1 The state of current knowledge

The Sendai Framework makes clear that disaster risk cannot be substantially reduced unless the dynamic and systemic nature of risk is better understood, and governance systems evolve to better incorporate systems-based and adaptive approaches. New tools for risk-informed decision-making are essential to allow human societies to live and thrive in uncertainty (UNDRR, 2019). Much can be learned from these tools. The dynamics of drought shed light on the characteristics and interactions of socioecological and technological systems that allow hazards to become disasters, and how society's values, demands and attendant resource management affect ecosystems, human health and sustainable development. Developing capabilities to successfully meet the challenge of drought can therefore also help societies build skills to better manage and even prevent other complex risks and shocks. Drought is a recurrent feature of almost every region due to natural climate variability. It is characterized by substantial deficits in multiple indicators of hvdroclimatic variables, and is neither aridity nor water scarcity. Droughts have been characterized as slow-onset events compared with other natural hazards. Their pervasive socioeconomic and environmental impacts can last from weeks to decades, and cover areas ranging from watersheds to hundreds of thousands of square kilometres. They have widespread, multifaceted and long-lived impacts determined by hazard severity, human and ecosystem exposure and vulnerability, and coping capacity. Given the complex nature of their distribution through time, space and sector, such impacts are challenging to reliably attribute and accurately quantify.

There may be far-reaching consequences when droughts are not adequately managed or when they are especially severe. Such consequences affect entire economies and environments, including societies far from where the original drought events occurred. Drought impacts can be multiple, and include food and water insecurity, reduction in energy supply, ecosystem degradation, potentially worsening or provoking civil unrest, conflict and migration.

Droughts can be exacerbated by compounding effects such as co-occurrence with heatwaves and antecedent soil moisture deficits, or the feedback and connections among droughts, wildfires and subsequent floods. Risk increases in a non-linear fashion in such situations. In the worst cases, droughts can lead to long-term land degradation and desertification, reduction in livelihood options, undermining of existing management practices and disruption of entire societies.

Human actions resulting in water scarcity and feedback loops in the climate system play key roles in drought intensification and propagation. For example, the construction of reservoirs and other structures intended to mitigate impacts in the short term may exacerbate them in severe conditions by increasing demand or dependence on reservoir storage as events intensify or persist. Vulnerabilities are even more starkly revealed, and often amplified, when a drought is particularly intense or of long duration.

Perhaps more than other hazard, droughts raise fundamental questions about the capacity to measure, evaluate and respond to risk. For example, even the onset and the end of a drought are challenging to characterize; its duration is unpredictable, potentially lasting for many years, and all the while, impacts accumulate and cascade.

Hence, estimates of economic, social or environmental damage should be interpreted with care, as there is usually a significant gap between reported and real impacts. Estimates of costs arising from drought impacts from 1998 to 2017 show droughts have affected at least 1.5 billion people and led to economic losses of at least \$124 billion across the world. But these are only partial accounts and most likely gross underestimates. Case studies suggest numerous and multiplying impacts many times these costs.

With human-induced climate change, drought frequency and severity have already increased in some – often already water-scarce – regions of the globe. As the world moves seemingly inexorably towards global average temperatures 2°C warmer than pre-industrial levels, drought impacts are intensifying and are predicted to worsen in many regions, particularly within business-as-usual scenarios.

4.2 The lived experience

The case studies assembled for this report examine key questions, including why society is not doing better at managing drought, given how devastating it can be, and the state of knowledge of drought creation, propagation and impact. The case studies describe factors such as the impact of cycles of drought, the uncertainty of drought initiation and conclusion, and the importance of drought length and severity to impacts.

Droughts have had widely variable effects across regions, countries and continents (e.g. Africa and Australia), with sharp shocks within growth seasons (e.g. in Canada and the United States of America) or cascading down transboundary river systems (e.g. in India, across the Mediterranean region and in southern South America). Although impacts may vary across scales, the effects are initially felt mostly at the landholder, farmer or livestock manager level. However, with time, the impacts are broader, and extend and cascade across communities, the economy and even beyond national borders through for example water, energy and commodities trade.

The case studies demonstrate the increased insecurity of irrigation systems and the increased tendency for many urban centres to be affected by water scarcity and water quality decline. Cascading impacts have included forest loss, soil erosion and degradation, occurrence of SDSs, increasing flood vulnerability, more-frequent wildfires and a greater susceptibility to pests and diseases.

As energy generation requires water, the energy sector shares vulnerability to drought with competing users of water such as agriculture, instream environmental flow needs and urban populations. The interdependencies among water, food and energy are made abundantly clear during drought.

The level of drought vulnerability is unequal, as it has a disproportionate impact on poor and marginalized people where the cost of drought is measured in terms of lives, livelihoods and impoverishment. Thus, the case studies reinforce the message of the drought risk equation – Risk = f (Hazard, Exposure, Vulnerability) – the risk is greatest where the exposed populations are vulnerable and have the least capacity to cope with a drought and to adapt to changing conditions.

Current risk management and governance mechanisms and approaches addressing drought are being overwhelmed by the increasingly systemic nature of drought risk. The case studies describe action in policy development, review and restructure when droughts are severe, and inaction when droughts are no longer evident. Policy disconnects abound across sectors, wherein drought risk management is often treated independently of policies for agriculture, water resource allocation, conservation, energy generation and climate change adaptation and mitigation. Such disconnects can also constrain risk prevention, mitigation or response. Policies and plans across international boundaries are rarely binding.

The case studies identify the need for empowering farmers and communities, and demonstrate the benefits of early warning and monitoring, and the imperative of an enabling policy environment. Farmers, livestock managers and other communities have shown an abundance of local adaptation strategies ranging from adapting crop variety or species choice, introducing a mix of enterprises, planting dates, planting densities, irrigation strategies, water storage, agropastoralism, livestock species and adjusting supply chains. These are supported by extension programmes in many cases. Connections to traditional knowledge are increasingly being sought.

Looking to the future, the case studies reinforce the need for effective drought monitoring, assessment of vulnerability across scales and the availability of mitigation measures to limit impacts during drought. The 10-step drought planning approach and the three-pillar approach to drought risk management developed through IDMP have been identified as important good practices, but the studies show that, in reality, they have rarely been applied. Furthermore, while proactive in nature, such approaches do not yet pursue prospective risk management wherein action seeks to avoid the development of new or increased risks.

Instead, most case studies describe a reactive approach to alleviate crisis situations. This is often the result of an inadequate level of preparedness, a lack of understanding of the costs of inaction, a lack of awareness of and access to data and information about the current and likely state of drought, and inadequate resources to assist decision makers to select and apply this information.

Institutional changes are required to connect across agency silos and to improve the flow of information between meteorological services and science agencies and the means by which information can be shared across civil society.

4.3

From drought risk to resilience

4.3.1

Systemic risk management

This report demonstrates how systemic risk management is fundamental to move from drought risk to resilience. Increasingly globally networked risks, local imbalances, the resulting contagion of cascading risks and ensuing actions are overwhelming existing approaches to drought risk management and governance, which are in most cases inadequate for understanding, planning and decision-making.

A robust evidence base and strong social and institutional capabilities are required for learning and innovation for adaptive drought risk management and governance. Knowledge of the nature of complex, systemic risks needs to be developed and shared across sectors, disciplines and institutional hierarchies, and should include analysis of the deep and long-term drivers of landscape changes and the nature and consequences of transitions from risk to resilience.

Strengthened evidence and action are needed in key areas including: risk identification; mapping of vertical and horizontal decision-making arrangements, key stakeholders and entry points; financial instruments; and financial leveraging opportunities. Promising financial measures include social protection through alignment of existing global mechanisms that have drought as a major thread, employment schemes, resilience bonds, microinsurance, conditional cash transfers and loans.

Further examination of vertical and horizontal partnership development for systematic coordination across actors, sectors and levels of governance going beyond ad hoc projects, and promoting trust and social accountability through increased public information, transparency and engagement are also required. In addition, aligning goals and investment for financing drought-related systemic risk reduction, and taking actions to overcome resistance from entrenched interest groups will be required.

To reduce existing systemic risks and avoid new ones, there must be a shift from dealing reactively with drought impacts to getting ahead of the curve and addressing underlying risk drivers. Socioeconomic and environmental vulnerability of exposed systems must be reduced, and climate change impacts mitigated as part of a transition from reactive to prospective and proactive risk management. Resilience should not be considered as a droughtor climate-finance add-on that comes after other financing decisions have been made, but an investment in near- and long-term economic, social and environmental sustainability.

Systemic risk management requires new capabilities and approaches, drawing on scientific expertise and other forms of knowledge. Greater investment in research of the systemic nature of drought risk is needed, but just as important is developing science and services that are multidisciplinary and transdisciplinary, and contextual in addressing societal challenges, and are undertaken in conjunction with a range of partners. The science to policy dialogue can be empowered through the effective use of scenarios and "serious" games. These do not predict future outcomes, but guide choices among options by making transparent likely trade-offs and synergies including opportunities for partnerships, collaborative vision building and equity. However, drought confounds its management over the long term. This is due to the increasing complexities and interactions of drought exposure, vulnerability and attendant decision-making. Nevertheless, risk reduction must begin with embedding drought risk assessment, monitoring, forecasting and early warning in measures to increase societal and environmental resilience.

Shifting to integrated, multi-hazard and systemic risk management approaches is essential for prospective and proactive risk reduction, and will assist communities ultimately to better adapt to and through a changing climate.

4.3.2

Adaptive governance

Governance mechanisms that facilitate rapid response to crises are different from those aimed at monitoring slower changes and responding with longer-term measures. As the case of drought illustrates, both are needed. Thus, effective governance of systemic risks must be adaptive and multi-scale in the context of anticipated risks and opportunities, and for managing through a rapidly changing environment. Efforts to work across the risk to resilience continuum are required, to ensure short-term decisions do not create long-term risks, nor that a long-term view does not become undermined by immediate crises and surprises.

Adaptive governance mechanisms need to prioritize iterative learning, planning, policymaking implementation, monitoring and evaluation, and collective decision-making wherein neither the State nor the private sector are the only actors. Adaptive governance can lead to new and improved forms of regulation that go beyond traditional hierarchies and promote private-public-civil society cooperation in problem solving backed by new forms of flexible, multilevel policy and accountability.

Given that there are globally networked and local drivers of drought risk, with consequences that can cascade through time and space, adaptive governance must balance centralized and decentralized authority and functions. Decentralization by itself is not sufficient to deliver solutions to target communities. Centralized and decentralized authorities should complement one another, especially when the actor network is broadened beyond a sender-receiver model of communication.

Effective adaptive governance requires a process of systematic coordination at global to national scales, national to local scales and back up the chain: (a) vertically at local, subnational, national, regional and global levels of government and (b) horizontally across sectors, disciplines and domains through collaboration across governments and intergovernmental organizations, the private sector, civil society organizations and citizens.

At the national level, adaptive governance is nurtured within a policy environment supported by high levels of public awareness, trust in the partnership process especially at local scales, and the acceptability and effectiveness of proposed approaches. Such an environment should:

- Promote policies and directives for drought risk reduction and climate change adaptation and mitigation that are integrated with local development plans
- Create incentives and training in drought-related complexity for government agencies to share responsibility for sustainability across portfolios
- Reinforce existing measures such as the promotion of water-saving practices, the enforcement of sustainable land and water management, and protection of the environment
- Leverage international policy to bring domestic attention and resources to the reduction of climate-related drought risks, such as the creation of centres of excellence where technical resources and capacities can be pooled

Such increased coherence across policies brings gains in efficiency and effectiveness, but it is not without costs. It can result in trade-offs between investing in a coherent approach to drought risk reduction on the one hand, and making progress on individual policy processes on the other hand – whereas both are needed. Therefore, the integration of policy agendas should occur on a continuum, from strategic to operational and technical, where policy coherence is not viewed as an outcome, but rather a process of systematic coordination.

Principles required to craft effective multistakeholder partnerships and adaptive governance where iterative learning is central include:

- Increasing systemic risk literacy and embracing systems-based approaches
- Promoting collaborative leadership to enable stakeholders to work together, to share responsibility and to develop confidence to tackle difficult issues
- · Adopting horizontal integrative leadership
- Engaging in participatory learning such that multi-stakeholder partnerships enable actors, influencers and local communities to learn together by sharing knowledge and collective experience, and by fostering trust and respect

4.4

The call to action

Risk preventative action has far lower human, ecological and financial costs than waiting for the risk to manifest and then reacting and responding to the shock. The global community must not be overwhelmed by the systemic impacts of drought in the face of climate change, not least given the threat drought poses to sustainable development, peace and security. Droughts are so pervasive, and their impacts so significant, that failure to move to systemic drought management and adaptive governance may trigger ever more serious social, economic and environmental consequences. Analysis of long-term climate change impacts should not detract from action to be undertaken now to better understand the causes of vulnerability; vulnerabilities that reveal how disasters are a function of human agency. The long history of research and practices within the DRR community, together with knowledge enshrined in traditional and indigenous wisdom, offers critical insights when addressing the root causes of vulnerability and exposure, and must not be ignored. These lessons are starting to be actively employed and further developed as the world adapts to climate change impacts. With what we know, we must do better, and with what we learn, we must improve.

The way forward must build enabling conditions for the transition to drought-related, systemic risk governance. Enabling conditions must engender drought resilience partnerships at the national and local levels, building on approaches such as the 10-step drought planning approach or the three-pillar approach developed through IDMP. However, use of these frameworks should avoid overly prescriptive planning that does not prioritize iterative learning and innovation. For prospective drought risk management, plans will need to be designed to be flexible and to better build in the capacity to learn to change.

A new global mechanism is required to effectively manage drought in the future at and among the international, national and local levels. This should address the complex systemic nature of drought, linking approaches from local to national scales, to the global and back to the local scale. Such a mechanism could facilitate vertical and horizontal governance and associated partnerships to address drought risk. It could also accelerate transitions towards systems-based and prospective approaches to drought risk management and reduction. It should be based on shared values and responsibilities of stakeholders to mobilize and coordinate the needed financial resources and direct them to build systemic drought resilience.

Enhanced efforts are also required to build systemic risk literacy. The development of international dialogue and collaboration in addressing drivers of globally networked risks are also required. These could include public sector organizations working with private sector and civil society actors to focus on feasibility, capacity and accountability, and developing processes for reducing systemic drought risk through adaptive governance that puts people first.

A deeper challenge lies in developing pathways to address drought-related risks that are underpinned by financial systems supportive of a global economic model that prioritizes optimization and efficiency above human and ecosystem health and well-being, to a shift beyond the current limited paradigm of economic growth measured solely in GDP.

These pathways must draw upon diverse value bases and sources, particularly indigenous and local knowledge. Such narratives would show the limits of business as usual in reducing risks into the future, and articulate shared values and opportunities for realizing the global benefits and dividends of adaptive governance of systemic risks for global, national and local communities.

Systemic action to reduce and prevent drought risks provides an effective pathway for reducing a much wider suite of complex and proliferating risks, including the growing and real threat of climate change. Immediate action is required. With a better understanding of the complex nature of drought together with enabled nimble and adaptive governance, it is possible to reduce the risk of drought to people and ecosystems in the near term.

Role of the United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction in supporting systemic risk reduction for drought

The role of UNDRR is to bring together perspectives and expertise to improve prospective risk management across social, ecological, cultural and economic sectors under threat from droughts and other disasters. UNDRR works across agreements, conventions and frameworks to support the realization of the outcomes and goals of inter alia the 2030 Agenda, the Convention on Biological Diversity, the Paris Agreement, the Sendai Framework and UNCCD, to support the transition to systemic risk governance founded in acquired knowledge, learning and innovation.

With strong support from the scientific community, UNDRR highlights the evidence and the business case for financing systemic risk management, adaptive governance and action for preventative drought risk management. This will provide the basis for prospective efforts avoiding the creation of new drought risk, more-effective management of existing drought risks, and appropriate and equitable action during extended or intense drought events.

UNDRR advocates collaborative partnership and action at different scales and makes the case for distributed decision-making and participation in governance at all levels. It also promotes the fundamental tenet that preventative action now has far lower human, environmental and financial costs than purely reactive responses. This can help communities avoid being overwhelmed by the systemic impacts of drought and learn to manage present risks and adapt and thrive in the face of a changing climate, and as new risks emerge.

Abbreviations and acronyms

| ASAL | arid and semi-arid land |
|----------|--|
| CSIRO | Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation |
| DEWS | drought early warning system |
| DRB | Danube River Basin |
| DRR | disaster risk reduction |
| EDII | European Drought Impact Inventory |
| EM-DAT | Emergency Events Database |
| ENSO | El Niño Southern Oscillation |
| FABLE | Food, Agriculture, Biodiversity, Land-Use, and Energy (Consortium) |
| FAO | Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations |
| FEWS NET | Famine Early Warning Systems Network |
| G20 | Group of Twenty |
| GAR | Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction |
| GDO | Global Drought Observatory |
| GDP | gross domestic product |
| GHG | greenhouse gas |
| GRAF | Global Risk Assessment Framework |
| GWL | global warming level |
| GWP | Global Water Partnership |
| HMNDP | High-level Meeting on National Drought Policy |
| IDMP | Integrated Drought Management Programme |
| IGAD | Intergovernmental Authority on Development |
| IPCC | Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change |
| IWRM | integrated water resources management |
| JRC | Joint Research Centre |
| MasAgro | Sustainable Modernization of Traditional Agriculture project |
| NAP | national adaptation plan |
| NGO | non-governmental organization |
| RCP | representative concentration pathway |
| RDrl | risk of drought impact |
| SDG | Sustainable Development Goal |
| SDS | sandstorm and dust-storm |
| SPEI | standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index |
| SPI | standardized precipitation index |
| SSP | shared socioeconomic pathway |
| UNCCD | United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification |
| UNDRR | United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction |
| UNFCCC | United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change |
| WMO | World Meteorological Organization |

References

- Aarts, H. and A.P. Dijksterhuis (2000). The automatic activation of goal-directed behaviour: The case of travel habit. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 75–82.
- Abelen, S., F. Seitz, R. Abarca-del-Rio and A. Güntner (2015). Droughts and floods in the La Plata basin in soil moisture data and GRACE. *Remote Sensing*, vol. 7, no. 6, pp. 7324–7349.
- Abatzogloua, J.T. and A. Park Williams (2016). Impact of anthropogenic climate change on wildfire across western US forests. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, vol. 113, no. 42, pp. 11770–11775.
- Abraham, E.M., J.C. Guevara, R.J. Candia and N.D. Soria (2016). Dust storms, drought and desertification in the southwest of Buenos Aires Province, Argentina. *Revista de la Facultad de Ciencias Agrarias UNCuyo*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 221–241.
- Absar, S.M. and B.L. Preston (2015). Extending the shared socioeconomic pathways for sub-national impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability studies. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 33, pp. 83–96.
- Achakulwisut, P., L.J. Mickley and S.C. Anenberg (2018). Drought-sensitivity of fine dust in the US southwest: Implications for air quality and public health under future climate change. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 13, no. 5, 054025.
- Acuña-Soto, R., D.W. Stahle, M.K. Cleaveland and M.D. Therrell (2002). Megadrought and megadeath in 16th century Mexico. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 8, no. 4, p. 360.
- Adaawen, S. and B. Schraven (2019). When deserts displace humans. The challenges of "drought migration". The Current Column, 17 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.die-gdi.de/uploads/media/German_Development_Institute_Adaawen_ Schraven_17.06.2019.pdf.</u>
- Adaawen, S., C. Rademacher-Schulz, B. Schraven and N. Segadlo (2019). Drought, migration, and conflict in sub-Saharan Africa: What are the links and policy options? In Current Directions in Water Scarcity Research, vol. 2, pp. 15–31. Elsevier.
- Adamson, P. and J. Bird (2010). The Mekong: a droughtprone tropical environment? *International Journal* of Water Resources Development, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 579–594.
- Africa Development Fund (2002). Pilot Project on Water Harvesting in the IGAD Region. Available at <u>https://</u> www.afdb.org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/

Project-and-Operations/Multinational - Water Harvesting_Pilot_Project_in_IGAD - Appraisal Report.pdf.

- Agaltseva, N. (2005). Climate Changes Impact to Water Resources within Amudarya River Basin. Report for the NeWATER Amudarya Case Study, Uzbekistan Research Hydrometeorological Institute, Tashkent.
- AghaKouchak, A., D. Feldman, M. Hoerling, T. Huxman and J. Lund (2015). Water and climate: Recognize anthropogenic drought. *Nature News*, vol. 524, no. 7566, pp. 409–411.
- Agier, L., A. Deroubaix, N. Martiny, P. Yaka, A. Djibo and H. Broutin (2013). Seasonality of meningitis in Africa and climate forcing: aerosols stand out. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, vol. 10, no. 79, 20120814.
- Ahmadalipour, A., H. Moradkhani and M.C. Demirel (2017). A comparative assessment of projected meteorological and hydrological droughts: Elucidating the role of temperature. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 553, pp. 785–797.
- Ahmadalipour, A., H. Moradkhani, A. Castelletti and N. Magliocca (2019). Future drought risk in Africa: Integrating vulnerability, climate change, and population growth. Science of the Total Environment, vol. 662, pp. 672–686.
- Ajaero, C.K., A.T. Mozie, I.C. Okeke, J.P. Okpanachi and C. Onyishi (2015). The drought-migration nexus: Implications for socio-ecological conflicts in Nigeria. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, vol. 6, no. 2 S1, pp. 470–478.
- Akwango, D., B.B. Obaa, N. Turyahabwe, Y. Baguma and A. Egeru (2017). Quality and dissemination of information from a drought early warning system in Karamoja sub-region, Uganda. *Journal of Arid Environments*, vol. 145, pp. 69–80.
- Alcantara-Ayala, I., I. Burton, A. Lavell, E. Mansilla, A. Maskrey, A. Oliver-Smith and F. Ramírez-Gómez (2021). Editorial: Root causes and policy dilemmas of the COVID-19 pandemic global disaster. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, vol. 52, 101892.
- Allen, C.D., A.K. Macalady, H. Chenchouni, D. Bachelet, N. McDowell, M. Vennetier, T. Kitzberger, A. Rigling, D.D. Breshears, E.H. Hogg, P. Gonzalez, R. Fensham, Z. Zhangm, J. Castro, N. Demidova, J.-H. Lim, G. Allard, S.W. Running, A. Semerci and N. Cobb (2010). A global overview of drought and heat-induced tree mortality reveals emerging climate change risks for forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, vol. 259, no. 4, pp. 660–684.

- Amelung, B., J. Student, S. Nicholls, M. Lamers, R. Baggio, I. Boavida-Portugal, P. Johnson, E. de Jong, G.J. Hofstede, M. Pons, R. Steiger and S. Balbi (2016). The value of agent-based modelling for assessing tourism-environment interactions in the Anthropocene. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability, vol. 23, pp. 46–53.
- Anderson, W.B., R. Seager, W. Baethgen, M. Cane and L. You (2019). Synchronous crop failures and climate-forced production variability. *Science Advances*, vol. 5, no. 7, eaaw1976.
- APDIM ESCAP (Asian and Pacific Centre for the Development of Disaster Information Management Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific) (forthcoming). Sand and Dust Storms Risk Assessment in Asia and the Pacific. United Nations.
- Archaux, F. and V. Wolters (2006). Impact of summer drought on forest biodiversity: What do we know? Annals of Forest Science, vol. 63, no. 6, pp. 645–652.
- Arora, D., J. Arango, S. Burkart, N. Chirinda and J. Twyman (2017). Gender [Im] Balance in Productive and Reproductive Labor Among Livestock Producers in Colombia: Implications for Climate Change Responses. Copenhagen: CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security Info Note. Available at https://hdl.handle.net/10568/79940.
- Ascher, W. (2007). Policy sciences contributions to analysis to promote sustainability. *Sustainability Science*, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 141–149.

(2017). Understanding the Policymaking Process in Developing Countries. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Ashkenazy, A. T. Chebach, K. Knickel, P. Horowitz and R. Offenbach (2018). Operationalising resilience in farms and rural regions – Findings from fourteen case studies. *Journal of Rural Studies*, vol. 59, pp. 211–221.
- Ashraf, S., A. AghaKouchak, A. Nazemi, A. Mirchi, M. Sadegh, H.R. Moftakhari, E. Hassanzadeh, C-Y. Miao, K. Madani, M.M. Baygi, H. Anjileli, D.R. Arab, H. Norouzi, O. Mazdiyasni, M. Azarderakhsh, A. Alborzi, M.J. Tourian, A. Mehran, A. Farahmand and I. Mallakpour (2019). Compounding effects of human activities and climatic changes on surface water availability in Iran. *Climatic Change*, vol. 152, no. 3–4, pp. 379–391.
- Austin, E.K., T. Handley, A.S. Kiem, J.L. Rich, T.J. Lewin, H.H. Askland, S.S. Askarimarnani, D.A. Perkins and B.J. Kelly (2018). Drought-related stress among farmers: Findings from the Australian Rural Mental Health Study. *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 209, no. 4, pp. 159–165.
- Bahru, B.A., M.G. Jebena, R. Birner and M. Zeller (2020). Impact of Ethiopia's productive safety net program on household food security and child nutrition: A marginal structural modeling approach. *SSM - Population Health*, vol. 12, 100660.
- Bailey, R. (2013). Managing Famine Risk. Linking Early Warning to Early Action. A Chatham House Report.

Available at https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/ default/files/public/Research/Energy%2C%20 Environment%20and%20Development/0413r_ earlywarnings.pdf.

- Balbus, J. (2017). Understanding drought's impacts on human health. *Lancet Planetary Health*, vol. 1, no. 1, e12.
- Barceló, D. and M. Petrovic, eds. (2011). Waste Water Treatment and Reuse in the Mediterranean Region. Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol. 14. Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Bass, B., H. Venema and E. Schiller (1996). Adaptation of food production to drought in the Senegal river basin. In *Climate Change and World Food Security*, T.E. Downing, ed. NATO ASI Series (Series I: Global Environmental Change), vol. 37, pp. 485–503. Berlin: Springer.
- Bebbington, A. (1997). New states, new NGOs? crises and transitions among rural development NGOs in the Andean region. *World Development*, vol. 25, pp. 1755–1765.
- Beccari, B. (2017). Correction: A comparative analysis of disaster risk, vulnerability and resilience composite indicators. *PLOS Currents Disasters*, 29 June 2017, edition 1.
- Beguería, S., S.M. Vicente-Serrano, F. Reig and B. Latorre (2014). Standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI) revisited: Parameter fitting, evapotranspiration models, tools, datasets and drought monitoring. *International Journal of Climatology*, vol. 34, no. 10, pp. 3001–3023.
- Belesova, K., C.N. Agabiirwe, M. Zou, R. Phalkey and P. Wilkinson (2019). Drought exposure as a risk factor for child undernutrition in low-and middle-income countries: A systematic review and assessment of empirical evidence. *Environment International*, vol. 131, 104973.
- Bellizzi, S., C.P.M. Napodano Fiamma and O.A. Maher (2020). Drought and COVID-19 in the eastern Mediterranean Region of the WHO. *Public Health*, vol. 183, pp. 46–47.
- Benson, C. and E.J. Clay (1998). The Impact of Drought on Sub-Saharan African Economies: A Preliminary Examination. Washington, D.C.: The International Bank for Reconstruction / The World Bank.
- Berg, A. and J. Sheffield (2018). Climate change and drought: the soil moisture perspective. *Current Climate Change Reports*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 180–191.
- Berkes, F., C. Folke and J. Colding (2003). Navigating Social-Ecological Systems Building Resilience for Complexity and Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Berry, H.L., T.D. Waite, K.B.G. Dear, A.G. Capon and V. Murray (2018). The case for systems thinking about climate change and mental health. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 8, pp. 282–290.
- Biermann, F. and P. Pattberg (2008). Global environmental governance: Taking stock, moving forward. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, vol. 33, pp. 277–294.

- Biggs, E.M., E. Bruce, B. Boruff, J.M.A. Duncan, J. Horsley, N. Pauli, K. McNeill, A. Neef, F. Van Ogtrop, J. Curnow, B. Haworth, S. Duce and Y. Imanarig (2015). Sustainable development and the water-energy-food nexus: A perspective on livelihoods. *Environmental Science & Policy*, vol. 54, pp. 389–397.
- Birkmann, J., O.D. Cardona, M.L. Carreño, A.H. Barbat, M. Pelling, S. Schneiderbauer, S. Kienberger, M. Keiler, D. Alexander, P. Zeil and T. Welle (2013). Framing vulnerability, risk and societal responses: the MOVE framework. *Natural Hazards*, 67, no. 2, pp. 193–211.
- Birkmann, J., S.L. Cutter, D.S. Rothman, T. Welle, M. Garschagen, B. Van Ruijven, B. O'Neill, B.L. Preston, S. Kienberger, O.D. Cardona, T. Siagian, D. Hidayati, N. Setiadi, C.R. Binder, B. Hughes and R. Pulwarty (2015). Scenarios for vulnerability: opportunities and constraints in the context of climate change and disaster risk. *Climatic Change*, vol. 133, no. 1, pp. 53–68.
- Black, R.E., L.H. Allen, Z.A. Bhutta, L.E. Caulfield, M. De Onis, M. Ezzati, C. Mathers and J. Rivera (2008). Maternal and child undernutrition: Global and regional exposures and health consequences. *The Lancet*, vol. 371, no. 9608, pp. 243–260.
- Blahušiaková, A., M. Matoušková, M. Jenicek, O. Ledvinka, Z. Kliment, J. Podolinská and Z. Snopková (2020). Snow and climate trends and their impact on seasonal runoff and hydrological drought types in selected mountain catchments in Central Europe. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, vol. 65, no. 12, pp. 2083–2096.
- Blaikie, P., T. Cannon, I. Davis and B. Wisner (1994). At Risk: Natural Hazards, People's Vulnerability, and Disasters. Psychology Press.
- Blatter, J. and H. Ingram (2000). States, markets and beyond: Governance of transboundary water resources. *Natural Resources Journal*, vol. 40, p. 439.
- Blauhut, V. (2020). The triple complexity of drought risk analysis and its visualisation via mapping: A review across scales and sectors. *Earth-Science Reviews*, vol. 210, 103345.
- Blauhut, V., L. Gudmundsson and K. Stahl (2015). Towards pan-European drought risk maps: Quantifying the link between drought indices and reported drought impacts. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 10, no. 1, 014008.
- Blauhut, V., K. Stahl, J.H. Stagge, L.M. Tallaksen, L. De Stefano and J.V. Vogt (2016). Estimating drought risk across Europe from reported drought impacts, drought indices, and vulnerability factors. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 20, no. 7, pp. 2779–2800.
- Boer, M.M., V.R. de Dios and R.A. Bradstock (2020). Unprecedented burn area of Australian mega forest fires. Nature Climate Change, 10, no. 3, pp. 171–172.
- Boisier, J.P., R. Rondanelli, R.D. Garreaud and F. Muñoz (2016). Anthropogenic and natural contributions to the Southeast Pacific precipitation decline and recent

megadrought in central Chile. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 413–421.

- Bolles, K., S.L. Forman and M. Sweeney (2017). Eolian processes and heterogeneous dust emissivity during the 1930s Dust Bowl Drought and implications for projected 21st-century megadroughts. *The Holocene*, vol. 27, no. 10, pp. 1578–1588.
- Bond, N.R., P.S. Lake and A.H. Arthington (2008). The impacts of drought on freshwater ecosystems: an Australian perspective. *Hydrobiologia*, vol. 600, no. 1, pp. 3–16.
- Bordi, I. and A. Sutera (2007). Drought monitoring and forecasting at large scale. *In Methods and Tools for Drought Analysis and Management*, pp. 3–27. Dordrecht: Springer.
- Broto, V.C. and H. Bulkeley (2013). A survey of urban climate change experiments in 100 cities. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 92–10.
- Brouwer, H., J. Woodhill, M. Hemmati, K. Verhoosel and S. van Vugt (2016). The MSP Guide: How to Design and Facilitate Multi-stakeholder Partnerships. Practical Action Publishing.
- Brown, L., J. Medlock and V. Murray (2014). Impact of drought on vector-borne diseases – how does one manage the risk? *Public Health*, vol. 128, pp. 29–37.
- Brunner, R. (2010). Adaptive governance as a reform strategy. *Policy Sciences*, vol. 43, pp. 301–341.
- Brüntrup, M. and D. Tsegai (2017). Drought Adaptation and Resilience in Developing Countries. Briefing Paper No. 23/2017. Available at <u>https://www.die-gdi.de/uploads/ media/BP_23.2017.pdf</u>.
- Bryan, B.A., M. Nolan, T.D. Harwood, J.D. Connor, J. Navarro-Garcia, D. King, D.M. Summers, D. Newth, Y. Caid, N. Grigge, I. Harmand, N.D. Crossman, M.J. Grundy, J.J. Finnigan, S. Ferrier, K.J. Williams, K.A. Wilson, E.A. Law and S. Hatfield-Dodds (2014). Supply of carbon sequestration and biodiversity services from Australia's agricultural land under global change. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 28, pp. 166–181.
- Bryan, B.A., M. Nolan, L. McKellar, J.D. Connor, D. Newth, T. Harwood, D. King, J. Navarro, Y. Cai, L. Gao, M. Grundy, P. Graham, A. Ernst, S. Dunstall, F. Stock, T. Brinsmead, I. Harman, N. J.Grigg, M. Battaglia, B. Keating, A. Wonhas and S. Hatfield-Dodds (2016). Land-use and sustainability under intersecting global change and domestic policy scenarios: Trajectories for Australia to 2050. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 38, pp. 130–152.
- Burr, M.L., A.R. Davis and A.G. Zbijowski (1978). Diarrhoea and the drought. *Public Health*, vol. 92, pp. 86–87.
- Burrows, K. and P.L. Kinney (2016). Exploring the climate change, migration and conflict nexus. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 443.
- Burton, I. (2005). The social construction of natural disasters: An evolutionary perspective. In *Know Risk*, pp. 35–36. Geneva: United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Reduction.
- Burton, I., R.W. Kates and G.F. White (1978). *The Environment* as Hazard. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Butler, J.R.A., R.M. Wise, T.D. Skewes, E.L. Bohensky, N. Peterson, W. Suadnya, Y. Yanuartati, T. Handayani, P. Habibi, K. Puspadi, N. Bou, D. Vaghelo and W. Rochester (2015). Integrating top-down and bottomup adaptation planning to build adaptive capacity: a structured learning approach. *Coastal Management*, vol. 43, no. 4, pp. 346–364.
- Camacho-Villa, T.C., C. Almekinders, J. Hellin, T.E. Martinez-Cruz, R. Rendon-Medel, F. Guevara-Hernández, T.D. Beuchelt and B. Govaerts (2016). The evolution of the MasAgro hubs: Responsiveness and serendipity as drivers of agricultural innovation in a dynamic and heterogeneous context. *The Journal of Agricultural Education and Extension*, vol. 22, no. 5, pp. 455–470.
- Cammalleri, C., F. Micale and J. Vogt (2016). A novel soil moisture-based drought severity index (DSI) combining water deficit magnitude and frequency. *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 289–301.
- Cammalleri, C., J. Vogt and P. Salamon (2017). Development of an operational low-flow index for hydrological drought monitoring over Europe. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, vol. 62, no. 3, pp. 346–358.
- Cammalleri, C., G. Naumann, L. Mentaschi, G. Formetta, G. Forzieri, S. Gosling, B. Bisselink, A. De Roo and L. Feyen (2020). Global warming and drought impacts in the EU. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Campbell, D.T. (1969). Reforms as experiments. *American Psychologist*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 409–429.
- Carfagna, F., R. Cervigni and P. Fallavier, eds. (2018). Mitigating Drought Impacts in Drylands: Quantifying the Potential for Strengthening Crop- and Livestock-based Livelihoods. The World Bank.
- Carnie, T.L., H.L. Berry, S.A. Blinkhorn and C.R. Hart (2011). In their own words: Young people's mental health in drought-affected rural and remote NSW. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 244–248.
- Carrão, H., G. Naumann and P. Barbosa (2016). Mapping global patterns of drought risk: An empirical framework based on sub-national estimates of hazard, exposure and vulnerability. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 39, pp. 108–124.

(2018). Global projections of drought hazard in a warming climate: A prime for disaster risk management. *Climate Dynamics*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 2137–2155.

- CGEE (Centro de Gestão e Estudos Estratégicos) (2017). Special Issue on Droughts. *Parcerias Estratégicas*, vol. 22, no. 44. Brasília – DF. <u>Available at http://seer.</u> <u>cgee.org.br/index.php/parcerias_estrategicas/article/</u> <u>viewFile/857/785</u>.
- Chape, S., M. Spalding and M. Jenkins (2008). *The World's* Protected Areas: Status, Values and Prospects in the 21st Century. University of California Press.

- Chase, J.M. and T.M. Knight (2003). Drought-induced mosquito outbreaks in wetlands. *Ecology Letters*, vol. 6, no. 11, pp. 1017–1024.
- Chen, J. and Y. Yang (2011). A fuzzy ANP-based approach to evaluate region agricultural drought risk. *Procedia Engineering*, vol. 23, pp. 822–827.
- Chen, J.L., C.R. Wilson, B.D. Tapley, L. Longuevergne, Z.L. Yang and B.R. Scanlon (2010). Recent La Plata basin drought conditions observed by satellite gravimetry. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, vol. 115, no. D22.
- Chen, J., J.S. Famigliett, B.R. Scanlon and M. Rodell (2016). Groundwater storage changes: Present status from GRACE observations. *Surveys in Geophysics*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 397–417.
- Chen, H., K. Matsuhashi, K. Takahashi, S. Fujimori, K. Honjo and K. Gomi (2020a). Adapting global shared socioeconomic pathways for national scenarios in Japan. *Sustainability Science*, vol. 15, pp. 985–1000.
- Chen, G., X. Li, X. Liu, Y. Chen, X. Liang, J. Leng, X. Xu, W. Liao, Y. Qiu, Q. Wu and K. Huang (2020b). Global projections of future urban land expansion under shared socioeconomic pathways. *Nature Communications*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–12.
- Cherlet, M., C. Hutchinson, J. Reynolds, J. Hill, S. Sommer and G. von Maltitz, eds. (2018). *World Atlas of Desertification*. Luxembourg: Publication Office of the European Union.
- Choat, B., T.J. Brodribb, C.R. Brodersen, R.A.R. Duursma López and B.E. Medlyn (2018). Triggers of tree mortality under drought. *Nature*, vol. 558, no. 7711, pp. 531-539.
- Chou, J., T. Xian, R. Zhao, Y. Xu, F. Yang and M. Sun (2019). Drought risk assessment and estimation in vulnerable eco-regions of China: Under the background of climate change. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, vol. 11, no. 16.
- Cobb, K.M., C.D. Charles, H. Cheng and R.L. Edwards (2003). El Niño/Southern Oscillation and tropical Pacific climate during the last millennium. *Nature*, vol. 424, no. 6946, pp. 271–276.
- Codromaz de Rojas, A.E. (2000). The climatic impact of La Niña-related droughts in Entre Rios (Argentina). Drought Network News (1994-2001), no. 15.
- Coffel, E.D., B. Keith, C. Lesk, R.M.E. Horton Bower, J. Lee and J.S. Mankin (2019). Future hot and dry years worsen Nile Basin water scarcity despite projected precipitation increases. *Earth's Future*, vol. 7, pp. 967–977.
- Cohen, A.S., J.R. Stone, K.R. Beuning, L.E. Park, P.N. Reinthal, D. Dettman, C.A. Scholz, T. C. Johnson, J.W. King, M.R. Talbot, E.T. Brown and S.J. Ivory (2007). Ecological consequences of early Late Pleistocene megadroughts in tropical Africa. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 104, no. 42, pp. 16422–16427.
- Coleman, K. and M.J. Stern (2018). Exploring the functions of different forms of trust in collaborative natural

resource management. Society & Natural Resources, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 21–38.

- Contu, A. and E. Girei (2014). NGOs management and the value of 'partnerships' for equality in international development: What's in a name? *Human Relations*, vol. 67, no. 2, pp. 205–232.
- Cook, E.R., C.A. Woodhouse, C.M. Eakin, D.M. Meko and D.W. Stahle (2004). Long-term aridity changes in the western United States. *Science*, vol. 306, no. 5698, pp. 1015–1018.
- Cook, E.R., K.J. Anchukaitis, B.M. Buckley, D'Arrigo, R.D., G.C. Jacoby and W.E. Wright (2010). Asian monsoon failure and megadrought during the last millennium. *Science*, vol. 328, no. 5977, pp. 486–489.
- Cook, B.I., R. Seager, R.L. Miller and J.A. Mason (2013). Intensification of North American megadroughts through surface and dust aerosol forcing. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 26, no. 13, pp. 4414–4430.
- Cook, B.I., J.E. Smerdon, R. Seager and S. Coats (2014). Global warming and 21st century drying. *Climate Dynamics*, vol. 43, no. 9–10, pp. 2607–2627.
- Cook, E.R., R. Seager, Y. Kushnir, K. R. Briffa, U. Büntgen, D. Frank, P. J. Krusic, W. Tegel, G.van der Schrier, L. Andreu-Hayles, M. Baillie, C.Baittinger, N. Bleicher, N. Bonde, D. Brown, M. Carrer, R. Cooper, K.Čufar, C. Dittmar, J. Esper, C.I Griggs, B. Gunnarson, B. Günther, E. Gutierrez, K. Haneca, S. Helama, F. Herzig, K.-U. Heussner, J. Hofmann, P. Janda, R. Kontic, N. Köse, T.Kyncl, T. Levanič, H. Linderholm, S. Manning, T. M. Melvin, D.Miles, B. Neuwirth, K. Nicolussi, P. Nola, M. Panayotov, I. Popa, A.Rothe, K. Seftigen, A. Seim, H. Svarva, M. Svoboda, T. Thun, M. Timonen, R. Touchan, V. Trotsiuk, V.Trouet, F. Walder, T. Ważny, R. Wilson and C. Zang (2015a). Old world megadroughts and pluvials during the Common Era. *Science Advances*, vol. 1, no. 10, e150051.
- Cook, B.I., T.R. Ault and J.E. Smerdon (2015b). Unprecedented 21st century drought risk in the American Southwest and Central Plains. *Science Advances*, vol. 1, no. 1, e1400082.
- Cook, B.I., K.J. Anchukaitis, R. Touchan, D.M. Meko and E.R. Cook (2016a). Spatiotemporal drought variability in the Mediterranean over the last 900 years. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, vol. 121, no. 5, pp. 2060–2074.
- Cook, B.I., E.R. Cook, J.E. Smerdon, R. Seager, A.P. Williams, S. Coats, D. Stahle, W. David and J.V. Díaz (2016b). North American megadroughts in the Common Era: Reconstructions and simulations. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 411–432.
- Cook, B.I., J.S. Mankin and K.J. Anchukaitis (2018). Climate change and drought: From past to future. *Current Climate Change Reports*, vol. 4, no. 2, pp. 164–179.
- Cooley, H., P.H. Gleick, S. Abraham and W. Cai (2020). Water and the COVID-19 Pandemic. Impacts on Municipal Water Demand. Pacific Institute Issue Brief. Available

at https://pacinst.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/ Water-and-COVID-19_Impacts-on-Municipal-Water-Demand_Pacific-Institute.pdf.

- Cooper, M.W., M.E. Brown, S. Hochrainer-Stigler, G. Pflug, I. McCallum, S. Fritz, J. Silva and A. Zvoleff (2019). Mapping the effects of drought on child stunting. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 116, no. 35, pp. 17219–17224.
- Crausbay, S.D., A.R. Ramirez, S.L. Carter, M.S. Cross, K.R. Hall, D.J. Bathke, J.L. Betancourt, S. Colt, A.E. Cravens, M.S. Dalton, J.B. Dunham, L.E. Hay, M.J. Hayes, J. McEvoy, C.A. McNutt, M.A. Moritz, K.H. Nislow, N. Raheem and T. Sanford (2017). Defining ecological drought for the twenty-first century. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, vol. 98, no. 12, pp. 2543–2550.
- CRED (Center for Research on the Epidemiology of Disasters) (2019). International Emergency Disasters Database (EM-DAT). Available at <u>http://www.emdat.</u> <u>be/database</u>. Accessed on 23 June 2020.
- Crona, B.I. (2006). Of Mangroves and Middlemen: A Study of Social and Ecological Linkages in a Coastal Community. Stockholm: Stockholm Resilience Centre. Available at http://www.stockholmresilience.org/ download/18.39aa239f11a8dd8de6b800032497/ Crona+PhD+Thesis.pdf.
- CSIRO (Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organisation) (2015). Australian National Outlook 2015 : Economic Activity, Resource Use, Environmental Performance and Living Standards, 1970–2050. Available at https://www.csiro.au/~/media/Major%20 initiatives/Australian-National-Outlook/CSIRO%20 MAIN_REPORT%20National_Outlook, 2015.pdf.
 - _____ (2019). Australian National Outlook 2019. Available at <u>https://www.csiro.au/-/media/Showcases/</u> ANO/ANO2_MainReport_WEB_190614.pdf.
- Cuaresma, J.C. (2017). Income projections for climate change research: A framework based on human capital dynamics. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 42, pp. 226–236.
- Cullen, H.M., A. Kaplan, P.A. Arkin and P.B. de Menocal (2002). Impact of the North Atlantic Oscillation on Middle Eastern climate and streamflow. *Climatic Change*, vol. 55, pp. 315–338.
- Dai, A. (2011). Drought under global warming: A review. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 45–65.
 - (2013). Increasing drought under global warming in observations and models. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 52–58.
- Dai, A. and T. Zhao (2017). Uncertainties in historical changes and future projections of drought. Part I: Estimates of historical drought changes. *Climatic Change*, vol. 144, no. 3, pp. 519–533.
- Dai, A., T. Zhao and J. Chen (2018). Climate change and drought: A precipitation and evaporation perspective. Current Climate Change Reports, vol. 4, no. 3,

pp. 301-312.

- Dale, A.G. and S.D. Frank (2017). Warming and drought combine to increase pest insect fitness on urban trees. *PloS One*, vol. 12, no. 3, e0173844.
- Damania, R. (2020). The economics of water scarcity and variability. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 24–44.
- Davey, M.K., A. Brookshaw and S. Ineson (2014). The probability of the impact of ENSO on precipitation and near-surface temperature. *Climate Risk Management*, vol. 1, pp. 5–24.
- Davidson, E.A., A.C. de Araújo, P. Artaxo, J.K. Balch, I.F. Brown, M.M. Bustamante, M.T. Coe, R.S. DeFries, M. Keller, M. Longo, J.W. Munger, W. Schroeder, B.S. Soares-Filho, C.M. Souza Jr and S.C. Wofsy (2012). The Amazon basin in transition. *Nature*, vol. 481, no. 7381, pp. 321–328.
- Davis, M.E. and L.G. Thompson (2006). An Andean icecore record of a Middle Holocene mega-drought in North Africa and Asia. Annals of Glaciology, vol. 43, pp. 34–41.
- Dazé, A., A. Terton and M. Maass (2018). Alignment to Advance Climate-Resilient Development-An Introduction. Geneva: International Institute for Sustainable Development. Available at <u>https://</u> napglobalnetwork.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/ napgn-en-2018-alignment-to-advance-climateresilient-development-overview-brief.pdf.
- De Brito, M.M. (2021). Compound and cascading drought impacts do not happen by chance: A proposal to quantify their relationships. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 778, 146236.
- De Longueville, F., P. Ozer, S. Doumbia and S. Henry (2013). Desert dust impacts on human health: An alarming worldwide reality and a need for studies in West Africa. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 1–19.
- De Sherbinin, A.D., A. Apotsos and J. Chevrier (2017). Mapping the future: Policy applications of climate vulnerability mapping in West Africa. *The Geographical Journal*, vol. 183, no. 4, pp. 414–425.
- De Sherbinin, A., A. Bukvic, G. Rohat, M. Gall, McCusker, B., B. Preston, A. Apotsos, C. Fish, S. Kienberger, P. Muhonda, O. Wilhelmi, D. Macharia, W. Shubert, R. Sliuzas, B. Tomaszewski and S. Zhang (2019). Climate vulnerability mapping: A systematic review and future prospects. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, vol. 10, no. 5, e600.
- Dekens, J. (2007). The Snake and the River Don't Run Straight: Local Knowledge on Disaster Preparedness in the Eastern Terai of Nepal. International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development.
- Dekens, J. and M. Eriksson (2009). Adapting to climateinduced water stresses and hazards in the Hindu Kush-Himalayas. *Sustainable Mountain Development*, no. 56, pp. 34–37.

Dellink, R., J. Chateau, E. Lanzi and B. Magné (2017). Long-

term economic growth projections in the shared socioeconomic pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 42, pp. 200–214.

- Desbureaux, S. and A.S. Rodella (2019). Drought in the city: The economic impact of water scarcity in Latin American metropolitan areas. *World Development*, vol. 114, pp. 13–27.
- Di Baldassarre, G., N. Wanders, A. AghaKouchak, L. Kuil, S. Rangecroft, T.I. Veldkamp, T.I.E.Veldkamp, M. Garcia, P.R. van Oel, K. Breinl and A.F. Van Loon (2018). Water shortages worsened by reservoir effects. *Nature Sustainability*, vol. 1, no. 11, pp. 617–622.
- Diaz S., M. Marcelo and F. Casanoves (1998). Plant functional traits and environmental filters at a regional scale. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 113–122.
- Dierauer, J.R., D.M. Allen and P.H. Whitfield (2019). Snow drought risk and susceptibility in the western United States and southwestern Canada. *Water Resources Research*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 3076–3091.
- Dietz, T., E. Ostrom and P.C. Stern (2003). The struggle to govern the commons. *Science*, vol. 302, no. 5652, pp. 1907–1912.
- Diffenbaugh, N.S., M. Scherer and M. Ashfaq (2013). Response of snow-dependent hydrologic extremes to continued global warming. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 379–384.
- Diffenbaugh, N.S., D.L. Swain and D. Touma (2015). Anthropogenic warming has increased drought risk in California. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 112(13), pp. 3931–3936.
- Diffenbaugh, N.S. (2020). Verification of extreme event attribution: Using out-of-sample observations to assess changes in probabilities of unprecedented events. *Science Advances*, vol. 6, no. 12, eaay2368.
- Dilley, M. (2005). Natural Disaster Hotspots: A Global Risk Analysis. Disaster Risk Management Series, no. 5. Washington, D.C.: The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank and Columbia University. Available at <u>https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/7376</u>.
- Dilling, L., M.E. Daly, D.A. Kenney, R. Klein, K. Miller, A.J. Ray, W.R. Travis and O. Wilhelmi (2019). Drought in urban water systems: Learning lessons for climate adaptive capacity. *Climate Risk Management*, vol. 23, pp. 32–42.
- Djoudi, H., B. Locatelli, C. Vaast, K. Asher, M. Brockhaus and B.B. Sijapati (2016). Beyond dichotomies: Gender and intersecting inequalities in climate change studies. *Ambio*, vol. 45, no 3, pp. 248–262.
- D'Odorico, P., F. Laio and L. Ridolfi (2010). Does globalization of water reduce societal resilience to drought?. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 37, no. 13.
- Dooley, K. and A. Gupta (2017). Governing by expertise: The contested politics of (accounting for) land-based mitigation in a new climate agreement. *International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics,*

vol.17, pp. 483-500.

- Dorsch, M.J. and C. Flachsland (2017). A polycentric approach to global climate governance. *Global Environmental Politics*, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 45–64.
- Dosio, A. and E.M. Fischer (2018). Will half a degree make a difference? Robust projections of indices of mean and extreme climate in Europe under 1.5°C, 2°C, and 3°C global warming. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 935–944.
- Dunn, W.N. (2018). Rediscovering pragmatism and the policy sciences. *European Policy Analysis*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 13–22.
- Dutra, E., W. Pozzi, F. Wetterhall, F.D. Giuseppe, L. Magnusson, G. Naumann, P. Barbosa, J. Vogt and F. Pappenberger (2014). Global meteorological drought– Part 2: Seasonal forecasts. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 2669–2678.
- Ebi, K.L. and K. Bowen (2016). Extreme events as sources of health vulnerability: Drought as an example. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, vol. 11, pp. 95–102.
- EC (European Commission) (2007). Water Scarcity & Droughts: In-Depth Assessment. Second Interim Report. Available at https://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/ quantity/pdf/comm_droughts/2nd_int_report.pdf.
- ECLAC (Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean) and UNDRR (United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction) (2021). The Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) Pandemic: An Opportunity for a Systemic Approach to Disaster Risk for the Caribbean. Available at https://www.undrr.org/publication/undrreclac-report-coronavirus-disease-covid-19-pandemicopportunity-systemic-approach.
- EEA (European Environment Agency) (2018). Perspectives on Transitions to Sustainability. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/perspectiveson-transitions-to-sustainability/file.
 - (2019). Sustainability Transitions: Policy and Practice. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at <u>https://www.eea.europa.</u> <u>eu/publications/sustainability-transitions-policy-andpractice.</u>
- Effler, E., M. Isaäcson, L. Arntzen, R. Heenan, P. Canter, T. Barrett, L. Lee, C. Mambo, W. Levine, A. Zaidi and P.M. Griffin (2001). Factors contributing to the emergence of Escherichia coli O157 in Africa. *Emerging Infectious Diseases*, vol. 7, no. 5, p. 812.
- Ehnert. F., N. Frantzeskaki, J. Barnes, S. Borgström, L. Gorissen, F. Kern, L. Strenchock and M. Egermann (2018).The acceleration of urban sustainability transitions: A comparison of Brighton, Budapest, Dresden, Genk, and Stockholm. Sustainability, vol. 10, no. 3, p. 612.
- Eng, K., D.M. Wolock and D.M. Carlisle (2013). River flow changes related to land and water management practices across the conterminous United States. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 463, pp. 414–422.

- Erian, W., B. Katlan, B. Ouldbedy, H. Awad, E. Zaghtity and S. Ibrahim (2012). Agriculture drought in Africa and Mediterranean. Background paper prepared for *Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2013*. Geneva: United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Risk Reduction. Available at <u>https://www. preventionweb.net/english/hyogo/gar/2013/en/</u> bgdocs/Erian%20et.al,%202012.pdf.
- Erian, W., B. Katlan and B. Ouldbedy (2013). Case Study - Drought in Syria: Ten Years of Scarce Water (2000– 2010). Damascus: Arab Center for the Studies of Ariz Zones and Dry Lands and Geneva: United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Risk Reduction. Available at https://www.zaragoza.es/contenidos/ medioambiente/onu/1195-eng.pdf.
- Erian E., B. Katlan, N. Assad and S.F. Ibrahim (2014). Effects of drought and land degradation on vegetation losses: in Africa, Arab Region, drought and conflict in Syria, drylands in South America and forests of Amazon and Congo Rivers Basins. Background paper prepared for the *Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2015.* Geneva: United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Risk Reduction. Available at https://www.preventionweb.net/english/hyogo/ gar/2015/en/bgdocs/Erian%20et%20al.,%202014.pdf.
- Ernstson, H., S. van der Leeuw, C.M. Redman, D. Davis, G. Alfsen and C.T. Elmqvist (2010). Urban transitions: On urban resilience and human-dominated ecosystems. *Ambio*, vol.39, pp. 531–545.
- Esri (2016). Drought and wildfire: A wildfire observed by the National Weather Story Map Journal application in ArcGIS Online. Available at <u>https://www.arcgis.com/ apps/MapJournal/index.html?appid=720f30bf66074c 10b12e64711a4ff5a8</u>.
- Evans, J.P. (2009). 21st century climate change in the Middle East. *Climatic Change*, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 417–432.
- FABLE (Food, Agriculture, Biodiversity, Land-Use, and Energy (2019). Pathways to Sustainable Land-Use and Food Systems. International Institute for Applied Systems Analysis and Sustainable Development Solutions Network. Available at <u>https://www. foodandlandusecoalition.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/Fable-interim-report_complete-low.</u> pdf.
- Famiglietti, J.S. (2014). The global groundwater crisis. Nature Climate Change, vol. 4, pp. 945–948.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations) (2010). Farmers in a Changing Climate. Does Gender Matter? Food Security in Andhra Pradesh, India. Available at <u>http://www.fao.org/3/i1721e/i1721e00.pdf</u>.
 - (2011). Food price volatility and the right to food. Right to Food Issues Brief 1. Available at <u>http://</u> www.fao.org/3/a-i2417e.pdf.
 - (2012). Syrian Arab Republic: Joint Rapid Food Security Needs Assessment (JRFSNA). Available at https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/ resources/JRFSNA_Syrian2012_0.pdf.

_____ (2013).Paving the Way for National Drought Policies. Rome. Available at <u>http://www.fao.org/3/</u> aq659e/aq659e.pdf.

_____ (2015). AQUASTAT – FAO's Global Information System on Water and Agriculture. Available at <u>http://</u> www.fao.org/nr/water/aquastat/main/index.stm.

(2018). Horn of Africa Impact of Early Warning Early Action. Rome. Available at <u>http://www.fao.org/3/</u> ca0227en/CA0227EN.pdf.

(2021a). The Impact of Disasters and Crises on Agriculture and Food Security: 2021. Rome. Available at http://www.fao.org/3/cb3673en/cb3673en.pdf.

_____ (2021b). Social Protection and Climate Change. Rome. Available at <u>http://www.fao.org/3/cb3527en/</u> <u>cb3527en.pdf</u>.

- Fawcett, P.J., J.P. Werne, R.S. Anderson, J.M. Heikoop, E.T. Brown, M.A. Berke, S.J. Smith, F. Goff, L. Donohoo-Hurley, L.M. Cisneros-Dozal, S. Schouten, J. S.Sinninghe Damsté, Y. Huang, J. Toney, J. Fessenden, G. Woldegabriel, V. Atudorei, J. W. Geissman and C.D. Allen (2011). Extended megadroughts in the southwestern United States during Pleistocene interglacials. *Nature*, vol. 470, no. 7335, pp. 518–521.
- Feltran-Barbieri, R., S. Ozment, P. Hamel, E. Gray, H. Lucchesi Mansur, T. Piazetta Valente, J. Baldadelli Ribeiro and M.M. Matsumota (2018). *Infraestrutura Natural para Água no Sistema Guandu, Rio de Janeiro*. Brazil: World Resources Institute.
- Femia, F. and C. Werrell (2012). Syria: Climate change, drought and social unrest. The Center for Climate and Security, 29. Available at <u>http://climateandsecurity.org/2012/02/29/syria-climate-change-drought-andsocial-unrest.</u>
- Ficklin, D.L., J.T. Abatzoglou, S.M. Robeson and A. Dufficy (2016). The influence of climate model biases on projections of aridity and drought. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 29, no. 4, pp. 1269–1285.
- Findley, S.E. (1994). Does drought increase migration? A study of migration from rural Mali during the 1983– 1985 drought. *International Migration Review*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 539–553.
- Fink, A.H., T. Brücher, A. Krüger, G.C. Leckebusch, J.G. Pinto and U. Ulbrich (2004). The 2003 European summer heatwaves and drought-synoptic diagnosis and impacts. *Weather*, vol. 59, no. 8, pp. 209–216.
- Finlay, S.E., A. Moffat, R. Gazzard, D. Baker and V. Murray (2012). Health impacts of wildfires. *PLoS Currents Disasters*, vol. 4.
- Fischhendler, I. (2004). Legal and institutional adaptation to climate uncertainty: A study of international rivers. *Water Policy*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 281–302.
- Fischhoff, B. (2020). Making behavioral science integral to climate science and action. *Behavioural Public Policy*, pp. 1–15.
- Fleig, A.K., L.M. Tallaksen, H. Hisdal and D.M. Hannah (2011). Regional hydrological drought in north-

western Europe: Linking a new regional drought area index with weather types. *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1163–1179.

- Fletcher, A.J. (2018). What works for women in agriculture? In Women in Agriculture Worldwide: Key Issues and Practical Approaches, A.J. Fletcher and W. Kubik, eds. London and New York: Routledge.
- Folke, C., T. Hahn, P. Olsson, and J. Norberg (2005). Adaptive governance of social-ecological systems. Annual Review of Environmental Resources, vol. 30, pp. 441–473.
- Fontrodona Bach, A., G. Van der Schrier, L.A. Melsen, A.M.G. Klein Tank and A.J. Teuling (2018). Widespread and accelerated decrease of observed mean and extreme snow depth over Europe. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 45, no. 22, pp. 12312–12319.
- Ford, T.W. and C.F. Labosier (2017). Meteorological conditions associated with the onset of flash drought in the eastern United States. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 247, pp. 414–423.
- Ford, J.D., T. Pearce, G. McDowell, L. Berrang-Ford, J.S. Sayles and E. Belfer (2018). Vulnerability and its discontents: The past, present, and future of climate change vulnerability research. *Climatic Change*, vol. 151, no. 2, pp. 189–203.
- Forman, S.L., R. Oglesby and R.S. Webb (2001). Temporal and spatial patterns of Holocene dune activity on the Great Plains of North America: Megadroughts and climate links. *Global and Planetary Change*, vol. 29, no. 1–2, pp. 1–29.
- Frame, B., J. Lawrence, A.G. Ausseil, A. Reisinger and A. Daigneault (2018). Adapting global shared socioeconomic pathways for national and local scenarios. *Climate Risk Management*, vol. 21, pp. 39–51.
- Fraser, E.D., E. Simelton, M. Termansen, S.N. Gosling and A. South (2013). "Vulnerability hotspots": Integrating socio-economic and hydrological models to identify where cereal production may decline in the future due to climate change induced drought. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, vol. 170, pp. 195–205.
- Freund, M., B.J. Henley, D.J. Karoly, K.J. Allen and P.J. Baker (2017). Multi-century cool-and warm-season rainfall reconstructions for Australia's major climatic regions. *Climate of the Past*, vol. 13, no. 12, pp. 1751–1770.
- Friel, S., H. Berry, H. Dinh, L. O'Brien and H.L. Walls (2014). The impact of drought on the association between food security and mental health in a nationally representative Australian sample. *BMC Public Health*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 1–11.
- Frischen, J., I. Meza, D. Rupp, K. Wietler and M. Hagenlocher (2020). Drought risk to agricultural systems in Zimbabwe: A spatial analysis of hazard, exposure, and vulnerability. *Sustainability*, vol. 12, no. 3, p. 752.
- G20 (Group of Twenty) (2011). Action plan on food price volatility and agriculture. In Meeting of G20 Agriculture Ministers. Paris. Available at http://www.g20.utoronto.ca/2011/2011-agriculture-plan-en.pdf.

- Gadgil, S. and S. Gadgil (2006). The Indian Monsoon, GDP and agriculture. *Economic and Political Weekly*, vol. 41, no. 47.
- Gall, M., K.A. Borden and S.L. Cutter (2009). When do losses count? Six fallacies of natural hazards loss data. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, vol. 90, no. 6, pp. 799–810.
- Gallina, V., S. Torresan, A. Critto, A. Sperotto, T. Glade and A. Marcomini (2016). A review of multi-risk methodologies for natural hazards: Consequences and challenges for a climate change impact assessment. *Journal of Environmental Management*, vol. 168, pp. 123–132.
- GAO (Government Accountability Office) (2008). Natural Resource Management: Opportunities Exist to Enhance Federal Participation in Collaborative Efforts to Reduce Conflicts and Improve Natural Resource Conditions. Washington D.C.: US Government Accountability Office.
- Garcia, R. (1981). Drought and Man: The 1972 Case History, Volume 1: Nature Pleads Not Guilty. Pergamon Press.
- Garcia-Aristizabal, A., P. Gasparini and G. Uhinga (2015).
 Multi-risk assessment as a tool for decision-making.
 In Climate Change and Urban Vulnerability in Africa,
 A Multidisciplinary Approach, Future Cities, vol. 4,
 S. Pauleit, G. Jorgensen, Kabisch, P. Gasparini, S.
 Fohlmeister, I. Simonis, K. Yeshitela, A. Coly, S.
 Lindley and W.J. Kombe, eds. Springer International
 Publishing.
- García-Pando, C.P., M.C. Stanton, P.J. Diggle, S. Trzaska, R.L. Miller, J.P. Perlwitz, J.M. Baldasano, E. Cuevas, P. Ceccato, P. Yaka and M.C. Thomson (2014). Soil dust aerosols and wind as predictors of seasonal meningitis incidence in Niger. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, vol. 122, no. 7, pp. 679–686.
- Garreaud, R.D., J.P. Boisier, R. Rondanelli, A. Montecinos, H.H. Sepúlveda and D. Veloso-Aguila (2020). The central Chile mega drought (2010–2018): A climate dynamics perspective. *International Journal of Climatology*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 421–439.
- Garrick, D., J. Hall, A. Dobson, R. Damania, R. Grafton, R. Hope, C. Hepburn, R. Bark, F. Boltz, L. de Stfao, E. O'Donnell, N. Matthews and A. Money (2018). Valuing water for sustainable development. *Science*, vol. 358, no. 6366, pp. 1003–1005.
- Garrick, D., M. Hannemann and C. Hepburn (2020). Rethinking the economics of water: an assessment. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, vol. 36, pp. 1–23.
- Garud, R. and J. Gehman (2010). Procrustean transformations: Climategate, scientific controversies and hope. *Débordements: Mélanges offerts à Michel Callon*, pp. 153–167.
- Gaupp, F. (2020). Extreme events in a globalized food system. *One Earth*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 518-521.
- Gaupp, F., J. Hall, D. Mitchell and S. Dadson (2019). Increasing risks of multiple breadbasket failure under 1.5 and 2 C global warming. Agricultural Systems,

vol. 175, pp. 34-45.

- Gaupp, F., J. Hall, S. Hochrainer-Stigler and S. Dadson (2020). Changing risks of simultaneous global breadbasket failure. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 54–57.
- GCA (Global Commission on Adaptation) (2019). Adapt Now: A Global Call for Leadership on Climate Resilience. Washington and Rotterdam: Global Commission on Adaptation. Available at <u>https://gca.org/reports/</u> adapt-now-a-global-call-for-leadership-on-climateresilience/.
- Geels, F.W., B. Sovacool, T. Schwanen and S. Sorrell (2017). Sociotechnical transitions for deep decarbonization. *Science*, vol. 357 pp. 1242–1244.
- Gely, C., S.G. Laurnce and N.E. Stork (2020). How do herbivorous insects respond to drought stress in trees? *Biological Reviews*, vol. 95, no. 2, pp. 434–448.
- Georgeson, L., M. Maslin and M. Poessinouw (2017). Global disparity in the supply of commercial weather and climate information services. *Science Advances*, vol. 3, no. 5, e1602632.
- Gerber, N. and A. Mirzabaev (2017). Benefits of action and costs of inaction: Drought mitigation and preparedness-a literature review. Drought and Water Crises: Integrating Science, Management, and Policy, vol. 95.
- Giddens, A. (1999). Risk and responsibility. *The Modern Law Review*, vol. 62, pp. 1–10.
- Gil, M., A. Garrido and N. Hernández-Mora (2013). Direct and indirect economic impacts of drought in the agrifood sector in the Ebro River basin (Spain). Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences, vol. 13, no. 10, pp. 2679–2694.
- Gillard, R., A. Gouldson, J. Paavola and J. Van Alstine (2016). Transformational responses to climate change: beyond a systems perspective of social change in mitigation and adaptation. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 251–265.
- Giordano, M., A. Drieschova, J.A. Duncan, Y. Sayama, L. De Stefano and A.T. Wolf (2014). A review of the evolution and state of transboundary freshwater treaties. *International Environmental Agreements: Politics, Law and Economics*, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 245–264.
- Gitau, R., M. Makasa, L. Kasonka, M. Sinkala, C. Chintu, A. Tomkins and S. Filteau (2005). Maternal micronutrient status and decreased growth of Zambian infants born during and after the maize price increases resulting from the southern African drought of 2001–2002. *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 8, no. 7, pp. 837–843.
- Giupponi, C. and C. Biscaro (2015). Vulnerabilitiesbibliometric analysis and literature review of evolving concepts. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 10, no. 12, 123002.
- Glaser, R. (2001). *Klimageschichte Mitteleuropas*. Darmstadt: Wissenschaftliche Buchgesellschaft.
- Gleick, P.H. (2014). Water, drought, climate change, and

conflict in Syria. Weather, Climate, and Society, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 331-340.

(2018a). The World's Water Volume 9: The Report on Freshwater Resources. CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.

- (2018b). Transitions to freshwater sustainability. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 115, pp. 8863–8871.
- Goklany, I.M. (2009). Deaths and death rates from extreme weather events: 1900–2008. *Global Trends*, vol. 13, p. 14.
- Goodwin, B.K. (2001). Problems with market insurance in agriculture. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, vol. 83, no. 3, pp. 643–649.
- Government of the Commonwealth of Dominica (2016). Economic and Social Review for Fiscal Year 2016-2017. Available at http://finance.gov.dm/ nationaldevelopment-strategies/economic-and-socialreview/file/26-economic-and-social-review-for-fiscalyear-2016-2017.
- Government Office for Science (2011). Migration and Global Environmental Change: Future Challenges and Opportunities. London. Available at <u>https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/ system/uploads/attachment_data/file/287717/11-</u> 1116-migration-and-global-environmental-change.pdf.
- GPP (Gabinete de Planeamento, Políticas e Administração Geral) (2017a). Prevention, Monitoring and Contingency Plan for Drought Situations (in Portuguese). Available at <u>https://www.gpp.pt/images/Agricultura/Seca/</u> Plano-Monitorizao-Preveno-e- Contingncia-SECA.pdf.
 - (2017b). Agrometeorological and Hydrological Monitoring (Hydrological year 2016/2017) (in Portuguese). Available at <u>https://www.gpp.pt/images/</u> <u>Agricultura/Seca/Plano-Monitorizao-Preveno-e-</u> <u>Contingncia-SECA.pdf.</u>
 - (2018). Agrometeorological and Hydrological Monitoring - September 30, 2018 (Hydrological year 2017/2018) (in Portuguese). Available at <u>https://</u> www.gpp.pt/images/Agricultura/Seca/Relatorio_ Monitorizaco_30_de_setembro_de_2_018.pdf.
- Graham, C.T., M. Wilson, T. Gittings, C. Kelly, S. Irwin, J. Quinn and J. O'Halloran (2017). Implications of afforestation for bird communities: The importance of preceding land-use type. *Biodiversity Conservation*, vol. 26, pp. 3051–3071.
- Greve, P., B. Orlowsky, B. Mueller, J. Sheffield, M. Reichstein and S.I. Seneviratne (2014). Global assessment of trends in wetting and drying over land. *Nature Geoscience*, vol. 7, no. 10, pp. 716–721.
- Griffin, D.W. (2007). Atmospheric movement of microorganisms in clouds of desert dust and implications for human health. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 459–477.
- Grubb, M., J.-C. Hourcade and K. Neuhoff (2015). The three domains structure of energy-climate transitions. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, vol. 98, pp. 290–302.

- Grundy, M.J., B.A. Bryan, M. Nolan, M. Battaglia, S. Hatfield-Dodds, J.D. Connor and B.A. Keating (2016). Scenarios for Australian agricultural production and land use to 2050. Agricultural Systems, vol. 142, pp. 70–83.
- Guadiana (Confederación Hidrográfica del Guadiana) (2018). Special Drought Plan of the Guadiana River Basin. Available at https://www.chguadiana.es/sites/default/ files/2018-12/PESCHGn.pdf.
- Gutiérrez, N.L., R. Hilborn and O. Defeo (2011). Leadership, social capital and incentives promote successful fisheries. *Nature*, vol. 470, pp. 386–389.
- Gutiérrez, A.P.A., N.L. Engle, E. De Nys, C. Molejón and E.S. Martins (2014). Drought preparedness in Brazil. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, vol. 3, pp. 95–106.
- GWP-Caribbean (Global Water Partnership-Caribbean) (2020). Implications of the COVID-19 Pandemic for the Caribbean Water Sector. Perspectives Paper. Available at https://www.gwp.org/en/GWP-Caribbean/WE-ACT/ news-page/News-and-Activities/gwp-c-perspectivespaper-on-implications-of-covid-19-pandemic-forcaribbean-water-sector/.
- Hagenlocher, M., F.G. Renaud, S. Haas and Z. Sebesvari (2018). Vulnerability and risk of deltaic socialecological systems exposed to multiple hazards. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 631, pp. 71–80.
- Hagenlocher, M., I. Meza, C.C. Anderson, A. Min, F.G. Renaud, Y. Walz, S. Siebert and Z. Sebesvari (2019).
 Drought vulnerability and risk assessments: state of the art, persistent gaps, and research agenda. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 14, no. 8, 083002.
- Hall, A., V.R. Sulaiman, N. Clark and B. Yoganand (2003). From measuring impact to learning institutional lessons: an innovation systems perspective on improving the management of international agricultural research. *Agricultural Systems*, vol. 78, no. 2, pp. 213–241.
- Hamm, J.A., L.M. PytlikZillig, M.N. Herian, A.J. Tomkins, H. Dietrich and S. Michaels (2013). Trust and intention to comply with a water allocation decision: The moderating roles of knowledge and consistency. *Ecology and Society*, vol. 18, no. 4.
- Hammill, A., R. Matthew and E. McCarter (2008). Microfinance and climate change adaptation. *IDS Bulletin*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 113-122.
- Hamner, J.H. and A.T. Wolf (1998). Patterns in international water resource treaties: the transboundary freshwater dispute database. *Colorado Journal of International Environmental Law and Policy*, vol. 9, pp. 157–177.
- Hanger-Kopp, S. and M. Palka (2020). Exploring drought resilience through a drought risk management lens in Austria. In *Disaster Risk Reduction and Resilience*, pp. 115–138. Singapore: Springer.
- Hanigan, I.C., C.D. Butler, P.N. Kokic and M.F. Hutchinson (2012). Suicide and drought in new South Wales, Australia, 1970–2007. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 109, no. 35, pp. 13950–13955.

- Hanson, P.R., R.M. Joeckel, A.R. Young and J. Horn (2009). Late Holocene dune activity in the Eastern Platte River Valley, Nebraska. *Geomorphology*, vol. 103, no. 4, pp. 555–561.
- Hao, Z. and V.P. Singh (2015). Drought characterization from a multivariate perspective: A review. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 527, pp. 668–678.
- Hao, Z., F. Hao, V.P. Singh and X. Zhang (2018). Changes in the severity of compound drought and hot extremes over global land areas. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 13, no. 12, 124022.
- Harvey, C.A., M. Chacón, C.I. Donatti, E. Garen, L. Hannah,
 A. Andrade, L. Bede, D. Brown, A. Calle, J. Chará,
 C. Clement, E. Gray, M.H. Hoang, P. Minang, A.M.
 Rodríguez, C. Seeberg-Elverfeldt, B. Semroc, S.
 Shames, S. Smukler, E. Somarriba, E. Torquebiau,
 J. van Etten and E. Wollenberg (2014). Climatesmart landscapes: opportunities and challenges
 for integrating adaptation and mitigation in tropical
 aqriculture. *Conservation Letters*, vol. 7, pp. 77–90.
- Hassan, K., C. Borne and P. Nordqvist (2018). Iraq: Climaterelated Security Risk Assessment. A report from the Expert Working Group on Climate-related Security Risks. Available at <u>https://www.eastwest.ngo/sites/default/</u> files/iraq-climate-related-security-risk-assessment.pdf.
- Hatfield-Dodds, S., H. Schandl, P.D. Adams, T.M. Baynes, T.S. Brinsmead, B.A. Bryan, T.S. Brinsmead, B.A. Bryan, F.H.S. Chiew, P.W. Graham, M. Grundy, T. Harwood, R. McCallum, R. McCrea, L.E. McKellar, D. Newth, M. Nolan, I. Prosser and A. Wonhas (2015). Australia is 'free to choose' economic growth and falling environmental pressures. *Nature*, vol. 527, no. 7576, pp. 49–53.
- Hayhoe, K., C.P. Wake, T.G. Huntington, L. Luo, M.D. Schwartz, J. Sheffield, E. Wood, B. Anderson, J. Bradbury, A. DeGaetano, T.J. Troy and D. Wolfe (2007). Past and future changes in climate and hydrological indicators in the US Northeast. *Climate Dynamics*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 381–407.
- Hazeleger, W., B. van den Hurk, E. Min, G.J. van Oldenborgh, A. Petersen, D. Stainforth, E. Vasileiadou and L.A. Smith (2015). Tales of future weather. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 5, pp. 107–113.
- He, M., M. Russo and M. Anderson (2017a). Hydroclimatic characteristics of the 2012–2015 California drought from an operational perspective. *Climate*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. 5.
- He, X., Y. Wada, N. Wanders and J. Sheffield (2017b). Intensification of hydrological drought in California by human water management. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 1777–1785.
- He, X., M. Pan, Z. Wei, E.F. Wood and J. Sheffield (2020). A global drought and flood catalogue from 1950 to 2016. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, vol. 101, no. 5, pp. E508–E535.
- Heim Jr, R.R. (2002). A review of twentieth-century drought indices used in the United States. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, vol. 83, no. 8, pp. 1149–1166.

Helama, S., J. Meriläinen and H. Tuomenvirta (2009).

Multicentennial megadrought in northern Europe coincided with a global El Niño–Southern Oscillation drought pattern during the Medieval Climate Anomaly. *Geology*, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 175–178.

- Helbing, D. (2013). Globally networked risks and how to respond. *Nature*, vol. 497, no. 7447, pp. 51–59.
- Herman, M., M. Frost and R. Kurz (2009). Wargaming for Leaders: Strategic Decision Making from the Battlefield to the Boardgame. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Hertel, T. and J. Liu (2019). Implications of water scarcity for economic growth. *In Economy-Wide Modeling of Water at Regional and Global Scales*, pp. 11–35. Singapore: Springer.
- Hewitt, K. (1983). The idea of calamity in a technocratic age. Interpretations of Calamity from the Viewpoint of Human Ecology, vol. 1, pp. 3–32.
- Hewitt, C.D., E. Allis, S.J. Mason, M. Muth, R. Pulwarty, J. Shumake-Guillemot, M. Brunet, A.M. Fischer, A.M. Hama, R.K. Kolli, F. Lucio, O. Ndiaye and B. Tapia (2020). Making society climate resilient: International progress under the Global Framework for Climate Services. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, vol. 101, no. 2, pp. E237–E252.
- Hickman, R., S. Saxena, D. Banister and O. Ashiru (2012). Examining transport futures with scenario analysis and MCA. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 560–575.
- Hill, H., M. Hadarits, R. Rieger, G. Strickert, E.G. Davies and K.M. Strobbe (2014). The invitational drought tournament: What is it and why is it a useful tool for drought preparedness and adaptation?. Weather and Climate Extremes, vol. 3, pp. 107–116.
- Hillier, J.K., T. Matthews, R.L. Wilby and C. Murphy (2020). Multi-hazard dependencies can increase or decrease risk. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 10, no. 7, pp. 595–598.
- Hinrichsen, D., B. Robey and U.D. Upadhyay (1997). Solutions for a Water-short World. Population reports, Series M, no. 14. Baltimore: Johns Hopkins School of Public Health.
- Hisdal, H., L.M.B. Tallaksen Clausen, E. Peters, A. Gustard and H. Van Lauen (2004). Hydrological drought characteristics. *Hydrological Drought–Processes and Estimation Methods for Streamflow and Groundwater*, vol. 48, pp. 139–198.
- Hiza-Redsteer, M., K. Bemis, K.D. Chief, M. Gautam, B.R. Middleton and R. Tsosie (2013). Unique challenges facing southwestern tribes: Impacts, adaptation and mitigation. In Assessment of Climate Change in the Southwest United States: A Technical Report Prepared for the U.S. National Climate Assessment, G. Garfin, A. Jardine, R. Merideth, M. Black and S. LeRoy, eds. Island Press, Chapter 17, pp. 385–404.
- Hoell, A., J. Perlwitz and J.K. Eischeid (2019). *The Causes, Predictability, and Historical Context of the 2017 US Northern Great Plains Drought*. Boulder: National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and Cooperative Institute for Research in Environmental

Sciences. Available at https://repository.library.noaa. gov/view/noaa/23003/noaa_23003_DS1.pdf.

- Hoerling, M., J. Eischeid, J. Perlwitz, X. Quan, T. Zhang and P. Pegion (2012). On the increased frequency of Mediterranean drought. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 25, no. 6, pp. 2146–2161.
- Hooper, D.U., F.S. Chapin Iii, J.J. Ewel, A. Hector, P. Inchausti, S. Lavorel, J.H. Lawton, D.M. Lodge, M. Loreau, S. Naeem, B. Schmid, H. Setälä, A.J. Symstad, J. Vandermeer and D.A. Wardle (2005). Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. *Ecological Monographs*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 3–35.
- Hoppe, R. (1999). Policy analysis, science, and politics: From "speaking truth to power" to "making sense together". *Science and Public Policy*, vol. 26, no.3, pp. 201–210.
- Hsu, A., A.J. Weinfurter and K. Xu (2017). Aligning subnational climate actions for the new post-Paris climate regime. *Climatic Change*, vol. 142, no. 3–4, pp. 419–432.
- Huitema, D. and S. Meijerink, eds. (2009). Water Policy Entrepreneurs: a Research Companion to Water Transitions Around the Globe. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Hulme, M. (2001). Climatic perspectives on Sahelian desiccation: 1973–1998. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 19–29.
- Huning, L.S. and A. AghaKouchak. (2020). Global snow drought hot spots and characteristics. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 117, no. 33, pp. 19753–19759.
- Hurkmans, R.T.W.L., W. Terink, R. Uijlenhoet, E.J. Moors, P.A. Troch and P.H. Verburg (2009). Effects of land use changes on streamflow generation in the Rhine basin. *Water Resources Research*, vol. 45, no. 6.
- Hurtt, G.C., L.P. Chini, R. Sahajpal, S.E. Frolking, B. Bodirsky,
 K.V. Calvin, J.C. Doelman, J. Fisk, S. Fujimori, K.
 Goldewijk, T. Hasegawa, P. Havlik, A. Heinimann, F.
 Humpenöder, J. Jungclaus, J.O. Kaplan, T. Krisztin,
 D.M. Lawrence, P. Lawrence, O. Mertz, J. Pongratz, A.
 Popp, B. Poulter, K. Riahi, E. Shevliakova, E. Stehfest,
 P.E. Thornton, D. van Vuuren and X. Zhang (2018).
 LUH2: Harmonization of global land-use scenarios
 for the period 850–2100. AGU Fall Meeting Abstracts,
 vol. 2018, p. GC13A-01.
- Ickowitz, A., E. Sills and C. de Sassi (2017). Estimating smallholder opportunity costs of REDD+: A pantropical analysis from households to carbon and back. *World Development*, vol. 95, pp. 15–26.
- ICPAC (Intergovernmental Authority on Development Climate Prediction and Applications Centre) and WFP (World Food Programme) (2017). Greater Horn of Africa Climate Risk and Food Security Atlas: Technical Summary. Nairobi: Regional Bureau for East and Central Africa. Available at https://docs.wfp.org/api/ documents/WFP-0000098939/download/.
- IDMP (International Drought Management Programme) (n.d.). Glossary. Available at <u>https://www.</u>

droughtmanagement.info/find/glossary/.

- IGAD (Intergovernmental Authority on Development) (2007). IGAD Environment and Natural Resources Strategy. Available at https://igad.int/ attachments/159_IGAD_ENR_Strategy.pdf.
 - (2013). IGAD Drought Disaster Resilience and Sustainability Initiative (IDDRSI). Available at <u>https://</u> reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/ IDDRSI_Strategy_Revised_January_2013.pdf.
- Independent Group of Scientists (2019). Global Sustainability Development Report: *The Future is Now* – *Science for Achieving Sustainable Development*. New York: United Nations.
- Ingold, K. and M. Fischer (2014). Drivers of collaboration to mitigate climate change: An illustration of Swiss climate policy over 15 years. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 24, pp. 88–98.
- IOM (International Organization for Migration) and UNCCD (United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification) (2019). Addressing the Land Degradation – Migration Nexus: The Role of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification. Geneva. Available at https://www.uncclearn.org/sites/default/ files/inventory/iom_unccd_desertification_2019_final. pdf.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2001). *Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability.* Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, J.J. McCarthy, O.F. Canziani, N.A. Leary, D.J. Dokken and K.S. White, eds. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
 - (2007). Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, M.L. Parry, O.F. Canziani, J.P. Palutikof, P.J. van der Linden and C.E. Hanson, eds. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
 - (2012). Managing the Risks of Extreme Events and Disasters to Advance Climate Change Adaptation. Special Report of Working Groups I and II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, C.B. Field, V. Barros, T.F. Stocker, D. Qin, D.J. Dokken, K.L. Ebi, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, G.-K. Plattner, S.K. Allen, M. Tignor and P.M. Midgley, eds. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

(2014a). *Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report.* Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Core Writing Team, R.K. Pachauri and L.A. Meyer, eds. Geneva.

(2014b). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part B: Regional Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, V.R. Barros, C.B. Field, D.J. Dokken, M.D. Mastrandrea, K.J. Mach, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea and L.L. White, eds. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

(2014c). Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, C.B. Field, C.B., V.R. Barros, D.J. Dokken, K.J. Mach, M.D. Mastrandrea, T.E. Bilir, M. Chatterjee, K.L. Ebi, Y.O. Estrada, R.C. Genova, B. Girma, E.S. Kissel, A.N. Levy, S. MacCracken, P.R. Mastrandrea and L.L. White, eds. Cambridge and New York: Cambridge University Press.

(2018). Global Warming of 1.5°C. An IPCC Special Report on the Impacts of Global Warming of 1.5°C above Pre-industrial Levels and Related Global Greenhouse Gas Emission Pathways, in the Context of Strengthening the Global Response to the threat of Climate Change, Sustainable Development, and Efforts to Eradicate Poverty, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, H.O. Pörtner, D. Roberts, J. Skea, P.R. Shukla, A. Pirani, W. Moufouma-Okia, C. Péan, R. Pidcock, S.J.B. Connors, R. Matthews, Y. Chen, X. Zhou, M.I. Gomis, E. Lonnoy, T. Maycock, M. Tignor and T. Waterfield, eds. Geneva.

(2019). Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate, H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama and N.M. Weyer, eds. Geneva.

IRGC (International Risk Governance Council) (2018). Guidelines for the Governance of Systemic Risks. Lausanne. Available at <u>https://irgc.org/risk-governance/systemic-risks/guidelines-governance-systemic-risks-context-transitions/</u>.

(2021). Risk Governance and the Low-Carbon Transition. Lausanne. Available at <u>https://infoscience.</u> epfl.ch/record/282764?ln=en.

- Iturbide, M., J.M. Gutiérrez, L.M. Alves, J. Bedia, R. Cerezo-Mota, E. Cimadevilla, A.S. Cofiño, A. Di Luca, S.H. Faria, I.V. Gorodetskaya, M. Hauser, S. Herrera, K. Hennessy, H.T. Hewitt, R.G. Jones, S. Krakovska, R. Manzanas, D. Martínez-Castro, G.T. Narisma, I.S. Nurhati, I. Pinto, S.I. Seneviratne, B. van den Hurk and C.S. Vera (2020). An update of IPCC climate reference regions for subcontinental analysis of climate model data: Definition and aggregated datasets. *Earth System Science Data*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 2959–2970.
- Jactel, H., C. Poeydebat, I. van Halder. and B. Castagneyrol (2019). Interactive effects of tree mixing and drought on a primary forest pest. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change*, vol. 2, p. 77.
- Jamieson, P.D., R.J. Martin, G.S. Francis and D.R. Wilson (1995). Drought effects on biomass production and radiation-use efficiency in barley. *Field Crops Research*, vol. 43, no. 2–3, pp. 77–86.

- Jasechko, S., Z.D. Sharp, J.J. Gibson, S.J. Birks, Y. Yi and P.J. Fawcett (2013). Terrestrial water fluxes dominated by transpiration. *Nature*, vol. 496, pp. 347–350.
- Jencso, K., B.P.M. Downey, T. Hadwen, A. Howell, J.R. Leaf, L. Edwards, A. Akyuz, D. Kluck, D. Peck, M. Rath, M. Syner, N. Umphlett, H. Wilmer, V. Barnes, D. Clabo, B. Fuchs, M. He, S. Johnson, J. Kimball, D. Longknife, D. Martin, N. Nickerson, J. Sage and T. Fransen (2019). *Flash Drought: Lessons Learned from the 2017 Drought Across the U.S. Northern Plains and Canadian Prairies*. NOAA National Integrated Drought Information System. Available at https://www.drought.gov/sites/ default/files/2020-09/NIDIS_LL_FlashDrought_2017_ Final_6.6.2019.pdf.
- Jeong, D.I., L. Sushama and M.N. Khaliq (2014). The role of temperature in drought projections over North America. *Climatic Change*, vol. 127, no. 2, pp. 289–303.
- Jiang, L. and B.C. O'Neill (2017). Global urbanization projections for the shared socioeconomic pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 42, pp. 193–199.
- Jones, B. and B.C. O'Neill (2016). Spatially explicit global population scenarios consistent with the shared socioeconomic pathways. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 11, no. 8, 084003.
 - (2020). Global One-eighth Degree Population Base Year and Projection Grids Based on the Shared Socioeconomic Pathways, Revision 01. Palisades: NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center. Available at https://sedac.ciesin.columbia.edu/data/ set/popdynamics-1-8th-pop-base-year-projection-ssp-2000-2100-rev01.
- Jones, L., S. Jaspars, S. Pavanello, E. Ludi, R. Slater, N. Grist and S. Mtisi (2010). Responding to a Changing Climate: Exploring how Disaster Risk Reduction, Social Protection and Livelihoods Approaches Promote Features of Adaptive Capacity. Working Paper 319. London: Overseas Development Institute.
- JRC GDO (Joint Research Centre Global Drought Observatory) (2018). Timeline of drought events. Available at <u>https://edo.jrc.ec.europa.eu/gdo/php/ index.php?id=2020</u>.
- Jurgilevich, A., A. Räsänen, F. Groundstroem and S. Juhola (2017). A systematic review of dynamics in climate risk and vulnerability assessments. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 12, no. 1, 013002.
- Kahneman, D. (2011). *Thinking, Fast and Slow*. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Kaijser, A. and A. Kronsell (2014). Climate change through the lens of intersectionality. *Environmental Politics*, vol. 23, pp. 417–433.
- Kalkuhl, M., J. von Braun and M. Torero (2016). Volatile and extreme food prices, food security, and policy: An overview. In *Food Price Volatility and its Implications for Food Security and Policy*, pp. 3–31. Springer.
- Kargel, J.S., G.J. Leonard, M.P. Bishop, A. Kääb and B.H. Raup, eds. (2014). *Global Land Ice Measurements*

From Space. Springer.

- Kaser, G., J.G. Cogley, M.B. Dyurgerov, M.F. Meier and A. Ohmura (2006). Mass balance of glaciers and ice caps: Consensus estimates for 1961–2004. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 33, no. 19.
- KC, S. and W. Lutz (2017). The human core of the shared socioeconomic pathways: Population scenarios by age, sex and level of education for all countries to 2100. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 42, pp. 181–192.
- Kebede, A.S., R.J. Nicholls, A. Allan, I. Arto, I. Cazcarro, J.A. Fernandes, C.T. Hill, C.W. Hutton, S. Kay, A.N. Lázár, I. Macadam, M. Palmer, N. Suckall, E.L. Tompkins, K. Vincent and P.W. Whitehead (2018). Applying the global RCP-SSP-SPA scenario framework at sub-national scale: A multi-scale and participatory scenario approach. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 635, pp. 659–672.
- Kent, C., E. Pope, V. Thompson, K. Lewis, A.A. Scaife and N. Dunstone (2017). Using climate model simulations to assess the current climate risk to maize production. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 12, no. 5, 054012.
- Keohane, R.O. (1989). International Institutions and State Power. HeinOnline.
- Keohane, R.O. and J. Nye (2000). Governance in a *Globalizing World*. Brookings Institution.
- Kern, F. and K.S. Rogge (2016). The pace of governed energy transitions: Agency, international dynamics and the global Paris Agreement accelerating decarbonisation processes? *Energy Research and Social Science*, vol. 22, pp. 13–17.
 - (2018). Harnessing theories of the policy process for analysing the politics of sustainability transitions: A critical survey. *Environmental Innovation* and Societal Transitions, vol. 27, pp. 102–117.
- Kerr, R.A. (1998). Sea-floor dust shows drought felled Akkadian Empire. Science, vol. 279, no. 5349, pp. 325–326.
- Kim, T.W. and J.B. Valdés (2003). Nonlinear model for drought forecasting based on a conjunction of wavelet transforms and neural networks. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 319–328.
- Kingston, D.G., A.K. Fleig, L.M. Tallaksen and D.M. Hannah (2013). Ocean-atmosphere forcing of summer streamflow drought in Great Britain. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 331–344.
- Kitoh, A., A. Yatagai and P. Alpert (2008). First super-highresolution model projection that the ancient "Fertile Crescent" will disappear in this century. *Hydrological Research Letters*, vol. 2, pp. 1–4.
- Kloeckner, C.A., E. Matthies and M. Hunecke (2003). Operationalizing habits and integrating habits in normative decision-making models. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, vol. 33, pp. 396–417.
- Knoesen, D., R. Schulze, C. Pringle, M. Summerton, C. Dickens and R. Kunz (2009). Water for the Future: Impacts of Climate Change on Water Resources in the Orange-Sengu River Basin. Report D.3.8.7 to NeWater,

a project funded under the Sixth Research Framework of the European Union. Pietermaritzburg: Institute of Natural Resources. Available at http://the-eis.com/ elibrary/sites/default/files/downloads/literature/ Water%20for%20the%20Future%20_%20Climate%20 Change%20Impacts%20Knoesen%20et%20al_%20 2009.pdf.

- Koliba, C.J., R.M. Mills and A. Zia (2011). Accountability in governance networks: An assessment of public, private, and nonprofit emergency management practices following Hurricane Katrina. *Public Administration Review*, vol. 71, no. 2, pp. 210–220.
- Koster, R.D., S.D. Schubert, H. Wang, S.P. Mahanama and A.M. DeAngelis (2019). Flash drought as captured by reanalysis data: Disentangling the contributions of precipitation deficit and excess evapotranspiration. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1241–1258.
- Kramer, D. (2016). Israel: A water innovator. *Physics Today*, vol. 69, pp. 24–26.
- Kriegler, E., B.C. O'Neill, S. Hallegatte, T. Kram, R.J. Lempert, R.H. Moss and T. Wilbanks (2012). The need for and use of socio-economic scenarios for climate change analysis: A new approach based on shared socioeconomic pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 807–822.
- Lackey, R. (1998). Seven pillars of ecosystem management. Landscape and Urban Planning, vol. 40, pp. 21–30.
- Lasswell, H.D. (1971). A Pre-view of Policy Sciences. New York: Elsevier.
- LaVanchy, G.T., M.W. Kerwin and J.K. Adamson (2019). Beyond 'Day Zero': Insights and lessons from Cape Town (South Africa). *Hydrogeology Journal*, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 1537–1540.
- Lavaysse, C., J. Vogt, A. Toreti, M.L. Carrera and F. Pappenberger (2018). On the use of weather regimes to forecast meteorological drought over Europe. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 3297–3309.
- Lehner, F., S. Coats, T.F. Stocker, A.G. Pendergrass, B.M. Sanderson, C.C. Raible and J.E. Smerdon (2017). Projected drought risk in 1.5 C and 2 C warmer climates. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 44, no. 14, pp. 7419–7428.
- Leimbach, M., E. Kriegler, N. Roming and J. Schwanitz (2017). Future growth patterns of world regions – A GDP scenario approach. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 42, pp. 215–225.
- Lemke, P., J. Ren, R.B. Alley, I. Allison, J. Carrasco, G. Flato, Y. Fujii, G. Kaser, P. Mote, R.H. Thomas and T. Zhang (2007). Observations: Changes in snow, ice and frozen ground. In Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Available at https://www.ipcc.ch/site/assets/ uploads/2018/02/ar4-wg1-chapter4-1.pdf.

Lempert, R., J. Arnold, R. Pulwarty, K. Gordon, K. Greig, C.

Hawkins Hoffman, D. Sands and C. Werrell (2018). Reducing risks through adaptation actions. In *Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States: Fourth National Climate Assessment, Volume II.* Washington, D.C.: U.S. Global Change Research Program. Available at https://nca2018.globalchange.gov/downloads/ NCA4_2018_FullReport.pdf.

- Leng, G. and J. Hall (2019). Crop yield sensitivity of global major agricultural countries to droughts and the projected changes in the future. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 654, pp. 811–821.
- Lesk, C., P. Rowhani and N. Ramankutty (2016). Influence of extreme weather disasters on global crop production. *Nature*, vol. 529, no. 7584, pp. 84–87.
- Lewis, J. (1999). Development in Disaster-prone Places: Studies of Vulnerability. London: Intermediate Technology Publications.
- Li, J., Z. Wang, Wu, X., S. Guo and X. Chen (2020). Flash droughts in the Pearl River Basin, China: Observed characteristics and future changes. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 707, 136074.
- Liang, E., X. Liu, Y. Yuan, N. Qin, X. Fang, L. Huang, H. Zhu, L. Wang and X. Shao (2006). The 1920s drought recorded by tree rings and historical documents in the semi-arid and arid areas of northern China. *Climatic Change*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 403–432.
- Liniger, H.P., R. Mekdaschi Studer, P. Moll and U. Zander (2017). Making Sense of Research for Sustainable Land Management. Leipzig: Centre for Development and Environment, University of Bern and Helmholtz-Centre for Environmental Research GmbH–UFZ. Available at https://www.ufz.de/export/ data/2/126685_full_version_WOCAT_Glues.pdf.
- Livneh, B. and A.M. Badger (2020). Drought less predictable under declining future snowpack. Nature Climate Change, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 452–458.
- Lloyd, E.A. and T.G. Shepherd (2020). Environmental catastrophes, climate change, and attribution. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, vol. 1469, no. 1, p. 105.
- Lobell, D.B., M. Bänziger, C. Magorokosho and B. Vivek (2011). Nonlinear heat effects on African maize as evidenced by historical yield trials. *Nature Climate Change*, 1, no. 1, pp. 42–45.
- Logar, I. and J.C.J.M. Van den Bergh (2011). Methods for Assessment of the Costs of Droughts. CONHAZ Report. Available at <u>https://www.ufz.de/export/ data/2/122165_CONHAZ%20REPORT%20WP05_1.pdf</u>.
 - (2013). Methods to assess costs of drought damages and policies for drought mitigation and adaptation: review and recommendations. *Water Resources Management*, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 1707-1720.
- Lohmann, S. and T. Lechtenfeld (2015). The effect of drought on health outcomes and health expenditures in rural Vietnam. *World Development*, vol. 72, pp. 432–448.

- Lohrmann, A., J. Farfan, U. Caldera, C. Lohrmann and C. Breyer (2019). Global scenarios for significant water use reduction in thermal power plants based on cooling water demand estimation using satellite imagery. *Nature Energy*, vol. 4, pp. 1040–1048.
- López-Moreno, J.I., S. Goyette and M. Beniston (2009). Impact of climate change on snowpack in the Pyrenees: Horizontal spatial variability and vertical gradients. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 374, no. 3–4, pp. 384–396.
- Lorenzo-Lacruz, J., S.M. Vicente-Serrano, J.I. López-Moreno, S. Beguería, J.M. García-Ruiz and J.M. Cuadrat (2010). The impact of droughts and water management on various hydrological systems in the headwaters of the Tagus River (central Spain). *Journal* of Hydrology, vol. 386, no. 1–4, pp. 13–26.
- Lowe, R., A. Gasparrini, C.J. Van Meerbeeck, C.A. Lippi, R. Mahon, A.R. Trotman, L. Rollock, A.Q.J. Hinds, S.J. Ryan and A.M. Stewart-Ibarra (2018). Nonlinear and delayed impacts of climate on dengue risk in Barbados: A modelling study. *PLoS Medicine*, vol .15, no. 7, e1002613.
- Lu, J., G.J. Carbone and J.M. Grego (2019). Uncertainty and hotspots in 21st century projections of agricultural drought from CMIP5 models. *Scientific Reports*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 1–12.
- Lövbrand, E., M. Hjerpe and B.O. Linnér (2017). Making climate governance global: How UN climate summitry comes to matter in a complex climate regime. *Environmental Politics*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 580–599.
- Magalhães, A.R. (2017). Life and drought in Brazil. In Drought in Brazil: Proactive Management and Policy, E. De Nys, N. Engle, A. R. Magalhães, eds. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Maia, R. and S.M. Vicente-Serrano (2017). Drought planning and management in the Iberian peninsula. In *Drought and Water Crises*, pp. 481–506. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Manning, C., M. Widmann, E. Bevacqua, A.F. Van Loon, D. Maraun and M. Vrac (2018). Soil moisture drought in Europe: A compound event of precipitation and potential evapotranspiration on multiple time scales. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, vol. 19, no. 8, pp. 1255–1271.
- Manning, C., M. Widmann, E. Bevacqua, A.F. Van Loon, D. Maraun and M. Vrac (2019). Increased probability of compound long-duration dry and hot events in Europe during summer (1950–2013). *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 14, no. 9, 094006.
- Manring, S. (2007). Creating and managing interorganizational learning networks to achieve sustainable ecosystem management. *Organization & Environment*, vol. 20, pp. 325–346.
- Marengo, J.A., R.R. Torres and L.M. Alves (2017). Drought in northeast Brazil-past, present, and future. *Theoretical and Applied Climatology*, vol. 129, no. 3, pp. 1189–1200.

- Margariti, J., S. Rangecroft, S. Parry, D.E. Wendt, A.F. Van Loon and O. Chadwick (2019). Anthropogenic activities alter drought termination. *Elementa: Science of the Anthropocene*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 27.
- Markard, J., R. Rave and B. Truffer (2012). Sustainability transitions: An emerging field of research and its prospects. *Research Policy*, vol. 41, pp. 955–967.
- Marston, L. and M. Konar (2017). Drought impacts to water footprints and virtual water transfers of the Central Valley of California. *Water Resources Research*, vol. 53, no. 7, pp. 5756–5773.
- Masante, D., N. McCormick, J.V. Vogt, P. Barbosa, C. Carmona Moreno, E. Cordano and I. Ametzoy Aramendi (2018). 2018 – Drought and Water Crisis in South Africa. Joint Research Centre Technical Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at https://www.preventionweb.net/ publications/view/58327.
- Masinde, M. (2015). An innovative drought early warning system for sub-Saharan Africa: Integrating modern and indigenous approaches. *African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 8–25.
- Matiu, M., D.P. Ankerst and A. Menzel (2017). Interactions between temperature and drought in global and regional crop yield variability during 1961–2014. *PloS One*, vol. 12, no. 5, e0178339.
- Maxwell, D. and M. Fitzpatrick (2012). The 2011 Somalia famine: Context, causes, and complications. *Global Food Security*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 5–12.
- McCann, D.G., A. Moore and M.E. Walker (2011). The water/ health nexus in disaster medicine: I. Drought versus flood. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, vol. 3, no. 6, pp. 480–485.
- McDonald, R.I., K. Weber, J. Padowski, M. Flörke, C. Schneider, P.A. Green, T. Gleeson, S. Eckman, B. Lehner, D. Balk, T. Boucher, G. Grill and M. Montgomery (2014). Water on an urban planet: Urbanization and the reach of urban water infrastructure. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 27, pp. 96–105.
- McKee, T.B., N.J. Doesken and J. Kleist (1993). The relationship of drought frequency and duration to time scales. In *Proceedings of the 8th Conference on Applied Climatology*, vol. 17, no. 22, pp. 179–183.
- McKinsey Global Institute (2020). Will the world's breadbaskets become less reliable? Available at https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/ sustainability/our-insights/will-the-worldsbreadbaskets-become-less-reliable.
- McTainsh, G.H., R. Burgess and J.R. Pitblado (1989). Aridity, drought and dust storms in Australia (1960–84). *Journal of Arid Environments*, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 11–22.
- Meehl, G.A. and A. Hu (2006). Megadroughts in the Indian monsoon region and southwest North America and a mechanism for associated multidecadal Pacific sea surface temperature anomalies. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 19, no. 9, pp. 1605–1623.

- Mehran, A., A. AghaKouchak, N. Nakhjiri, M.J. Stewardson, M.C. Peel, T.J. Phillips, Y. Wada and J.K. Ravalico (2017). Compounding impacts of human-induced water stress and climate change on water availability. *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–9.
- Meko, D.M., C.A. Woodhouse, C.A. Baisan, T. Knight, J.J. Lukas, M.K. Hughes and M.W. Salzer (2007). Medieval drought in the upper Colorado River Basin. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 34, no. 10.
- Metternicht, G. (2018). Contributions of land use planning to sustainable land use and management. In *Land Use and Spatial Planning*, pp. 35–51. Springer.
- Meza, I., M. Hagenlocher, G. Naumann, J. Vogt and J. Frischen (2019). Drought Vulnerability Indicators for Global-scale Drought Risk Assessments. Joint Research Centre Technical Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at https://doi.org/10.2760/73844.
- Meza, I., S. Siebert, P. Döll, J. Kusche, C. Herbert, E. Eyshi Rezaei, H. Nouri, H. Gerdener, E. Popat, J. Frischen, G. Naumann, J.V. Vogt, Y. Walz, Z. Sebesvari and M. Hagenlocher (2020). Global-scale drought risk assessment for agricultural systems. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 695–712.
- Middleton, N., H. Rueff, T. Sternberg, B. Batbuyan and D. Thomas (2015). Explaining spatial variations in climate hazard impacts in western Mongolia. *Landscape Ecology*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 91–107.
- Mishra, A.K. and V.P. Singh (2010). A review of drought concepts. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 391, no. 1–2, pp. 202–216.
- Mishra, A.K., V.R. Desai and V.P. Singh (2007). Drought forecasting using a hybrid stochastic and neural network model. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 626–638.
- Miyan, M.A. (2015). Droughts in Asian least developed countries: Vulnerability and sustainability. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, vol. 7, pp. 8–23.
- Mo, K.C. and D.P. Lettenmaier (2015). Heat wave flash droughts in decline. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 42, no. 8, pp. 2823–2829.
- (2016). Precipitation deficit flash droughts over the United States. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 1169–1184.

(2020). Prediction of flash droughts over the United States. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, vol. 21, no. 8, pp. 1793–1810.

- Mohammed, R. and M. Scholz (2017). The reconnaissance drought index: A method for detecting regional arid climatic variability and potential drought risk. *Journal of Arid Environments*, vol. 144, pp. 181–191.
- Mohtadi, S. (2012). Climate change and the Syrian uprising. Bulletin of the Atomic Scientists, 16.
- Molenveld, A., K. Verhoest and J. Wynen (2021). Why public organizations contribute to crosscutting policy programs: The role of structure, culture, and

ministerial control. *Policy Sciences*, vol. 54, pp. 123–154.

- Moosa, C. and N. Tuana (2014). Mapping a research agenda concerning gender and climate change: A review of the literature. *Hypatia*, vol. 29, pp. 677–694.
- Mosley, L.M. (2015). Drought impacts on the water quality of freshwater systems; review and integration. *Earth-Science Reviews*, vol. 140, pp. 203–214.
- Moss, R.H., J.A. Edmonds, K.A. Hibbard, M.R. Manning, S.K. Rose, D.P. van Vuuren and G.A. Meehl (2010). The next generation of scenarios for climate change research and assessment. *Nature*, vol. 463, no. 7282, pp. 747–756.
- Mulitza, S., M. Prange, J.B. Stuut, M. Zabel, T. Von Dobeneck, A.C. Itambi, J. Nizou, M. Schulz and G. Wefer (2008). Sahel megadroughts triggered by glacial slowdowns of Atlantic meridional overturning. *Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology*, vol. 23, no. 4.
- Mumme, S.P., O. Ibañez Hernandez and B. Verdini (2018). Extraordinary drought in US-Mexico water governance. *Journal of Water Law*, vol. 26, no. 1, p. 16.
- Munck, J., J.G. Rozema and L.A. Frye-levine (2014). Institutional inertia and climate change: A review of the new institutionalist literature. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Climate Change, vol. 5, pp. 639-648.
- Murphy, J.M., D.M. Sexton, D.N. Barnett, G.S. Jones, M.J. Webb, M. Collins and D.A. Stainforth (2004). Quantification of modelling uncertainties in a large ensemble of climate change simulations. *Nature*, vol. 430, no. 7001, pp. 768–772.
- Nakashima, D., K.G. McLean, H.D. Thulstrup, A.R. Castillo and J.T. Rubis (2012). Weathering Uncertainty: Traditional Knowledge for Climate Change Assessment and Adaptation. Paris and Darwin: United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and United Nations University Traditional Knowledge Initiative. Available at https://www.researchgate.net/profile/ Kirsty-Galloway-Mclean/publication/259609164_ Weathering_Uncertainty_Traditional_Knowledge_ for_Climate_Change_Assessment_and_Adaptation/ links/545bf5f60cf249070a7a84e6/Weathering-Uncertainty-Traditional-Knowledge-for-Climate-Change-Assessment-and-Adaptation.pdf.
- NASA (National Aeronautics and Space Administration) (2020). Cape Town's water is running out. NASA Earth Observatory. Available at <u>https://earthobservatory.</u> <u>nasa.gov/images/91649/cape-towns-water-is-</u> <u>running-out</u>.
- NASEM (National Academies of Science, Engineering and Medicine) (2021). Sustainability Partnerships in the U.S.-Mexico Drylands Region: A Binational Consensus Study. Washington, D.C.: National Academies of Science, Engineering and Medicine National Academies Press. Available at https://www. nationalacademies.org/our-work/sustainability-

partnerships-in-the-us-mexico-drylands-region-abinational-consensus-study.

- National Research Council (2012). *Himalayan Glaciers: Climate Change, Water Resources, and Water Security.* National Academies Press.
- Naumann, G., P. Barbosa, L. Garrote, A. Iglesias and J. Vogt (2014). Exploring drought vulnerability in Africa: An indicator-based analysis to be used in early warning systems. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 1591–1604.
- Naumann, G., L. Alfieri, K. Wyser, L. Mentaschi, R.A. Betts, H. Carrao, J. Spinoni, J. Vogt and L. Feyen (2018). Global changes in drought conditions under different levels of warming. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 3285–3296.
- Naumann G., C. Camalleri, L. Mentaschi and L. Feyen (2021): Increased economic drought impacts in Europe with anthropogenic warming. *Nature Climate Change*. <u>https://doi.org/10.31223/osf.io/fg79t</u>.
- Nehren, U., K. Sudmeier-Rieux, S. Sandholz, M. Estrella, M. Lomarda and T. Guillén (2014). *The Ecosystem-based Disaster Risk Reduction: Case Study and Exercise Source Book*. Geneva and Cologne: Partnership for Environment and Disaster Risk Reduction and Center for Natural Resources and Development. Available at https://postconflict.unep.ch/publications/Eco-DRR/ Eco-DRR_case_study_source_book_2014.pdf.
- News 5 Belize (2020). Belize formalizes cattle trade with Guatemala. 27 August. Available at <u>https://edition.</u> <u>channel5belize.com/archives/207813</u>.
- Nguyen, H., M.C. Wheeler, J.A. Otkin, T. Cowan, A. Frost and R. Stone (2019). Using the evaporative stress index to monitor flash drought in Australia. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 14, no. 6, 064016.
- Nissinen, A., E. Heiskanen, A. Perrels, E. Berghall, V.Liesimaa and M. Mattinen (2015). Combinations of policy instruments to decrease the climate impacts of housing, passenger transport and food in Finland. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, vol. 107, pp. 455–466.
- NOAA-NCEI (National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Centers for Environmental Information) (2021). U.S. billion-dollar weather and climate disasters: Overview. Available at <u>https://www. ncdc.noaa.gov/billions/</u>.
- Nobre, G.G., F. Davenport, K. Bischiniotis, T. Veldkamp, B. Jongman, C.C. Funk, G. Husak, P.J. Ward and J.C. Aerts (2019). Financing agricultural drought risk through ex-ante cash transfers. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 653, pp. 523–535.
- Noguera, I., F. Domínguez-Castro and S.M. Vicente-Serrano (2020). Characteristics and trends of flash droughts in Spain, 1961–2018. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 1472, no. 1, pp. 155–172.
- Nuhoff-Isakhanyan, G., E.F. Wubben and S.W.F. Omta (2016). Sustainability benefits and challenges of interorganizational collaboration in bio-based business: A systematic literature review. *Sustainability*, vol. 8,

no. 4, p. 307.

- Núñez, J., A. Vergara, C. Leyton, C. Metzkes, G. Mancilla and D. Bettancourt (2017). Reconciling drought vulnerability assessment using a convergent approach: Application to water security in the Elqui River Basin, North-Central Chile. *Water*, vol. 9, no. 8, p. 589.
- Nye, J.S. and J.D. Donahue, eds. (2000). *Governance in a Globalizing World*. Brookings Institution Press.
- Obokata, R., L. Veronis and R. McLeman (2014). Empirical research on international environmental migration: A systematic review. *Population and Environment*, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 111–135.
- OCHA (United Nations Office for the Coordination of Humanitarian Affairs) (2001). Report on the OCHA-UNDP-WHO Mission to Uzbekistan 1-7 Jul 2001. Available at https://reliefweb.int/report/uzbekistan/ report-ocha-undp-who-mission-uzbekistan-1-7jul-2001.
 - (2011). Horn of Africa Drought Crisis Situation Report No. 9. Available at <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/</u> somalia/horn-africa-drought-crisis-situation-reportno-9.
 - (2015). Tanzania Vulnerability Assessment Committee results 2015. Available at <u>https://</u> www.humanitarianresponse.info/sites/www. humanitarianresponse.info/files/documents/files/ rvac-tanzania_2015.pdf.
- OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) (2008). *Handbook on Constructing Composite Indicators. Methodology and User Guide.* Social Policies and Data Series. Paris: OECD Publishing. Available at <u>https://www.oecd.org/</u> <u>sdd/42495745.pdf</u>.

(2016), Mitigating Droughts and Floods in Agriculture: Policy Lessons and Approaches. OECD Studies on Water. Paris: OECD Publishing. Available at <u>https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/agricultureand-food/mitigating-droughts-and-floods-in-</u> agriculture_9789264246744-en#page1.

(2018). Assessing the Real Cost of Disasters: The Need for Better Evidence. OECD Reviews of Risk Management Policies. Paris: OECD Publishing. Available at https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/governance/ assessing-the-real-cost-of-disasters_9789264298798en#page1.

(2020a). Strengthening Agricultural Resilience in the Face of Multiple Risks. Paris: OECD Publishing. Available at <u>https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/agriculture-</u> and-food/strengthening-agricultural-resilience-in-theface-of-multiple-risks_2250453e-en#page1.

(2020b). Common Ground Between the Paris Agreement and the Sendai Framework: Climate Change Adaptation and Disaster Risk Reduction. Paris: OECD Publishing. Available at <u>https://www.oecd.org/</u> environment/climate-change-adaptation-and-disasterrisk-reduction-3edc8d09-en.htm.

O'Keefe, P. (1976). Taking the naturalness out of natural

disasters. Nature, vol. 260, pp. 566-567.

- Olson, R. (2016). Missing the Slow Train: How Gradual Change Undermines Public Policy and Collective Action. Washington, D.C.: Woodrow Wilson Center. Available at https://www.wilsoncenter.org/sites/ default/files/media/documents/event/slow_threats_ report.pdf.
- Olsson, P., C. Folke and T. Hahn (2004). Social-ecological transformation for ecosystem management: The development of adaptive co-management of a wetland landscape in southern Sweden. *Ecology and Society*, vol. 9, no. 4.
- O'Neill, B.C., E. Kriegler, K. Riahi, K.L. Ebi, S. Hallegatte, T.R. Carter, R. Mathur and D.P. van Vuuren (2014). A new scenario framework for climate change research: The concept of shared socioeconomic pathways. *Climatic Change*, vol. 122, no. 3, pp. 387–400.
- O'Neill, B.C., E. Kriegler, K.L. Ebi, E. Kemp-Benedict, K. Riahi, D.S. Rothman, B.J. van Ruijven, D.P. van Vuuren, J. Birkmann, K. Kok, M. Levy and W. Solecki (2017). The roads ahead: Narratives for shared socioeconomic pathways describing world futures in the 21st century. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 42, pp. 169–180.
- ORASECOM (Orange-Senqu River Commission) (2011). Projection of Impacts under Plausible Scenarios and Guidelines on Climate Change Adaption Strategies. ORASECOM Report No. 009/2011. Available at http://www.orasecom.org/_system/writable/ DMSStorage/1951Projection%20of%20Impacts%20 and%20Guidelines%20on%20CC%20Adaptation%20 Startegies-WP-WP4-009-2011.pdf.
- Orlowsky, B. and S.I. Seneviratne (2013). Elusive drought: Uncertainty in observed trends and short-and longterm CMIP5 projections. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 1765–1781.
- Ostrom, E. (1990). Governing the Commons: The Evolution of Institutions for Collective Action. Cambridge University Press.
 - (2007). A diagnostic approach for going beyond panaceas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 104, no. 39, pp. 15181–15187.
 - (2010). Polycentric systems for coping with collective action and global environmental change. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 550–557.
 - (2012). Why do we need to protect institutional diversity? *European Political Science*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 128–147.

Ostrom, E., M.A. Janssen and J.M. Anderies (2007). Going beyond panaceas. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, vol. 104, no. 39, pp. 15176–15178.

Otkin, J.A., M.C. Anderson, C. Hain, M. Svoboda, D. Johnson, R. Mueller, T. Tadesse, B. Wardlow and J. Brown (2016). Assessing the evolution of soil moisture and vegetation conditions during the 2012 United States flash drought. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, vol. 218, pp. 230–242.

Otkin, J.A., M. Svoboda, E.D. Hunt, T.W. Ford, M.C.

Anderson, C. Hain and J.B. Basara (2018). Flash droughts: A review and assessment of the challenges imposed by rapid-onset droughts in the United States. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, vol. 99, no. 5, pp. 911–919.

- Palmer, W.C. (1965). Meteorological drought. Research Paper no. 45, Office of Climatology, U.S. Weather Bureau, Washington, D.C.
- Palmer, P.I. and M.J. Smith (2014). Earth systems: Model human adaptation to climate change. *Nature News*, vol. 512, no. 7515, p. 365.
- Pant, L.P., B. Adhikari and K.K. Bhattarai (2015). Adaptive transition for transformations to sustainability in developing countries. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, vol. 14, pp. 206–212.
- Parry, M.A.J., J. Flexas and H. Medrano (2005). Prospects for crop production under drought: research priorities and future directions. *Annals of Applied Biology*, vol. 147, no. 3, pp. 211–226.
- Parry, S., C. Prudhomme, R.L. Wilby and P.J. Wood (2016). Drought termination: Concept and characterisation. *Progress in Physical Geography*, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 743–767.
- Pascale, S., S.B. Kapnick, T.L. Delworth and W.F. Cooke (2020). Increasing risk of another Cape Town "Day Zero" drought in the 21st century. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 117, no. 47, pp. 29495–29503.
- Pathak, A.A. and B.M. Dodamani (2019). Trend analysis of groundwater levels and assessment of regional groundwater drought: Ghataprabha River Basin, India. *Natural Resources Research*, vol. 28, pp. 631–643.
- Pattberg, P. and O. Widerberg (2016). Transnational multi-stakeholder partnerships for sustainable development: Conditions for success. *Ambio*, vol. 45, pp. 42–51.
- Peduzzi, P., H. Dao, C. Herold and F. Mouton (2009). Assessing global exposure and vulnerability towards natural hazards: The disaster risk index. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 1149–1159.
- Penalba, O.C., J.A. Rivera and V.C. Pántano (2014). The CLARIS LPB database: Constructing a long-term daily hydro-meteorological dataset for La Plata Basin, Southern South America. *Geoscience Data Journal*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 20–29.
- Pendergrass, A.G., G.A. Meehl, R. Pulwarty, M. Hobbins, A. Hoell, A. AghaKouchak, C.J.W. Bonfils, A.J.E. Gallant, M. Hoerling, D. Hoffmann, L. Kaatz, F. Lehner, D. Llewellyn, P. Mote, R.B. Neale, J.T. Overpeck, A. Sheffield, K. Stahl, M. Svoboda, M. C. Wheeler, A. W. Wood and C.A. Woodhouse (2020). Flash droughts present a new challenge for subseasonal-to-seasonal prediction. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 191–199.
- Pichler, M., A. Schaffartzik, H. Haberl and C. Görg (2017). Drivers of society-nature relations in the Anthro-

pocene and their implications for sustainability transformations. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, vol. 26, pp. 32–36.

- Pischke, F. and R. Stefanski (2018). Integrated drought management initiatives. In *Drought and Water Crises: Integrating Science, Management and Policy*, pp. 39–55. CRC Press.
- Polain, J.D., H.L. Berry and J.O. Hoskin (2011). Rapid change, climate adversity and the next 'big dry': Older farmers' mental health. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 239–243.
- Poledna, S., S. Hochrainer-Stigler, M.G. Miess, P. Klimek, S. Schmelzer, J. Sorger, E. Shchekinova, E. Rovenskaya, J. Linnerooth-Bayer, U. Dieckmann and S. Thurner (2018). When does a disaster become a systemic event? Estimating indirect economic losses from natural disasters. arXiv preprint, available at https://arxiv.org/abs/1801.09740.
- Poljanšek, K., C.A. Valles, M.M. Ferrer, A. De Jager, F. Dottori, L. Galbusera, B. G. Puerta, G. Giannopoulos, S. Girgin, M.C. Hernandez, G. Iurlaro, V. Karlos, E. Krausmann, M. Larcher, A. Lequarre, M. Theocharidou, M.M. Prieto, G. Naumann, A. Necci, P. Salamon, M. Sangiorgi, M. De Raposo, N.E.S, Do, M. De Sotto Mayor, C.T. Alonso, G. Tsionis, J. Vogt and M. Wood (2019). *Recommendations for National Risk Assessment for Disaster Risk Management in EU*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at https://publications.jrc.ec.europa. eu/repository/bitstream/JRC123585/report_mra_v1_20210222_online.pdf.
- Popp, A., K. Calvin, S. Fujimori, P. Havlik, F. Humpenöder, E. Stehfest, B.L. Bodirsky, J.P. Dietrich, J.C. Doelmann, M. Gusti, T. Hasegawa, P. Kyle, M. Obersteine, A. Tabeau, K. Takahashi, H. Valin, S. Waldhoff, I. Weindl and D.P. van Vuuren (2017). Land-use futures in the shared socio-economic pathways. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 42, pp. 331–345.
- Prager, A. and S. Samson (2019). The fight against Nigeria's northeast terrorism is also a battle against climate change. Quartz. Available at <u>https://qz.com/ africa/1730868/fighting-bokoharam-and-climatechange-in-nigeria/</u>.
- Prospero, J.M., P. Ginoux, O. Torres, S.E. Nicholson and T.E. Gill (2002). Environmental characterization of global sources of atmospheric soil dust identified with the Nimbus 7 Total Ozone Mapping Spectrometer (TOMS) absorbing aerosol product. *Reviews of Geophysics*, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 2–1.
- Prudhomme, C.I.I. Giuntoli, E.L. Robinson, D.B. Clark, N.W. Arnell, R. Dankers, B.M. Fekete, W. Franssen, D. Gerten, S.N. Gosling, S. Hagemann, D.M. Hannah, H. Kim, Y. Masaki, Y. Satoh, T. Stacke, Y. Wada and D. Wisser (2014). Hydrological droughts in the 21st century, hotspots and uncertainties from a global multimodel ensemble experiment. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 111, no. 9, pp. 3262–3267.

- Pulwarty, R. and R. Maia (2015). Adaptation challenges in complex rivers around the world: The Guadiana and the Colorado Basins. *Water Resources Management*, vol. 29, pp. 273–293.
- Pulwarty, R.S. and M.V. Sivakumar (2014). Information systems in a changing climate: Early warnings and drought risk management. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, vol. 3, pp. 14–21.
- Pulwarty, R. and J. Verdin (2013). Crafting early warning information systems: the case of drought. In *Measuring Vulnerability to Natural Hazards: Towards Disaster Resilient Societies*, pp. 124–147. Tokyo: United Nations University Institute for Environment and Human Security.
- Pulwarty, R., C. Simpson and C. Nierenberg (2009). Regional Integrated Sciences and Assessments (RISAs): Crafting assessments for the long haul. In *Integrated Regional Assessments of Global Climate Change*, J.J. Knight, ed. Cambridge Press.
- Pulwarty, R., D. Kluck, M. Svoboda, R. Todey and Webb (forthcoming). Climate services in the context of extremes. *Frontiers in Climate*.
- Rajsekhar, D. and S.M. Gorelick (2017). Increasing drought in Jordan: Climate change and cascading Syrian landuse impacts on reducing transboundary flow. *Science Advances*, vol. 3, no. 8, e1700581.
- Rangecroft, S., A.F. Van Loon, H. Maureira, K. Verbist and D.M. Hannah (2019). An observation-based method to quantify the human influence on hydrological drought: upstream-downstream comparison. *Hydrological Sciences Journal*, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 276–287.
- Rao, M.P., N.K. Davi, D D'Arrigo, R., J. Skees, B. Nachin, C. Leland, B. Lyon, S. Wang and O. Byambasuren (2015). Dzuds, droughts, and livestock mortality in Mongolia. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 10, no. 7, 074012.
- Rasmijn, L.M., G. Van der Schrier, R. Bintanja, J. Barkmeijer, A. Sterl and W. Hazeleger (2018). Future equivalent of 2010 Russian heatwave intensified by weakening soil moisture constraints. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 381–385.
- Rasmussen, K., N. Larsen, F. Planchon, J. Andersen, I. Sandholt and S. Christiansen (1999). Agricultural systems and transnational water management in the Senegal River basin. *Danish Journal of Geography*, vol. 99, no. 1, pp. 59–68.
- Raup, B., A. Racoviteanu, S.J. Khalsa S., C. Helm, R. Armstrong and Y. Arnaud (2007). The GLIMS geospatial glacier database: a new tool for studying glacier change. *Global and Planetary Change*, vol. 56, no. 1–2, pp. 101–110.
- Relph, S. (2019). Indian villages lie empty as drought forces thousands to flee. *The Guardian*, 12 June 2019. Available at <u>https://www.theguardian.com/ world/2019/jun/12/indian-villages-lie-empty-asdrought-forces-thousands-to-flee.</u>
- Reichhuber, A., N. Gerber, A. Mirzabaev, M. Svoboda, A. Lopez Santos, V. Graw, R. Stefanski, J. Davies, A.

Vuković, M.A. Fernández García, C. Fiati and X. Jia (2019). The Land-Drought Nexus: Enhancing the Role of Land-based Interventions in Drought Mitigation and Risk Management. Bonn: United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification. Available at https:// catalogue.unccd.int/1211_03EP_UNCCD_SPI_2019_ Report_2.pdf.

- Reliefweb (2011). Horn of Africa drought: Reported cases of sexual violence have quadrupled among refugees. Available at <u>https://reliefweb.int/report/kenya/hornafrica-drought-reported-cases-sexual-violence-havequadrupled-among-refugees</u>.
- Reuveny, R. (2007). Climate change-induced migration and violent conflict. *Political Geography*, vol. 26, no. 6, pp. 656–673.
- RGI Consortium (2017). Randolph Glacier Inventory A Dataset of Global Glacier Outlines: Version 6.0. Colorado: Global Land Ice Measurements from Space. Available at <u>http://www.glims.org/RGI/00_rgi60_TechnicalNote.pdf</u>.
- Riahi, K., D.P. van Vuuren, E. Kriegler, J. Edmonds, B.C. O'Neill, S. Fujimori, N. Bauer, K. Calvin, R. Dellink, O. Fricko, W. Lutz, A. Popp, J.C. Cuaresma, S.K.C.M. Leimbach, L. Jiang, T. Kram, S. Rao, J. Emmerling, K. Ebi, T. Hasegawa, P. Havlík, F. Humpenöder, L.A. Da Silva, S. Smith, E. Stehfest, V. Bosetti, J. Eom, D. Gernaat, T. Masui, J. Rogelj, J. Strefler, L. Drouet, V. Krey, G. Luderer, M. Harmsen, K. Takahashi, L. Baumstark, J.C. Doelman, M. Kainuma, Z. Klimont, G. Marangoni, H. Lotze-Campen, M. Obersteiner, A. Tabeau and M. Tavoni (2017). The shared socioeconomic pathways and their energy, land use, and greenhouse gas emissions implications: An overview. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 42, pp. 153–168.
- Ringel, M. (2017). Energy efficiency policy governance in a multi-level administration structure – evidence from Germany. *Energy Efficiency*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 753–776.
- Rivera, J.A. and O.C. Penalba (2014). Trends and spatial patterns of drought affected area in Southern South America. *Climate*, vol. 2, no.4, pp. 264–278.
- Robins, N.S. and J. Fergusson (2014). Groundwater scarcity and conflict-managing hotspots. *Earth Perspectives*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1–9.
- Rodell, M., J.S. Famiglietti, D.N. Wiese, J.T. Reager, H.K. Beaudoing, F.W. Landerer and M.-H. Lo (2018). Emerging trends in global freshwater availability. *Nature*, vol. 557, no. 1, pp. 651–659.
- Rohat, G. (2018). Projecting drivers of human vulnerability under the shared socioeconomic pathways. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, vol. 15, no. 3, 554.
- Rogelj, J., M. Den Elzen, N. Höhne, T. Fransen, H. Fekete, H. Winkler, R. Schaeffer, F. Sha, K. Riahi and M. Meinshausen (2016). Paris Agreement climate proposals need a boost to keep warming well below 2

°C. Nature, vol. 534, no. 7609, pp. 631-639.

- Rossi, J.L., B. Komac, M. Migliorini, R. Schwarze, Z. Sigmund, C. Awad, F. Chatelon, J. G. Goldammer, T. Marcelli, D. Morvan, A. Simeoni and B. Thiebes (2020). *Evolving Risk of Wildfires in Europe*. Thematic Paper by the European Science and Technology Advisory Group (E-STAG). United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction. Available at https://www.undrr.org/ publication/evolving-risk-wildfires-europe-thematicpaper-european-science-technology-advisory.
- Rowell, D.P., B.B. Booth, S.E. Nicholson and P. Good (2015). Reconciling past and future rainfall trends over East Africa. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 28, no. 24, pp. 9768–9788.
- Rudnitsky, J., S. Kravchenko, H. Warren and D. Pogkas (2019). The world's largest forest has been on fire for months. Available at <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/ graphics/2019-siberia-russia-wildfires/</u>.
- Salvador, C., R. Nieto, C. Linares, J. Díaz and L. Gimeno (2020). Effects of droughts on health: Diagnosis, repercussion, and adaptation in vulnerable regions under climate change. Challenges for future research. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 703, 134912.
- Samaniego, L., S. Thober, R. Kumar, N. Wanders, O. Rakovec, M. Pan, M. Zink, J. Sheffield, E.F. Wood and A. Marx (2018). Anthropogenic warming exacerbates European soil moisture droughts. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 421–426.
- San-Miguel-Ayanz, J., T. Durrant, R. Boca, G. Liberta`, A. Branco, D. De Rigo, D. Ferrari, P. Maianti, T. Artes Vivancos, H. Pfeiffer, P. Loffler, D. Nuijten, T. Leray and D. Jacome Felix Oom (2019). Forest Fires in Europe, Middle East and North Africa 2018. Joint Research Centre Technical Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at https:// publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/ JRC117883.
- Sayer, J.A. and B. Campbell (2001). Research to integrate productivity enhancement, environmental protection, and human development. *Conservation Ecology*, vol. 5, no. 2.
- Schaer, C. and N. Kuruppu, eds. (2018). Private-sector Action in Adaptation: Perspectives on the Role of Micro, Small and Medium Size Enterprises. Copenhagen: UNEP DTU Partnership. Available at <u>https://unepdtu.org/publications/private-sector-action-in-adaptationperspectives-on-the-role-of-micro-small-and-mediumsize-enterprises/.</u>
- Schelling, T.C. (1987). The role of war games and exercises. In Managing Nuclear Operations, A.B. Carter, J.D. Steinbruner and C.A. Zraket, eds., pp. 426–444. Washington, D.C.: Brookings Institution.
- Schild, A. and R.A. Vaidya (2009). The evolving role of ICIMOD in the development of water storage capacity. Sustainable Mountain Development, vol. 56, pp. 38–41.
- Scholz, C.A., T.C. Johnson, A.S. Cohen, J.W. King, J.A. Peck, J.T. Overpeck, M.R. Talbot, E.T. Brown, L. Kalindekafe,

P.Y.O. Amoako, R.P. Lyons, T.M. Shanahan, I.S. Castañeda, C.W. Heil, S.L. Forman, L.R. McHargue, K.R. Beuning, J. Gomez and J. Pierson (2007). East African megadroughts between 135 and 75 thousand years ago and bearing on early-modern human origins. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 104, no. 42, pp. 16416–16421.

- Schubert, S.D., M.J. Suarez, P.J. Pegion, R.D. Koster and J.T. Bacmeister (2004). Causes of long-term drought in the US Great Plains. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 485–503.
- Schulze, S.B.C. (2015). Environmental Change and Adaptation Capacities of River Basin Organizations in Southern Africa. Doctoral dissertation, Universität Leipzig.
- Scoones, I., A. Stirling, D. Abrol, J. Atela, L. Charli-Joseph, H. Eakin, A. Ely, P. Olsson, L. Pereira, R. Priya, P. van Zwanenberg and L. Yang (2020). Transformations to sustainability: Combining structural, systemic and enabling approaches. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, vol. 42, pp. 65–75.
- Seager, R., R. Burgman, Y. Kushnir, A. Clement, E. Cook, N. Naik and J. Miller (2008). Tropical Pacific forcing of North American medieval megadroughts: Testing the concept with an atmosphere model forced by coral-reconstructed SSTs. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 21, no. 23, 6175–6190.
- Seager, R., M. Hoerling, S. Schubert, H. Wang, B. Lyon, A. Kumar, J. Nakamura and N. Henderson (2015). Causes of the 2011–14 California drought. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 28, no. 18, pp. 6997–7024.
- Sebesvari, Z., F.G.S. Renaud Haas, Z. Tessler, M. Hagenlocher, J. Kloos, S. Szabo, A. Tejedor and C. Kuenzer (2016). A review of vulnerability indicators for deltaic social-ecological systems. *Sustainability Science*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 575–590.
- Seidler, R., K. Dietrich, S. Schweizer, K.S. Bawa, S. Chopde, F. Zaman, A. Sharma, S. Bhattacharya, L.P. Devkota and S. Khaling (2018). Progress on integrating climate change adaptation and disaster risk reduction for sustainable development pathways in South Asia: Evidence from six research projects. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, vol. 31, pp. 92–101.
- Sena, A., C. Barcellos, C. Freitas and C. Corvalan (2014). Managing the health impacts of drought in Brazil. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, vol. 11, no. 10, pp. 10737–10751.
- Seneviratne, S.I. (2012). Historical drought trends revisited. Nature, vol. 491, no. 7424, pp. 338–339.
- Sepulcre-Canto, G., S.M. Horion, A.F., A. Singleton, H. Carrao and J. Vogt (2012). Development of a combined drought indicator to detect agricultural drought in Europe. *Natural Hazards and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 12, no. 11, pp. 3519–3531.
- Shaman, J., J.F. Day and M. Stieglitz (2005). Droughtinduced amplification and epidemic transmission of West Nile virus in southern Florida. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 134–141.

- Sharma, S. and P. Mujumdar (2017). Increasing frequency and spatial extent of concurrent meteorological droughts and heatwaves in India. *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 1–9.
- Sheffield, J. and E.F. Wood (2011). Drought: Past Problems and Future Scenarios. Routledge.
- Sheffield, J., E.F. Wood and M.L. Roderick (2012). Little change in global drought over the past 60 years. *Nature*, vol. 491, pp. 435–438.
- Sheffield, J., E.F. Wood, N. Chaney, K. Guan, S. Sadri, X. Yuan, L. Olang, A. Amani, A. Ali, S. Demuth and L. Ogallo (2014). A drought monitoring and forecasting system for sub-Sahara African water resources and food security. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, vol. 95, no. 6, pp. 861–882.
- Shimizu, K., T. Masumoto and T.H. Pham (2006). Factors impacting yields in rain-fed paddies of the Lower Mekong River Basin. *Paddy and Water Environment*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 145–151.
- Shrestha, R.R. (2009). Rainwater harvesting and groundwater recharge for water storage in the Kathmandu Valley. *ICIMOD Newsletter*, vol. 56, pp. 27-30.
- Shukla, S. and A.W. Wood (2008). Use of a standardized runoff index for characterizing hydrologic drought. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 35, no. 2.
- Simpkins, G. (2018). Running dry. Nature Climate Change, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 369–369.
- Singh, M.B., R. Fotedar, J. Lakshminarayana and P.K. Anand (2006). Studies on the nutritional status of children aged 0–5 years in a drought-affected desert area of western Rajasthan, India. *Public Health Nutrition*, vol. 9, no. 8, pp. 961–967.
- Singh, R.P., C.S. Dubey, S.K. Singh, D.P. Shukla, B.K. Mishra, M. Tajbakhsh, P.S. Ningthoujam, M. Sharma and N. Singh (2013). A new slope mass rating in mountainous terrain, Jammu and Kashmir Himalayas: Application of geophysical technique in slope stability studies. *Landslides*, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 255–265.
- Singh, C., R. Ford, D. Ley, A. Bazzaz and A. Revi (2020). Assessing the feasibility of adaptation options: Methodological advancements and directions for climate adaptation research and practice. *Climatic Change*, vol. 162, pp. 255–277.
- Singh, C., G. Jain, V. Sukhwani and R. Shaw (2021). Losses and damages associated with slow-onset events: Urban drought and water insecurity in Asia. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, vol. 50, pp. 72–86.
- Sinha, A., L. Stott, M. Berkelhammer, H. Cheng, R.L. Edwards, B. Buckley, M. Aldenderfer and M. Mudelsee (2011). A global context for megadroughts in monsoon Asia during the past millennium. *Quaternary Science Reviews*, vol. 30, no. 1–2, pp. 47–62.
- Smirnov, O., M. Zhang, T. Xiao, J. Orbell, A. Lobben and J. Gordon (2016). The relative importance of climate change and population growth for exposure to future extreme droughts. *Climatic Change*, no. 138, pp. 41–53.

- Smith, A.B. (2021). U.S. billion-dollar weather and climate disasters, 1980 - present (NCEI Accession 209268). Available at <u>https://doi.org/10.25921/stkw-7w73</u>.
- Smith H.A. and K. Sharp (2012). Indigenous climate knowledges. Wiley Interdisciplinary Review of Climate Change, vol. 3, pp. 467–476.
- Smith, R.B., J. Foster, N. Kouchoukos, P.A. Gluhosky, R. Young and E. De Pauw (2000). Spatial analysis of climate, landscape, and hydrology in the Middle East: Modeling and remote sensing. *Center for Earth Observation Report*, No. 2, New Haven: Yale University.
- Smith, A., A. Stirling and F. Berkhout (2005). The governance of sustainable sociotechnical transitions. *Research Policy*, vol. 34, pp. 1491–1510.
- Smoyer-Tomic, K.E., J.D. Klaver, C.L. Soskolne and D.W. Spady (2004). Health consequences of drought on the Canadian prairies. *EcoHealth*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. SU144–SU154.
- Snowden, D. and M. Boone (2007). A leader's framework for decision making. *Harvard Business Review*, November 2007.
- Solinska-Nowak, A., P. Magnuszewski, M. Curl, A. French, A. Keating, J. Mochizuki, W. Liu, R. Mechler, M. Kulakowska and L. Jarzabek (2018). An overview of serious games for disaster risk management– Prospects and limitations for informing actions to arrest increasing risk. *International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction*, vol. 31, pp. 1013–1029.
- Song, A.M., O. Temby, D. Kim, A.S. Cisneros and G.M. Hickey (2019). Measuring, mapping and quantifying the effects of trust and informal communication on transboundary collaboration in the Great Lakes fisheries policy network. *Global Environmental Change*, vol. 54, pp. 6–18.
- Sovacool, B.K. (2016). How long will it take? Conceptualizing the temporal dynamics of energy transitions. *Energy Research & Social Science*, vol. 13, pp. 202–215.
- Sowers, J., A. Vengosh and E. Weinthal (2011). Climate change, water resources, and the politics of adaptation in the Middle East and North Africa. *Climatic Change*, vol. 104, no. 3, pp. 599–627.
- Spinoni, J., J. Vogt, G. Naumann, H. Carrao and P. Barbosa (2015). Towards identifying areas at climatological risk of desertification using the Köppen-Geiger classification and FAO aridity index. *International Journal of Climatology*, vol. 35, no. 9, pp. 2210–2222.
- Spinoni, J., J.V. Vogt, G. Naumann, P. Barbosa and A. Dosio (2018). Will drought events become more frequent and severe in Europe? *International Journal of Climatology*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 1718–1736.
- Spinoni, J., P. Barbosa, De Jager, A., McCormick, N., G. Naumann, J.V. Vogt, D. Magni, D. Masante and M. Mazzeschi (2019). A new global database of meteorological drought events from 1951 to 2016. *Journal of Hydrology: Regional Studies*, vol. 22, 100593.

- Spinoni, J., P. Barbosa, E. Bucchignani, J. Cassano, T. Cavazos, J.H. Christensen, O.B. Christensen, E. Coppola, J. Evans, B. Geyer, F. Giorgi, P. Hadjinicolaou, D. Jacob, J. Katzfey, T. Koenigk, R. Laprise, C.J. Lennard, M.L. Kurnaz, L.I. Delei, M. Llopart, N. McCormick, G. Naumann, G. Nikulin, T. Ozturk, H.-J. Panitz, R.P. da Rocha, B. Rockel, S.A. Solman, J. Syktus, F. Tangang, C. Teichmann, R. Vautard, J.V. Vogt, K. Winger, G. Zittis and A. Dosio (2020). Future global meteorological drought hot spots: A study based on CORDEX data. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 33, no. 9, pp. 3635–3661.
- Spinoni, J., P. Barbosa, E. Bucchignani, J. Cassano, T. Cavazos, A. Cescatti, J.H. Christensen, O.B. Christensen, E. Coppola, J. Evans, G. Forzieri, B. Geyer, F. Giorgi, P. Hadjinicolaou, D. Jacob, J. Katzfey, T. Koenigk, R. Laprise, C.J. Lennard, M. L. Kurnaz, D. Li, M. Llopart, N. McCormick, G. Naumann, G. Nikulin, T. Ozturk, H.-J. Panitz, R. Porfirio da Rocha, B. Rockel, S.A. Solman, J. Syktus, F. Tangan, C. Teichmann, R. Vautard, J.V. Vogt, K. Winger, G. Zittis and A. Dosio (forthcoming). Global exposure of population and land-use to meteorological droughts under different GWLs and SSPs: A CORDEX-based study.
- Stahle, D.W. (2020). Anthropogenic megadrought. *Science*, vol. 368, no. 6488, pp. 238–239.
- Stahle, D.W., F.K. Fye, E.R. Cook and R.D. Griffin (2007). Tree-ring reconstructed megadroughts over North America since AD 1300. *Climatic Change*, vol. 83, no. 1, pp. 133–149.
- Stahle, D.W., D.J. Burnette, J.V. Diaz, R.R. Heim, F.K. Fye, J.C. Paredes, R.A. Soto and M.K. Cleaveland (2012). Pacific and Atlantic influences on Mesoamerican climate over the past millennium. *Climate Dynamics*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 1431–1446.
- Stallmann, J., R. Schweiger, C.A. Pons and C. Müller (2020). Wheat growth, applied water use efficiency and flag leaf metabolome under continuous and pulsed deficit irrigation. *Scientific Reports*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–13.
- Stanke, C., M. Kerac, C. Prudhomme, J. Medlock and V. Murray (2013). Health effects of drought: A systematic review of the evidence. *PLoS Currents*, vol. 5.
- Staudinger, M., K. Stahl and J. Seibert (2014). A drought index accounting for snow. Water Resources Research, vol. 50, no. 10, pp. 7861–7872.
- Steg, L. and C. Vlek (2009). Encouraging pro-environmental behaviour: An integrative review and research agenda. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 309–317.
- Steiger, N.J., J.E. Smerdon, B.I. Cook, R. Seager, A.P. Williams and E.R. Cook (2019). Oceanic and radiative forcing of medieval megadroughts in the American Southwest. *Science Advances*, vol. 5, no. 7, eaax0087.
- Stern, P. (2011). Design principles for global commons: Natural resources and emerging technologies. International Journal of the Commons, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 213–232.

- Stern, M.J. and K.J. Coleman (2015). The multidimensionality of trust: Applications in collaborative natural resource management. *Society and Natural Resources*, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 117–132.
- Stevenson, H. and J.S. Dryzek (2014). *Democratizing Global Climate Governance*. Cambridge University Press.
- Stibbe, D., S. Reid and J. Gilbert (2018). Maximising the Impact of Partnerships for the SDGs: A Practical Guide to Partnership Value Creation. The Partnering Initiative and United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Available at https://sustainabledevelopment. un.org/content/documents/2564Maximising_the_ impact_of_partnerships_for_the_SDGs.pdf.
- Stibbe, D., D. Prescott, The Partnering Initiative and United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2020). The SDG Partnership Guidebook: A Practical Guide to Building High Impact Multi-stakeholder Partnerships for the Sustainable Development Goals. United Nations and The Partnering Initiative. Available at https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/26627SDG_Partnership_Guidebook_0.95_ web.pdf.
- Stiglitz, J.E., J.-P. Fitoussi and M. Durand (2019). *Measuring What Counts: The Global Movement for Well-being*. The New Press.
- Stoker, G. (1998). Governance as theory: Five propositions. International Social Science Journal, vol. 50, pp. 17–28.
- Suliman, M. (2005). Ecology, politics, and violent conflict. Respect: Sudanese Journal for Human Rights; Culture and Issues of Cultural Diversity, no. 1.
- Sušnik, A., G. Gregoriĉ, S. Szalai, S. Bokal and Z. Srđević (2018). Making drought management in the Danube region efficient and operative: drought risk in the Danube region project (DriDanube). *Vodoprivreda*, vol. 50, no. 294–296, pp. 349–354.
- Sutanto, S.J., C. Vitolo, Di Napoli, C., D'Andrea, M. and H.A. Van Lanen (2020a). Heatwaves, droughts, and fires: Exploring compound and cascading dry hazards at the pan-European scale. *Environment International*, vol. 134, 105276.
- Sutanto, S.J., F. Wetterhall and H.A. Van Lanen (2020b). Hydrological drought forecasts outperform meteorological drought forecasts. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 15, no. 8, 084010.
- Svoboda, M., D. LeComte, M. Hayes, R. Heim, K. Gleason, J. Angel, B. Rippey, R. Tinker, M. Palecki, D. Stooksbury, D. Miskus and S. Stephens (2002). The drought monitor. Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society, vol. 83, no. 8, pp. 1181–1190.
- Svoboda, M.D., B.A. Fuchs, C.C. Poulsen and J.R. Nothwehr (2015). The drought risk atlas: Enhancing decision support for drought risk management in the United States. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 526, pp. 274–286.
- Tallaksen, L.M. and H.A. Van Lanen, eds. (2004). Hydrological Drought. Processes and Estimation Methods for Streamflow and Groundwater. Amsterdam: Elsevier.

- Taye, A., D. Haile Mariam and V. Murray (2010). Interim report: Review of evidence of the health impact of famine in Ethiopia. *Perspectives in Public Health*, vol. 130, no. 5, pp. 222–226.
- Teasley, R.L. and D.C. McKinney (2011). Calculating the benefits of transboundary river basin cooperation: Syr Darya Basin. *Journal of Water Resources Planning and Management*, vol. 137, no. 6, pp. 481–490.
- Tellinghuisen, J. (2012). Wavelength anomalies in ultraviolet-visible spectrophotometry. *Applied Spectroscopy*, vol. 66, no. 11, pp. 1362–1364.
- Termeer, C.J.A.M., A. Dewulf and G.R. Biesbroek (2017). Transformational change: governance interventions for climate change adaptation from a continuous change perspective. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, vol. 60 no. 4, pp. 558–576.
- Theunissen, P. (2004). The economical impact of a drought. *Computus*. 2 October 2004. Bethlehem: Computus Management Information. Available at <u>http://www. computus.co.za/Artikels/Droughtimpact2.pdf</u>.
- Thilakarathne, M. and V. Sridhar (2017). Characterization of future drought conditions in the Lower Mekong River Basin. Weather and Climate Extremes, vol. 17, pp. 47–58.
- Thomas, D.S., O.V. Wilhelmi, T.N. Finnessey and V. Deheza (2013). A comprehensive framework for tourism and recreation drought vulnerability reduction. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 8, no. 4, 044004.
- Thompson-Hall, M., E.R. Carr and U. Pascual (2016). Enhancing and expanding intersectional research for climate change adaptation in agrarian settings. *Ambio*, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 373–382.
- Thomson, M., M. Obersteiner, F. Sperling, V. Javalera-Rinco, A. Mosnier and L. Penescu (2018). Scenathon: First results of a model-aided, structured negotiation for convergence towards global sustainability goals. *American Geophysical Union*, Fall Meeting 2018.
- Thornton, P.K., T. Rosenstock, C. Lamanna, P. Bell, W. Förch, B. Henderson and M. Herrero (2017). Climate-smart agriculture options in mixed crop-livestock systems in Africa south of the Sahara. In *Climate Smart Agriculture: Building Resilience to Climate Change*, D. Zilberman, N. McCarthy, S. Asfaw and L. Lipper. New York: Springer Science & Business Media. Available at <u>http://ebrary.ifpri.org/utils/getfile/collection/ p15738coll2/id/131453/filename/131669.pdf</u>.
- Trenberth, K.E., A. Dai, G. Van Der Schrier, P.D. Jones, J. Barichivich, K.R. Briffa and J. Sheffield (2014). Global warming and changes in drought. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 17–22.
- Trotman A., A. Joyette, C. van Meerbeeck, R. Mahon, S. Cox, N. Cave and D. Farrell (2018). Drought risk management in the Caribbean community: Early warning information and other risk reduction considerations. In *Drought and Water Crises*, D. Wilhite and R. Pulwarty, eds. Boca Raton: CRC Press.

Turner, B.L., R.E.P. Kasperson, A. Matson, McCarthy, J.J.,

R.W. Corell, L. Christensen, N. Eckley, J. X. Kasperson, A. Luers, M. L. Martello, C. Polsky, A. Pulsipher and A. Schiller (2003). A framework for vulnerability analysis in sustainability science. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 100, no. 14, pp. 8074–8079.

- Turnhout E., T. Metze, C. Wyborn, N. Klenk and E. Louder (2020). The politics of co-production: Participation, power, and transformation. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, vol. 42, pp. 15–21.
- UCCRN (Urban Climate Change Research Network) (2018). The Future We Don't Want: How Climate Change Could Impact the World's Greatest Cities. UCCRN Technical Report. Available at https://www.preventionweb.net/ publications/view/58833.
- UNCCD (United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification) (2019). Gender Mainstreaming in Drought Management. Available at https://www. unccd.int/sites/default/files/relevant-links/2019-12/ Gender%20Mainstreaming%20in%20Drought%20 Management.pdf.

(2020). The UNCCD Drought Toolbox. Available at <u>https://knowledge.unccd.int/drought-toolbox</u>. Accessed on 7 January 2021.

- UNCCD, FAO and WMO (2013). *High Level Meeting on National Drought Policy (HMNDP)*. Policy Document: National Drought Management Policy. Geneva. Available at <u>https://www.droughtmanagement.info/</u> <u>literature/WMO_HMNDP_policy_document_2012.pdf</u>.
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) (2002). UNDP Mission Report on Drought Damage Assessment and Agricultural Rehabilitation for Drought Affected Districts of Rajasthan.
 - (2006). Human Development Report 2006. Beyond Scarcity: Power, Poverty and the Global Water Crisis. New York. Available at <u>http://hdr.undp.org/en/</u> <u>content/human-development-report-2006</u>.

_____ (2011). Mainstreaming Drought Risk Management: A Primer. Available at <u>https://www.</u> adaptation-undp.org/resources/document/

mainstreaming-drought-risk-management-primer.

(2013). Climate Risk Management for Agriculture Sector in Tamil Nadu State of India. New York: UNDP Bureau for Crisis Prevention and Recovery. Available at <u>https://www.geonode-gfdrrlab.</u> org/documents/836/download.

(2014). Blame it on the Rain? Gender Differentiated Impacts of Drought on Agricultural Wage and Work in India. Available at <u>https://www.asia-pacific.</u> undp.org/content/rbap/en/home/library/sustainabledevelopment/blame-it-on-the-rain.html.

- UNDRR (United Nations Office for Disaster Risk Reduction) (2019). Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2019. Geneva. Available at https://gar.undrr. org/.
- UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme) (1993). Evaluation Report of the Human Settlements and the Environment Subprogramme. Follow-up and Evaluation

Section (FUES). Available at https://wedocs.unep.org/ bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/352/Evaluation_of_ the UNEP Sub-programme on Human Settlements and the Environment.pdf.

- _ (2017). Atlas of Africa: Energy Resources. Nairobi. Available at https://wedocs.unep.org/ bitstream/handle/20.500.11822/20476/Atlas_Africa_ Energy_Resources.pdf.
- UNEP, WMO and UNCCD (2016). Global Assessment of Sand and Dust Storms. Nairobi: United Nations Environment Programme. Available at https://uneplive. unep.org/redesign/media/docs/assessments/global_ assessment_of_sand_and_dust_storms.pdf.
- UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization) (2019). The United Nations World Water Development Report 2019: Leaving No One Behind, Paris, Available at https://www. unesco.de/sites/default/files/2019-03/UN-Weltwasserbericht_2019_WWDR_Englisch.pdf.

- UNESCO-IHE (Institute for Water Education) (2002). From Conflict to Cooperation in International Water Resources Management: Challenges and Opportunities. Delft: Institute for Water Education. Available at http://www.rioc-noticias.org/IMG/pdf/ Delft detailed progr-3.pdf.
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change) (2013). Warsaw International Mechanism for loss and Damage Associated with Climate Change Impacts. Available at https://unfccc. int/files/meetings/warsaw_nov_2013/in-session/ application/pdf/fccc.cp.2013.l.15.pdf.
 - (2017). Opportunities and Options for Integrating Climate Change Adaptation with the Sustainable Development Goals and the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030, Bonn, Available at https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/resource/ techpaper_adaptation.pdf.
- UNFPA (United Nations Population Fund) (2002). UNFPA Annual Report. New York. Available at https://www. unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/annual_ report02_eng.pdf.
- UNISDR (United Nations International Strategy for Disaster Risk Reduction) (2009). 2009 UNISDR Terminology on Disaster Risk Reduction. Geneva. Available at https://www.preventionweb.net/ publications/view/7817.
 - (2011). Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2011: Revealing Risk, Redefining Development. Geneva. Available at https://www.undrr. org/publication/global-assessment-report-disasterrisk-reduction-2011.

(2013). Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2013: From Shared Risk to Shared Value: The Business Case for Disaster Risk Reduction. Geneva. Available at https://www.undrr.org/ publication/global-assessment-report-disaster-riskreduction-2013.

(2015). Global Assessment Report on Disaster Risk Reduction 2015. Geneva. Available at https:// www.undrr.org/publication/global-assessment-reportdisaster-risk-reduction-2015.

(2017). How to Make Cities More Resilient: A Handbook for Mayors and Local Government Leaders. Geneva. Available at https://www.unisdr.org/ campaign/resilientcities/assets/toolkit/documents/ Handbook%20for%20local%20government%20 leaders%20%5b2017%20Edition%5d.pdf.

- United Nations (2009). Syria Drought Response Plan. Available at https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/ files/resources/2A1DC3EA365E87FB8525760F0051E 91A-Full_Report.pdf.
 - (2016). Inter-Agency Task Force on Financing for Development Inaugural Report 2016. Available at https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/ books/9789210579162.

(2019). The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2019. New York. Available at https:// unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2019/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2019.pdf.

- (2020). The Sustainable Development Goals Report 2020. New York. Available at https:// unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2020/The-Sustainable-Development-Goals-Report-2020.pdf.
- United Nations, General Assembly (2011). High-level meeting on addressing desertification, land degradation and drought in the context of sustainable development and poverty eradication. 8 June. A/65/861. Available at https://digitallibrary.un.org/ record/706202?ln=en.

(2015b). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015, Transforming our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. 21 October. A/RES/70/1. Available at https:// www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/ migration/generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A_ <u>RES_70_1_E.pdf</u>.

(2015c). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 27 July 2015, The Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development (Addis Ababa Action Agenda). 17 August. A/RES/69/313. Available at https://unctad.org/system/files/official-document/ ares69d313_en.pdf.

(2016). Report of the Open-Ended Intergovernmental Expert Working Group on Indicators and Terminology Relating to Disaster Risk Reduction. A/71/644. Available at https://www.preventionweb.

⁽²⁰¹⁵a). Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 3 June 2015, Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030. 23 June. A/ RES/69/283. Available at https://www.un.org/ en/development/desa/population/migration/ generalassembly/docs/globalcompact/A_ RES_69_283.pdf.

net/files/50683_oiewgreportenglish.pdf.

USAID (United States Agency for International Development) (2018). Economics of Resilience to Drought in Ethiopia, Kenya and Somalia. Executive Summary. Available at https://www.usaid.gov/ documents/1867/economics-resilience-droughtexecutive-summary.

(2020). Pathways to Peace: Addressing Conflict and Strengthening Stability in A Changing Climate, Lessons Learned from Resilience and Peacebuilding Programs in the Horn of Africa. Washington, D.C. Available at https://www.climatelinks.org/sites/ default/files/asset/document/2020_USAID-ATLAS-Project_Lessons-learned-from-resilience-andpeacebuilding-in-the-Horn-of-Africa.pdf.

- U.S. Global Change Research Program (2018). Fourth National Climate Assessment. Volume II: Impacts, Risks, and Adaptation in the United States. Washington, D.C.: Available at <u>https://nca2018.</u> globalchange.gov/downloads/NCA4_2018_ FullReport.pdf.
- Vaijhala, S. and J. Rhodes (2018). Resilience bonds: A business-model for resilient infrastructure. Field Actions Science Reports. *Journal of Field Actions*, vol. 18, pp. 58–63.
- Van Dijk, A.I., H.E. Beck, R.S. Crosbie, R.A. de Jeu, Y.Y. Liu, G.M. Podger, B. Timbal and N.R. Viney (2013). The Millennium Drought in southeast Australia (2001– 2009): Natural and human causes and implications for water resources, ecosystems, economy, and society. *Water Resources Research*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 1040–1057.
- Van Lanen, H.A.J., J.V. Vogt, J. Andreu, H. Carrão, L. De Stefano, E. Dutra, L. Feyen, G. Forzieri, M. Hayes, A. Iglesias, C. Lavaysse, G. Naumann, R. Pulwarty, J. Spinoni, K. Stahl, R. Stefanski, N. Stilianakis, M. Svoboda and L. Tallaksen (2017). Climatological risk: Droughts. In Science for Disaster Risk Management 2017: Knowing Better and Losing Less, K. Poljanšek, M. Marín Ferrer, T. De Groeve and I. Clark, eds. EUR 28034 EN. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at https://drmkc.jrc. ec.europa.eu/knowledge/science-for-drm/science-fordisaster-risk-management-2017.
- Van Loon, A.F., M.H. Van, J. Huijgevoort and H.A.J. Van Lanen (2012). Evaluation of drought propagation in an ensemble mean of large-scale hydrological models. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 16, no. 11, pp. 4057–4078.
- Van Loon, A.F., S.W. Ploum, J. Parajka, A.K. Fleig, E. Garnier, G. Laaha and H.A.J. Van Lanen (2015). Hydrological drought types in cold climates: quantitative analysis of causing factors and qualitative survey of impacts. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 1993–2016.
- Van Loon, A.F., T. Gleeson, J. Clark, A.I. Van Dijk, K. Stahl, J. Hannaford, G. Di Baldassarre, A. J. Teuling, L. M.

Tallaksen, R. Uijlenhoet, D. M. Hannah, J. Sheffield, M. Svoboda, B. Verbeiren, T. Wagener, S. Rangecroft, N. Wanders and H.A. Van Lanen (2016). Drought in the Anthropocene. *Nature Geoscience*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 89–91.

- Van Loon, A.F., S. Rangecroft, G. Coxon, J.A. Breña Naranjo, F.V. Ogtrop and H.A.J. Van Lanen (2019). Using paired catchments to quantify the human influence on hydrological droughts. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 1725–1739.
- Van Ruijven, B.J., M.A. Levy, A. Agrawal, F. Biermann, J. Birkmann, T.R. Carter, K.L. Ebi, M. Garschagen, B. Jones, R. Jones, E. Kemp-Benedict, M. Kok, K. Kok, M. C. Lemos, P.L. Lucas, B. Orlove, S. Pachauri, T.M. Parris, A. Patwardhan, A. Petersen, B.L. Preston, J. Ribot, D.S. Rothman and V.J. Schweizer (2014). Enhancing the relevance of shared socioeconomic pathways for climate change impacts, adaptation and vulnerability research. *Climatic Change*, vol. 122, no. 3, pp. 481–494.
- Van Tiel, M., A.J. Teuling, N. Wanders, M.J. Vis, K. Stahl and A.F. Van Loon (2018). The role of glacier changes and threshold definition in the characterisation of future streamflow droughts in glacierised catchments. *Hydrology and Earth System Sciences*, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 463–485.
- Van Tiel, M., I. Kohn, A.F. Van Loon and K. Stahl (2020a). The compensating effect of glaciers: Characterizing the relation between interannual streamflow variability and glacier cover. *Hydrological Processes*, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 553–568.
- Van Tiel, M., K. Stahl, D. Freudiger and J. Seibert (2020b). Glacio-hydrological model calibration and evaluation. Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water, vol. 7, no. 6, e1483.
- Van Vliet, M.T., J. Sheffield, D. Wiberg and E.F. Wood (2016). Impacts of recent drought and warm years on water resources and electricity supply worldwide. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 11, no. 12, 124021.
- Van Vuuren, D.P., J. Edmonds, M. Kainuma, K. Riahi, A. Thomson, K. Hibbard, G.C. Hurtt, T. Kram, V. Krey, J.-F. Lamarque, T. Masui, M. Meinshausen, N. Nakicenovic, S.J. Smith and S.K. Rose (2011). The representative concentration pathways: an overview. *Climatic Change*, vol. 109, no. 1, pp. 5–31.
- Vance, T.R., J.L. Roberts, C.T. Plummer, A.S. Kiem and T.D. Van Ommen (2015). Interdecadal Pacific variability and eastern Australian megadroughts over the last millennium. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 129–137.
- Varady, R., A. Christopher, C. Scott, M. Wilder, B. Morehouse, N. Pineda and G. Garfin (2013). Transboundary adaptive management to reduce climate-change vulnerability in the western U.S.-Mexico border region. *Environmental Science and Policy*, vol. 26, pp. 102–112.

- Vaughan, S., D. Roy and M. Miletto (2016). Building transboundary water security. International Institute for Sustainable Development. Available at <u>https:// www.iisd.org/sites/default/files/publications/buildingtransboundary-water-security-commentary.pdf</u>.
- Veldkamp, T.I.E., Y. Wada, J.C.J.H. Aerts, P. Döll, S.N. Gosling, J. Liu,Y. Masaki, T. Oki, S. Ostberg, Y. Pokhrel, Y. Satoh, H. Kim and P.J. Ward (2017). Water scarcity hotspots travel downstream due to human interventions in the 20th and 21st century. *Nature Communications*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 1–12.
- Venton, P., C.C. Venton, N. Limones, C. Ward, F. Pischke, N. Engle, M. Wijnen and A. Talbi (2019). Framework for the Assessment of Benefits of Action/Cost of Inaction (BACI) for Drought Preparedness. Washington, D.C.: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. Available at https://www. droughtmanagement.info/literature/WB-Frameworkfor-the-Assessment-of-Benefits-of-Action-or-Cost-of-Inaction-BACI-for-Drought-Preparedness-2019.pdf.
- Verner, D., ed. (2012). Adaptation to a Changing Climate in the Arab Countries: A Case for Adaptation Governance and Leadership in Building Climate Resilience. Washington, D.C.: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. Available at <u>https://issuu.com/world.bank.</u> publications/docs/9780821394588/6.
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M. (2006). Differences in spatial patterns of drought on different time scales: An analysis of the Iberian Peninsula. *Water Resources Management*, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 37–60.
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., S. Beguería and J.I. López-Moreno (2010). A multiscalar drought index sensitive to global warming: The standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 1696–1718.
- Vins, H., J. Bell, S. Saha and J.J. Hess (2015). The mental health outcomes of drought: A systematic review and causal process diagram. *International Journal* of Environmental Research and Public Health, vol. 12, no. 10, pp. 13251–13275.
- Vivas, E. (2011). Avaliação e Gestão de Situações de Seca e Escassez. Aplicação ao caso do Guadiana. PhD Dissertation. Faculdade de Engenharia da Universidade do Porto, Porto.
- Vogt, J.V. and F. Somma, eds. (2000). Drought and Drought Mitigation in Europe. Advances in Natural and Technological Hazards Research, vol. 14. Dordrecht, Boston, London: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Vogt, J.V., U. Safriel, G. Von Maltitz, Y. Sokona, R. Zougmore, G. Bastin and J. Hill (2011). Monitoring and assessment of land degradation and desertification: towards new conceptual and integrated approaches. *Land Degradation and Development*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 150–165.
- Vogt, J., G. Naumann, D. Masante, J. Spinoni, C. Cammalleri, W. Erian, F. Pischke, R. Pulwarty and P. Barbosa

(2018). Drought Risk Assessment and Management: A Conceptual Framework. Joint Research Centre Technical Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at <u>https://op.europa. eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/55fa1d08-fc2e-11e8-a96d-01aa75ed71a1/language-en.</u>

- Von Lossow, T. (2018). More than Infrastructures: Water Challenges in Iraq. Clingendael, Netherlands Institute of International Relations. Available at <u>https://www. clingendael.org/sites/default/files/2018-07/PB_PSI_ water_challenges_Iraq.pdf.</u>
- Wamsler, C. and E. Brink (2014). Interfacing citizens' and institutions' practice and responsibilities for climate change adaptation. *Urban Climate*, vol. 7, pp. 64–91.
- Wang, L. and X. Yuan (2018). Two types of flash drought and their connections with seasonal drought. *Advances in Atmospheric Sciences*, vol. 35, no. 12, pp. 1478-1490.
- Wang, G., R.B. Minnis, J.L. Belant and C.L. Wax (2010). Dry weather induces outbreaks of human West Nile virus infections. *BMC Infectious Diseases*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–7.
- Wang, L., X. Yuan, Z. Xie, P. Wu and Y. Li (2016). Increasing flash droughts over China during the recent global warming hiatus. *Scientific Reports*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1–8.
- Wang, S.Y.S., J.H. Yoon, E. Becker and R. Gillies (2017). California from drought to deluge. *Nature Climate Change*, vol. 7, pp. 465–468.
- Wangui, E.E. and T.A. Smucker (2017). Gendered opportunities and constraints to scaling up: A case study of spontaneous adaptation in a pastoralist community in Mwanga District, Tanzania. *Climate and Development*, vol. 10, no. 4, pp. 369–376.
- WEF (World Economic Forum) (2015). The Global Competitiveness Report 2014-2015. Available at http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF GlobalCompetitivenessReport_2014-15.pdf.
 - (2020). The Global Competitiveness Report, Special Edition 2020: How Countries are Performing on the Road to Recovery. Available at http://www3.weforum.org/docs/WEF_ TheGlobalCompetitivenessReport2020.pdf.
- Wegerich, K., D. Van Rooijen, I. Soliev and N. Mukhamedova (2015). Water security in the Syr Darya basin. Water, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 4657–4684.
- Wei, Z., K. Yoshimura, L. Wang, D.G. Miralles, S. Jasechko and X. Lee (2017). Revisiting the contribution of transpiration to global terrestrial evapotranspiration. *Geophysical Research Letters*, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 2792–2801.
- Wens, M., J.M. Johnson, C. Zagaria and T.I. Veldkamp (2019). Integrating human behavior dynamics into drought risk assessment—A sociohydrologic, agentbased approach. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, vol. 6, no. 4, e1345.
- Westley, F. (2002). Linking theories from ecology, economy, and sociology. In *Panarchy: Understanding Transformations in Human and Natural Systems*,

pp. 195–239. Washington D.C.: Island Press.

- Westley, F.R., O. Tjornbo, L. Schultz, P. Olsson, C. Folke, B. Crona and Ö. Bodin (2013). A theory of transformative agency in linked social-ecological systems. *Ecology* and Society, vol. 18, no. 3, 17.
- White, G.F. (1977). Environmental Effects of Complex River Development. New York: Routledge. Available at https://www.taylorfrancis.com/books/ edit/10.4324/9780429047589/environmental-effectscomplex-river-development-gilbert-white.
- White, G.F., ed. (1977). Environmental Effects of Complex River Developments. Boulder: Westview Press.
- White, G.F., R. Kates and I. Burton (2001). Knowing better and losing even more: The use of knowledge in hazards management. *Global Environmental Change B: Environmental Hazards*, vol. 3, pp. 81–92.
- WHO (World Health Organization) (1985). *Health Conditions in the Ethiopia Drought Emergency*. Geneva. Available at <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/</u> <u>handle/10665/62674/WHO_ERO_ETH_85.1.pdf</u>.

_____ (2012). Atlas of Health and Climate. Geneva. Available at <u>https://www.who.int/globalchange/</u> <u>publications/atlas/report/en/</u>.

- _____ (2015). Meningococcal meningitis. Available at http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs141/ en/.
- Wilder, M.O., R.G. Varady, A.K. Gerlak, S.P. Mumme, K.W. Flessa, A.A. Zuniga-Teran, A. Scott, N.P. Pablos and S.B. Megdal (2020). Hydrodiplomacy and adaptive governance at the US-Mexico border: 75 years of tradition and innovation in transboundary water management. *Environmental Science and Policy*, vol. 112, pp. 189–202.
- Wilhite, D.A. (2000). Drought planning and risk assessment: Status and future directions. *Annals of Arid Zone*, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 211–230.
- Wilhite, D. and R.S. Pulwarty, eds. (2017). Drought and Water Crises: Integrating Science, Management, and Policy. CRC Press.
- Wilhite, D.A., M.J. Hayes and C.L. Knutson (2005). Drought preparedness planning: Building institutional capacity. In *Drought and Water Crises: Science, Technology, and Management Issues*, pp. 93–135. Boca Raton: CRC Press.
- Wilhite, D.A., M.D. Svoboda and M.J. Hayes (2007). Understanding the complex impacts of drought: A key to enhancing drought mitigation and preparedness. *Water Resources Management*, vol. 21, no. 5, pp. 763–774.
- Wilhite, D.A., M.V. Sivakumar and R. Pulwarty (2014). Managing drought risk in a changing climate: The role of national drought policy. *Weather and Climate Extremes*, vol. 3, pp. 4–13.
- Williams, A.P., E.R. Cook, J.E. Smerdon, B.I. Cook, J.T. Abatzoglou, K. Bolles, S.H. Baek, A.M. Badger and B. Livneh (2020). Large contribution from anthropogenic warming to an emerging North American megadrought.

Science, vol. 368, no. 6488, pp. 314-318.

- Williges, K., R. Mechler, P. Bowyer and J. Balkovic (2017). Towards an assessment of adaptive capacity of the European agricultural sector to droughts. *Climate Services*, vol. 7, pp. 47–63.
- Wisner, B., P. Blaikie, P.M. Blaikie, T. Cannon and I. Davis (2004). At Risk: Natural Hazards, People's Vulnerability and Disasters. Psychology Press.
- World Meteorological Organization (WMO) (2005). Climate and Land Degradation. WMO-No. 989. Geneva.

(2006). Drought Monitoring and Early Warning: Concepts, Progress and Future Challenges. WMO-No. 1006. Geneva. Available at <u>http://www.wamis.org/</u> agm/pubs/brochures/WMO1006e.pdf.

(2019). 2019 State of Climate Services. WMO-No. 1242. Geneva. Available at <u>https://library.wmo.int/</u> <u>doc_num.php?explnum_id=10089</u>.

WMO and GWP (2014). National Drought Policy Guidelines: A Template for Action, D.A. Wilhite, ed. Integrated Drought Management Programme Tools and Guidelines Series 1. Geneva and Stockholm. Available at https://www.droughtmanagement.info/literature/ IDMP_NDMPG_en.pdf.

(2016). Handbook of Drought Indicators and Indices, M. Svoboda and B.A. Fuchs, eds. Integrated Drought Management Programme, Integrated Drought Management Tools and Guidelines, Series 2. Geneva. Available at https://www.droughtmanagement.info/ literature/GWP_Handbook_of_Drought_Indicators_ and_Indices_2016.pdf.

(2017). Benefits of Action and Costs of Inaction: Drought Mitigation and Preparedness – A Literature Review, N. Gerber and A. Mirzabaev, eds. Integrated Drought Management Programme (IDMP) Working Paper 1. Geneva and Stockholm.

- WMO and GWP (forthcoming). Integrated Drought Management Framework – The Three Pillar Approach. Geneva and Stockholm.
- Wood, E.F., S.D. Schubert, A.W. Wood, C.D. Peters-Lidard, K.C. Mo, A. Mariotti and R.S. Pulwarty (2015). Prospects for advancing drought understanding, monitoring, and prediction. *Journal of Hydrometeorology*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 1636–1657.
- Woodhouse, C.A. and J.T. Overpeck (1998). 2000 years of drought variability in the central United States. *Bulletin* of the American Meteorological Society, vol. 79, no. 12, pp. 2693–2714.
- Woodhouse, C.A., D.M. Meko, G.M. MacDonald, D.W. Stahle and E.R. Cook (2010). A 1,200-year perspective of 21st century drought in southwestern North America. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 107, no. 50, pp. 21283–21288.
- World Bank (2012). Adaptation to a Changing Climate in the Arab Countries: A Case for Adaptation Governance and Leadership in Building Climate Resilience, D. Verner, ed. Washington, D.C.: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World

Bank. Available at <u>https://issuu.com/world.bank.</u> publications/docs/9780821394588/6.

(2013). Building Resilience: Integrating Climate and Disaster Risk into Development –The World Bank Group Experience. Washington, D.C.: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. Available at https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/16639/8264 80WP0v10Bu0130Box379862000U0090.pdf.

_____ (2015). Kenya Agricultural Risk Assessment, Agriculture Global Practice Technical Assistance Paper. Washington, D.C.: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. Available at <u>https://openknowledge.</u> worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/23350/ Kenya000Agricu0ctor0risk0assessment.pdf.

(2018). Securing Water for Development in West Bank and Gaza. Washington, D.C.: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. Available at <u>http://documents1.worldbank.org/</u> curated/en/736571530044615402/Securing-water-fordevelopment-in-West-Bank-and-Gaza-sector-note.pdf.

- ______ (2019). Assessing Drought Hazard and Risk: Principles and Implementation Guidance. Washington, D.C.: International Bank for Reconstruction and Development / The World Bank. Available at https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/ handle/10986/33805/Assessing-Drought-Hazard-and-Risk-Principles-and-Implementation-Guidance.pdf.
- Worth, R.F. (2010). Earth is parched where Syrian farms thrived. New York Times, 13 October 2010. Available at <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2010/10/14/world/ middleeast/14syria.html</u>.
- Wouterse, F.S. (2006). Survival or Accumulation: Migration and Rural Households in Burkina Faso. Wageningen University.
- WWF (World Wide Fund for Nature) (2019). Into the Wild: Integrating Nature into Investment Strategies. WWF France and AXA recommendations for the members of the G7 Environment meeting in Metz, 5-6 May 2019. Le Pré-Saint-Gervais. Available at <u>https:// wwfint.awsassets.panda.org/downloads/report_wwf</u> france_axa_into_the_wild_may_2019_dv_1.pdf.
- Xu, K., D. Yang, H. Yang, Z. Li, Y. Qin and Y. Shen (2015). Spatio-temporal variation of drought in China during 1961–2012: A climatic perspective. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 526, pp. 253–264.
- Xu, L., N. Chen and X. Zhang (2019). Global drought trends under 1.5 and 2° C warming. *International Journal of Climatology*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 2375–2385.
- Yuan, X., L. Wang and E.F. Wood (2018). Anthropogenic intensification of southern African flash droughts as exemplified by the 2015/16 season. In *Explaining Extreme Events of 2016 from a Climate Perspective*, S.C. Herring, N. Christidis, A. Hoell, J.P. Kossin, C.J. Schreck III and P.A. Stott, eds., pp. 586–589. Boston: American Meteorological Society. Available

at https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Wang_ Linying/publication/324019405_Anthropogenic_ Intensification_of_Southern_African_Flash_ Droughts_as_Exemplified_by_the_201516_Season/ links/5be928d5a6fdcc3a8dcfe7d2/Anthropogenic-Intensification-of-Southern-African-Flash-Droughts-as-Exemplified-by-the-2015-16-Season.pdf.

- Yuan, X., L. Wang, Wu, P., Ji, P., J. Sheffield and M. Zhang (2019). Anthropogenic shift towards higher risk of flash drought over China. *Nature Communications*, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 1–8.
- Yusa, A., P. Berry, J. Cheng, N. Ogden, B. Bonsal, R. Stewart and R. Waldick (2015). Climate change, drought and human health in Canada. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, vol. 12, no. 7, pp. 8359–8412.
- Zampieri, M., A. Ceglar, F. Dentener and A. Toreti (2017). Wheat yield loss attributable to heat waves, drought and water excess at the global, national and subnational scales. *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 12, no. 6, 064008.
- Zanzanaini, C., B.T. Trần, C. Singh, A. Hart, J. Milder and F. DeClerck, F. (2017). Integrated landscape initiatives for agriculture, livelihoods and ecosystem conservation: An assessment of experiences from South and Southeast Asia. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, vol. 165, pp. 11–21.
- Zhao, T. and A. Dai (2015). The magnitude and causes of global drought changes in the twenty-first century under a low-moderate emissions scenario. *Journal of Climate*, vol. 28, no. 11, pp. 4490–4512.
- Zhang, Y., Q. You, C. Chen and X. Li (2017). Flash droughts in a typical humid and subtropical basin: A case study in the Gan River Basin, China. *Journal of Hydrology*, vol. 551, pp. 162–176.
- Zhang, X., N. Chen, H. Sheng, C. Ip, L. Yang, Y. Chen, Z. Sang, T. Tadesse, T.P.Y. Lim, A. Rajaifarde, C. Bueti, L. Zeng, B. Wardlow, S. Wang, S. Tang, Z. Xiong, D. Li and D. Niyogi (2019). Urban drought challenge to 2030 sustainable development goals. *Science of the Total Environment*, vol. 693, 133536.
- Ziervogel, G. (2019). Unpacking the Cape Town Drought: Lessons Learned. Cities Support Programme, African Centre for Cities. Available at <u>https://</u> www.africancentreforcities.net/wp-content/ uploads/2019/02/Ziervogel-2019-Lessons-from-Cape-Town-Drought_A.pdf.
- Zimmermann, L. (2011). Remember When it Rained: Gender Discrimination in Elementary School Enrollment in India. Discussion Paper No. 6833.
- Zscheischler, J. and S.I. Seneviratne (2017). Dependence of drivers affects risks associated with compound events. *Science Advances*, vol. 3, no. 6, e1700263.
- Zscheischler, J., S. Westra, B.J.J.M. van den Hurk, S.I. Seneviratne, P.J. Ward, A. Pitman, A. AghaKouchak, D.N. Bresch, M. Leonard, T. Wahl and X. Zhang (2018). Future climate risk from compound events. *Nature*

Climate Change, vol. 8, no. 6, pp. 469-477.

- Zscheischler, J., O. Martius, S. Westra, E. Bevacqua, C. Raymond, R.M. Horton, B. van den Hurk, A. AghaKouchak, A. Jézéquel, M.D. Mahecha, D. Maraun, A.M. Ramos, N.N. Ridder, W. Thiery and E. Vignotto (2020). A typology of compound weather and climate events. *Nature Reviews Earth and Environment*, vol. 1, no. 7, pp. 333–347.
- Zuccaro, G., D. De Gregorio and M.F. Leone (2018). Theoretical model for cascading effects analyses. International Journal of Disaster Risk Reduction, vol. 30, pp. 199–215.

